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CITY OF BALTIMORE

STEPHANIE RAWLINGS-BLAKE, Mayor

December 5, 2012

Honorable President and Members of
The Board of Estimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland

In compliance with Article VII, Section 8, of the revised City Charter (November, 1964), submitted herewith is the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of Baltimore, Maryland, (City) for the year ended June 30,
2010. The CAFR was prepared by the City’s Department of Finance. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the presented
data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. We believe that the
data, as presented, is accurate in all material aspects; that it is presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial
position and changes in financial position of the City; and, that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the
maximum understanding of the City’s financial affairs have been provided.

The CAFR is presented in three sections: introductory, financial, and statistical. The introductory section includes this
transmittal letter, the City’s organization chart and the certificate of achievement for excellence in financial reporting. The
financial section includes the auditor’s opinion, Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), basic financial statements
with related notes, and required supplementary information with related notes. The financial section also includes the
combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules. The statistical section includes selected financial and
demographic information, generally presented on a multiyear basis.

Management has provided a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the
form of a Management’s Discussion and Analysis. This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and
should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the independent
auditors in the Financial Section of the CAFR.

The City Charter established a Department of Audits under the general supervision of the City Comptroller. The Charter
requires the City Auditor to “annually make a general comprehensive public report of the financial position of the City; in the
discretion of the Comptroller, such report may be in the form of an opinion on the annual financial statements prepared by
the Director of Finance.” The Comptroller has elected to have the City Auditor render an opinion as to the fairness of the
Director of Finance’s presentation of the City’s basic financial statements. Additionally, the Board of Estimates awarded a
contract to the nationally recognized independent certified public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, to perform a joint
audit with the City Auditor of the basic financial statements of the City for the year ended June 30, 2010. Their joint audit
report is contained herein. Their audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States and, for the basic financial statements of the City, the standards for financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. On the basis of this examination, the independent auditors
have issued an unqualified opinion that the presentation of the basic financial statements conforms with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. In conducting the audit, the auditors performed tests of the accounting records and
such other procedures as were considered necessary in the circumstances to provide a reasonable basis for this opinion on the
financial statements. The auditors also assessed the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluated the overall financial statement presentation.

The independent audit of the City’s financial statements is part of a broader, federally mandated “Single Audit” designed to
meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. This audit was conducted by the City Auditor, and the Single Audit
Report is available as a separate document.

This report includes all of the funds that we consider to be part of, controlled by or dependent on the City. Professional
judgment must be used to determine whether or not a potential component unit should be included in the reporting entity.
Various potential component units were evaluated to determine whether they should be reported in the City’s CAFR. Three
component units, the Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (blended component unit), the Baltimore City Public
School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation (discretely presented component units), were considered to be part of
the City’s reporting entity when it was concluded that the City was financially accountable for these entities. The Housing
Authority of Baltimore City and certain other organizations are not considered to be component units and are not included in
the City’s basic financial statements.
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PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore (City) is a body corporate and politic of the State of Maryland (State) in which all
local governmental functions are performed by the City. The City has had a charter form of government since 1797; home
rule powers since 1918, and is governed by an elected Mayor, Comptroller and a City Council. The City has a total area of
approximately 92 square miles and an estimated 2008 population of 636,919. The City is a major deep-water seaport located
on the Patapsco River, a tributary of the Chesapeake Bay. It is served by Baltimore/Washington International Thurgood
Marshall Airport in adjacent Anne Arundel County. The City is almost completely surrounded by Baltimore County, a
separate entity, which borders the City on the east, north, west and part of the south. Anne Arundel County adjoins the City
on its southern border.

The City provides the full range of municipal services contemplated by statute or charter, which are provided or paid for by
the City from local, State or Federal sources. These services include public safety (police and fire protection), water and
waste water utilities, highways and streets, sanitation, health and human services, culture and recreation, education
(elementary through high school, provided by a component unit, the Baltimore City Public School System), public
improvements, planning and zoning, parking facilities, mortgage loan programs, industrial development, and general and
administrative services. The City is also responsible for adoption and maintenance of building codes, and regulation of
licenses and permits, collection of certain taxes and revenues, maintenance of public records and the conduct of elections.
These activities are included in the reporting entity. There are no overlapping local governmental entities or taxing
jurisdictions. Accordingly, there is no overlapping debt of the City.

Under the City Charter, the City’s executive functions are vested in the Mayor, the Board of Estimates and an independent
Comptroller. The City’s legislative functions are vested in the City Council. The Mayor is the chief executive officer of the
City. The Mayor is elected for a term of four years and is eligible to succeed herself without limitation as to the number of
terms. If the Mayor is disabled or absent from the City, the President of the City Council acts as ex-officio Mayor. If the
Mayor resigns, is permanently disqualified, or dies in office, the President of the City Council becomes Mayor for the
remainder of the term. The Mayor has authority to veto ordinances, has power of appointment of most department heads and
municipal officers, serves on the Board of Estimates and appoints two of the other four members of the Board of Estimates.

The Board of Estimates is the highest administrative body of the City. It is composed of the President of the City Council,
who serves as President of the Board, the Mayor, the Comptroller, the City Solicitor and the Director of Public Works. The
Board of Estimates formulates and determines City fiscal policy with its primary policy tool being the recommended annual
Ordinance of Estimates, the City’s budget.

Key Budgetary Policies

Balanced Budget: The City Charter requires the operating budget to be balanced. Any difference between non-property tax
revenues and total expenditures are to be made up by adjusting the property tax rate or enactment of new revenue measures.

Public Hearings: The City Charter mandates that both the Board of Estimates and the City Council conduct public hearings
on the proposed budget.

Timely Adoption: The City Charter sets forth a schedule requiring the budget to be adopted before the beginning of the
fiscal year, July 1.

Budget Amendment: The Charter provides means for adopting supplemental appropriations funded from unanticipated
revenues and/or new grants and sources that materialize during the year. The City’s policy is to minimize the use of
supplemental appropriations. In addition, the City Charter allows for and spells out the procedures for amending the budget
to transfer appropriations between programs within an agency and between agencies.

Six-Year Capital Plan: Guiding the physical development budget plan of the City is the Charter requirement for a six year
capital improvement plan, the first year comprising the capital budget year. The plan is prepared in conformance with basic
capital budgeting policies, which include appropriating funds in the year in which projects are likely to begin, financing a
portion of capital improvements from current revenues, and estimating the impact of capital projects on the operating budget.

Budget Monitoring and Execution: Budget analysts maintain ongoing contact with agency fiscal officers in the process of
implementation and execution of the budget. Expenditure and revenue projections are developed and reviewed on a monthly
basis. The Mayor, through the Department of Finance, exercises appropriate fiscal management to adjust budget policy, as
necessary, to be within the limits of the current adopted plan. The City Council has the practice of reviewing budget
performance at mid-year and during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year.
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Debt Policy: In 1990, the City adopted a formal debt policy which set annual borrowing limits, consolidated all financing
arrangements within the Department of Finance, established refunding and refinancing policies, and set limits on key debt
management ratios. The objective is to maintain the City’s reputation as a locality having a conservative approach to all
aspects of debt management, including debt service expenses, debt retirement schedules, and debt capacity ratios. During the
summer of 2007, the City worked with a team of consultants from Public Resources Advisory Group and Evergreen Capital
to perform a comprehensive debt study and review of the 1990 debt policy. The study did not result in any changes to the
debt policy.

Budget Stabilization Reserve Policy: In November 2008, the City’s Board of Estimates approved a Budget Stabilization
Reserve Policy that establishes the basis for having a Budget Stabilization Reserve as well as identifying its maintenance
level, scope of coverage, circumstances under which funds shall be drawn down from the reserve, and the requirements to
replenish the reserve when utilized. The policy stipulates that the reserve serves to provide a budget defense to stabilize a
post-adopted budget that has been impacted by an uncorrectable shortfall in revenues and/or an unanticipated and
uncorrectable emergency expense. The reserve is the revenue source of last resort to avoid a budget deficit. Under no
circumstances is the reserve to be used as a revenue source to balance a planning year budget. The policy further stipulates
that the reserve shall be maintained on any June 30th at a minimum level of 8% of the combined value of the General Fund
and Motor Vehicle Fund operating budgets of the subsequent fiscal year.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Retirement Plans

Professional employees of both the Baltimore City Public School System and the Enoch Pratt Free Library, an agency of the
City, are members of the State of Maryland Retirement System to which the City is not required to contribute. The City
contributes to four retirement plans established for all other City employees and elected officials.

City laws require that contributions to its three funded pension systems be based on actuarial valuations. City contributions to
the Unfunded Fire and Police Plan (for eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 1947, all of whom are now retired, or
their beneficiaries) are not actuarially determined, and these benefits are paid from annual appropriations.

Temporary Investment of Cash Balances

The City, through the Office of the Director of Finance, pursues an aggressive cash management and investment program to
achieve maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on cash needs, excess funds are invested on a short,
intermediate or long-term basis at best obtainable rates. Investments are limited generally to direct or indirect obligations of
the U.S. government and fully collateralized repurchase agreements. The City utilizes the practice of recording investment
income in the period in which it is earned.

Risk Management

The City is self-insured in the area of casualty and property losses, including the uninsured portion of losses to City buildings
and contents, vehicles, watercraft, boilers, machinery, workers’ compensation and employers’ liability, employees’ health
insurance, third party general liability and automobile liability losses. The Office of Risk Management, within the
Department of Finance, administers the fund.

Internal Control

City management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. There are
no material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting and there have been no significant changes in internal
control since June 30, 2010.

ECONOMIC PROFILE AND OUTLOOK

Baltimore is the historic, business, education and cultural center of Maryland. The City benefits from being in one of the
wealthiest states in the nation and is the northern anchor of the Washington-Baltimore-Northern Virginia Combined Statistical
Area—one of the largest, wealthiest and best educated population centers in the country. The City’s economy has traditionally
benefited from its location as it is accessible to a large and diversified workforce. Also, with an excellent highway and rail
transportation system the City is able to access both mid-western and north-eastern markets thus supporting its international port
activity. About 326,654 or 27.0% of the 1.21 million jobs in the metropolitan area are located in the City.
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For several decades, the City has become less reliant on traditional manufacturing industries. Manufacturing jobs comprise
only 4.7% of the City’s total jobs, which represents a lower percentage than the region and the State. However, health and
education related services continue to be the leading employment industry, representing 28.9% of the 2009 jobs located in
the City. This proportion is considerably higher than the State and region’s total of 15.4% and 18.2%, respectively. The
prominent health and knowledge-related industries is reflected in the City’s major employers. Among the ten largest non-
governmental employers, eight are health and education-related entities, one is a utility service provider, and one provides
administrative services. The City derives economic strength from the number of jobs in the fast growing health sector, and in
knowledge and information-based education and information services sectors. An increasing number of workers in the
Washington, D.C. and Northern Virginia area commute to jobs from homes in Baltimore.

The City supports and builds on the strengths of its internationally renowned higher education and health care institutions,
most notably the Johns Hopkins Hospital and Health System—the world’s premier medical facility, and the University of
Maryland School of Medicine—the nation’s first public medical school and one of the nation’s largest public medical school
research dollar recipients. A total of $1.6 billion of major development in the City related to higher education and health care
institutions was under construction during Fiscal 2010, including the expansion of the Maryland General Hospital, the Johns
Hopkins Hospital—New Clinical Building, the Pharmacy Hall addition to the University of Maryland and the Mercy Medical
Center—Mary Catherine Bunting Center, expected to open to the public in Fiscal 2011.

The population trend is often considered the single most important economic factor in the City due to the fact that
Baltimore’s population peaked at 949,708 in 1950 and has declined to 651,154 in 2000. This 50 year trend reflects an
average monthly drop of 498 persons with some decades experiencing faster drops than others. The 1970’s saw the greatest
declines. During this period, population loss approached 12,000 per year, or 1,000 per month; however, this rate of loss has
declined in recent years and we currently experience an average monthly drop of 82 people since 2001. The Census Bureau
recently released the preliminary July 1, 2009 population estimate of 637,418 for Baltimore City. This estimate shows a loss
of 673 City residents from the 2008 estimate of 638,091. In recent years, the City has been successful in challenging the
annual bureau’s estimates for upward revisions; however, unlike prior years, the City has not pursued challenging the last
two estimates in order to gather efforts for a more accurate estimate in the 2010 Census. The leveling of population losses
during this decade confirms the City’s efforts to address the challenges associated with being the State’s oldest urban center
with a disproportionate share of the State’s poor and areas of disinvestment and abandonment.

Economic Outlook

The economic outlook for the Fiscal 2012 budget planning cycle is, perhaps, the most challenging the City has experienced
in several years. A reduction in housing market activity has affected the major City revenue sources. Home sales are down
approximately 14.8% from last year to date levels as of August and 65.7% below their peak in June 2005. This has impacted
property tax collections, the City’s main source of revenue. The lower activity level has also caused a decline in transfer and
recordation tax collection, resulting in a $70.6 million decline since their peak in Fiscal 2006. This represents the lowest level
of collections since Fiscal 2003.

The unemployment rate in the City reached 11.5% as in January 2010, contributing to a reduction of income tax collections.
Lower employment and reduced capital gains resulted in a 5.0% decline in income taxes for Fiscal 2010. Although,
employment is expected to grow, the growth will be limited by high unemployment. Fiscal 2011 income tax is expected to
grow at around 2.5%.

Additionally, the State faces one of the most difficult budget crises, which in turn diminishes the level of State aid to the
City. The Administration expects these conditions to continue through Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2012. In order to weather these
financial challenges, the City has implemented plans to reduce expenditures in Fiscal 2011 and is taking an especially
conservative approach to budget planning for Fiscal 2012.

Jobs and Employment

The most recent data from the State Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (DLLR) indicates that the City has
continued to experience a decline in the number of jobs during calendar 2009. The DLLR reported an average of 326,654
jobs located in the City during 2009, which represents a 3.8% decline compared to the average of 339,640 jobs in calendar
2008. Total jobs in the City peaked in 2000 with 387,557 jobs; since then, the City has experienced an average decline of
about 564 per month through calendar 2009. In 2009, the City’s job market reflected the impact of the national recession.
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In January of 2010 there were an estimated 243,712 City residents employed. The difference between employed residents
and jobs in the City reflects a net contribution of approximately 83,000 jobs to surrounding communities. The annual average
unemployment rate for residents in the City increased from 6.7% in 2008 to 10.4% in 2009, with an 11.5% unemployment
rate as of January 2010, the highest since 1992.

Retail Sales

Retail sales reported by the State of Maryland for the City showed a decline of 1.6% in Fiscal 2010, the second and
consecutive decline in the last eight years. The total value of sales generated in the City decreased $87.5 million to reach the
annual total of $5.35 billion. Additionally, sales generated in the City have declined as a percentage of the total retail sales in
the State from 9.4% in Fiscal 2000 to an average 8.4% during the last four years. The City has experienced a gross increase
of 113 new businesses, mostly restaurants and bars that started operations in 2010. Retail sales activity continues to be a
leading indicator of economic activity as the City continues experiencing the impacts of the national economic recession.

Housing

The Fiscal 2010 housing market continued showing downward adjustments; however, Fiscal 2010 results have been
potentially biased by the availability of the federal funded program for first-time homebuyers. This program granted $8,000
for buyers whose settlement occurred before June 30, 2010. Single-family home sales in the City as reported through the
Metropolitan Regional Information System (MRIS) reflected an increase of 5.9% in total dollar sales value compared to
fiscal year 2009; additionally, the total number of units sold increased by 13.2% in Fiscal 2010. On the other hand, prices
showed more dramatic adjustments while the housing market continued stabilizing from the boom years’ speculative prices.
The average sale price of properties sold in the City declined to $158,114 or 6.8% from the $169,652 experienced in Fiscal
2009 and a total 15.3% drop from its peak in 2008, representing the second consecutive year of downward market adjustment
in prices since 1998.

The housing market conditions are not promising. It is estimated that prices will continue adjusting through 2010 and into
2011. The housing market collapse also extended to the development of new apartments. Only 184 apartments were
completed in the downtown for both rental and sale between 2009 and 2010, bringing the total number of new apartments
built in downtown to 4,663 since calendar 1999. Another 364 apartment units are currently under construction in the
downtown area with expected delivery time between Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2012, and another 154 units are on the planning
phase. The City maintains a strategic position as a market for affordable housing for buyers in the region. This is particularly
important as the regional market has grown to include more Washington and Northern Virginia commuters.

Port

Port activity is sensitive to factors affecting the world trade: the state of the economies abroad and currency markets, among
other factors. Calendar 2009 was marked by one of the worse recessionary periods in the national economy and the Port of
Baltimore could not be exempt from its impact. For the first time in five years, the total foreign cargo volume handled by the
port did not exceed the 30 million ton mark, and decreased 32.3% to 22.4 million tons from the 33.0 million tons handled in
2008, while cargo value experienced a decline of 33.4% to $30.2 billion. The national port industry experienced in 2009 a
decrease of 12% in the total volume of foreign cargo and 28.4% decrease in the dollar value of transactions; however, the
Port of Baltimore maintained its standing as the 12th largest nationwide port in dollar value, and 15th largest nationwide in
tonnage. In addition, the Port of Baltimore declined 18% in the volume of import and export on roll-on roll-off cargo, but
continued to be ranked as the first port in this category out of about 360 U.S. ports, with a total 0.78 million tons in 2009.
The level of activity at the Port will depend on the status of international foreign policies and the challenges of foreign trade
in a depressed economy. In 2009, the Maryland Port Administration signed a long term renovation contract including
construction of a 50-foot berth and four cranes which are scheduled to be completed in 2014. This contract, which includes a
50-year leasing agreement with Port of America, and about $500 million in capital investment, will prepare the port for the
upcoming challenges resulting from the widening of the Panama Canal which is expected to be completed in 2014. This new
agreement is expected to not only benefit the Port, but also to spur the areas’ economic activity with about 2,700 new
permanent direct, indirect and induced new jobs, and 3,000 one-time construction jobs over the next three years.

Tourism and Travel Industry

The tourism and travel industries experienced mixed effect in 2009 and during the first semester of 2010. For a second year in a
row, the number of events held in the Baltimore Convention Center declined. During Fiscal 2010, the Baltimore Convention
Center hosted 131 events, eight events less than the 139 in Fiscal 2009 and 46 less compared to the 177 held in Fiscal 2008. The
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average attendance per event dropped 10.2% in Fiscal 2010 from 3,137 to 2,816. The City experienced an increase of 8.9% in
total rooms due to five new hotels that started operation in Fiscal 2010; however, the average occupancy rate decreased to
55.0%, 2.3% lower than the average 57.3% experienced in Fiscal 2009. Due to lower demand, the average rate per room
decreased 9.5% to $135 per room, representing the lowest daily average room rate charged since Fiscal 2003. On the other hand,
the travel industry improved in calendar year 2009. There were about 21.0 million commercial passengers that used the
Baltimore Washington International Thurgood Marshall Airport (BWI), representing an increase of 2.7% compared to Calendar
2008. Two new carriers, JetBlue and Cape Air, added Baltimore to their destinations and other carriers increased the volume of
passengers landing and departing from BWI. Cruise activity through the Port of Baltimore experienced a record year in 2009. A
total of 81 cruises departed from the port, representing 54 cruises more than in 2008. The Carnival Cruise Lines launched the
year-round cruising from Baltimore to the Caribbean while other major companies such as Celebrity, Norwegian, Peter
Deilmann and Royal Caribbean continued to choose the Port of Baltimore as an option in the industry.

Office Development

In Fiscal 2010, the City’s office market experienced an increase on its total market size and number of office buildings;
however, the increase in supply was not fully absorbed by demand, generating an increase in City’s vacancy rate and a
decrease in the average price. The City increased its office market size by 4.6% to 22.7 million square foot compared to 21.7
million square foot in June, 2009. There were 12 new buildings contributing to the additional 995,000 square feet available in
office space, with a net absorption of 43,700 square feet; therefore, vacancy rate increased 3.7% to 24.2%, and the average
retail price was slightly reduced by $0.50 to $22.10 per square feet. The change in the vacancy rate was mostly experienced
in the Downtown area, which increased to 19.6% from 15.2% as of June 30, 2009. This change was explained by the high
number of new leasing contracts of companies relocating within City facilities, with no material net absorption. Some of the
most relevant relocations include the 156,000 square feet on 1300 Thames Street leased by Morgan Stanley to consolidate its
previous two office locations, Weber Shandwick which relocated their offices from Tide Point to Boston Street and Barton
Malow Company which relocated from West Pratt Street to Aliceanna Street. The new Legg Mason building located on
100 International Drive, with more than 540,000 square feet office space, was fully leased before completion. Among its new
tenants are the Johns Hopkins University Carey Business School and RSM McGladery, Inc, comprising 118,930 square feet.
Other major leases that occurred in Fiscal 2010 are the law firm Ober/Kaler with 92,778 square feet on 100 Charles Street
and Stifel, Nicolaus & Co with 75,724 square feet on 1 South Street. The Lieber Institute for Brain Development, the
American Cancer Institute, Brick Mill Marketing, Moodlerooms, CyberPoint International and First Health Systems also
leased a combined total of 90,283 square feet.

FINANCIAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Providing a broad range of urban services with a limited tax base requires maximizing use of scarce resources and constant
improvement to all aspects of financial management—treasury, collections, budgeting, payroll, risk management, accounting
and procurement. Selected highlights of financial management accomplishments in Fiscal 2010 follow:

e The City maintained a General Obligation (G.O.) bond rating of ‘Aa2’ from Moody’s Investors Service and ‘AA-’
from Standard & Poor’s in May 2010. As Moody’s noted in its 2009 report when discussing the City’s stable rating
outlook given the current economic climate, “the rating reflects the City’s sound financial position, characterized by
recently-enhanced fiscal policies, healthy fund balance levels, and sustained operating stability through several
economic cycles”.

e The City has completed its transition to Outcome Budgeting, which is a new way of budgeting for Baltimore.
Whereas traditional budgeting starts with last year’s spending and adjusts agency allocations based on projected
revenue, Outcome Budgeting starts with the results that matter to citizens and funds programs based on their value in
achieving those results. Through Outcome Budgeting, agencies were required to demonstrate in their budget
proposals for Fiscal 2011 the relationship between the dollars they plan to spend and achieving measurable results,
such as cleaner waterways, smoother roads, and healthier babies. This new budget process gives City leaders more
information to make strategic funding decisions. Furthermore, to find out what results matter most to citizens, the
City will continue to conduct the annual Baltimore Citizen Survey, which was started in Fiscal Year 2009.

 In calendar 2009, the City completed the final piece of the Department of Finance’s Strategic Plan for Information
Technology and Financial Systems. The City transitioned from its 38-year-old legacy system to a new general ledger
system that incorporates many best practices. The new system, CityDynamics, provides timely financial reporting and
streamlines the City’s accounts payable and billing systems. This is the latest in a series of upgrades over the past few
fiscal years that include new human resources, payroll, and procurement systems.

XIT



* The City has taken important steps to comply with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 45 on
Other Post-employment Benefits (OPEB), including the creation of a Retiree Benefit Trust, a Memorandum of
Understanding with the Employees’ Retirement System to manage the Trust, and regular contributions to the Trust
including a dedicated revenue stream from the Medicare Part D employer subsidy. The long-term investment balance
in the City’s OPEB Trust as of June 30, 2010 was $118,720,000. Despite significant budget challenges, the City was
still able to budget a new contribution of $6.4 million to the OPEB Trust in Fiscal Year 2010 for future benefit costs.

e The Bureau of Revenue Collections has implemented various reforms aimed at reducing operational expenses,
boosting collections and improving customer service. The Bureau now offers 10 bill types that can be paid online via
electronic debit from the customer’s checking account or by credit card, thus reducing processing costs. The percent
of payments made online has grown from 10.5% in Fiscal 2008 to 19.2% in Fiscal 2010. The Customer Service
section has been reorganized to include the refunds and adjustments section which was previously a part of the
Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services. This re-organization makes the refund process more seamless and
efficient for customers and reduces the administrative processing time associated with refunds. In addition, the
Bureau implemented a service request tracking mechanism for all walk-in, mail, or telephone requests and has
improved overall accountability related to citizen and customer requests.

e The City continues to focus on Workers’ Compensation reform by holding managers throughout City government
accountable for the timely reporting of claims and for the prevention of on-the-job injuries. The percentage of
Workers Compensation claims that were reported to the claims administrator within five days from the date of
incident increased from 50 percent in Fiscal 2004 to 85 percent in Fiscal 2010. The City has also reduced the number
of Workers” Compensation claims filed by 26 percent in Fiscal 2010 compared to Fiscal 2002 (4,905 claims in Fiscal
2002 versus 3,630 in Fiscal 2010). In addition, claim payments made for all claims have decreased by 12% since
Fiscal 2004 ($48 million in Fiscal 2004 versus $42 million in Fiscal 2010).

The positive outcome of effective financial management is evident in the City’s General Fund balance sheet position. Despite
a global recession and two record snowstorms, the City still maintained a balance of $79,875,000 in its budget stabilization
fund as of June 30, 2010. When combined with an undesignated unreserved fund balance of $2,695,000, the total of
$82,570,000 comprises 6.2% of General Fund revenues, a positive reflection on the strength of the City’s balance sheet.

MAJOR INITIATIVES AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS

The Administration focuses on the critical long-term concerns facing the City. Baltimore, like many older cities, is faced
with many challenges: population loss, an unemployment rate which remains above the state and national average, wealth
levels that are well below the state and national average, and a population which includes a disproportionate number of
citizens facing issues ranging from mental illness, homelessness, addiction, affordable housing and crime.

The following sections will highlight key recent actions and accomplishments towards meeting the Administration’s five
major objectives.

Objective 1: Safer Streets

Crime Reduction

Making Baltimore safer is one key component to increasing Baltimore’s population, promoting economic growth, and
creating and retaining jobs. In 2008, Baltimore achieved a 25.0% reduction in homicides and shootings. In 2009, Baltimore
continued to reduce violent crime. Strategies developed by Mayor Rawlings-Blake and implemented by the Baltimore Police
Department have led to an additional 4.0% reduction of homicides and shootings.

Gun Tracing Task Force

Established on June 1, 2007, the Gun Tracing Task Force (GTTF), made up of members of the Baltimore Police Department,
Baltimore County Police Department, Maryland State Police, and Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF),
suppresses gun trafficking and unlawful firearms possession by targeting straw purchasers and gun dealers who fail to
comply with State and Federal laws.
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Violent Crime Impact Division (VCID)

In 2007, the Police Department’s Organized Crime Division was reorganized, renamed and restructured into the Violent
Crime Impact Division (VCID). VCID detectives target the most violent offenders in specific violent zones within the city.
This focus has resulted in significant violent crime reductions within the targeted zones.

Citizens on Patrol (COP)

Experience has proven that a small group of concerned, dedicated citizens with the proper training, and the support of their
community and law enforcement, can make a difference. In communities with an active COP program, there has been a
significant decrease in criminal activity. Additionally, members of COP groups have helped improve the relationships
between the Police Department and communities. Not only is a COP group a crime deterrent, it is also an opportunity for
community members to identify infrastructure issues in their neighborhoods.

Safe Streets

Safe Streets is a community based violence prevention initiative modeled on CeaseFire Chicago. This program relies on
credible outreach workers, community members, faith leaders and other community organizations to intervene in conflicts, or
potential conflicts, and promote alternatives to violence. Along with cooperation from the Health and Police Departments,
Safe Streets includes a strong public education campaign to provide the message that shootings and violence are
unacceptable in our communities. In August 2008 the City expanded this program, and since that time, the program has
successfully: increased the work of the Living Classrooms Foundation to include approximately 24 city blocks in East
Baltimore and three teams of outreach workers; developed a hospital response component with Johns Hopkins Hospital and
added a new site in the Cherry Hill area to be overseen by Family Health Centers of Baltimore.

Objective 2: Cleaner and Healthier City

Energy Office

The Energy Office within the Department of General Services has been instrumental in reducing energy costs throughout the
City. Beginning in Fiscal 2010, the Energy Office produced enough savings and revenue to become a self-sufficient
organization, and is no longer dependent on General Fund support.

Single Stream Recycling

In Fiscal 2009, the Department of Public Works (DPW), Bureau of Solid Waste, instituted a city-wide single stream
recycling program whereby paper, plastic, glass, bottles and jars are now placed in one container and collected in one pick-
up. The results have been immediate: a 30% increase in residential recycling tonnage; reduced route time and operating
costs, including a 90% reduction in overtime; and, increased recycling participation in areas of the City that previously had
very low participation. In Fiscal 2010, DPW Bureau of Solid Waste instituted once a week mixed refuse and single stream
recyclables collection (a shift from twice weekly trash and bi-weekly recycling pick-up). The new collection methodology
again boosted recycling, saved the City approximately $7 million a year in operating costs, and reduced the amount of
household mixed refuse collected.

Baltimore City’s Sustainability Plan

The Baltimore Sustainability Plan (BSP) was developed over a nine-month period and engaged over 1,000 citizens. The BSP
was adopted by City Council in March 2009. The Sustainability Plan lays out 29 priority goals within seven theme chapters:
Cleanliness, Pollution Prevention, Resource Conservation, Greening, Transportation, Education & Awareness, and Green
Economy. Each of the 29 goals is accompanied by a set of recommended strategies, with timelines, lead partners, and funding
sources identified. The Plan can be viewed and downloaded from the City’s website at www.baltimorecity.gov/sustainability.

Buprenorphine Initiative

The City is supporting expansion of effective substance abuse treatment using buprenorphine as an alternative for drug
treatment. To date, more than 1,000 patients have been treated and more than 200 have transferred from substance abuse
treatment to long-term support in the medical system. The Health Department has a leadership role in coordinating this effort.
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Objective 3: Growing Economy

East Baltimore Development Initiative

The nonprofit East Baltimore Development Inc., in partnership with the City, is working to transform an 88-acre site into a
market-oriented, mixed-income community with housing opportunities for all income ranges and a continuum of social and
economic programs that enable residents to benefit from the area’s rebirth. Currently the single largest redevelopment effort
in the City, this revitalization initiative is expected to generate over 8,000 new jobs, produce over 2,000 units of mixed-
income housing and represent $1.8 billion of investment.

Westside Initiative

The Westside Initiative is a public/private partnership to renew the west side of downtown Baltimore into a vibrant mixed-
use neighborhood. Nearly $800 million in capital funds have been invested in the Westside creating more than 1,000,000
square feet (sq. ft.) of additional institutional and cultural space, 250,000 sq. ft. of retail space, 137,000 sq. ft. of office space
and 900 hotel rooms. More than 2,700 new market rate apartments and condominiums have been developed with
approximately 1,900 units in the planning phase and an additional 300 units in the conceptual phase.

Job Development

The Baltimore Development Corporation’s (BDC) mission is to stabilize and expand the City’s job base by retaining existing
City-based employers, helping them grow and recruiting new employers to the City. Since 2000, BDC has provided financial
assistance to 973 businesses and development projects, resulting in the retention and creation of 41,144 jobs.

Objective 4: Stronger Neighborhoods

Affordable Housing Program (AHP)

Initiated in 2006, the Baltimore City Affordable Housing Program’s mission is to improve and expand housing opportunities
for working families and other persons of low and moderate income and to promote economic diversity in City
neighborhoods. The AHP is intended to facilitate large-scale site assembly and blight elimination, thereby creating new
development opportunities in neighborhoods throughout the City. Examples of projects funded through the Affordable
Housing Program include: the construction of Preston Place, the first new housing built in the Oliver community in more
than 50 years; and the demolition of the former Freedom Village Apartments and Claremont Homes, now Orchard Ridge, the
former Uplands Apartments and former Byrd properties.

Operation Orange Cone

In 2007, the Department of Transportation was challenged to find new ways of coordinating its resources to make road
construction more efficient. The result, known as Operation Orange Cone, has led to a record amount of road resurfacing
throughout the City. In 2008, the City paved 220 lane miles and through July 2009, 87.2 miles had been completed, which
exceeds the goal of 200 lane miles repaved.

Objective 5: Innovative Government

CitiStat

The Mayor’s Office of CitiStat is a performance based management group tasked with improving service delivery in
Baltimore City through the effective use of data-driven decision making. In addition to assessing individual agency
performance, the Mayor has encouraged inter-agency cooperation to tackle some of the City’s largest problems. An example
of agencies working together towards a common goal is CleanStat, an inter-agency meeting focused on cleaning Baltimore
through coordination among the Mayor’s Office, the Bureau of Solid Waste, Housing’s Code Enforcement section and the
Department of Transportation Maintenance Division.
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AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Baltimore, Maryland, for its Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009.

To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
comprehensive annual financial report, whose contents conform to program standards. Such reports must satisfy both
generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current report continues to conform to the
Certificate of Achievement Program requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for
another certificate.

The preparation of this annual report could not have been accomplished without the efficient and dedicated services of the
entire staff of the Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services of the Department of Finance. We wish to express our
appreciation to all members of the Bureau who assisted and contributed to its preparation. We are also grateful to the City’s
independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, and the City Auditor for the professional assistance and advice they provided
during the course of their audit. Finally, we would like to thank the members of the Board of Estimates and the City Council
for their interest and support in planning and conducting the financial affairs of the City in a responsible and professional
manner.

Respectfully submitted,
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Stephanie Rawlings-Blake
Mayor

ks Ao

Edward J. Gallagher
Director of Finance
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DEPARTMENT OF AUDITS
Room 321, City Hall
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

Report of Independent Auditors

The Mayor, City Council, Comptroller and
Board of Estimates of the City of Baltimore, Maryland

We have jointly audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Baltimore, Maryland, (the “City”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s management. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not jointly audit the financial statements
of the Pension Trust Funds. We also did not audit the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation
which comprise the City’s discretely presented component units. The financial statements of the Pension Trust Funds were audited by
the City Auditor acting separately, and the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation were audited by
other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for the
Pension Trust Funds, the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation, are based solely on the reports of
the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The financial statements of the Baltimore Hotel Corporation were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s internal control over financial reporting.
Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Baltimore,
Maryland’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and
the reports of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Baltimore, Maryland, as of
June 30, 2010, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows, thereof for the year then ended in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 20, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 51 “Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Intangible Assets” and Statement No. 53 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments”.

As discussed in Note 21, the previously issued June 30, 2010 financial statements have been restated to correct various errors in
accounting. Our independent auditor’s report dated December 23, 2010 is not to be relied on because the previously issued financial
statements were materially misstated. The previously issued independent auditor’s report is replaced by this report on the restated
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financial statements. In addition, our auditor’s report on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other
matters based on an audit of the financial statements performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards dated
December 23, 2010 is not to be relied upon. The previously issued independent auditor’s report is replaced by this report on
the restated financial statements. Please refer to the Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters based on an audit of the financial statements performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards for discussion of the material weaknesses related to this restatement.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 5, 2012, on our
consideration of the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters which contains material
weakness. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and
should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

The management’s discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 15, and the schedule of funding progress and schedule of
employer contributions, budgetary comparison information for the general fund and motor vehicle fund, on pages 73 through
76, are not a required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However,
we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City
of Baltimore, Maryland’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual fund statements and
schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements. The combining and individual fund statements and schedules have been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects
in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory section and statistical section have not been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no
opinion on them.

TEL Z P M¢MLL?

Robert L. McCarty Jr., CPA
City Auditor

Department of Audits Ernst & Young LLP

Independent Auditors

December 5, 2012



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
UNAUDITED

This section of the City of Baltimore’s (City) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) presents a narrative overview
and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. We encourage readers to consider
the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $4.0 billion (net assets). This
amount includes restricted net assets of $139.5 million and is net of an unrestricted deficit of $177.5 million. During the
fiscal year, the City’s total net assets decreased by $83.2 million.

As of June 30, 2010, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $283.1 million. At the close
of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance for the general fund was $20.4 million or 1.6% of total general fund
expenditures of $1.3 billion.

The City’s total long-term debt decreased by $3.1 million, during the current fiscal year.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 requires the utilization of dual focus financial reporting. The
purpose of this overview is to provide the reader with an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements prepared under
these reporting requirements.

The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components:

(1) Government-wide financial statements,
(2) Fund financial statements, and
(3) Notes to the basic financial statements.

The report also contains required and other supplementary information including notes to the Required Supplementary
Information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Measurement focus refers to what is measured and reported in a fund’s operating statement while basis of accounting
determines when a transaction or event is recognized in these funds. Under the accrual basis of accounting, most transactions
are recorded when they occur, regardless of when cash is received or disbursed. Under the modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenues and other financial resources are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual; that is, when
they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Expenditures are recognized when
the fund liability is incurred with certain exceptions.

Financial Report Layout and Structure

The total economic resources focus is intended to determine if a fund is better or worse off economically as a result of events
and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the accrual basis of accounting to record events and transactions that
improve (revenues or gains) or diminish (expenses or losses) a fund’s economic position. It is the focus used by businesses.
Until the advent of GASB 34, this focus was utilized by the public sector only to report on its business (self-supporting)
activities.

The current financial resources focus is intended to determine if there are more or less resources that can be spent in the near
future as a result of events and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the modified accrual basis of accounting to
record increases (revenues or other financing sources) or decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in a fund’s
spendable resources. For most state and local governments, this focus is their legally mandated accounting method and with
the incorporation of encumbrances (spending commitments), the one utilized to determine adherence to budgetary
requirements.



Layout and Structure of the City of Baltimore Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Introductory Section
Financial Section
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Government-wide Fund Statements
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Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a
manner similar to a private-sector business. This section contains the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of
Activities.

The Statement of Net Assets presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the
two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether or not
the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net assets changed during the most recent fiscal
year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the
timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result
in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such as, revenues pertaining to uncollected taxes and expenses pertaining to earned, but
unused, vacation and sick leave.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all, or a
significant portion, of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the
City include general government, public safety and regulation, conservation of health, social services, education, public
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library, recreation and culture, highways and streets, sanitation and waste removal, public service, economic development,
and interest expense. The business-type activities of the City include water and sewer utilities, parking facilities and several
other fee supported activities.

The government-wide financial statements include, not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also the
legally separate activities of the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation. Summary
financial information for these component units are reported separately from the financial information presented for the
primary government itself. The Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation prepared their
own financial statements, which are also prepared in conformity with GASB 34 and audited.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements are designed to report information about groupings of related accounts which are used to
maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All
of the funds of the City can be divided into the following three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements, i.e., most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds. These
statements, however, focus on; (1) how cash and other financial assets can readily be converted to available resources and (2)
the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. Such information may be useful in determining what financial
resources are available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. Because the focus of governmental funds is
narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for
governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near-term financing decisions.
Both the governmental fund Balance Sheet and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental
activities.

The City maintains several major governmental funds (general, motor vehicle, grants revenue, and capital projects).
Information is presented separately in the governmental fund Balance Sheet and in the governmental fund Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for these major funds. Data from the remaining governmental funds
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of the non-major governmental funds is
provided in the form of combining statements as presented in supplementary information herein.

Proprietary funds

Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the City charges customers — either outside
customers, or internal units or departments of the City. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from
non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the fund’s
principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise and internal service funds are charges
for customer services including: water, sewer, parking fees, commercial and industrial rents, printing services, vehicle
maintenance fees, telecommunication, central post office fees and risk management. Operating expenses for enterprise funds
and internal service funds include the cost of services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. Proprietary funds
provide the same type of information as shown in the government-wide financial statements.

The City maintains the following two types of proprietary funds:

e Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide
financial statements. Enterprise funds are used to account for the operations of the City’s business-type activities and
include water and sewer utilities, and parking facilities, all of which are considered to be major funds of the City, and
several other non-major fee supported activities.



 Internal Service funds are used to report activities that provide supplies and services for certain City programs and
activities. The City uses internal service funds to account for its fleet of vehicles, printing and mail services,
telecommunications services, and risk management program. Because these services predominantly benefit
governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. The internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation
in the propriety fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal service funds is provided in the form
of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trust or agency capacity for others. These resources cannot be used to
support the City’s own programs and are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements. The City’s fiduciary
funds are comprised of pension trust, OPEB trust and agency funds.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information and Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report presents certain required supplementary
information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. The
combining financial statements and schedules referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds and
internal service funds are also presented. Budgetary comparison schedules have been provided for the general fund and
motor vehicle fund to demonstrate compliance with their budgets.

Statistical Section

The statistical section provides supplemental financial and statistical information intended to provide a broader
understanding of the City’s financial and economic environment. Much of the data presented is multi-year and some of it is
derived from records external to the City’s accounting records, therefore the statistical section is unaudited.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Primary Government)

The City’s financial statements are prepared in conformity with the reporting model required by Governmental Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 34 (GASB 34), Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) — for State and Local Governments. The report includes prior fiscal year results for the purpose of providing
comparative information for the MD&A.

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Net Assets
For the fiscal years 2010 and 2009

(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1)

Current and Other assets . . ............. ittt $1,033,818  $1,198,595 $ 683,469 $ 565913  $1,717,287  $1,764,508
Capital assets, Net .. ....... ... ... 3,436,391 3,367,579 2,525,664 2,409,318 5,962,055 5,776,897

TOtAl ASSELS . . . oottt 4,470,209 4,566,174 3,209,133 2,975,231 7,679,342 7,541,405
Long-term liabilities outstanding .. ............. .. ... ... .. . . oo oL 1,606,070 1,496,825 1,301,746 1,259,511 2,907,816 2,756,336
Other liabilities . ........ ... ... . . 527,863 579,994 222,335 100,594 750,198 680,588

Total liabilities .............. . . . . . 2,133,933 2,076,819 1,524,081 1,360,105 3,658,014 3,436,924
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt .. .......... ... ... ... .. . o oL 2,681,668 2,952,898 1,377,641 1,175,015 4,059,309 4,127913
Restricted ... ... ... 14,787 13,191 124,756 260,575 139,543 273,766
Unrestricted ... ... (360,180) (476,734) 182,655 179,536 (177,525) (297,198)

TOtal NEL ASSELS . . . . .ttt e et e $2,336,275  $2,489,355  $1,685,052  $1,615,126  $4,021,327  $4,104,481

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.
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Analysis of Net Assets

As noted earlier, net assets may serve as a useful indicator of the City’s financial position. For the City, assets exceeded
liabilities by $4.0 billion at the close of the current fiscal year. The City’s net assets include its investment of $4.1 billion in
capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, and equipment), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City
uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.
Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed
to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be liquidated for these
liabilities. An additional portion of the City’s net assets, $139.5 million, represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance is a deficit in unrestricted net assets of $177.5 million.

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Changes in Net Assets
For the fiscal years 2010 and 2009

(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1)
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for SErVICeS . . ..o vttt ittt $ 85683 § 94297 $ 374277 $ 351,652 $ 459,960 $ 445949
Operating grants and contributions ............. .. ... ... ... . i oL 359,769 402,343 359,769 402,343
Capital grants and contributions . ........... ... ... .. i 63,437 23,181 38,313 22,818 101,750 45,999
General revenues:
PrOPerty tAXeS . ...ttt ettt ettt 770,320 693,767 770,320 693,767
INCOME tAXES .. oo vttt ittt 251,731 262,901 251,731 262,901
State shared reVENUE .. ... .. ...t 135,226 187,986 135,226 187,986
Transfer and recordation tax ................ .. i i i 26,023 46,095 26,023 46,095
Electric and gas taX . ..... ...t 30,163 28,816 30,163 28,816
TelecommuniCations tAX ... ..ovvtttii ittt ittt 26,292 29,200 26,292 29,200
AdMISSION oo 7475 9,432 747 7475 10,179
Other . ... i 68,633 85,150 68,633 85,150
TOtal FEVENUES . . . o\ ottt et et e e 1,824,752 1,863,168 412,590 375,217 2,237,342 2,238,385
Expenses:
General OVEINMENt . . .. ...ttt ettt e 545,037 521,242 545,037 521,242
Public safety and regulation .. ........ ... .. 504,730 541,778 504,730 541,778
Conservationof health . ... . 164,751 147,054 164,751 147,054
SOCIAL SEIVICES . . . e e e e e e e e 435 6,096 435 6,096
Education .. ... 228,788 221,829 228,788 221,829
Public library .. ... 33,915 33,728 33915 33,728
Recreationand culture . ... ... ... . 39,205 42,565 39,205 42,565
Highways and Streets .. ... ...ttt 191,536 135,992 191,536 135,992
Sanitation and waste removal ......... . 52,905 51,167 52,905 51,167
PUDLIC SEIVICE . o oottt ettt 24,316 24,637 24,316 24,637
Economic development . ...... ... .. i 182,816 204,557 182,816 204,557
TNEEIESE . oo e ettt ettt 50,105 37,885 50,105 37,885
WALET . o oo 107,982 116,407 107,982 116,407
WASEE WALET . o ot ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e et e e e 157,605 152,595 157,605 152,595
Parking . . ..o 24,832 23,422 24,832 23,422
CondUits . ..o ot 5,947 7,312 5,947 7,312
Development 1oans . ........ ... 3,258 3,212 3,258 3,212
Industrial development . ....... .. ... . i 2,333 1,829 2,333 1,829
TOtal EXPENSES .« o v vttt ettt ettt ettt e e 2,018,539 1,968,530 301,957 304,777 2,320,496 2,273,307
Increase (decrease) in net assets before transfers ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... (193,787) (105,362) 110,633 70,440 (83,154) (34,922)
Transfers:
Transfers in (OUL) . ... ..ottt 40,707 34,339 (40,707) (34,339)
Change iN MEL ASSELS . . ..o v vttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et (153,080) (71,023) 69,926 36,101 (83,154) (34,922)
Net assets — beginning (as restated) .. ...........o ittt 2,489,355 2,560,378 1,615,126 1,579,025 4,104,481 4,139,403
Net assets — ending .. ...ttt $2,336,275  $2,489,355  $1,685,052 $1,615,126  $4,021,327  $4,104,481

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.



Analysis of Changes in Net Assets
The overall decrease in the City’s net assets amounted to $83.2 million during the current fiscal year. These changes are
explained in the government and business-type activities discussion below.

Expenses and Program Revenues — Governmental Activities (expressed in thousands)
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s &J:L El
General Public Safety Conservation Social . - Recreation | Highways Sanitation Public Economic
and . Education |Public Library| and Waste . Interest
Government . of Health Services and Culture | and Streets Service | Development|
Regulation Removal
O Expenses $545,037 $504,730 $164,751 $435 $228,788 $33,915 $39,205 $191,536 $52,905 $24,316 $182,816 $50,105
W Program Rev| $75,639 $45,527 $194,977 $14,143 $14,323 $47,409 $2,615 $114,256

Revenues By Source — Governmental Activities
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Governmental Activities

During the current fiscal year, expenses related to governmental activities amounted to $2.0 billion, this is more than
revenues by $153.0 million. Total revenue of $1.8 billion is comprised of program revenues totaling $508.9 million, or
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29.0%, and general revenues of $1.3 billion, or 71.0%. Program revenues are the principal source of funding for the City’s
general government, health, and economic development activities. Other major activities including public safety and
regulation, as well as the highways and streets program, are primarily supported by general revenues. A more detailed
analysis of the governmental activities is discussed in the “Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds” section.

During fiscal 2010, governmental revenues decreased by $38.4 million. This decrease in revenue is primarily attributed to a
decrease in State shared revenue of $52.7 million.

Governmental expenses increased by $50.0 million during fiscal year 2010. This increase is primarily attributable to
increases in general government, interest, conservation of health, and highways and streets in the amounts $23.8 million,
$12.2 million, $17.7 million and $55.5 million, respectively. The increase in conservation of health is attributable to an
increase in Federal and State aid. The increase in highways and streets is due to the increased cost of snow removal. These
increases were offset by decreases in public safety and economic development in the amounts of $37.0 million and $21.7
million, respectively. The decrease in public safety is attributable to reductions in overtime. The decrease in economic
development is attributable to reduced funding available to be used for economic projects.

Expenses and Program Revenues—Business-type Activities (expressed in thousands)
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Business-type Activities

Charges for services represent the principal revenue source for the City’s business-type activities. During the current fiscal
year, revenue from business-type activities totaled $412.6 million. Expenses and transfers for these activities totaled $342.7
million and resulted in an increase in net assets of $69.9 million.

Operating revenues increased by $18.6 million in fiscal year 2010 in the Water and Waste Water Utility Funds. The increase
in revenues is attributable to rate increases effective for 2010. Capital assets increased by $116.3 million as a result of the
two utilities funds’ efforts to build environmentally sound facilities.



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of
resources that are available for spending. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In
particular, an unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a City’s net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year. Types of major governmental funds reported by the City include the General Fund, Motor Vehicle
Fund, Grants Revenue Fund, and Capital Projects Fund. Data from the remaining governmental funds are combined into a
single, aggregated presentation as Other Funds.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009

(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance
2010 2009(1) Amount
Revenues:
General fund:
PIOPEITY TAXES .« o o o vttt ettt ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 770320 $ 693,767 $ 76,553
INCOMIE LAXES . . . ottt ettt e e e e e e e 251,731 262,901 (11,170)
Other 10CAl — TAXES . . o\ ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 115,472 148,369 (32,897)
Total 10CAL tAXES . . . . vttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,137,523 1,105,037 32,486
Licenses and permits . . 34,438 29,390 5,048
Interest, rentals, and other investment iNCOME . .. ... ... ottt e 24,148 23,616 532
STALE GLANES . . ot ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 97,320 99,423 (2,103)
ONeT . oo 41,154 49,068 (7,914)
Total revenues — general fund ... ... 1,334,583 1,306,534 28,049
Other governmental funds:
Motor vehicle fund . .. ... o 156,590 206,015 (49,425)
Grants revenue TUNA . . ... ... e 270,692 338,749 (68,057)
Capital projects fUNd . . . ... 75,296 46,028 29,268
Other fUNAS . . . oo o 28,641 33,030 (4,389)
Total revenues other governmental funds . ... ... ... e 531,219 623,822 (92,603)
Total revenues all governmental funds . .. ... ... 1,865,802 1,930,356 (64,554)
Expenditures:
General fund:
General GOVEIMMENT . . .. ...ttt ettt et ettt et e e e e e e e e e 410,746 368,279 42,467
Public safety and regulation . ....... ... 437,031 474,031 (37,000)
Conservation of health . ... ... e e 44,950 33,066 11,884
SOCTAL SBIVICES .« o ottt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 396 6,057 (5,661)
EdUucation .. ... 207,657 205,909 1,748
PUblic IDrary ... ..o 24,246 25,720 (1,474)
Recreation and CUILUIE . . ... ... . et e e e e e e 30,212 35,163 (4,951)
Highways and Streets .. ... ... . 16,376 244 16,132
Sanitation and Waste TeMOVAL . . . ... ... . e 37,862 40,593 (2,731)
PUDLIC SEIVICE . ..ottt it ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 21,455 17,510 3,945
Economic development . .. ... ... ... 36,186 36,573 (387)
Total expenditures — general fund . ... ... 1,267,117 1,243,145 23,972
Other governmental funds:
Motor vehicle fUnd . . .. ... 191,558 173,570 17,988
Grants revenue fUNd ... ..o o 280,603 238,399 42,204
Capital projects fUNA . . . ... 275,701 267,641 8,060
Other fUNAS . . ..o 120,778 110,792 9,986
Total expenditures other governmental funds . .......... ... . . 868,640 790,402 78,238
Total expenditures all governmental funds ... ... ... .. . 2,135,757 2,033,547 102,210
Excess of eXpenditures OVEI TEVENMUE . . ... ...ttt ettt et ettt e e ettt e e e et e e e e e et (269,955) (103,191)  (166,764)
Other financing sources:
Transters, NEL . .. ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e 40,707 27,839 12,868
Capital Projects Fund:
Capital IEaSES . o ..ottt 75,099 3,956 71,143
Face value of federal 10ans . .. .. ... ... . 1,499 (1,499)
Face value of funding and refunding general obligationbonds .......... ... ... . ... ... ... 54,688 30,070 24,618
Face value of transportation revenue bonds . ... ... .. 45,000 (45,000)
Proceeds from sale of TIFS ... ... e 23,595 (23,595)
Total other fiNANCING SOUICES . . . .. . oottt et ettt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 170,494 131,959 38,535
Net changes in fund balances . ... ... ... .. (99.,461) 28,768 (128,229)
Fund balances beginning .. ...... ... 382,546 353,778 (28,768)
Fund balances nding . ... ... uuu et e e $ 283,085 $ 382,546 $ (99.461)

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.

Revenues for governmental functions overall totaled approximately $1.9 billion in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, which
represents an increase of 1.0% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. Expenditures for governmental functions, totaling
$2.1 billion, increased by approximately 5.0% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. In the fiscal year ended June 30,
2010, expenditures for governmental functions exceeded revenues by $270.0 million, or 14.3%.
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The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. Revenue in the General Fund increased $28.0 million as compared
to last year. During fiscal year 2010, the City continued to experience growth in property taxes attributable to increased
assessments in fiscal year 2010. Actual property tax revenue grew by $76.5 million during fiscal year 2010. However, this
increase was offset by a decline in transfer and recordation tax of $20.1 million caused by a decrease in sales of housing and
other properties. Other tax revenue including income tax, admissions tax, and telecommunications tax also experienced
declines because of the effect of the recent down-turn in the economy. During fiscal year 2010, General Fund expenditures
increased by $23.9 million.

The primary areas of change in General Fund expenditures were in General Government and Public Service.

* General Government expenditures increased by $42.4 million as a result of the City’s increased fixed costs and lease
payments.

* Public Safety and Regulation expenditures decreased $37.0 million primarily as a result of decreased fire and police
overtime.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the unreserved undesignated fund balance of the General Fund was $2.7 million, while
total fund balance was $194.5 million. The fund balance in the City’s General Fund decreased by $97.9 million during the
fiscal year.

The Motor Vehicle Fund was established to account for operating and capital transportation programs supported primarily by
State-shared revenues. Every effort is made to spend available proceeds from these funding sources in the year received. For
the current year, receipts of $156.6 million were less than outlays of $191.6 million by $35.0 million. The fund balance
increased from $10.6 million to $16.7 million during the fiscal year, of which $1.9 million was unreserved and undesignated.

The Grants Revenue Fund is used to account for the spending of various Federal, State and special purpose grant funds. Most
of these grants are funded on an expenditure reimbursement basis and the application of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 33 rules on revenue recognition results in year-to-year fluctuations in the fund balance.

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the overall financing and expenditures of uncompleted projects. The fund
balance of $82.7 million represents authorized projects which are still in progress.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s business-type activities are comprised of the funds listed below. The nonmajor funds include the Loan and
Guarantee Program, Industrial Development Authority, and Conduit Fund.

(Expressed in Thousands)

Water and Waste Parking Facility Nonmajor Other
Water Utility Funds Fund Funds
2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1)
OPerating TEVENUE . . ... ..ottt ettt ettt e ettt et et $296,738  $278,145 $ 67,760 $ 64380 $ 9,989  $12,440
OPErating EXPENSES . . ...t e ettt e ettt et et e e e e e e e 250,164 252,703 13,821 13,240 11,560 12,382
Operating INCOME . . . .. ...ttt ettt et e e e et e e e e e e 46,574 25,442 53,939 51,140 (1,571) 58
Non operating revenues (expenses), capital
contributions, and transfers . ... ... ... 20,928 6,073 (53,085) (45,886) 2,261 1,624
(€T B T R PP $ 67502 $31515 $ 854 $ 5254 $§ 690 $ 1,682

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.

As discussed in the Business-type activities section, both the Water and Waste Water Utilities Funds experienced operating
revenue increases in fiscal year 2010. These increases are attributable to rate increases effective for fiscal year 2010.

The Parking Facilities Fund revenues have remained level during the current year as a result of competition from private
garages.
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General Fund budgetary highlights

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances
and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and Actual
Budgetary Basis — General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance Variance
With With
Original Final
Budget Budget
Original Final Positive Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)  (Negative)
TOtAl TEVEMUES . .« o e e ettt et ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $1,323,294  $1,323,294  $1,332,851 $ 9,557 $ 9,557
Expenditures and encumbrances:
General GOVEIMMENE .. ...ttt ettt e ettt et ettt et et e e e e 401,036 461,036 407,111 (6,075) 53,925
Public safety and regulation ... ....... ... e 470,512 470,512 457,956 12,556 12,556
Conservation of health ... ... ... 33,583 33,583 32,852 731 731
SOCIAL SEIVICES . . . o\ttt ettt e e 7,138 7,138 6,427 711 711
EdUucation . . ... 207,693 207,693 207,611 82 82
PUblic TIDrary . ... 23,901 23,901 22,160 1,741 1,741
Recreation and culture . . ... o 32,678 32,678 30,627 2,051 2,051
Highways and Streets . .. ... ...t 403 403 403
Sanitation and Waste remoVal . .. ... ... ... 42,337 42,337 35,625 6,712 6,712
PUDLIC SEIVICE . . oottt ettt et et et e e e e 20,646 20,646 18,674 1,972 1,972
Economic development ... ... 39,086 39,086 36,891 2,195 2,195
Total eXPENAItUIES . . . . oottt ettt et et e e e e e s 1,279,013 1,339,013 1,256,337 22,676 82,676
Excess of revenues over expenditures and encumbrances . ................iiiiiii i 44,281 (15,719) 76,514
Other financing uses:
Transfers in .. ... 40,513 40,513 37,312
TranSTEIS OUL . . o oottt et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (145,653) (145,653) (144,135)
Total other finanCing USES . ... .. ...t (105,140) (105,140) (106,823)
Net changes in fund balances .............. .. . . i i (60,859) (120,859) (30,309)
Fund balances beginning . ... ... .. ... o 166,463 166,463 166,463
Fund balances ending . .. ... ...ttt $ 105,604 $ 45,604 136,154
Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP basis:
Addition of encumbrances outstanding . . ........... ... 54,255
Less: Accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes . ................coiiiiiiiiaoi.. (12,837)
Fund balance June 30, 2010 - GAAP Basis . ........... it $ 177,572

The City’s final budget differs from the original budget in that it contains carry-forward appropriations for various programs
and projects, and supplemental appropriations approved after adoption; and during the fiscal year. Supplemental
appropriations totaling $60.0 million were approved, all of which were approved from prior year surplus or from unexpected
increases in revenue sources. Actual expenditures for the year were less than the original budget by $22.6 million, but were
$82.6 million than adjusted appropriations. Of this amount, $77.5 million was related to five governmental activities: lower
than budgeted cost for general government operations amounted to $53.9 million; lower than budgeted cost for public safety
operations amounted to $12.6 million; lower than budgeted cost for economic development operations amounted to
$2.2 million, lower than budgeted cost for recreation and culture amounted to $2.1 million, and lower than budgeted cost for
sanitation and waste removal amounted to $6.7 million.

On a budgetary basis, revenue for fiscal year 2010 totaled $1,332.8 million and expenditures and transfers totaled

$1,150.0 million. The excess of expenditures and transfers over revenues resulted in a budget basis fund balance at June 30,
2010 of $136.1 million, a decrease of $30.3 million.
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Capital Assets

The City’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 2010, amount to $5.9 billion (net of
accumulated depreciation). Capital assets include land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, park
facilities, roads, streets, bridges, and library books. The total increase in the City’s net capital assets for the current fiscal year
was 3.3% (a 2.0% increase for governmental activities and a 5.0% increase for business-type activities) as shown in the table
which follows.

Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation
For the Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009

(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1) 2010 2009(1)
Landandother .......... ... .. . . . . . . $ 363359 $ 363,725 $ 36,597 $ 36,596 $ 399,956 $ 400,321
Buildings and Improvements . . . ............ ... ottt 997,912 941,475 1,463,714 1,446,696 2,461,626 2,388,171
Machinery and Equipment . ............. . . 102,490 109,396 31,312 35,348 133,802 144,744
INfrastruCture ... ...... ... .. 1,461,937 1,449,231 39,883 40,627 1,501,820 1,489,858
Library Books .. ... o 27,217 29,298 27,217 29,298
Construction in Progress . .......... ... . 483,476 474,454 954,158 850,050 1,437,634 1,324,504
Total . ..o $3,436,391  $3,367,579  $2,525,664  $2,409,319  $5,962,055  $5,776,898

See note number 5 on capital assets.

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in Notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.

Debt Administration

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total long-term obligations outstanding of $2.6 billion. Of this amount,
$632.0 million was general obligation bonds backed by the full faith and credit of the City, $431.1 million was revenue
bonds for governmental activity at the Convention Center, the Convention Center Hotel, for various storm water projects and
transportation bonds, and $1.4 billion was revenue bonds related to commercial business activity. The remainder includes
revenue bonds, and other obligations of City business and governmental activities.

During fiscal year 2010, the City sold $55.0 million in general obligation bonds and $20.8 million in revenue bonds.

The ratio of net general obligation bonded debt to taxable valuation and the amount of bonded debt per capita are useful
indicators of the City’s debt position for management, citizens, and investors. A comparison of these indicators follows:

FY 2010  FY 2009(1)

Net general bonded debt (expressed in thousands) .. ... ... ... $590,674 $587,778
Net general bonded debt Per Capita .. ..... ... ... 951.23 922.12
Ratio of net general bonded debt to net assessed ValUe . .. ... ... 1.6% 1.7%

See note number 7 on long-term obligations.

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in Notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.

As of June 30, 2010, the City had $631.9 million in authorized, outstanding property tax-supported general obligation bonds.
This amount is reduced by net assets in the Debt Service Fund of $41.3 million for net tax-supported bonded debt of $590.6
million, which is equal to approximately 2.0% of the assessed value of property (net of exemptions). There are an additional
$202.4 million in bonds that are authorized, but unissued.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates

The Fiscal 2011 budget submitted by the Board of Estimates to the Baltimore City Council proposed total appropriations of
$2,935,977,000 of which $1,382,820,000 were for General Fund operations and Pay-As-You-Go (PAYGO) capital;
$152,788,000 was for Motor Vehicle Fund operations and PAYGO capital; and $60,769,000 was for Special Fund operations.
The City Council, after deliberations pursuant to Charter requirement and power, made no reductions to the total General Fund
appropriations or other fund appropriations. The property tax rates on real property and personal property were maintained at
$2.268 and $5.67 per $100 of assessed valuation, respectively. The locally imposed and State mandated income tax rate was
increased to 3.20% from 3.05%. The Ordinance of Estimates was adopted by the City Council and signed by the Mayor on
June 24, 2010.
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Fiscal 2011 Budget—Economic Factors

The economic outlook for the current fiscal year 2011 and the fiscal year 2012 budget planning cycle requires, like no other
in recent years, an exhaustive analysis and revision of all alternatives for a healthy budget. The gap between operating
expenses and revenues continue to increase. The City has experienced a shrinking of the major revenue sources such as
income, recordation and transfer taxes.

There are three key factors to consider while looking forward to the next budget cycles: employment, housing market
activity, and the state of the State’s economy. The employment levels have fallen to levels not experienced since fiscal year
2005, which has weakened the generation of income tax, the second most important source of revenue for the City.

In fiscal year 2010, activity in the housing market reached its lowest price levels since 1998, and the level of speculative
prices generated during the housing boom have been subject to a continued downward adjustment. This has resulted in a
contraction of recordation and transfer taxes. The adjustment in prices will have a negative effect in the assessment growth
for properties in the City and will impact revenue growth in property taxes through fiscal year 2015.

Finally, an important portion of the City’s budget relies on resources provided by the State. These resources have been
reduced while the State has taken actions in fiscal year 2010 to lessen its budget deficit. These reductions are expected to
become permanent with additional reductions in fiscal year 2011.

The City acted swiftly to address these challenges. The fiscal year 2011 adopted budget included $65 million in pension
reforms, $73 million in expenditure reductions and $48 million in new revenues. The reduction plan consists of position
reductions, employee furloughs, and reductions in pay-as-you-go capital funding, and other measures. The City, in addition
to making large cuts in expenditures, also passed ten new revenue measures including a beverage container tax and increased
rates for income, telecommunications, energy, hotel and parking taxes. The City continues to update its projections and is
planning additional corrective actions for both fiscal years 2011 and 2012.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions
about this report, or need additional financial information, contact the Director of Finance at the following address:

Room 469, City Hall

100 N. Holliday Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Component Units

Primary Government Baltimore City ~ Baltimore
Governmental — Business-type Public School Hotel
Activities Activities Total System Corporation
Assets:
Cash and cashequivalents ............ ... ... it $ 272,101 $ 178,179 $ 450,280 $150,152 $ 3,145
INVESUMENES . .. ..ottt e 123,322 123,322 14,992 34,174
Property taxes receivable, et .......... ... ... 30,459 30,459
Other receivables, NEt . . ... ... i 40,528 68,272 108,800 4,200 1,294
Due from other GOVErNMEents . ... ... ... ..ottt 201,180 34,680 235,860 68,931
Internal balances . .. ... . 1,315 (1,315)
Due from primary OVEIMMENt .. ... ... ..ottt ettt 3,887
INVENLOTIES ... ...t 6,315 4,714 11,029 2,181 123
Restricted:
Cashand cashequivalents ................ . .. i 200,543 200,543
Accounts receivable . ... ... 12,865 12,865
Notes and mortgages receivable, Net . ...............oiiiiiiiiiii 309,456 48,045 357,501
Other @SSELS . ... ...ttt ettt et 27,745 62,618 90,363 468 4,070
ISSUANCE COSES .« o . vttt et ettt e e e e e e e e e 5,233 5,233 145 11,444
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation .. ........... . ... i 2,589,556 1,534,909 4,124,465 580,617 241,850
Capital assets, not depreciated .. ......... ...t 846,835 990,755 1,837,590
Deferred outflow SWAPS . ... ... . . . .. 21,396 69,635 91,031
TOtAl ASSELS . . oo v ettt ettt et 4,470,208 3,209,133 7,679,341 825,573 296,100
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .......... .. ... ... i 196,866 19,698 216,564 128,184 4,419
Accrued interest payable ... ... ... 14,624 20,619 35,243 5,296
Estimated claims in progress:
Due Within 0ne Year ... ... ...ttt e e 56,053 56,053
Due inmore than one year . ...ttt 127,716 127,716
Unamortized premiums on bonds . ....... ... . 13,894 4,263 18,157
Matured bonds payable ........... ... 2 2
Unearned rEVENUE . . . . ..o\ttt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e 70,895 70,895 2,242 2,244
Notes Payable . .. ... o 300,940
Due to other GOVErNMEents . ... ... ...ttt 5,403 5,403
Deposits subject torefund . ... ... . . 16,283 15 16,298
Restricted accounts payable . .......... .. 14,250 14,250
Revenue bonds payable:
Due within one year .. ........ .. it 9,145 34,159 43,304
Due in more than ONe YEAr . ... ... ..u ittt ettt et e 422,011 1,301,683 1,723,694
Long term debt payable, net of deferred loss on bond refunding and unamortized charges:
Due Within One Year .. ... ...ttt 61,537 658 62,195 5,350
Due inmore than one year . ......... ...ttt 724,597 63 724,660 90,750
Derivative instrument liability .. ........ .. ... .. 21,396 105,576 126,972
Capital leases payable:
Due Within ONe Year ... ...ttt 19,177 19,177 6,611
Dueinmore thanone year ........... ...ttt 149,923 149,923 56,685
Compensated absences:
Due withinone year .......... ... . o it 43,901 5,024 48,925 5,422
Due in more than ONe Year . ... ... ...ttt 76,897 7,832 84,729 48,801
Landfill closure due in more than one year ...............oouuuiiiiinneinnnnnen.. 18,226 18,226
Other postemployment benefits obligation ............... ... ... ... .. ... 86,700 86,700
Other Habilities . . ... ... ...t e 4,090 4,838 8,928 3,339 14,603
Total liabilities .. ....... ... . 2,133,933 1,524,081 3,658,014 347,384 327,502
Net assets (deficits):
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt . ......... ... .. ... ... 2,681,668 1,377,641 4,059,309 417,123
Restricted for:
Dbt SEIVICE . .\ttt 124,756 124,756
Perpetual care:
Expendable . ... ... 8,211 8,211
Nonexpendable . ....... ... 6,576 6,576
Unrestricted net assets (deficits) .......... ... ... ... .. i (360,180) 182,655 (177,525) 61,066 (31,402)
Total net assets (deficits) ........... ... ... ... i $2,336,275 $1,685,052 $4,021,327 $478,189 $(31,402)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Primary Government

Component Units

Charges Operating Capital Business- Baltimore City ~ Baltimore
for Grants and Grants and Governmental type Public School Hotel
Functions/Programs Expenses Services  Contributions _Contributions Activities Activities Total System Corporation
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
General government . . . . .. $ 545,037 $ 39,794 $ 35845 $ (469,398) $ (469,398)
Public safety and
regulation ............ 504,730 13,244 32,283 (459,203) (459,203)
Conservation of health . . .. 164,751 2,110 192,867 30,226 30,226
Social services .......... 435 (435) (435)
Education .............. 228,788 (228,788) (228,788)
Public library ........... 33915 254 13,889 (19,772) (19,772)
Recreation and culture . . . . 39,205 769 1,394 $ 12,160 (24,882) (24,882)
Highways and streets . .. .. 191,536 26,397 953 19,559 (144,127) (144,127)
Sanitation and waste
removal ............. 52,905 2,615 (50,290) (50,290)
Public service ........... 24,316 (24,316) (24,316)
Economic development . . . 182,816 82,538 31,718 (68,560) (68,560)
Interest ................ 50,105 (50,105) (50,105)
Total governmental
activities ......... 2,018,539 85,683 359,769 63,437 (1,509,650) (1,509,650)
Business-type activities:
Water ................ 107,982 130,512 13,798 $ 36,328 36,328
Waste water ............ 157,605 166,016 23,619 32,030 32,030
Parking ................ 24,832 67,760 42,928 42,928
Conduits ............... 5,947 9,044 145 3,242 3,242
Development loans . . . . . .. 3,258 555 751 (1,952) (1,952)
Industrial development . . . . 2,333 390 (1,943) (1,943)
Total business-type
activities . ...... 301,957 374,277 38,313 110,633 110,633
Total primary government . . . $ 2,320,496  $459.960 $ 359,769 $101,750 (1,509,650) 110,633 (1,399,017)
Component units:
Baltimore City Public
School System .. .. .. $ 1,372,984 $ 1,261  $1,345,725 $ 36,074 $ 10,076
Baltimore Hotel
Corporation ........ $ 63,108  $ 48,058 $(15,050)
General revenues:
Property taxes ... ....oouii 770,320 770,320
Income taxes ............iiiiii i 251,731 251,731
Transfer and recordationtax . ........................ 26,023 26,023
Electricand gastax ........... ... i 30,163 30,163
Telecommunications tax . .............oeueunenn.... 26,292 26,292
Admission tax .. ... 7475 7475
Other local taxes . ..........oiuiiieininnannn.. 25,519 25,519
State shared revenues ................. ... ... ... 135,226 135,226
Unrestricted investment income ... ................... 27,308 27,308 515 799
Miscellaneous . ....... .. ... i i 15,806 15,806 7,045
Transfers .. ... 40,707 (40,707)
Total general revenues and transfers .................. 1,356,570 (40,707) 1,315,863 7,560 799
Change in Net assets .................ouvuvnnnn... (153,080) 69,926 (83,154) 17,636 (14,251)
Net assets — beginning (as restated) ...................... 2,489,355 1,615,126 4,104,481 460,553 (17,151)
Netassets —ending ...t $ 2,336,275  $1,685,052 $4,021,327 $478,189 $(31,402)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Capital
Motor Vehicle Grants Projects
General Fund Fund Revenue Fund Fund Other Funds Total
Assets:
Cash and cash eqUivalents .. ............ouuuiiioniiieenaneaeanns $121,980 $ 26,104 $ 30,822 $178,906
INVESTMENTS . . . oottt et e e et e e e 81,780 10,969 25,579 118,328
Property taxes receivable, net .. .......... . 30,459 30,459
Other receivables, Net .. ... ..ot 23,387 $ 526 5,786 270 29,969
Due from other governments ................. . i 29,831 25,253 $ 49,185 56,663 212 161,144
Due fromother funds ........ ... .. . ... .. . . 62,021 1,519 1,358 64,898
Notes, mortgages receivable, net ..................o i 6,070 1,186 7,256
INVeNtories, At COSE . ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e 2,021 2,021
OthET ASSELS . . o v ot ettt e e e e e e s 25,256 25,256
TOtal ASSELS . ...ttt 380,784 27,800 49,185 101,041 59,427 618,237
Liabilities and fund balances:
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............... . ... . ... 140,765 9,015 19,006 7,551 547 176,884
Retainages payable .. ....... ... .. .. 9,446 9,446
Due toother funds ........... ... .. .. i 1,557 41,292 1,358 11,555 55,762
Deposits subject torefund ........ ... .. 16,283 16,283
Deferred revenue .. ....... ... . 46,164 526 27,272 2,813 76,775
Matured bonds payable . . ....... ... ... 2 2
Total liabilities .. ....... ...t 203,212 11,098 87,570 18,355 14,917 335,152
Fund balances:
Reserved for:
Budget stabilization ............ . ... 79,875 79,875
Landfill closure . . ... ... i 17,356 17,356
Landfill development ......... ... ... .. it 13,471 13,471
Encumbrances . .......... ... 40,275 8,387 126,660 175,322
INVENOTIES . . ..ot 2,021 2,021
Other assets ... ...ttt 1,433 1,433
Long term receivable . ........ ... ... 4,721 4,721
Non-major special revenue funds . ...................... .. 8,211 8,211
Non-major permanent funds . ......... ... ... i i 6,576 6,576
Unreserved (deficit):
Designated for subsequent years’ expenditures ....................... 17,746 4,298 22,044
Undesignated (deficit) .............. ... ... ... ... ... 2,695 1,996 (38,385) (43,974) (77,668)
Unreserved reported in:
Debt service fund ......... ... ... 41,319 41,319
Special revenue funds .. ... (11,596) (11,596)
Total fund balances . .............. ... .. i 177,572 16,702 (38,385) 82,686 44,510 283,085
Total liabilities and fund balances ................ ... ... .. ... .. ... ... $380,784 $27,800 $ 49,185 $101,041 $ 59.427
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net assets are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds .. ... ......... ... .. 3,373,961
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds ........... .. ... ... .. i 340,994
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the
cost of fleet management, mailing, communications, printing,
and risk management to individual funds. The assets and
liabilities of the internal service funds are included in
governmental activities in the statement of NEt ASSELS. . .. ... ..ottt e (2,764)
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and
payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported
AN Ehe fUNAS. .o e e e (1,659,001)

Net assets of governmental ACHIVILIES . ... ... ... uuttutttt ettt ettt

$ 2,336,275

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Motor Grants Capital
General Vehicle Revenue Projects Other
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
Revenues:
Taxes —10cal . ..o ot $1,137,523 $1,137,523
State shared TeVeNUE . .. ... ........uuuuuut e $ 134,756 $ 470 135,226
Licenses and permits .. ........ ...ttt e 34,438 630 35,068
Fines and forfeitures ............ .. ... . . . . . 7,116 12,203 19,319
Interest, rentals and other investmentincome . ... .......................... 24,148 156 $ 581 2,423 27,308
Federal grants ......... ... ... o i 213 $ 164,628 41,951 25,748 232,540
SEALE GIANLS . . ..ttt 97,320 72,224 21,486 191,030
Oher rants ... ...ttt 46 33,840 33,886
Charges for SEIVICES .. ... ...ttt 29,251 8.845 38,096
Miscellaneous . ...... ...ttt 4,528 11,278 15,806
TOtal TEVENUES . . . . oottt et e e 1,334,583 156,590 270,692 75,296 28,641 1,865,802
Expenditures:
Current:
General GOVEINMENt .. ... ...ttt ettt ettt e 410,746 31,647 45,748 2,198 490,339
Public safety and regulation ............. .. ... i i il i 437,031 31,766 33,794 49 502,640
Conservation of health . ...... ... .. ... ... . . .. .. . 44,950 268 119,031 164,249
SOCIAL SBIVICES . . . .ttt 396 396
Education . ...t 207,657 3,654 154 211,465
Public library . ... ... oo 24,246 6,710 47 31,003
Recreation and culture . ....... .. .. ... 30,212 255 1,484 35 31,986
Highways and streets . ......... ...ttt 16,376 117,203 262 133,841
Sanitation and waste removal .. ... .. ... .. 37.862 6,456 44318
Public SEIVICE .. ...ttt 21,455 21,455
Economic development . .. .......... i 36,186 309 73,574 61,734 9,380 181,183
Debt service:
Principal . ... ... 60,054 60,054
INterest . ..o 39,014 39,014
Other bond COSES . . ..ottt e e s 9,847 9,847
Capital Outlay . ... 138,868 138,868
Capital 1eases . ... ...t 75,099 75,099
Total eXpenditures . .. ... ..ottt 1,267,117 191,558 280,603 275,701 120,778 2,135,757
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures ................... 67,466 (34,968) (9,911) (200,405) (92,137) (269,955)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in ... ..o o 37,312 55,267 4,760 16,233 108,403 221,975
Transfers OUL . . ..ottt e (144,135) (14,169) (9,340) (13,624) (181,268)
Capital Ieases . ........ ... 75,099 75,099
Face value of funding and general obligationbonds ........................ 54,688 54,688
Total other financing sOUrces (USES) .. .......ueiitneeenineen. (106,823) 41,098 4,760 136,680 94,779 170,494
Net change in fund balance . ........... ... .. . i i i il (39,357) 6,130 (5,151) (63,725) 2,642 (99,461)
Fund balances — beginning ............... ... ... ... .. i oL 216,929 10,572 (33,234) 146,411 41,868 382,546
Fund balances —ending . . ..... ... ittt $ 177,572 $ 16,702 $ (38,385) $ 82,686 $ 44,510 $ 283,085

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities (page 17) are different because:

Net change in fund balance — total governmental funds (page 19) .......... ... ... ... ... ... ... ..
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current year . .
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenues inthe funds .. ... .. . .
The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provide current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current
financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net
assets. Also governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the
statement of activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in treatment of long-term
debt and related ItemS ... ... ...
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds ..............
The net expense of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental
activities

Change in net assets of governmental activities (page 17)

$ (99,461)

251,311

12,082

(129,787)
(168,370)

(18.855)
$(153,080)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Fund Net Assets

Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2010

(Expressed

in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Waste Governmental
Water ‘Water Parking Activities
Utility Utility Facilities Other Internal
Fund Fund Fund Funds Total Service Funds
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ... ...t $ 40296 $ 68339 $ 23412 § 46,132 $ 178,179 $ 93,195
INVEStMENTS . ... 4,994
Accounts receivable, net:
Service Dillings . . .. ..ottt 40,091 21,550 2,146 63,787
ONET .« . e e 3,775 282 391 36 4,484 10,559
Due from other OVErNMEents . .. ... .........uuuuuuunnunnnnannnnnn. 17,649 17,032 34,681
INVENTOIIES . ..ot 4,483 231 4,714 4,295
TOtal CUITENE ASSELS . . . o o e v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 106,294 107,434 23,803 48,314 285,845 113,043
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and cashequivalents ........... ... . . i i 87,254 84,542 24,944 3,803 200,543
Accounts receivable .. ... ... 6,402 6,463 12,865
Notes and mortgages receivable ........... ... ... ... ... . i 48,045 48,045
Capital @SSELS, ML . . . e e e e 840,423 1,526,248 113,513 45,480 2,525,664 62,431
OBNET @SSELS . . . e e 62,618 62,618 2,489
ISSUANCE COSES . . . vttt ettt e e e e e e e e e 3,559 1,467 207 5,233
Deferred outflow SWAPS .. ... 32,565 24,877 2,706 9,487 69,635
Total NONCUITENE ASSELS . . . . o oo o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 970,203 1,642,130 190,675 121,595 2,924,603 64,920
TOAl ASSELS .+« « + ot v e ettt e e e e 1,076,497 1,749,564 214,478 169,909 3,210,448 177,963
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .. ......... .. ... . ... i 7,551 10,948 1,020 179 19,698 10,536
Accrued interest payable. . ... 8,359 9,905 2,326 29 20,619
Deposits subject torefund . ...... .. ... 15 15
Due to other funds .. ............ 1,519 1,519 7,617
Due to other gOVErnments ... ... ........uiuuunietinne e 3,124 2,279 5,403
Estimated liability for claims in progress . ................cooiiiiiiiinnnnn... 56,053
Other Habilities . . ... .. ... e 5,506 2,809 151 8,466 4,089
Accounts payable from restricted assets .. .............ii 6,017 7,881 106 246 14,250
Revenue bonds payable ......... ... ... 8,036 20,105 6,018 34,159
General long-term debt payable .. .......... .. ... ... i 118 540 658
Total current liabilities .. ....... ... ... .. 38,726 54,467 9,470 2,124 104,787 78,295
Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable, net. .......... ... . . 463,814 624,135 127,634 86,100 1,301,683
Other Habilities. ... ... ....oouut e 3,311 3,992 1,925 9,228
Unamortized bond premiums .. ... i 4,263 4,263
General long-term debt payable . ........ ... ... ... 63 63
Estimated liability for claims in progress . ............. ... i, 102,225
Derivative instrument liability ......... ... ... .. ... 44,038 25,022 25,498 11,018 105,576
Total noncurrent labilities . .. .......... . i 511,163 657,475 153,132 99,043 1,420,813 102,225
Total Habilities . . ... ..o e 549,889 711,942 162,602 101,167 1,525,600 180,520
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt . ........ ... ... . ... .. ... ... 418,242 900,586 17,313 45,480 1,381,621 62,431
Restricted for:
DEDE SEIVICE . vttt ettt e e e e 40,520 67,560 16,676 124,756
Unrestricted (defiCit) ... .. ... ... 67,846 69,476 17,887 23,262 178,471 (64,989)
TOtal NEE ASSELS . . . o o oo e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 526,608 $1,037,622 $ 51,876 $ 68,742 1,684,848 $ (2,557)
Adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to
enterprise funds ... ..... ... ... 204
Net assets of business-type activities . ... ..., $1,685,052

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Waste . Governmental
Water Water Parking Activities
Utility Utility Facilities Other Internal
Fund Fund Fund Funds Total Service Funds
Operating revenues:
Charges for sales and services:
Water and SEWET SEIVICE . . . o oottt e e e e et e e e e $130,512 $ 166,016 $296,528
Rents, fees and other iNCOME . . . ... ...t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 67,760 $ 9,899 77,659 $216,901
INtErest iNCOME . . ..o o vttt et et e e e e e e e e e e e 154 56 90 300
Total Operating reVeNUES . . .. ..o vttt ettt e et e 130,666 166,072 67,760 9,989 374,487 216,901
Operating expenses:
Salaries and Wages ... ... ... 35,548 37,984 2,472 76,004 18,535
Other personnel COStS . ... ..ottt ettt e 11,813 13,957 1,050 26,820 6,874
Contractial SEIVICES . . . ...ttt 30,477 56,155 10,857 1,691 99,180 31,677
Materials and supplies ... ........... ... . 10,288 7,556 157 18,001 15,575
MiNOr €QUIPMENT . ... w ottt 268 110 9 25 412 32
Claims paid and incurred . ....... ... . 142,394
Postage and delivery Services . ... .. .........uuut 1,632
Depreciation .. ... ... ... 14,568 31,440 2,955 744 49,707 8,255
Program @XPEINSES . . . . ... uuuuttt 3,487 3,487
ereSt . . o e 1,934 1,934
Total Operating Xpenses . .. ... ........eiuiunte it 102,962 147,202 13,821 11,560 275,545 224,974
Operating income (10SS) ............. .. 27,704 18,870 53,939 1,571 98,942 (8,073)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Loss on sale of INVEStMENtS . ... ... .ottt et (151) (112) (263)
Interest income (EXPense), MOt . .. ... ...ttt (5,369) (10,857)  (11,011) (27,237) 136
Total nonoperating revenues (EXpenses), Net ... ... ..............o.ouuuunnnnn. (5,520) (10,969)  (11,011) (27,500) 136
Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers ................... ... 22,184 7,901 42,928 (1,571) 71,442 (7,937)
Capital contributions ............ . .. ... 13,798 23,619 896 38,313 13,593
Transfers I ... .. 1,365 1,365
Transters OUL . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e (42,072) (42,072)
Change in NEt ASSELS . .. ...ttt e e 35,982 31,520 856 690 69,048 5,656
Total net assets — beginning (asrestated) . ............... i 490,626 1,006,102 51,020 68,052 (8,213)
Total net assets — eNdiNZ .. ... vttt e $526,608  $1,037,622  $ 51,876  $68,742 $ (2,557
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service activities related to enterprise funds 1,087
Change in net assets of business-type activities ... ..............uuuuuuunenneunnenn.. $ 70,135

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Waste Governmental
Water Water Parking Activities-
Utility Utility Facilities Other Internal
Fund Fund Fund Funds Total Service Funds
Cash flow from operating activities:
Receipts from CUSIOMETS . . ..ottt ettt e e et e et e $107,091  $182,152 $ 67,760 $ 9,658 $ 366,661 $ 224,505
Payments t0 @MPIOYEES . ... ...ttt (47,361) (51,774) (3,522)  (102,657) (25,032)
Payments to SUPPHETS . . ... ... .. (30,424)  (66,762)  (11,498)  (7,379)  (116,063) (202,839)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities . ............................ 29,306 63,616 56,262 (1,243) 147,941 (3,366)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Transfers in (OUL) . . ...t (42,072) 1,365 (40,707)
Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities .................... (42,072) 1,365 (40,707)
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Mortgages receivable principal payments . ... ...........c..ouuuniniiiiiiin... 3,327 3,327
Proceeds from revenue bonds . ........ .. ... 17,000 3,750 20,750
Principal paid on revenue bonds . ........... (6,264)  (18,978) (6,915) (4,825) (36,982)
Principal paid on general long-termdebt . .......... .. ... .. .. i (823) (56) (879)
Interest iNCOME (EXPENSE) .+« v v v v vttt et et e e ettt e e et e e e (3,352) (11,329) (8,486) 1,565 (21,602)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets ............. .. ... i (69,991) (90,636) (1,420) (3,659) (165,706) (6,770)
Capital contributions e 13,798 23,618 896 38,312 13,593
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities . . ............ (49,632) (93,631)  (13,494) (6,023)  (162,780) 6,823
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds (loss) from the sale and maturities of investments ........................ 21
Interest ON INVESMENTS . . . . .o 136
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities ..................c..ooooo... 157
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .............................. ... (20,326) (30,015) 696 (5,901) (55,546) 3,614
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ...................... ... 147,876 182,896 47,560 55,836 434,168 89,581
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ........... ... ... it $127,550  $152,881  $ 48,256  $49,935 $ 378,622 $ 93,195
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating inComMe (0SS) . . ..« e vttt ettt et e e $ 27,704 $ 18870 $53,939  $(1,571) $ 98,942 $ (8,073)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation EXPEMNSE . . . . ... e 14,568 31,440 2,955 744 49,707 8,255
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts TeCeivables . .. ... .. e (8,489) 4,936 158 (331) (3,726) 15,866
Due from other governments . ............ ..ottt (14,196) 3,921 (10,275)
INVENTOTIES . .. ottt ettt e e e e e e e 12 (25) (13) (3,211)
Restricted accounts receivable 4,444 4,444
Other assets ................ (240)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .............. ..o 3,969 3,357 (381) (473) 6,472 (9,487)
Other liabilities . . .. ........ ... 3,504 (6,578) 576 (2,498) 205
Estimated liability for claims in progress ....................coiiiiiiia... (1,870)
Accrued interest payable . ....... ... 472 (187) (5) 280
Restricted accounts payable . ... ... (890) (222) (133) (1,245)
Duetoother funds . ....... ... .. it (50) (50) 4,811)
Due to other gOVernments .. ... .........ouuuuiiiiinnet i 3,124 2,779 5,903
Total adjustments . .......... ... ..ot 1,602 44,746 2,323 328 48,999 4,707
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities . ... ............oeuuuuuieennnneeeann. $ 29306 $ 63,616 $56,262 $(1,243) $ 147,941 $ (3,366)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Pension
and OPEB
Trust Agency
Funds Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES . . . .. ..ottt $ 150,156  $1,407
Investments:
SOCKS o o 1,748,170
BONAS oot 995,537 51
REal SIALE . . . . ot e 256,685
Securities lending collateral ... ... ... 367,169
Accounts receivable, net:
ONT o ottt 6,408
Forward fOreign CONMIACTS . . . ..o\ u ittt et et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 44,607
L 1T TN 46,213
TOAL ASSELS . . . v v v vttt ettt ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e 3,614,945 1,458
Liabilities:
Obligations under securities [ending ProOgram .. ... ... ... ...ttt ettt e e e 367,169
Forward foreign CONLIACES . ... ... ... ...ttt et e e 44,305
AcCCoUNts PAYADIE . . . oo e e e 87,510
OUNET oottt 8,757 1,458
TOtal HADIIEIES . . . . v et ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e e 507,741 1,458
Net assets:
Held in trust for Benefits . ... .. ...ttt e e $3,107,204

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Pension
and OPEB
Trust
Funds
Additions:
Contributions:

EIMPIOYET oottt e ettt e e e e e e e e e $ 285,461
BINDlOY e . ..o 57,627
Total CONIIDULIONS . . . . oottt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 343,088

Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value of INVEStMENtS ... .. ... . 319,000
Securities 1ending INCOME . . . ... ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e 703
Interest and dividend INCOME . . . . . ... et 66,452
Total INVESIMENT INCOIME . . . . . ottt ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 386,155
LeSS: INVESIMENT EXPEIISE . . . ..ttt e e e e e e e e e e 11,716
Net INVESIMENT INCOMIE . .« . oo\ttt ettt et ettt et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 374,439
Total additiOns . . . . ..o 717,527

Deductions:

Retirement allOWANCES . . ... ...t e e e 303,701
Health Denefits . ..o 151,863
Death DENETILS . . . ... e e 946
AdMINISIIALIVE EXPEIISES .« o o oot ettt ettt et e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 6,402
ONET . .o e e 1,528
Total dedUCHIONS . . . .ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e 464,440
Changes I NEEASSELS .« . .. o ottt et ettt e ettt e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 253,087

Net assets — beginning of the year

Net assets — end of the year

2,854,117

$3,107,204

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

25



Note
Number

1.

2.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Index to the Notes to Basic Financial Statements

Page
Summary of Significant Accounting POliCIES . . ... ...ttt e 27
Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements ........... .. .. .. .. .. .. ... ..... 33
Deposits and INVESIMENTS . . . ..ottt e e e e e e 35
ReceIVabIes . ..o 42
CaPItal ASSEES .+ . v vttt e e e e 42
Interfund Balances and ACtiVIty ... ... ... .ttt e 44
Long-term ObBLIgations . . . . . ...ttt e e e 45
Revenue Bonds . ... ... . 51
Pledged Revenue . ... .. ... i e e 56
Prior-Year Defeasance of Debt . . ... ... 57
Interest Rate SWaps . . ..ot 57
Pension Plans . .. ... 60
Other Postemployment Benefits ... ... ... ... . e 63
Risk Management . .. ... ...ttt e e e e 65
Operating Leases . .. ..ottt e e e e 66
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care COStS . ... ... ...ttt e e 67
Notes and Mortgages Receivable .. ... ... ... 67
Deferred Revenue . ... ... ... 67
Commitments and CONtNZENCIES . . . . v vttt ettt e et et e e e e e ettt e e s 67
Beginning Balance Restatements . ... ... ... ...ttt e 69
Subsequent EVENts . . ... ... e 69

26



CITY OF BALTIMORE

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Baltimore (City) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland in 1797 and operates under an
elected Mayor-Council form of government. As required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principals in the United
States for governmental entities (GAAP), the accompanying financial statements present the City and its component
units, entities for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although
legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s operations. Each discretely presented component unit is
reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements (see note below for description) to
emphasize that it is legally separate from the City.

Blended Component Unit

The Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (IDA), an entity legally separate from the City, finances capital
construction projects, which solely benefit the City. The IDA is administered by a Board appointed by the Mayor and is
financially accountable to the City. This component unit is so intertwined with the City that it is, in substance, the same
as the City and, therefore, is blended and reported as if it is part of the City. The IDA is reported as an enterprise fund.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is responsible for elementary and secondary education within the
City’s jurisdiction. The BCPSS receives significant funding from the City. The City is also required to pay certain
benefits to its employees. However, the BCPSS is legally separate from the City since it has the authority and
responsibility for all its system functions and the Governor of the State of Maryland appoints a majority of its nine-
member board.

Complete financial statements for BCPSS may be obtained from the Chief Financial Officer, Baltimore City Public
School System, 200 East North Avenue, Baltimore, Maryland 21202. Further, the Statement of Net Assets presents the
financial position of BCPSS as of June 30, 2010.

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) was incorporated on October 14, 2005 as a nonprofit non-stock corporation.
BHC is financially accountable to the City. The BHC assists the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore on enhancing
the economic development in the City by operating a downtown convention center headquarters hotel and parking
structure. The City has pledged certain site-specific occupancy tax revenue to pay shortfalls in hotel operating
revenues and is responsible for operating deficits.

Complete financial statements for BHC may be obtained from the Director of Finance, Baltimore City, 469 City Hall,
100 N. Holliday St., Baltimore, Maryland 21202. Further, the Statement of Net Assets presents the financial position
of BHC as of December 31, 2009.

Related Organizations

There are other governmental entities that provide services within the City of Baltimore. While the City is responsible
for appointing the board members of these entities, the City’s accountability for these organizations does not extend
beyond making appointments. The City’s basic financial statements do not reflect the operations of the:

Baltimore City Foundation
Lexington Market
Baltimore Area Convention and Visitors Association
City of Baltimore Development Corporation
Baltimore Community Development Finance Corporation
Empower Baltimore Management Corporation
Special Benefits Taxing Districts
Community Media of Baltimore City, Incorporated

Baltimore Healthcare Access, Incorporated

Family League of Baltimore City

Live Baltimore Home Center
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

In addition, the Housing Authority of Baltimore City (HABC) is considered a related organization. The HABC is a
separate legal entity and is governed by a Commission of five citizens with staggered terms appointed by the Mayor.
The Commission establishes the operating policies of the HABC, which was implemented under the direction of an
Executive Director appointed by the Commission. The HABC develops, maintains, and manages low-rent housing and
administers housing assistance payment programs primarily for the citizenry’s benefit and not that of the primary
government. These activities are subsidized by the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and other
grantors. Consequently, the primary government is not able to exert influence over or to impose a burden relationship
upon the HABC. This organization is not financially accountable to the City and maintains its own separate
accounting systems.

. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements. The statement of net assets and the statement of activities display information about the
primary government (the City) and its component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall
government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of internal
activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the City.
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange
transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for the different
business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are
those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular
function. Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of
activities. Program revenues include (a) fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by
the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operations or capital requirements of a
particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general
revenues.

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds, including its
fiduciary funds and blended component units. Separate statements for each fund category — governmental, proprietary
and fiduciary — are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise
funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and
reported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions associated with
the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up
essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange
transactions or ancillary activities. Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
non-operating expenses.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. This is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Grants Revenue and Motor Vehicle Special Revenue Funds. These funds account for revenues derived from certain
State shared taxes, governmental grants and other revenue sources that are restricted by law or administrative action to
expenditures for specific purposes.

Capital Projects Fund. The proceeds of general obligation bond issues, State construction loans, governmental and
other grants, and revenues from other sources appropriated for capital improvements, acquisitions and related
programs are accounted for in this fund, except for those accounted for in the proprietary fund types.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

Water Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s water supply
system.

Waste Water Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s
sewerage system.

Parking Facilities Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City-owned off-
street parking facilities.

The City reports the following other fund types:

Internal Service Funds. These funds account for mobile equipment, reproduction and printing, municipal post office,
municipal telephone exchange, electronic equipment maintenance, municipal communications and risk management,
which provided goods and services to other departments on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds. These funds account for assets and activities when a government unit is functioning either as a
trustee or an agent of another party, transactions related to assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent
for individuals, private organizations and other governments. The fiduciary funds include the following:

Pension Trust Funds. These funds account for the receipt, investment and distribution of retirement contributions
made for the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials and other City employees.

Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund. This fund accounts for the receipt, investment and distribution of retiree
health and life insurance benefits.

* Agency Funds account for assets held by the City as custodians. Agency funds include:

e Unpresented Stock and Coupon Bonds account for principal payments held by the City for matured bonds not
yet presented for payment.

e Property Sold for Taxes accounts for the proceeds of tax sales in excess of the City liens that remain
unclaimed by the taxpayer.

* Bid Deposit Refunds account for bid deposits held by the City to secure vendors bids not yet awarded.

e Recreation Accessory accounts for assets held by the City for the benefit of recreation centers throughout the
City.

e Waterloo Summit accounts for assets held by the City as a surety deposit from a developer.

* Insurance Deposits accounts for assets held by the City as deposits from insurance companies.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting

Government-wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide, proprietary, and
fiduciary fund financial statements with the exception of agency funds, which have no measurement focus, are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash
flows take place. On the accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which taxes are
levied. Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility
requirements have been satisfied. Operating revenue in the proprietary funds are those that result from the services
provided by the funds, all other revenue is considered to be non-operating.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when
measurable and available. The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the
revenues are collected within 60 days after year-end, except for grant and entitlement revenue which have a 90 day
availability period. Property taxes and interest are considered to be susceptible to accrual. Expenditures are recorded
when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General

29



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and
acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Under the terms of the grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific cost-
reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred, there
are both restricted and unrestricted net assets available to finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-
reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general fund
revenues.

All governmental and business-type activities and enterprise funds of the City follow FASB Statements and
Interpretations issued on or before November 30, 1989, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting
Research Bulletins, unless those pronouncements conflict with GASB pronouncements. The City has elected not to
follow subsequent FASB Statements and Interpretations.

. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND EQUITY
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits, as well as short-term investments with a maturity date within three
months of the date acquired by the City.

Deposits and Investments

The cash balances of substantially all funds are pooled and invested by the City for the purpose of increasing earnings
through investment activities. The pool’s investments are reported at fair value at June 30, 2010, based on market prices.
The individual funds’ portions of the pool’s fair value are presented as “Pooled Cash and Investments.” Earnings on the
pooled funds are apportioned and paid or credited to the funds quarterly based on the average daily balance of each
participating fund.

Receivables and Payables
All property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.

Mortgage receivables reported in governmental fund and government-wide financial statements, and notes receivable
reported in proprietary fund statements consist of loans that are generally not expected or scheduled to be collected in
the subsequent year.

Unbilled water and waste water user charges are estimated and accrued at year-end.
Inventories

Inventories are valued at cost using the moving average method. The costs of governmental fund-type inventories are
recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.

Capital Assets

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets are
recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of receipt. Infrastructure assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 are
reported at estimated historical cost using deflated replacement cost. Infrastructure assets, such as streets, highways,
bridges, sidewalks, street lighting, traffic poles and signals, and storm sewers are required to be capitalized under
GAAP. Capitalization thresholds are: $50,000 for buildings, improvements and infrastructure; and $5,000 for
equipment. Library books are capitalized as a collection based on total purchases. The cost of normal maintenance and
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Estimated
Asset Class Useful Lives
Infrastructure . ........ ... .. 5-80
Buildings ... ... 50
Building improvements .. ....... ... ... 20-50
EqUipment . ... ... 2-25
Library boOKS . . .. ..o 10




CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

Compensated Absences

The liability for compensated absences reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements consists of
unpaid, accumulated annual sick, vacation, and personal leave balances. The liability has been calculated using the
vesting method, in which leave amounts for both employees who are currently eligible to receive termination payments
and other employees who are expected to become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are
included. Payments made to terminated employees for accumulated leave are charged as expenditures/expenses,
primarily in the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Proprietary Funds, when paid.

Estimated Liability for Claims in Process

The liability for claims in process represents estimates for all personal injury, workers’ compensation, unemployment,
property damage, and medical claims at June 30, 2010. This liability, which includes estimates for known and incurred
but not reported claims, is based upon an actuarial valuation of the City’s claim payment history discounted at a rate of
4.5%, for all claims except medical, for which claims are not discounted.

Property Tax and Property Tax Calendar

The City levies an annual tax for the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30, on real and personal property
located in the City, due and payable each July 1 (lien date), based on assessed values as of the previous January 1. These
assessed values are established by the State of Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation at various rates of
estimated market value. A discount of 2% is allowed for payments made in July. Unpaid property taxes are considered
in arrears on October 1, and penalty and interest of 2% is assessed each month. Real property subject to tax liens is sold
at public auction in May in instances where the taxes have remained delinquent since the preceding October 1.

The City is responsible for the assessment, collection, and apportionment of property taxes. The City levies an annual
tax for the fiscal year ending June 30, due and payable each July 1, based on assessed values as of the previous
January 1.

State law requires that all real property be reassessed every three years, and further provides that the amount of any
increase over previous established market values be phased in over a three-year period. To accomplish the triennial
assessment requirement, approximately one-third of all real property is reviewed annually. The City Council, effective
with the fiscal year beginning July 1, 1991, enacted a 104% homestead tax credit program which will protect home
owners from increases in assessments that are greater than 4% in any one year. The assessed value of real property in
Baltimore City for fiscal year 2010 was $28,511,521,000 which was approximately 80.1% of the estimated market
value.

The tax rate in Baltimore City for real property taxes for fiscal year 2010 was $2.268 per $100 of assessed value.
Pursuant to State Law, the personal property tax and tax rate applied to operating property of public utilities is 2.5 times
the real property rate or $5.67 per $100 of assessed value. Current collections were 98.6% of the total tax levy.

At June 30, 2010, the City had property taxes receivable of $30,459,000, net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts
of $20,897,000.

Gains and Losses on Early Extinguishment of Debt from Refundings

Gains and losses on the early extinguishment of debt from refundings are amortized over the shorter of the life of the
new or old debt.

Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, approved requisitions and other commitments for the
expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed in the
General, Motor Vehicle, Special Race Track and Capital Projects Funds. Encumbrances are treated as reservations of
fund balance in these funds because they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. Encumbrances are reported with
expenditures in all budgetary basis schedules.
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Sick, Vacation and Personal Leave

Employees earn one day of sick leave for each completed month of service, and there is no limitation on the number of
sick days that employees can accumulate. A portion of unused sick leave earned annually during each twelve-month
base period may be converted to cash at a maximum of three days, computed on an attendance formula. Upon retirement
with pension benefits, or termination of employment after completion of twenty or more years of service without
pension benefits, employees receive one day’s pay for every four sick days accumulated and unused at the date of
separation; under any other conditions of separation, unused sick leave is forfeited.

Employees earn vacation and personal leave for each completed month of service and can accumulate a maximum of
224 vacation and personal leave days depending upon length of service, which either may be taken through time off or
carried until paid at termination or retirement.

The City accrues for all salary-related items in the government-wide and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements for which they are liable to make a payment directly and incrementally associated with payments made for
compensated absences on termination or retirement. The City includes its share of social security and Medicare
payments made on behalf of the employees in the accrual for sick, vacation and personal leave pay.

The Baltimore City Public School System’s employees are granted sick, vacation and personal leave in varying amounts
based on length of service and bargaining unit. A limited number of sick, vacation and personal leave days may be
carried forward from year to year and upon retirement with pension benefits or separation of employment with twenty
years of service, employees are paid accumulated sick, vacation and personal leave days at appropriate formula and
rates. The unpaid vested sick, vacation and personal leave days have been reported as vested compensated absences.

Restricted Assets

The proceeds of the Water Utility Fund, Waste Water Utility Fund, and Parking Facilities Fund revenue bonds and
Federal and State grants, and restricted accounts receivables are restricted for the purpose of the construction of water,
sewer, and parking facilities.

Fund Equity

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balances for accounts that are not
available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for use for a specific purpose. Designations of fund
balance represent tentative management plans that are subject to change.

The following is a description of the reservations in the governmental fund financial statements:

Reserved for budget stabilization — Maryland State law authorizes its political subdivisions to establish reserve
accounts for the purpose of maintaining fiscal stability in the event of economic downturns affecting local revenues. As
of June 30, 2010, the City had reserved $79,875,000 of its General Fund fund balance for that purpose. The reserve can
be used in case of emergency at the discretion of the Board of Estimates.

Reserved for landfill closure — This represents the portion of the fund balance reserved for landfill closure and is to
provide for amounts to be required when the landfill closes.

Reserve for landfill development — This represents the portion of the fund balance reserved for landfill development
and is to provide for amounts to be used to develop new landfills in the City.

Reserved for encumbrances — Encumbrances outstanding at year-end represent the estimated amount the City intends
to honor as a commitment regardless of the lapse in appropriation.

Reserved for inventories — This represents the portion of the fund balance that is not available as spendable resources
even though the inventories are a component of net assets.

Reserved for other assets — This represents the portion of the fund balance that is not available as spendable resources
even though the other assets are a component of net assets.

Reserved for long term receivable — This represents the portion of the fund balance that is not available as spendable
resources even though the long term receivable is a component of net assets.
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Interfund Transactions
The City has three types of transactions among funds:

Statutory transfers — Legally required transfers that are reported when incurred as “Transfers in” by the recipient fund
and as “Transfers out” by the disbursing fund.

Transfers of Expenditures (Reimbursements) — Reimbursement of expenditures made by one fund for another that are
recorded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the reimbursed fund.

Interfund payments — Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund to another that are recorded as revenues
of the recipient fund and as expenditures or expenses of the disbursing fund.

D. NEwW GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING STANDARD BOARD PRONOUNCEMENTS

The City will be required to adopt the following Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncement:

GASB Statement No. 54

In March 2009, the GASB issued Statement No. 54, “Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type
Definitions.” This statement enhances the usefulness of fund balance information by providing clearer fund balance
classifications that can be more consistently applied and by clarifying the existing governmental fund type definitions.
This statement establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to
which a government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in governmental
funds. The City is required to adopt GASB Statement No. 54 for its fiscal year 2011 financial statements.

2. Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

A summary reconciliation of the difference between total fund balances as reflected on the governmental funds balance
sheet and the net assets for governmental activities as shown on the government-wide statement of net assets is presented
on the face of the governmental funds balance sheets. The asset and liability elements which comprise the reconciliation
difference stem from governmental funds using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting, while the government-wide financial statements use the economic resources measurement
focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between net changes in fund balance as reflected on the governmental funds
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances and change in net assets for governmental activities as
shown on the government-wide statement of activities is presented in an accompanying schedule to the governmental
funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The revenues and expense elements which
comprise the reconciliation difference stem from governmental funds using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, while the government-wide financial statements use the economic
resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between total net assets as reflected on the proprietary funds statement of net
assets and the net assets for business activities as shown on the government-wide statement of net assets is presented on
the face of the proprietary funds statement of net assets. The asset element which comprises the reconciliation difference
stems from the allocation of internal service fund balance to the business activities on the government-wide statement of
net assets.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between net changes in net assets as reflected on the proprietary funds
statement of revenues, expense and changes in net assets and changes in net assets for business activities as shown on the
government-wide statement of activities is presented on the face of the proprietary funds statement of net assets. The
expense element, which comprises the reconciliation difference, stems from the allocation of internal service funds deficit
to the business-type activities on the government-wide statement of changes in net assets.
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Explanation of differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-wide statement of net assets
(amounts expressed in thousands):

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds:

CAPITAL ASSELS -« .+« o ettt et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 5,577,313
Less: Accumulated depreciation . ... ... ... ...ttt e e e (2,203,352)
0] Y $ 3,373,961

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore,
are deferred in the funds:

Due from other SOVEIMMENLS . . . ... ..ottt ettt ettt et e e et e e e e e e e e e e e $ 40,036
NOES TECEIVADIR . . . . ottt ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e 302,200
Deferred outflows derivative INVESIMENLS . . . . ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 21,396
DEferred TEVENUE . . . .. oottt e e 5,880
Accrued interest Payable .. ... ... (14,624)
Unamortized BONd PrOMIUINS . . . . . oo ottt ettt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (13,894)
] 72 Y $ 340,994

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of fleet management, mailing, communications, printing and risk management to
individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the statement of net assets. ....... $ (2,764)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds:

Long-term DONAS . . . o oottt et e e e $ (786,134)
Revenue DONdS . .. ... e (431,156)
CaPItal JRASES . . o . vttt e e e e e e e e e (169,100)
Compensated ADSENCES . . . .« ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (120,798)
OPEB Hability . . ..ot e (86,700)
Estimated claims in PrOZIESS . .. .. ...ttt (25,491)
Landfill closure Hability . ... ... ..ottt e et e e e e e e (18,226)
Derivative instrument lability . ... ... ...t e (21,396)

TOtal .. $(1,659,001)

Explanation of difference between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
and the government-wide statement of activities (amounts expressed in thousands):

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the cost of
those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:

Capital OULLAY . . o oot ettt ettt e e et e e e e e e $ 176,212
Capital [RASES . . . ..o 75,099
TOtAl .. o $ 251,311

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as
revenues in the funds:
Grant reimbursements not received for several months after the fiscal year end are not considered as available revenues in the governmental
FUNAS .« ot e e e e $ 12,082

The issuance of long-term debt (e. g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of
long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net assets. Also,
governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are
deferred and amortized in the statement of activities:

Proceeds from general obligation DONAS . . . . . ..ottt e e $ (54.,688)
Proceeds from capital LEASES . . . . ... vttt e e e e e e e (75,099)
TOtAl .. $ (129,787)

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds:

Debt SErvice PriNCIPAL . . . . ...ttt ettt ettt e e e e e e e $ 60,054
Debt service interest (capital leases, GO bonds, and accrued interest) . ... ... ... ... .ottt e (10,827)
Claims Hability . .. ..ot e (25,491)
Capital related eXPEenditUIes . .. . ... ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e (121,775)
Compensated aDSENCES . . ... ... . . (8,831)
OPEB Hability . . .o oottt e et et e (61,500)

TOtAL .ot $ (168,370)

The net expense of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental activities:

Internal service funds net expenses attributed to governmental aCtiVIties . . ... ... ... ... it e $  (18,855)
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3. Deposits and Investments
A. SUMMARY of DEPOSIT and INVESTMENT BALANCES

The following is a reconciliation of the City’s deposit and investment balances as of June 30, 2010 (amounts
expressed in thousands):

Pooled Cash
and Investments Other Total
Carrying value of bank deposits . .............couiiieiiineinineen... $ 3,345 $ 150,156 $ 153,501
INVeStMENtS . ... 771,964 3,367,855 4,139,819
Total . . e $775,309  $3,518,011 $4,293,320
Government-
wide
Statement Fiduciary Funds

of Net Statement

Assets of Net Assets Total
Cash and cash equivalents ........... ... ..., $450,281 $ 151,563 $ 601,344
INVEStMENtS . . . ..o 123,322 3,367,612 3,490,934
Restricted cash and cash equivalents ............. ... ... ... ... ....... 200,542 200,542
Total ... $774,145 $3,519,175 $4,293,320

B. CASH DEPOSITS

As of June 30, 2010, the carrying amount of the City’s bank deposits was $3,345,000 and the respective bank balances
totaled $16,281,000. All of the City’s cash deposits are either insured through the Federal Depository Insurance
Corporation, or collateralized by securities held in the name of the City, by the City’s agent.

BCPSS had demand deposits with carrying values of $9,100,000 at June 30, 2010 while BHC had demand deposits
with carrying values of $3,145,000 at December 31, 2009, their respective reporting dates.

C. INVESTMENTS
Primary Government

For other than pension funds, BCPSS and BHC, the City is authorized by State Law to invest in direct or indirect
obligations of the United States Government, repurchase agreements that are secured by direct or indirect obligations
of the United States Government, certificates of deposits, commercial paper with highest letter and numerical rating,
mutual funds registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Maryland Local Government
Investment Pool. The City’s investment policy limits the percentage of certain types of securities with the exception of
obligations for which the United States Government has pledged its full faith and credit. For investments held by the
City in trust and/or to secure certain debt obligations, the City complies with the terms of the trust agreements. The
City’s Board of Finance has formally adopted the above policies and reviews and approves all security transactions.

Investments are reported at fair value, except that investments with maturities of less than one year from purchase date
are reported at cost which approximates fair value. Securities traded on national or international exchanges are valued
at the last reported sales price at the current exchange rates. Real estate holdings are valued based on current
appraisals.
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The primary government’s investments at June 30, 2010, are presented below. All investments are presented by
investment type, and debt securities are presented by maturity (amounts expressed in thousands):

Fair Market Investment Maturities (In Months)

Investment Type Value Less Than 6 6to 12 Greater Than 12

Debt Securities:

U.S. Treasury . ..ot e e e e $177,103 $ 65,208 $111,895

U.S. AQENCIES . vttt e e e e 187,805 183,811 $3,994

Repurchase agreements ............ .. ... .. .. .. .. . . ... 45,252 45,252

Money market mutual funds ........... ... ... 176,575 176,575

Maryland Local Government Investment Pool .................... 127,500 127,500

Commercial paper .. ..........c.uiuiiin i 46,963 46,963

Guaranteed investment CONtractS . ..................ouieuurenn .. 5,205 5,205

766,403 $650,514 $3,994  $111,895

Other investment:

Equity mutual funds ......... . . . 1,940
Certificates of Deposit .. ... 3,621

771,964
Less: cashequivalents ............... ..., 648,642
Total INVESTMENTS . . . o o vt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $123,322

Interest rate risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect
the fair value of investment.

The City limits its interest rate risk in accordance with the City’s Board of Finance policy by maintaining a minimum
of 20 percent of the City’s investment in funds in liquid investments to include United States Government securities,
overnight repurchase agreements, and the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool, and by limiting the par value
of the portfolio invested for a period greater than one year at or below $100 million.

The Maryland Local Government Investment Pool is operated in accordance with Rule 2a7 of the Investment
Company Act of 1940.

Credit risk of debt securities—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not
fulfill its obligation.

As discussed above the City Board of Finance limits City investments to only the highest rated investments in the
categories discussed above. The City’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2010 were rated by a nationally
recognized statistical rating agency and are presented below using the Standard and Poor’s rating scale (amounts
expressed in thousands):

Quality Ratings
Investment Type Fair Value AAA Al-P1
Debt securities:
U.S.AZENCIES ..o vttt $187,805 $187,805
Money market mutual funds . ............. ... .. ... 176,575 176,575
Maryland Local Government Investment Pool ................. ... 127,500 127,500
Commercial Paper . ... ...ttt 46,963 $46,963
Total rated debt INVESTMENLS . . . .. oottt e e e $538,843 $491,880 $46,963

The guaranteed investment contracts are collateralized by U.S. Treasury and AAA rated U.S. Agency securities.
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Concentration of credit risk—Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a
government’s investment in a single issuer. The City has not adopted a formal policy on the concentration of credit

risk.

The City had the following debt security investments at June 30, 2010, that were more than five percent of total

investments (dollar amounts expressed in thousands):

Percentage of

Investment Fair Value Portfolio

M&T Bank Repurchase Agreement . .. ...ttt $45,252 5.69%

Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corp. . ... ..ottt 77,996 9.81

Federal Home Loan Bank Discount Notes . .. .......... i, 79,297 9.98
Retirement Systems

The City’s three Retirement Systems are authorized by the Baltimore City Code to make investments in accordance
with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the Code. The Board of Trustees of each system accomplishes the daily
management of the Systems’ investments through an external investment advisor, who acts as a fiduciary for each
system, and through external investment managers. The Board of Trustees for each system invests the assets of the
system using the “prudent person standard” which allows the Board to consider the probable safety of investments,
avoid speculative investments, and invest as people of prudence, discretion, and intelligence would in a similar
situation. The Boards of Trustees have adopted an investment policy and guidelines for each system to formally

document their investment objectives and responsibilities.

The invested assets of the retirement systems at June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Carrying Value

Elected Fire and Police
Employees’ Officials’ Employees’
Retirement Retirement Retirement

Investment Type System System System Total
Debt Securities:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds . ................. $ 83,499 $ 139,449 $ 222,948
U.S. Government agency bonds ................. 62,993 117,392 180,385
Corporatebonds . . .......... ... ... .. 108,917 $ 6,186 372,413 487,516
Barclay aggregate index ....................... 7,493 7,493
Mutual funds . ....... ... ... ... . ... ... 78,697 13 43,383 122,093
Absolute return strategic funds .................. 66,755 66,755

Total debt securities .. ..................... 334,106 6,199 746,885 1,087,190
Other:
Domestic equities .. .............oiiiin... 503,458 5,152 496,945 1,005,555
International equities . ................. .. .. .... 143,750 2,845 320,970 467,565
Hedgefunds ......... ... .. . . ... 57,308 81,874 139,182
Privateequity funds . ........ ... .. . . oL 81,662 81,662
Realestate ......... ... .. .. 79,244 143,367 222,611

Totalother ............. ... . ... .......... 783,760 7,997 1,124,818 1,916,575

Total investments ........................ 1,117,866 14,196 1,871,703 3,003,765
Less: Cash and cash equivalents ................. 78,697 13 43,383 122,093
Total net investments . .. ............ooouuenn.... $1,039,169 $14,183 $1,828,320 $2,881,672

Foreign Currency Risk Exposure—Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely

affect the fair value of an investment or a deposit.

The Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees has adopted a policy that the external managers
demonstrate sensitivity to currency risk. The foreign currency exposure of the system may be hedged back to the U.S.
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dollar using forward foreign exchange contracts. From 0% to 100% of the foreign currency exposure of the portfolio

may be hedged. Cross-hedging to currency other than the U.S. dollar may reach 25% of the total portfolio. Currency
speculation is not permitted.

The Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees has not adopted a formal policy to limit foreign currency risk.

The foreign currency risk for each system at June 30, 2010, is presented on the following table (amounts expressed in
thousands):

Fire and Police
Employees’ Employees’

Retirement Retirement

Currency System System Total

Euro Currency Unit .......... . 0. $16,749 $ 63,741 $ 80,490
British Pound Sterling ......... ... ... ... .. . 14,933 34,048 48,981
Japanese Yen .. ... 10,564 31,693 42,257
South Korean Won . . ........ .. i 673 6,472 7,145
Hong Kong Dollar ....... ... ... .. . . ... 7,739 9,781 17,520
Swiss Franc . ... 6,199 21,859 28,058
Mexican New Peso . ... ... (554) 920 366
South African Comm Rand .......... ... ........ ... ... .... 1,805 1,805
Malaysian Ringgit . ......... ... i 153 153
Taiwan Dollar . ... . . . 3,427 3,427
Brazil Real . ....... ... ... . . 1,209 4912 6,121
Canadian Dollar .. ......... ... . . 3,039 5,719 8,758
New Turkish Lira . . ... ..o e 465 1,028 1,493
Israeli Shekel ... ... 1,047 1,047
Australian Dollar .. ........ ... . . . . 2,822 965 3,787
Swedish Krona . ......... .. . 1,216 2,090 3,306
Norwegian Krone .. ......... i 957 3,516 4,473
Singapore Dollar . ....... ... ... .. . 1,205 5,145 6,350
Chinese Yuan Renminbi . ......... ... ... ... ... ... 3,576 3,576
Indonesian Rupian .......... ... ... . . . . i 2,707 2,707
Danish Krone ... ... 1,774 1,887 3,661
EgyptianPound ........ ... .. .. .. . .. 354 354
Thailand Baht . ........ ... ... ... . . . 236 236
Chilean Peso . . ... 422 422
Polish Zloty ... ... 5 5
Total Foreign CUITENCY . . ...\ v v vt $72,566  $203,932  $276,498
U.S. Dollars (Held in international equity) ..................... $80,846 $117,039 $197,885

Interest rate risk — The Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees uses the Option Adjusted
Duration as a measure of interest rate sensitivity for bonds. Duration is a measure of the approximate sensitivity of a
bond’s value to interest rate changes. The Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees’ fixed
income interest rate policy states that the effective duration of a portfolio may not exceed 20% of the effective
duration of the underlying benchmark of 100%.

Both the Employees’ Retirement System and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System have selected the duration
method as a measure of interest rate sensitivity for bonds. However, both plans have not adopted a formal policy to
limit interest rate risk.

Credit Risk — The Boards of Trustees of the City’s three retirement systems have not adopted a formal policy to limit
credit risk.
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The credit ratings and durations of investments at June 30, 2010 are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Carrying
Asset Type Duration Value AAA thru A BBB thru B CCC ThruC  DDD thru D Not Rated
Employees’ Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds . ........ 832 §$ 83,499 §$ 83,499
U.S. Government agency bonds . ....... 3.64 62,993 62,993
Corporatebonds .................... 4.44 108,917 56,391 $ 21,187 $5,076 $ 26,263
Mutual funds ...................... 0.09 78,697 78,697
Total debt securities ............. 334,106 202,883 21,187 5,076 104,960
Elected Officials’ Retirement System:
Corporatebonds .................... 0.00 6,186 6,186
Mutual funds ............ ... ... .... 0.00 13 13
Total debt securities ............. 6,199 6,199
Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement
System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds . . ....... 14.23 139,449 139,449
U.S. Government agency bonds . ....... 4.95 117,392 117,392
Barclay aggregate index . ............. 4.30 7,493 7,493
Corporatebonds .................... 496 372,413 196,462 141,901 8,359 $13 25,678
Mutual funds ...................... 0.08 43,383 43,383
Absolute return strategic funds ........ 2.57 66,755 66,755
Total debt securities ............. $746,885 $527,551 $141,901  $8.359 $13 $ 69,061

The City’s Retirement Systems has entered into a Securities Lending Authorization Agreement with Mellon Bank (the
Custodian) authorizing them to lend its available securities. All individual securities which are readily marketable and
which are not restricted due to an outstanding short option are eligible for loan at the discretion of the custodian bank.
The fund manager may loan securities held in custody of commingled funds if authorized in a fund’s contract with the
retirement systems.

Collateral received in exchange for securities lent is deposited into an escrow account for the Retirement Systems’
benefit for the duration of the loan. At no time do the Retirement Systems lose custody of either the security or the
collateral. Collateral in exchange for the principal lent may be in the form of cash, or securities issued or guaranteed by
the U.S. government, or its agencies or instrumentalities. The minimum levels of collateral are set at 102% of the
market value of domestic securities lent, including all accrued income, and 105% of the market value of international
securities lent, including all accrued income. If the market value of the collateral falls below 100% of the lent securities,
additional collateral is deposited to adjust up to the appropriate minimum level of collateral. All collateral amounts are
adjusted to market daily. The City’s Retirement Systems do not have the right to sell or pledge securities received as
collateral without borrower default.

At June 30, 2010, the Retirement Systems had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts they owed
borrowers exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed the Retirement Systems. The market value of securities on loan at
June 30, 2010, was $356,675,000, and the market value of the collateral received for those securities on loan was
$367,169,000. The Retirement Systems did not impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the amount of loans the
custodian made on its behalf. The terms of the Securities Lending Authorization Agreement require that the custodian
indemnify the retirement systems against: (1) the failure to demand adequate and appropriate collateral from a borrower
as and when required pursuant hereto; (2) the failure to comply with the investment guidelines in connection with the
investment and reinvestment of cash collateral; (3) the failure to obtain and perfect a security interest or rights
equivalent thereto in and to the collateral; or (4) the failure to make a reasoned determination of the creditworthiness of
any borrower. There were no such failures by any borrowers during the fiscal year. Moreover, there were no losses
during the fiscal year resulting from default of the borrowers or the custodian.

Substantially all securities loans can be terminated on demand either by the custodian or by the borrower, although
generally the average term of these loans is one week. Cash collateral is invested in the custodian’s short-term
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investment pool. The short-term investment pool guidelines specify that a minimum of 20% of the invested cash
collateral is to be available each business day and the dollar-weighted average maturity of holdings must not exceed 90
days.

Other Postemployment Benefits Fund

The City’s Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund (Trust) is authorized by the Baltimore City Code to make
investments in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the code. The Baltimore City Director of
Finance was made Trustee of the Trust and under a Memorandum of Understanding between the Director of Finance
and the Board of Trustees of the Employees’ Retirement System (Board), the Board is charged with administration of
the Trust and investment of its assets. As part of its responsibility, the Board has adopted investment policies and
guidelines which formally document its investment objectives and responsibilities.

The invested assets of the OPEB Trust Fund at June 30, 2010 are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Investment Type Fair Value Lessthan6 6to 12  Greater than 12

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS ... ...\ttt $ 28,063 $28,063

BONAS o oot 30,441 $30,441
Mutual funds ... ... 34,074 34,074

TOtaAl oot 92,578 $62,137 $30,441
SHOCK .« et e 54,205

TOtal INVESIMENLS . . . o\ttt ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 146,783

Less: Cash and cash equivalents . ............. ...ttt 28,063

Total NEt INVESIMENTS . . . . o\ttt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e e $118,720

Interest Rate and Credit Risk—The Board has not adopted a formal policy to limit interest rate and credit risk.
Bonds held by the OPEB Trust Fund have ratings from AA1 to AA2.

Baltimore City Public School System

The BCPSS, through the office of the Chief Financial Officer, pursues a cash management and investment program to
achieve the maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on the projected cash needs of the BCPSS,
excess funds may be invested on a short, intermediate or long-term basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are
generally in direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government and are fully collateralized.

The BCPSS is authorized by State law to invest in direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government, certificates of
deposit, repurchase agreements and related mutual funds. The BCPSS’s investments at June 30, 2010 are presented
below. All investments are presented by investment type (expressed in thousands).

Investments Maturities (In

Months)
Max. allowed
Fair Market per Investment
Investment Type Value LessThan6 6to12  Percent Policy
Money Market Funds . ........oouiit e $109,437 $109,437 65% 100%
Commercial Paper .. ... ... . e 2,297 2,297 1 5
U.S. Government AZEeNCIes . . . ... vvu ettt et 51,181 36,189 $14,992 31 100
MLGIP (Other) . ...t e e et 3,058 3,058 2 100
MLGIP (BONAS) .+ . ottt et e e e e e e e 2,230 2,230 1 100
Total Invested Funds . .. ... ... ... . . 168,203 $153,211 $14,992 100%
Less: Cash and cash equivalents .. ............. ... iiiiieno... 153,211
Total NEt INVESTMENLS . . . ..\ v ettt et e et e e e e e e e e _ $14992
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Investment Ratings

Ratings apply to all Money Market funds, Checking, Commercial Paper, U.S. Government Agencies, Certificates of
Deposit and MLGIP (dollar amounts expressed in thousands).

Investment Ratings Percent Fair Value
AAAIAAA 42.50% $ 71,457
A-LH P- 1 25.40 42,792
A-L -l 1.40 2,297
Notrated . ... 30.70 51,657

100.00%  $168,203

Risk Classifications

Interest Rate Risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect
the fair value of investments.

The BCPSS limits its interest rate risk in accordance with their policy by maintaining a minimum of 20% of the
BCPSS’s investment in funds in liquid investments which include U.S. Government Securities, Maryland Local
Government Investment Pool (MLGIP) Investments, Overnight Repurchase Agreements and Money Market Mutual
Funds.

Credit Risk—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation.
As stated above, the BCPSS limits investments to highly rated investments in the categories discussed above.
Cash and cash equivalents includes Money Market deposits and MLGIP investments.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) pursues a cash management and investment program to achieve the
maximum financial return on available funds. Investments consist of private debt obligations and money market funds
with varying maturity dates. Certain portions of the investments are used to fund operating activities of the entity and
other portions are used for debt repayment. These investments are stated at market value.

The BHC has no formal policy for limiting risk associated with these investments. The City of Baltimore Department

of Finance directs the selection of investment funds. At year-end BHC held investments in the amount of $34,174,000;
consisting of repurchase agreements with various financial institutions and government money market funds.
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4. Receivables

Receivables at year-end of the City’s major individual governmental funds, enterprise funds, and nonmajor and other
funds (including internal service and fiduciary funds) are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Motor Grants Capital Nonmajor
General Vehicle Revenue Projects Enterprise and Other
Receivables Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds Total

Property tAXES « .o vvvve ettt ettt $30,459 $ 30,459
Service billings .. ... $ 63,787 $ — 63,787
Due from other governments ......................... 29,831 $25253  $49,185  $56,663 34,681 212 195,825
Notes and mortgages receivable ....................... 6,070 48,045 1,186 55,301
Other . ..o 23,387 526 5,786 4,484 36 34,219
Restricted accounts receivable ........................ 12,865 12,865
Total ... $89,747  $25,779  $49,185 $62,449  $163,862 $1,434 $392,456

Service billings are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $13,578,000. Bad debt expense for fiscal year 2010 was $1,645,000.

5. Capital Assets

Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2010, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities Capital Assets:

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Class 2009(1) Additions  Deductions 2010
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land . ... $ 144,132 $ 144,132
OBNET . . 219,593 $ 366 219,227
CONSLIUCHION TN PIOZIESS . . . . .ttt 124,077  $ 87,673 104,325 107,425
Construction in progress—infrastruCture .. ... ... ..ottt et et 350,377 89,339 63,665 376,051
Total capital assets, not being depreciated . ........ ... ... . 838,179 177,012 168,356 846,835
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and iMProVemMEeNts . . .. ... ...ttt ettt et et 1,784,949 103,611 1,888,560
EQUIPIMENT © ..ot 399,874 19,333 419.207
INFrastriCtUIe . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e 2,369,743 63,665 2,433,408
LADIary DOOKS . . ..ot 51,435 2,727 3,354 50,808
Total capital assets, being depreciated ... ........ ... .. 4,606,001 189,336 3,354 4,791,983
Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements . . ... ... ...ttt ettt e e e 843,474 47,174 890,648
EQUIPIMENT . . oottt ettt e 290,478 26,711 472 316,717
INFraStiUCLULE . . . . oottt e e e e e e e 920,512 50,959 971,471
LADLATY DOOKS . . . ot 22,137 4,808 3,354 23,591
Total accumulated depreciation ... ... ... . ... 2,076,601 129,652 3,826 2,202,427
Total capital assets, being depreciated, NEt . . ... ... ... e 2,529,400 59,684 472) 2,589,556
Governmental activities capital aSSets, NEL . ... ... ..ttt e 3,367,579 236,696 $167,884 $3,436,391

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in Notes 20 and 21 of the base financial statements.
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Business-type Activities Capital Assets:
Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Class 2009(1) Additions  Deductions 2010
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land . ..o $ 36,597 $ 36,597
CONSIUCHON 1N PIOZIESS .+« ¢ vt e ettt et et ettt e et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 850,050  $165,240 $61,132 954,158
Total capital assets, not being depreciated ... ...... ... ... 886,647 165,240 61,132 990,755
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements . . ... ... .. ... ...t 2,144,934 60,543 2,205,477
EQUIPIMENT .« ..ot 158,993 1,402 160,395
INFTaStIUCIUTE . . . o .ottt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e 59,482 59,482
Total capital assets, being depreciated . ... ... ... ...t 2,363,409 61,945 2,425,354
Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements . . . ... ... ... ...t 698,238 43,525 741,763
EQUIPIMENT .« . ..ot 123,645 5,438 129,083
INFIASIIUCTUIE . . ...t 18,855 744 19,599
Total accumulated depreciation ... ... ... ... ...ttt 840,738 49,707 890,445
Total capital assets, being depreciated, NEt . . ... ... ... i 1,522,671 12,238 1,534,909
Business-type activities capital @SSEtS, MEL . . . ...ttt ettt ettt e e e e e $2,409,318  $177,478 $61,132 $2,525,664

(1) Amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 have been restated as discussed in Note 21.

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 (amounts

expressed in thousands):

Governmental activities:

GENETAl GOVETTTIENT . . ..\ttt ottt ettt e e et e e et e e e et e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e $ 10,864
Public safety and re@UIAtion . ... ... ... 11,593
Conservation of health . ... .. e 377
SOCIAL SEIVICES .« o ot ettt ettt e ettt e et e e e e e e e e 39
BUCAtiON . ... e e 17,323
PUDLIC TIDIary . . .o oot 5,532
Recreation and Parks . . . .. .o o e e e 7,046
Highways and SIEELS . ... ...ttt 58,581
Sanitation and Waste TEMOVAL . . . . .. ...t e e e e 6,909
PUDLIC SEIVICE . . oottt ettt e 2,954
Economic develOPMENt . .. ... ... 769
Internal service TUNAS . . ... oo 7,665

TOMAL .« o e ottt e e e e e e e $129,652

T2 Y $ 14,568
WASEE WALET .« . . o oottt ettt ettt et ettt ettt ettt e et et e e 31,440
ParKIN g ..o 2,955
CONAUILS . o oottt 744

Ol ot e e e e e e $ 49,707

At June 30, 2010, the outstanding commitments relating to projects of the City of Baltimore amount to approximately
$131,147,000 for governmental activities and $263,084,000 for business-type activities. Interest is capitalized on
business-type capital assets acquired with tax-exempt debt. The amount of interest to be capitalized is calculated by
offsetting interest cost incurred from the date of borrowing until completion of the project, with interest earned on
invested proceeds over the period. Interest is also capitalized on proprietary fund capital assets acquired with tax-
exempt debt. During fiscal year 2010, net interest cost of $31,899,000 (net of interest income of $2,751,000) was

capitalized.
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6. Interfund Balances and Activity
A. BALANCE DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Balances due to/from other funds at June 30, 2010, were as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Interfund

Fund Receivable  Payable
GENETAL . . . o oottt $62,021
MOTOT VERICIE .« .+ oo et ettt e et e e et e et e e e e e e e e e $ 1,557
GIANIS TEVEIUE . . o\ ot et et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 41,292
CaPIAl PIOJECES . . . e 1,519 1,358
Nonmajor governmental funds . .. .. ... 1,358 11,555
Nonmajor proprietary fUNAS ... ... ... ... 1,519
Internal service fUNAS . . . . ... L e 7,617

TOUALS « .« oottt $64,898 $64,898

The interfund balances are primarily the result of the City’s policy not to reflect cash deficits in its individual funds.
Also, at June 30, 2010, certain transactions between funds had not been completed.

B. TRANSFERS TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Transfers to/from other funds at June 30, 2010, consist of the following (amounts expressed in thousands):

Nonmajor
Capital Special Motor Total
Fund General  Projects  Revenue Vehicle  Parking  Transfers To

General .. ... $37,312 $ 37,312
DEbL SEIVICE . . oo et e e e e e $ 86,361 $7,873 $14,169 108,403
Loan and uarantee . ... ... it 1,365 1,365
Capital PrOJECLS . . oottt e e e e e e e e e 2,609 $13,624 16,233
Motor VEhiCle . ... 53,300 1,467 55,267
GIants TEVENUE . .. .o vttt ettt ettt e e et et et 4,760 4,760

Totals transfers from ... ... ...t $144,135  $9,340 $13,624  $14,169  $42,072 $223,340

Transfers were primarily to the Debt Service and General funds to provide funds for debt service and to transfer
excess revenue from the Proprietary Funds to the General fund.
C. DerICITS

The following funds had a deficit in unrestricted net assets/fund balances at June 30, 2010, (amounts expressed in
thousands):

Special Revenue Funds:
Grants REVEIUE . . . . ... oot e e e e e $ 38,385
CDBG . o oottt 12,268

Internal Services Funds:

Risk Management . .. ... ...t e 104,674
ENEIZY CONSEIVALION . . ...ttt ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et ettt e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 265
Municipal Post OffiCe . . .. ... 635
Reproduction and Printing . .. ... ...t e e 5,333

The deficit in the Grants Revenue Fund is the result of timing differences. Revenues to cover this deficit are expected
to be received in fiscal year 2011.

The City plans to continue to charge City agencies premiums in excess of that needed to cover expected operating

expenses, including claims paid and incurred, and thereby eliminate the accumulated Risk Management Fund deficit
over the next ten years.
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7. Long-term Obligations
A. LONG-TERM OBLIGATION ACTIVITY

The City does not have a debt limit, however the Constitution of Maryland requires a three-step procedure for the
creation of debt:

* Act of the General Assembly of Maryland or resolution of the majority of Baltimore City delegates
* Ordinance of the Mayor and City Council

« Ratification by the voters of Baltimore City

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

New Debt Debt Due Within
June 30,2009 Appreciation(a) Issued Retired  June 30, 2010 One Year

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General Obligation Bonds:

Highways .. ... $ 13,755 $ 97 $ 2,784 $ 11,068 $ 2,290
Health ... ... 3,342 $ 132 134 3,340 171
Public safety . ..........oooiiii 10,730 80 773 1,585 9,998 2,150
Off-street parking . ........... . o 18,847 86 3.127 15,806 2,818
Parks and recreation . . 21,372 53 3,706 1,665 23,466 2,568
Public buildings and facilities ............... ... ... ... .. .. 54,880 57 4,248 2,981 56,204 6,157
Schools ... o 193,356 468 22,476 13,562 202,738 13,411
SEOIM WALET . oo vttt ettt ettt ettt et e 4,093 158 1,067 3,184 1,589
Urban renewal 286,051 524 23,665 25,775 284,465 24,510
Waste disposal 325 8 123 210 168
Unallocated ........... 22,267 462 1,215 21,514 1,559
Total general obligationbonds ........................ 629,018 1,993 55,000 54,018 631,993 57,391
Special Obligation Bonds:
Special Obligation Bonds .................... ... ... ... .... 116,508 303 116,205 605
Long-term financing with the Federal Government:
Federal economic development loans ......................... 50,803 5,367 45,436 3,285
Long-term financing with the State of Maryland:
State economic developmentloans ........................... 1,553 367 1,186 256
Total Governmental Activities . ....................... $797,882 $1,993 $55,000 $60,055 $794,820 $61,537
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
General Obligation Bonds:
WALET . . oottt $ 941 $ 17 $ 840 $ 118 $ 118
Waste Water . ..... ...ttt 438 20 458 458
Total general obligationbonds ........................ 1,379 37 840 576 576
Long-term financing with the State of Maryland:
Sewer construction loans . ........... . i 221 76 145 82
Total Business-type Activities . ........................ $ 1,600 $ 37 $ 916 $ 721 $ 658
COMPONENT UNIT — BALTIMORE CITY PUBLIC SCHOOL
SYSTEM
Bonds:
SChOOIS oot $ 50,880 $83,135 $37,915 $ 96,100 $ 5,350

(a) The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore issued, as fully registered bonds, $67,602,000 in Series A General Obligation Bonds dated March 1, 1995 and $44,284,000 in Series
C General Obligation Bonds dated May 1, 1998. The Series A and C Bonds consist of current interest bonds and capital appreciation bonds issued to advance refund certain
non-callable maturities of the City’s general obligation bonds.

No current interest is payable on the Series A or C Capital Appreciation Bonds, which are scheduled to mature on October 15 in each of the years 2010 to 2011, inclusive.
Interest on the Series A and C Capital Appreciation Bonds accrues from the date of delivery, is compounded semiannually on each April 15 and October 15 and will be paid at
the maturity or redemption date thereon. The accreted amount due at maturity is $18,204,000 as of June 30, 2010. The Series A Capital Appreciation Bonds are subject to
redemption prior to maturity beginning on October 15, 2005, as a whole at any time or in part thereafter on October 15 or April 15.

Long-term debt payable on the Statement of Net Assets is presented net of $8,686,000 of unamortized losses on early extinguishment of debt.

45



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

Variable Rate Demand General Obligation Bonds

The City has issued $34,600,000 in taxable variable rate demand Consolidated Public Improvement Bonds Series C
and D to construct various capital projects throughout the City. The bonds mature on October 15, 2020 and 2022,
respectively.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarking Agent on a weekly basis. Under terms of the
indenture the City at its options may change the bond rate to a monthly or long-term rate at any time until maturity
upon notification of bondholders.

In conjunction with the issuance of the bonds, Bank of America N/A (Bank) issued a standby purchase agreement
(Agreement) in the amount of $44,793,000 in favor of the City and Manufactures and Traders Trust Company as
Tender Agent. The agreement expires August 14, 2014, but can be extended for additional years. The existing
Agreement permits the fiscal agent to draw amounts necessary to pay the principal portion and related accrued interest
on the bonds tendered for purchase and not remarked.

Pursuant to the Agreement between the City and the Bank, the issuer is required to reimburse the Bank the amount
drawn upon remarketing or in a lump sum payment as of August 14, 2014. If the takeout agreement were to be
exercised because issue of bonds was put but not sold, the City would be required to pay approximately $1,722,000 in
interest annually with a lump sum payment of principal at the end of the agreement. The interest rate on draws made
under this agreement is the LIBOR one month rate plus 1% for draws of less than 90 days, the LIBOR rate plus 2% for
draws greater than 90 days, and after 180 days the Bank of America Prime plus 0.5%.

The City is required to pay the Bank fees throughout the effective dates of the Agreement of 0.2% per annum of the
average daily amount of available commitment.

During fiscal year 2010, the City made no draws under the Agreement, and no amounts drawn against the Agreement
were outstanding at June 30, 2010.

The liabilities for governmental activities are principally liquidated by the general, capital projects and motor vehicle funds,
while liabilities for business-type activities are liquidated by the Water and Waste Water Funds.

The following is a summary of debt activity other than general obligation bonds:

e Special Obligation Bonds: The City has borrowed funds to provide funds for capital projects in the development
district. At June 30, 2010, principal owed for these bonds was $116,205,000, and interest of $164,994,000 at the
interest rates ranging from 5.5% to 7.0% per annum will be due in future years.

e Federal Economic Development Loan: The City has borrowed funds from the Federal government to provide for
various development projects. At June 30, 2010, the principal owed to the Federal government was $45,436,000,
and interest of $18,088,000 will be due thereon in future years. The loan bears interest at rates ranging from 6.0% to
10.9% and matures serially through 2024.

o State Economic Development Loans: The City has borrowed $24,685,000 from the State of Maryland to provide for
various economic development projects under the Maryland Industrial Land Act and the Industrial Commercial
Redevelopments Act. At June 30, 2010, the principal owed to the State was $1,186,000, and interest of $96,000 will
be due thereon in future years. These loans bear interest at rates ranging from 2.0% to 11.2% and the final payment
is due in 2016.

e Sewer Construction Loans: Under the provisions of Chapter 445, laws of Maryland 1968, and Chapter 286, laws of
Maryland 1974, loans were made available to counties and municipalities charged with providing sewerage
facilities to assist in the construction of such facilities. Since December 1980, the City has borrowed a total of
$1,186,000 for sewer projects. At June 30, 2010, the principal owed to the State was $145,000, and interest of
$15,000 will be due thereon in future years.
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Compensated Absences

Compensated absences at June 30, 2010 totaled $120,798,000 for governmental activities and $12,856,000 for
business-type activities, of which $43,901,000 and $5,054,000 respectively, were due within one year. For the
Baltimore City Public School System, compensated absences totaled $54,223,000, of which $5,422,000 were due
within one year.

Changes in compensated absences during fiscal year 2010 (amounts expressed in thousands):

Governmental  Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Balance, July 1,2009 . ... ..o $111,967 $12,500 $124,467
Leave earned . ... ... ... 52,732 5,410 58,142
Leave USed .. ..ot (43,901) (5,054) (48,955)
Balance, June 30, 2010 . . . ..ottt $120,798 $12,856 $133,654

B. DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Debt service requirements on long-term debt at June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities
Long-Term Financing with  Long-Term Financing with  Special Obligation

General Obligation Bonds State of Maryland Federal Government Bonds
Interest Rate

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Swap Net(a) Principal Interest Principal Interest ~ Principal Interest
2011 $ 57,391 $ 25,751 $ 6,147 $ 256 $33 $ 3,285 $2339 $§ 605 $ 6207
2012 o 59,670 25,377 5,870 220 23 2,796 2,201 655 6,279
2013 49,065 22,036 5,496 195 17 2,894 2,059 610 6,690
2014 ..o 37,844 20,277 4,990 184 12 3,000 1,906 667 6,650
20015 31,892 18,759 4,482 182 7 3,104 1,744 730 6,607
2016-2020 .. ... 155,636 73,531 16,806 149 4 13,650 5,142 4,896 30,923
2021-2025 .. 165,930 35,796 3,613 13,451 2,558 9,517 37,043
2026-2030 .. ... 71,095 8,460 3,256 139 21,763 31,969
2031-2035 .. 3,470 111 33,320 22,493
2036-2040 .. ... 39,662 9,842
2041-2045 ..o 3,780 291

Totals ...................... $631,993 $230,098 $47,404 $1,186 $96 $45,436 $18,088  $116,205 $164,994

(a) Interest Rate Swap Net payments represent estimated payments for additional interest resulting from swap agreements to counterparties for additional interest resulting from
swap agreements. The additional payments were computed using rates as of June 30, 2010, assuming current interest rates remain the same for their term. As rates vary,
variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

Business-type Activities

Long-Term Financing with

General Obligation Bonds State of Maryland

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
20 576 $8 $ 82 $9
2002 42 4
2003 21 2
TOtAlS . ... 576 $8 $145 $15
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A summary of general obligation bonds outstanding and bonds authorized but unissued (amounts expressed in
thousands) at June 30, 2010, are as follows:

Authorized
Outstanding But Unissued

Purpose Due Dates Interest Rates Amount Amount
Fire, police and public protection ........... ... ... . .. . . 2011 to 2016 4.7% t0 9.0% $ 9,998 $ 169
Off-street parking . ... ... 2011 to 2017 1.5% t0 9.0% 15,806 345
Parks and reCreation . ... .. ... ...ttt 2011 to 2017 2.7% t0 9.0% 23,466 25,007
Public building and facilities . ........ ... . . 2011 to 2017 2.7% 10 9.5% 56,204 36,886
SCROO0LS o 2011 to 2021 2.7% t0 9.0% 202,738 36,964
Waste water and SLOTM SEWET . . ... v ittt ettt e et e e 2011 to 2012 2.5% 10 9.0% 3,642
Urban renewal and development . ... ... i 2011 to 2021 2.7% t0 9.5% 284,465 78,693
W aer . oo 2011 to 2012 4.0% to0 9.0% 118
HigWays « .o 2011 to 2021 4.7% t0 9.0% 11,068 220
Waste disposal . . ... ..o 201102012 4.75% to 8.9% 210
FINanCe . ... 20,000
Health . 2011to0 2018  5.125% to 5.3% 3,340 4,140
Unallocated . ... ... . e 2011 to 2012 4.7% to 5.5% 21,514

TOtalS . oo $632,569 $202,424

Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) Bonds

BCPSS has issued $25,000,000 of Series 2000 revenue bonds (the Series 2000 Bonds), maturing through the year
ended June 30, 2015. The net proceeds of the Series 2000 Bonds will be used to fund various capital improvements to
existing schools within the BCPSS, including technical writing projects to accommodate Internet connectivity, and
various renovations and repairs to school buildings. As the BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or
more contractors, funds are to be drawn from the Series 2000 Bonds escrow account to fund capital expenditures.
Interest rates range from 4.25% to 5.125% and interest is payable semiannually on November and May 1 of each year.
The Series 2000 Bonds are the debt and obligation of the BCPSS and are not a debt and obligation of, or pledge of, the
faith and credit of the City of Baltimore. As of June 30, 2010, the outstanding balance on the Series 2000 Bonds is
$1,780,000.

BCPSS has also issued $52,460,000 of Series 2003A revenue bonds (the Series 2003A Bonds), maturing through the
year ending June 30, 2018. The net proceeds of the Series 2003A Bonds will be used to finance and refinance the costs
of acquisition, construction, renovation and certain capital improvements of the BCPSS. These include various capital
improvements of the existing schools within the BCPSS, renovations to facilitate the conversion of Pre K to 8 schools,
and the conversion of existing large neighborhood high schools to smaller community based high schools, other
capital improvements associated with alleviating overcrowding at certain facilities, water filtration equipment for
installation at certain facilities with drinking water determined to have higher than normal lead content and certain
other capital projects included in the fiscal year 2005 Strategic Facilities Plan approved by the School Board.

The bonds payable balance maturing on or after May 1, 2014 is subject to redemption at the option of the Board of
School Commissioners on or after May 1, 2013 as a whole or in part at any time, at par plus accrued interest thereon to
the date fixed for redemption.

As the BCPSS enters into the capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are to be drawn from the
Series 2003A Bonds escrow account to fund capital expenditures. Interest rates range from 2.0% to 5.0% and interest
is payable semiannually on November and May 1 of each year.

The Series 2003A Bonds are the debt and obligation of the BCPSS and are not a debt and obligation of, or pledge of,
the faith and credit of the City of Baltimore. On December 17, 2009, BCPSS refunded $25,295,000 of the Series
2003A Bonds. As of June 30, 2010, the outstanding balance on the 2003A bonds is $11,185,000.
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BCPSS has issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Series 2009 (the Series 2009 Construction
Bonds) in the amount of $50,800,000, maturing through the year ending June 30, 2025. The net proceeds of the Series
2009 Construction Bonds were used to fund various capital improvements to existing schools within BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are to be drawn from the Series
2009 Construction Bonds escrow account to fund capital expenditures. The interest rates on the bonds include a Tax
Credit rate of 5.90% and an interest rate of 1.25%, and interest is payable quarterly on March 15, June 15,
September 15, and December 15 of each year.

BCPSS has issued the City School Refunding Bonds Series 2009 (the Series 2009 Refunding Bonds) in the amount of
$32,335,000, maturing through the year ending June 30, 2018. The proceeds of the Series 2009 Refunding Bonds were
used to refund a portion of the Series 2000 and Series 2003A Bonds. The interest rate ranges from 4.00% to 5.00%
and interest is payable semiannually on May 1 and November 1 of each year. As of June 30, 2010 the outstanding
balance on the Series 2009 Refunding Bonds is $32,335,000.

The net proceeds of the sale, $39,700,000 ($32,335,000 from the sale of the bonds, plus the premium of $5,115,000,
and unspent funds transferred from the refunded bonds of $2,283,000, minus issuance cost of $33,000), were used to
purchase US government securities and deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent for the purpose of
generating resources for all future debt service payments of $40,700,000 of the portion of the Series 2000 and 2003A
refunded bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from
the governmental activities column of the statement of net assets. The refunding resulted in a net present value savings

of $1,700,000.

The advance refunding resulted in a difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old
debt of $1,600,000. This difference, reported in the BCPSS financial statements as a deduction from bonds payable, is
being charged to operations through the year 2018 using a straight-line method which approximates the effective-
interest method. BCPSS completed the advance refunding to reduce its total debt service payments over the next 8
years by $1,600,000 and to obtain an economic gain (difference between the present values of the old and new debt
service payments) of $1,700,000.

Future minimum bond payments are as follows at year ending June 30, 2010 (amounts expressed in thousands):

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
20 $ 5,350 $ 2,752 $ 8,102
2002 5,235 2,545 7,780
2003 5,825 2,338 8,163
200 6,095 2,067 8,162
20 6,859 1,762 8,621
20062020 . . oot 34,227 4,688 38,915
2020-2025 32,509 2,857 35,366

o] PPN $96,100 $19,009 $115,109
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C. CAPITAL LEASES
Primary Government

The City has entered into various conditional purchase agreements to construct and purchase certain facilities and
equipment to be used by municipal agencies. These conditional purchase agreements do not constitute a pledge of the
full faith and credit or taxing power of the City and are subject to termination if sufficient funds are not appropriated
by the City Council. Since termination of these agreements is not foreseen, the agreements have been capitalized.
During fiscal year 2010, the City’s capital lease obligations increased by $9,985,000 (which is net of new leases in the
amount of $28,089,000 and lease principal payments of $18,104,000) over the fiscal year 2009 total of $159,115,000.
Future minimum lease payments at June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Fiscal Year

20 $ 27,884
200 29,280
2003 28,558
200 24,252
20 S 22,130
2016-2020 . ..o 71,164
2020-2023 4,759
Total MiniMumM 1€ASE PAYIMEIILS . . . . ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e e ettt e e e e 208,027
Less: deferred INtErest . . . ... oottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (38,927)
Present value minimum 1€ase PAYMENTS . . . ... ..ottt ettt ettt et ettt e e e e e e e e e $169,100

The following is a schedule of leased property under capital leases by major class at June 30, 2010 (amounts expressed
in thousands):

Classes of Property

BUIIINGS .« . o oo ottt $173,756
EqQUIPIMENT . . oo e e e e 217,342
TOtAl ..o $391,098

Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS)

BCPSS has entered into a $12,370,000 fifteen year capital lease (the 1999 Lease Agreement) with First Municipal
Credit Corporation (FMCC) for the purchase and repair of certain boilers at various school locations. Under the terms
of the 1999 Lease Agreement, funds were to be deposited into an “Acquisition Account.” As the BCPSS entered into
purchase agreements with one or more vendors related to the purchase and repair of certain boilers, monies were to be
drawn from an “Acquisition Account” to fund actual purchases. As of June 30, 2010, the outstanding balance on the
1999 lease is $6,367,000.

Additionally, BCPSS has entered into a $25,000,000 capital lease agreement (the Master Equipment Lease) with US
Bank, National Association, for the lease of “Equipment,” which includes General Equipment ($1,500,000 at an
interest rate of 3.06% for 7 years), Oracle Equipment ($13,000,000 at an interest rate of 3.56% for 10 years), Vehicles
($4,500,000 at an interest rate of 2.68% for 5 years) and Computers ($6,000,000 at an interest rate of 2.68% for 5
years). Under the terms of the lease, funds were to be deposited into four separate Escrow Fund Accounts at the US
Bank. As the Board entered into purchase agreements with one or more vendors, monies were to be drawn from the
Escrow Accounts to fund actual purchases. Interest earned on the escrow balance remains in the escrow account and is
to be used for the same purposes as the principal. As of June 30, 2010 the outstanding balance on the 2003 Master
Lease is $5,145,000 .

On June 13, 2006, BCPSS contracted with six (6) financial institutions for the ability to issue capital leases to help
finance its Energy System Conservation Program (ESCO) on a competitive basis. Funds available on the master leases
after all addendums have been issued will not be used and the contracts could be terminated at that time. During fiscal
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year 2010, the System issued $60,300,000 in various ESCO projects. As of June 30, 2010 the outstanding balance on
the 2006 Master Lease Addendums is $51,784,000.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Capital

Leases

Fiscal Year Principal
20 L $ 9,248
2002 8,680
2003 8,879
20 9,067
200 8,053
2016-2020 . . oo 25,832
2021-2025 .. 7,622
Total Minimum 1€aSe PAYIMEIILS . . . . .. oottt et ettt e e et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 77,381
Less: deferred INTEIESt . . . . ...ttt e e e (14,085)
Present value minimum 1€ase PAYMENES . ... ... ...ttt ettt e e e e e $ 63,296

8. Revenue Bonds
Water and Waste Water Revenue Bonds

The City has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to provide funds for capital improvements to water
and waste water facilities. Assets with a carrying value of $108,080,000 at June 30, 2010, and revenues of the Water and
Waste Water Funds are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2010, consist of (amounts
expressed in thousands):

Water Utility ~ Waste Water

Fund Utility Fund

Term bonds series 1993-A with interest at 5.60%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2013 ... ... .. ... ... .. . .. .. .. $10,000 $ 5,800
Term bonds series 1993-A with interest at 5.65%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2020 ........ ... ... . ... . i, 23,900 14,000
Term bonds series 1994-A with interest at 6.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2015 ... ... ... .. . . .. . i 6,250 4,330
Term bonds series 1994-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2022 7,115
Term bonds series 1994-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2024 10,280
Serial bonds series 1994-B maturing in annual mstallments from $332,000 to $406 000 through February 1, 2015, with interest rate at

2.25%, payable semiannually ... ... ... e e 1,940
Serial bonds series 1994-C maturing in annual installments from $310,000 to $387,000 through February 1, 2015, with interest rate at

2.50%, payable semiannually . ......... .. e e 1,843
Serial bonds series 1994-D maturing in annual installments from $215,000 to $296,000 through February 1, 2015, with interest rate at

3.60%, payable semiannually . ....... .. 1,379
Serial bonds series 1996-B maturing in annual installments from $148,000 to $208,000 through February 1, 2017, with interest at 3.17%,

payable semiannually . . . ... e e e 1,330
Serial bonds series 1998—A maturing in annual installments from $287,000 to $414,000 through February 1, 2019, with interest at 2.87%,

payable semiannually . . .. ... e e e e e e s 3,340
Serial bonds series 1999 A maturing in annual installments from $122,000 to $167,000 through February 1, 2019, with interest rate at

2.52%, payable semiannually ... .. ... e 1,370
Serial bonds series 1999-B maturing in annual installments from $433,000 to $652,000 through February 1, 2021, with interest rate at

2.61%, payable semiannually ... ... e 5,767
Serial bonds series 2001-A maturing in annual installments from $569,000 to $819,000 through February 1, 2022, with interest rate at

2.30%, payable semiannually .......... ... e 8,509
Serial bonds series 2002-A maturing in annual installments from $1,145,000 to $1,660,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2021, with

variable interest through July 1, 2016 and a fixed rate of 4.85% to 5. 00% thereafter payable semlannually .......................... 17,265
Serial bonds series 2002-A maturing in annual installments from $1,855,000 to $1,975,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2021, with

variable interest through July 1, 2016 and a fixed rate of 4.85% to 5. 00% thereafter payable semlannually .......................... 22,745
Term bonds series 2002-A with interest at 5 .00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2023 4,250 2,470
Term bonds series 2002-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2027 9,845 6,070
Term bonds series 2002-A with interest at 5.20%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2032 .......... 9,480
Term bonds series 2002-A with interest at 5.125%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2032 ....... 15,385
Term bonds series 2002-A with interest at 5.125%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2042 ....... 64,840 31,630
Auction rate notes series 2002-B, payable monthly, due July 1, 2032 25,300
Auction rate notes series 2002-B, payable monthly, due July 1, 2037 18,300
Auction rate notes series 2002-C, payable monthly, due July 1, 2032 46,900
Auction rate notes series 2002-C, payable monthly, due July 1, 2037 40,800
Serial bonds series 2003-A maturing in annual installments from $1, 930 000 to $2,095,000 from July 1, 2023 through July 1, 2025, with interest rate at

4.125% to 4.20%, payable semiannually ... ... ... 6,035
Term bonds series 2003-A with interest at 4.20%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2028 . ... ... ... . i 12,835
Serial bonds series 2003-B maturing in annual installments from $308,000 to $984,000 through February 1, 2024, with interest rate at 0.40%, payable

semiannually . ..o 4,140
Serial bonds series 2003-B maturing in annual installments from $66,000 to $984,000 through February 1, 2024, with interest rate at 0.40%, payable

semiannually . ... 1,446
Auction rate notes series 2004-A, payable monthly, due July 1,2034 ... ... ... ... 17,500
Serial bonds series 2004-A maturing in annual installments from $197,000 to $984,000 through February 1, 2024, with interest rate at 0.45%, payable

semiannually . ... 4,589
Serial bonds series 2004-B maturing in annual installments from $917,000 to $984,000 through February 1, 2024, with interest rate at 0.45%, payable

SCIMIANNUALLY . . o o o oottt ettt e e e e 13,421
Auction rate notes series 2004-B, payable monthly, due July 1,2034 ... .. ... . .. 47,500
Serial bonds series 2004-C maturing in annual installments from $846,000 to $984,000 through February 1, 2024, with interest rate at 0.25%, payable

SEIMIANNUALLY . . o oo oottt ettt e et e e 12,381
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Water Utility ~ Waste Water
Fund Utility Fund

Serial bonds series 2005-A maturing in annual installments from $984,000 to $1,030,000 through February 1, 2024, with interest rate at 0.25%, payable

semiannually . ... 14,093
Serial bonds series 2005-A maturing in annual installments from $580,000 to $3,500,000 from July 1, 2021 through July 1, 2025, with interest rate of

4.00% t0 5.00%, payable semiannuUally . ... ... ... ...t 1,670
Serial bonds series 2005-B maturing in annual installments from $750,000 to $1,010,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2016, with interest rate of

3.25% to 5.00%, payable semiannually . ... ... ... 15,090
Serial bonds series 2005-C maturing in annual installments from $599,000 to $735,000 through July 1, 2012, with interest at 0.70%, payable

semiannually . ... 1,432
Serial bonds series 2006-A maturing in annual installments from $515,000 to $1,035,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2026, with interest rates of

4.00% t0 4.50%, payable semiannuUally . ... ... ... ...t 12,795
Term bond series 2006-A with interest at 4.625%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2031 ... . .
Term bond series 2006-A with interest at 4.625%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2036 .
Serial bonds series 2006-A maturing in annual installments from $1,380,000 to $1 561,000 lhrough February 1, 2026, with interest rate at 0.40%,

payable semiannually . ... ... 24,240
Serial bonds series 2006-B maturing in annual installments from $338,000 to $362,000 through February 1, 2026, with interest rate at 0.40%, payable

SCIMIANNUALLY . . o o o oottt e e e 5,447
Serial bonds series 2006-C maturing in annual installments from $990,000 to $2,090,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2026, with interest rates of

4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ... ... ... ... 25,115
Term bond series 2006-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2029 . ... ... ... i 6,920
Serial bonds series 2007-A maturing in annual installments from $64,000 to $80,000 through February 1, 2037, with interest rate at 0.40%, payable

semIannUally . ..o 2,040
Serial bonds series 2007-A maturing in annual installments from $1,833,000 to $2,184,000 through February 1, 2026, with interest rate at 0.40%,

payable semiannually . ... ... 33913
Serial bonds series 2007-B maturing in annual installments from $134,000 to $161,000 through February 1, 2027, with interest rate at 0.40%, payable

SEIMIANNUALLY . . o o oottt e 2,655
Serial bonds series 2007-B maturing in annual installments from $30,000 to $3,860,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2027, with interest rates of

3.60% to 4.50%, payable semiannually . ... ... ... 19,805
Term bond series 2007-B with interest at 4.50%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2032 .. 22,995
Term bond series 2007-B with interest at 4.50%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2035 7,910
Serial bonds series 2007-C maturing in annual installments from $35,000 to $3,935,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2027, with interest rates of

3.60% to 4.50%, payable semiannually .............. ... ... . . .. 11,045
Term bond series 2007-C with interest at 4.50%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2032 .. . .. 29,795
Term bond series 2007-C with interest at 4.50%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2036 19,255
Serial bonds series 2007-C maturing in annual installments from $740,000 to $1,570,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2027, with interest rates of

3.75% to 5.00%, payable semiannually . ......... ... 19,530
Term bond series 2007-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2032 . ..
Term bond series 2007-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2037 .
Serial bonds series 2007-D maturing in annual installments from $1,890,000 to $4,330, 000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2027, with interest rates of

5.00%, payable semiannually ... ... ... 53,140
Term bond series 2007-D with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2032 ..
Term bond series 2007-D with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2037
Serial bonds series 2008-A maturing in annual installments from $475,000 to $1,005,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2028, with interest rates of

2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually ... ... ... ... 13,695

Term bond series 2008-A with interest at 4.625%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2033 ... 5,740
Term bond series 2008-A with interest at 4.73%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038 .. 1,115
Term bond series 2008-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038 6,150

Serial bonds series 2008-A maturing in annual installments from $475,000 to $1,005,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2028, with interest rates of
2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually . ........ ... 27915
Term bond series 2008-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2033 .. 12,205

Term bond series 2008-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038 15,575
Serial bonds series 2009-A maturing in annual installments from $475,000 to $1,005,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2021, with interest rates of
2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually .. ... ... ... 5,985
Term bond series 2009-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2024 .. 1,220
Term bond series 2009-A with interest at 5.125%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2029 ... 3,630
Term bond series 2009-A with interest at 5.375%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2034 . 4,680
Term bond series 2009-A with interest at 5.75%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2039 . 6,120
Serial bonds series 2009-A maturing in annual installments of $426,000 from February 1, 2011 through Februa.ry l 2029, with an interest rate at
................................................................................................................... 8,098
Serial bondq series 2009-B maturing in annual installments of $95,000 from February 1, 2012 through February 1, 2030, with an interest rate at
0.00%0 . . v e 1,814
Serial bonds series 2009-B maturing in annual installments of $586,000 from February 1, 2015 through February 1, 2042, with an interest rate of
0.00% . .o 17,000
Serial bonds series 2009-C maturing in annual installments from $370,000 to $570,000 from July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2022, with interest rates of
2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually ... ... ... ... 7,430
Term bond series 2009-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2024 .. . .. 1,720
Term bond series 2009-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2029 .. 5,115
Term bond series 2009-C with interest at 5.125%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2034 ... 6,545
Term bond series 2009-C with interest at 5.625%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2039 8,490
Serial bonds series 2009-E maturing in annual installments of $158,000 from February 1, 2014 through February 1, 2032, with an interest rate of
0.0090 . . o o e e e e 3,000
Serial bonds series 2010-A maturing in annual installments of $16,000 to $37,000 from February 1, 2011 through February 1, 2040, with an interest rate
OF 0.00% . . . oo 750
479,155 647,282
Less: unamortized Charges . . ... ..ottt 7,305 3,042
$471,850 $644,240

At June 30, 2010, the Water Utility fund had $106,600,000 of auction rate notes outstanding. Interest rates for these
notes are determined every 7 to 35 days depending on the date of issue. In the event of a failed auction, the auction
agent assesses the failed auction rate to the issuers of the notes. Interest paid under these conditions is currently
limited to 150% to 175% of the non-financial commercial paper rate depending on the rating of the insurance provider
on each note issue. The failed auction rate on these notes was in the 1% range or less.

At June 30, 2010, the Waste Water Utility fund had $89,700,000 of auction rate notes outstanding. Interest rates for
these notes are determined every 7 to 35 days depending on the date of issue. In the event of a failed auction, the
auction agent assesses the failed auction rate to the issuers of the notes. Interest paid under these conditions is

52



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)
currently limited to 150% to 175% of the non-financial commercial paper rate depending on the rating of the insurance

provider on each note issue. The interest rate in the event of a failed auction on these notes was in the range of 1% or
less.

Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds

The City has issued various funding and refunding revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to finance
construction of parking facilities and refinance existing debt of the Parking Facilities Fund. Assets with a carrying
value of $16,676,000 at June 30, 2010, and revenues of the Parking Facilities Fund are pledged as collateral for the
bonds. Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2010, consist of (amounts expressed in thousands):

Serial bonds series 2005 maturing in annual installments from $400,000 to $1,590,000 through July 1, 2015 with interest rates ranging from 4.69% to 5.07%,

payable semiannually . .. ... ... e e e e $ 10,475
Term bonds series 1997-A with interest at 5.90%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2013 ... ... 17,900
Term bonds series 1997-A with interest at 6.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2018 ... ... ... . . . . . . 29,040
Term bonds series 1998-A with interest at 4.90%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2011 ... ... 45
Term bonds series 1998-A with interest at 5.25%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2014 ... ... ... . . . 1,770
Term bonds series 1998-A with interest at 5.25%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2017 ... ... 2,060
Term bonds series 1998-A with interest at 5.25%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2021 .. ... .. . 3,300
Term bonds series 2005 with interest at 5.27%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2018 .. ... ... 5,315
Term bonds series 2005 with interest at 5.30%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2027 . .. .. .ot 10,470
Term bonds series 2005 with interest at 5.62%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2035 ... ... .. 1,000
Variable rate demand bonds series 2008, payable weekly, due July 1, 2032 . ... ..o 76,585

157,960
Less: deferred loss on bond refunding and unamortized Charges . ... .. ... ... ... 24,308
$133,652

The City has $76,585,000 of Series 2008 refunding taxable variable rate demand revenue bonds outstanding as of
June 30, 2010. The bonds mature serially starting on July 1, 2010 through July 1, 2032. The Series 2008 Bonds are
subject to redemption prior to maturity at anytime, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount plus interest
accrued to the redemption date. The Series 2008 Bonds annual principal amounts range from $915,000 to $7,965,000.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on a weekly basis. Initially, the
Remarketing Agent will use a “Dutch Auction” to set the weekly rate that will be used to remarket the bonds. Under
the terms of the indenture, the City at its options may change the bond rate to a monthly or long-term rate at any time
until maturity upon notification of the bondholders.

The City reassigned the floating to fixed interest rate swaps in place as an interest rate hedge for the Series 2002 bonds
to the Series 2008 bonds. The notional amount of the swaps equaled the outstanding principal amount of the refunded
bonds. At the time of the refunding of the 2002 bonds, the balance of the deferred outflows of resources related to the
swaps was included in the deferred loss on bond refunding, which is reported as a reduction of the total revenue bonds
outstanding and is being amortized over the term of the Series 2008 bonds. The unamortized deferred loss on bond
refunding as of June 30, 2010 is $20,327,000.

In conjunction with the issuance of the bonds, Bank of America, NA (Bank) issued a direct pay letter of credit in the
amount of the Series 2008 Bonds available principal and interest commitment in favor of the City and Manufacturer
and Traders Trust Company (formerly Allfirst Trust Company National Association) as trustee. The Agreement
expires November 19, 2011, but can be extended for additional years. The existing Agreement permits the fiscal agent
to draw amounts necessary to pay the principal portion and related accrued interest on the bonds tendered for purchase
and not remarketed. The interest rate on draws made under this agreement is a defined base rate plus, up to an
additional 2.00% depending on the terms of the draw.

The City is required to pay the Bank’s fee throughout the effectiveness of the Agreement equal to 0.58% per annum of
the average daily amount of the available commitment.

Since issuance of the bonds, no draws have been made under the Agreement, and no draws were outstanding at June
30, 2010.
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Industrial Development Revenue Bonds

The City has $86,100,000 variable rate demand revenue bonds Series 1986 outstanding as of June 30, 2010. These
bonds were issued through the Baltimore Industrial Development Authority of the Mayor and City Council (IDA). The
purpose of these bonds is to finance various municipal capital projects. The bonds mature on August 1, 2016, but are
subject to optional or mandatory redemptions in whole or in part prior to maturity.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on a weekly basis. During fiscal year
2010, the variable interest rate paid by the City on these bonds ranged from 0.25% to 0.52%. It is the objective of the
Remarketing Agent to set interest rates high enough to assure that the bonds are readily marketable, yet maintain the
lowest possible interest cost for the IDA.

After the expiration of the letter of credit issued in conjunction with the issuance of the bonds, Bayerische Landesbank
(BL) issued an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $88,223,014 in favor of the City and M&T Bank as trustee
and The Chase Manhattan Bank as fiscal agent for the bondholders. The letter of credit will expire on November 30,
2015. The City may request an extension beyond November 30, 2015. The existing letter of credit permits the fiscal
agent to draw amounts necessary to pay the principal portion and related accrued interest on bonds when tendered for
purchase and not remarketed. Pursuant to the letter of credit agreement between the City, BL and the fiscal agent, the
issuer is required to reimburse BL the amount drawn upon remarketing. If the takeout agreement were to be exercised
because the outstanding bonds in the amount of $86,100,000 of demand bonds was put and not resold, the City would
be required to pay approximately $6,888,000 per year through the expiration of the agreement. The interest rate draws
made from the letter of credit is at BL’s prime interest rate.

The City is required to pay BL a fee throughout the period of effectiveness of the letter of credit equal to 0.35% per
annum of the daily average unutilized amount and 0.2% per annum of the daily average utilized amount.

During fiscal year 2010, the City made no draws under the letter of credit and no amounts drawn against the letter of
credit were outstanding at June 30, 2010.

Convention Center Refunding Revenue Bonds

The Convention Center Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 were issued May 1, 1998 and are special, limited
obligations of the City to refund the $56,385,000 Mayor and City Council Convention Center Revenue Bonds Series
1994. The bonds are payable solely from the revenues which consist of certain hotel taxes and certain receipts derived
from the ownership and operation of the Baltimore Convention Center. These bonds include $22,915,000 in serial
bonds, which are due to mature on September 1, in each of the years 2009 to 2012, inclusive; $6,695,000 in 5.5% term
bonds due to mature on September 1, 2014; $3,625,000 in 5.5% term bonds due to mature on September 1, 2015 and
$16,485,000 in 5.0% term bonds due to mature on September 1, 2019. Interest on the bonds is payable on March 1 and
September 1 in each year. The bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2009 are subject to redemption prior to
maturity beginning on or after September 1, 2008 at redemption prices ranging from 102% to 100% of the principal
amount. The term bonds due September 1, 2014 are subject to redemption at par prior to maturity by operation of a
sinking fund on or after September 1, 2013, at annual principal amounts ranging from $3,260,000 to $3,345,000. The
term bonds due September 1, 2019 are subject to redemption at par prior to maturity by operation of a sinking fund on
or after September 1, 2016, at annual principal amounts ranging from $3,825,000 to $4,425,000. These revenue bonds
have been recorded in governmental activities because they are expected to be paid by general revenues.

Stormwater Special Revenue Bond

The City has issued a Stormwater Special Revenue Bond, Series 2004 in the amount of $6,881,000. This bond will
fund various City stormwater capital projects associated with road construction. The bond is secured by a pledge of
the City’s share of state highway user revenues.

County Transportation Revenue Bonds

The City has entered into agreements with the State of Maryland to borrow $105,000,000 in County Transportation
Revenue Bonds. The proceeds from these bonds will be used to fund certain highway improvements throughout the
City. These bonds are secured by a pledge of the City’s share of the highway user revenues.
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Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds

The City issued Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds in the amount of $300,940,000. The proceeds of these bonds
were used to finance the acquisition, demolition, construction and equipping of a convention center hotel in the City.
The bonds are secured by pledges of revenues from the operation of the hotel, certain City hotel taxes and limited
guarantees from the hotel operator. Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2010, consist of (amounts expressed in thousands):

Serial bond series 2006 A maturing in installments from $1,680,000 to $9,345,000 through September

2028, with interest rates ranging from 3.61% to 4.38% payable semiannually ...................... $ 84,170
Term bonds series 2006 A with interest at 4.60% due September 1,2030 ........................... 20,935
Term bonds series 2006 A with interest at 5.00% due September 1,2032 ............... ... .. ...... 24,080
Term bonds series 2006 A with interest at 5.25% due September 1,2039 ........ ... ... ... .. ...... 118,315
Term bonds series 2006 B with interest at 5.00% due September 1,2016 ........................... 2,555
Term bonds series 2006 B with interest at 5.875% due September 1,2039 ......... ... ... ... ... .... 50,885

111721 PP $300,940

Changes in revenue bond obligations for the year end June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Due within One

June 30,2009 New Debt Issues Debt Retired ~ June 30, 2010 Year
Governmental Activities
Convention Centerand Hotel .................... $ 339,190 $ 2,645 $ 336,545 $ 2,770
Storm Water . .......... i 5,829 354 5,475 355
Transportation . . ...........ooiiinnninaan... 95,060 5,925 89,135 6,020
Total Governmental
ACHVILIES . . oot $ 440,079 $ 8,924 $ 431,155 $ 9,145
Business-Type Activities
Water . ... $ 468,419 $17,000 $ 6,264 $ 479,155 $ 8,036
Waste Water .............ciiiiiiiinn... 662,643 3,750 19,111 647,282 20,105
Parking Facilities ............. ... ... ... ..... 164,875 6,915 157,960 7,250
Industrial Development . ........................ 100,000 13,900 86,100
Total Business-Type Activities .. ............... $1,395,937  $20,750  $46,190 $1,370,497 $35,391

Principal maturities and interest of revenue bonds, shown at gross, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Baltimore Hotel Transportation Revenue
Corporation Convention Center Storm Water Bonds

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal  Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2001 $ 15,886 $ 2,770 $1,796 $ 355 $ 22 $ 6,020 $ 3,566
200 $ 2,065 15886 2935 1,637 356 20 6,285 3,375
2003 2,420 15,7783 3,095 1,475 358 19 6,565 3,177
2004 2,795 15,651 3,260 1,302 359 18 6,860 2,981
2005 3,190 15,522 3435 1,118 361 16 7,185 2,750
2016-2020 ...t e 17,250 60,531 15,685 2,512 1,457 50 30,070 7,696
2021-2025 34,155 68,932 4426 111 1,854 30 26,150 3,148
2026-2030 .. e 52,590 57,918 375 2
2031-2035 76,290 42,169
2036-2040 .. 110,185 18,712

Totals ... $300,940 $326,990 $35,606 $9.951 $5.475 $177 $89,135 $26,693
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Business-type Activities
Water Utility Waste Water Utility Parking Facilities Industrial Development Authority
Swap Swap Swap Swap
Interest Interest Interest Interest
Fiscal Year Principal Interest ~ Rate Net(a) Principal Interest ~ Rate Net(a) Principal Interest Rate Net(a) Principal Interest Rate Net(a)
2011 ..o $ 8,036% 16,857 $ 4,920 $ 20,105 $ 20,625 $ 4,091 $ 7,250 $ 4,679 $ 4,316 $ 319% 2,758
2012 .. 8,937 16,533 4,865 20,704 20,150 4,052 7,690 4316 4,262 319 2,758
2013 ... 9,428 16,188 4,794 21,188 19,644 4,008 7,650 3,942 4202 319 2,758
2014 .. o 9,835 15,823 4,717 22,258 19,112 3,950 8,035 3,558 4,140 318 2,758
2015 .. . 11,023 15,437 4,633 22,830 18,555 3,880 8,515 3,150 4,074 318 2,757
2016-2020 ........... 63,323 70,807 21,379 120,038 83,979 17,522 43,055 8,904 19,201 $86,100 478 4,136
2021-2025 ........... 72,933 58,410 18,021 119,790 68,108 13,527 22,275 3,196 16,180
2026-2030 ........... 84,754 45,503 13,738 110,632 51,278 8,142 30,215 1,202 10,483
2031-2035 ........... 107,297 29,443 7,768 113,952 30,417 1,852 23,125 246 1,975
2036-2040 ........... 73,400 14,032 785 63,055 9,550 150 4
2041-2045 ... 30,189 2,239 (75) 12,730 1,118
Totals ........... $479,155 $301,272 $85,545 $647,282 $342,536 $61,024 $157,960 $33,197 $68,833 $86,100 $2,071 $17,925

(a) Interest Rate Swap Net payments represent estimated payments for additional interest resulting from swap agreements to counterparties for additional interest resulting from
swap agreements. The additional payments were computed using rates as of June 30, 2010, assuming current interest rates remain the same for their term. As rates vary,
variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

9. Pledged Revenue
The Water and Waste Water Utility Funds

The Water and Waste Water Utility Funds have pledged future customer revenues to repay $479,155,000 and
$647,282,000 of revenue bond debt, respectively. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to build and improve
various aspects of the City’s Water and Waste Water Utility systems. The bonds are payable solely from the revenues of
the two Utility Funds and are payable through 2043. Annual principal and interest payments on these revenue bonds are
expected to require 23% of pledged revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the revenue bonds for
the Water and Waste Water Utility Funds are $865,972,000 and $1,050,842,000 respectively. Principal and interest paid
for the current year and current pledged revenue for the Water Utility Fund were $26,466,000 and $129,428,000
respectively. Principal and interest paid for the current year and current pledged revenue for the Waste Water Utility
Fund were $44,740,000 and $163,580,000, respectively.

The Parking Facility Fund

The Parking Facility fund has pledged future revenue from parking fees and fines to repay $157,960,000 of revenue bond
debt. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to construct various garages throughout the City. The bonds are
payable solely from the pledged revenue and are payable through 2038. Annual principal and interest payments are
expected to require less than 24% of pledged revenue. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these revenue
bonds is $259,990,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenue were
$15,331,000 and $67,760,000, respectively.

Tax Increment Revenue Pledges

The City has pledged a portion of future property tax revenues to repay $116,205,000 in incremental property taxes
bonds issued to finance various development projects. The pledged revenue is limited to the incremental taxes on the
projects financed by the bond. Should the incremental taxes fail to generate the sufficient incremental taxes to pay
principal and interest requirements, the City has established special taxing districts to generate additional taxes sufficient
to pay principal and interest on the bonds. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these bonds is
$281,199,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenue were $2,035,000 and
$6,668,000, respectively.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The City has pledged a portion of its hotel occupancy tax as security for revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used
to build the City’s Convention Center Headquarters Hotel. The City’s hotel occupancy tax is one of several pledged
revenue sources the City used to issue $300,940,000 Convention Center Headquarter Hotel Bonds. Following the net
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operating income and the property tax increment for the Hotel, the site specific occupancy tax is pledged to pay principal
and interest payments on the bonds. If these sources are insufficient, 15% (of the maximum annual debt service) of the
citywide occupancy tax is also pledged. If a shortfall still remains, and following a Hilton Hotel guarantee of 10% of the
Maximum Annual Debt Service, 10% (maximum annual debt service) is pledged. The Hotel opened August 22, 2008.
Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these bonds is $627,930,000. For the current year, there were no
principal payments due, and interest payments were $15,886,000.

Prior-Year Defeasance of Debt

In prior years, the City defeased certain revenue bonds and other obligations by placing the proceeds of new debt issues
in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old debt. Accordingly, the trust account
assets and the liability for the defeased debt are not included in the City’s financial statements. At June 30, 2010,
$259,100,000 of debt outstanding is considered defeased.

Interest Rate Swaps

Objectives of the swaps. The City has entered into swaps for three reasons: first, the majority of its swaps have been used
to create synthetic fixed rate financing (by issuing floating-rate bonds and swapping them to fixed) as a way to provide
lower-cost fixed rate financing to meet the City’s capital needs. Second, the City has used swaps from fixed to floating to
help the City manage its balance sheet for an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate exposure. And, third, the City has
used basis swaps to amend the floating rate on certain of its existing synthetic fixed rate swaps in order to provide a
better hedge on the underlying floating rate bonds.

Terms, fair value and credit risk. The terms, fair values and credit rating of the outstanding swaps as of June 30, 2010,
were as follows. The notional amounts of the swaps match the principal amount of the associated debt. The City’s swap
agreements contain scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that are designed to track the scheduled or
anticipated reductions in the associated “bonds payable” category.
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Hedged Derivative Instruments

At June 30, 2010, the City had deferred liabilities for various hedged derivative instruments with the total fair values of
these instruments in the amounts of $21,396,000 and $69,635,000, for governmental and business-type activities,
respectively. The notional amounts for these hedged derivative instruments at June 30, 2010, were $297,945,000 and
$383,115,000, for governmental and business-type activities, respectively. During fiscal year 2010, the fair values of
these instruments decreased $5,798,000 and $16,080,340, for governmental and business-type activities, respectively.
All hedges are cash flow hedges. The following schedule provides a detailed analysis of derivative instruments held at

June 30, 2010:

Interest Counterparty
Effective Termination Rate Paid Notional Credit
Outstanding Bonds Date Date by City Interest Rate Received Amount Fair Value Rating
Hedged Derivative Instruments — Governmental Activities
General Obligation Bonds
Floating to Fixed Swaps
2001 Bonds 6/27/2001 10/1/2020 4.595% Bond Rate/BMA $ 20,400,000 $ (2,616,700) A/A2
2001 Bonds 6/27/2001 10/1/2022 5.060% Bond Rate/BMA 22,500,000 (4,629,869) A/A2
2003 Bonds 12/23/2009 10/15/2020 2.950% BMA/67% LIBOR 63,750,000 (3,957,879) AA-/Aal
2003 Bonds 12/23/2009 10/15/2022 3.450% BMA/67% LIBOR 47,350,000 (6,372,603) AA-/Aal
2003 Bonds 1/15/2010 10/15/2020 4.215% IM LIBOR 15,690,000 (1,327,620) A+/Aa3
2003 Bonds 1/15/2010 10/15/2022 4.970% IM LIBOR 17,155,000 (3,258,096) A+/Aa3
Basis Swaps:
2003 Bonds 6/29/2004 10/15/2020  67% LIBOR 60% LIBOR + 29.5 bps 63,750,000 382,225 A+/Aa3
2003 Bonds 6/29/2004 10/15/2020  67% LIBOR 60% LIBOR + 29.5 bps 47,350,000 384,737 A+/Aa3
Total Governmental Activities $297,945,000  $(21,395,805)
Hedged Derivative Instruments — Business-type Activities
Industrial Development Authority Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps
1986 Revenue Bonds 11/1/2001 8/1/2016 3.4975% BMA Index $ 86,100,000 $ (9,486,718) A/A2
Water Utility Fund Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2037 4.555% BMA/67% LIBOR $ 59,100,000  $(18,832,444) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2010 4.00% Bond Rate/CPI 1,900,000 (9,461) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2011 4.10% Bond Rate/CPI 1,955,000 (45,167) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2012 4.20% Bond Rate/CPI 2,110,000 (75,564) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2013 4.30% Bond Rate/CPI 2,170,000 (94,996) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2014 4.39% Bond Rate/CPI 2,325,000 (117,330) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2015 4.50% Bond Rate/CPI 1,615,000 (89,140) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2016 4.61% Bond Rate/CPI 1,685,000 (98,806) A/A2
2004 Revenue Bonds 6/1/2004 7/1/2034 5.21% BMA Index 47,500,000 (13,202,463) A/A2
Total Water Utility Fund $120,360,000  $(32,565,371)
Wastewater Utility Fund Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps:
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2032 4.555% BMA/67% LIBOR $ 72,200,000  $(19,363,599) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2010 4.00% Bond Rate/CPI 1,785,000 (8,888) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2011 4.10% Bond Rate/CPI 1,820,000 (42,048) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2012 4.20% Bond Rate/CPI 1,930,000 (69,118) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2013 4.30% Bond Rate/CPI 1,960,000 (85,803) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2014 4.39% Bond Rate/CPI 2,040,000 (102,948) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2015 4.50% Bond Rate/CPI 1,240,000 (68,441) A/A2
2002 Revenue Bonds 5/7/2002 7/1/2016 4.61% Bond Rate/CPI 1,280,000 (75,057) A/A2
2004 Revenue Bonds 6/1/2004 7/1/2034 521% BMA Index 17,500,000 (5,060,919) A/A2
Total Wastewater Utility Fund $101,755,000  $(24,876,821)
Parking Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps:
2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2032 6.098% IM LIBOR $ 66,100,000 $ (2,253,000) A+/Aa3
2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2025 5.915% IM LIBOR-- 8,800,000 (452,785) A+/Aa3
Total Parking Facilities Fund $ 74,900,000 $ (2,705,785)
Total Business-type Activities $383,115,000  $(69,634,695)

Credit risk — As of June 30, 2010, the City is not exposed to credit risk on all but two of the outstanding swaps because
the swaps have negative fair value. All fair values were calculated using the mark-to-market or par value method.
However, should interest rates change and the fair values of the swaps become positive, the City would be exposed to
credit risk in the amount of the derivatives’ fair value. For the two swap agreements that have positive fair value, the City
has credit exposure to the counterparty as of June 30, 2010. Should the counterparty to these transactions fail to perform
according to the terms of the swap contracts, the City faces a maximum loss equivalent to the swaps’ $766,962 fair value.
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The swap agreements contain varying collateral agreements with counterparties. In general, these agreements require
full collateralization of the fair value of the swap should the counterparty’s credit rating fall below Baa as issued by
Moody’s or BBB as issued by Standard and Poor’s. Collateral on all swaps may be in the form of cash or U. S.
government securities held by the City.

Although the City executes transactions with various counterparties, twenty-one swaps or approximating 46% of the
notional amount of swaps outstanding, are held with one counterparty that is currently rated A/A2. Of the remaining
swaps, the City holds one swap with one counterparty, rated AAA/Aal, approximating 9% of the outstanding notional
value, two swaps are with one counterparty rated AA-/Aal, approximately 14% of the outstanding notional value, ten
swaps are with one counterparty rated AA/A2, approximating 12% of the outstanding notional value, and fourteen
swaps are with two counterparties rated A+/Aa3, approximately 31% of the outstanding notional value.

Basis risk — The City’s variable rate bonds are of three types: remarketed variable rate demand bonds (VRDBs),
auction rate bonds (ARBs), and CPI index bonds. For those swaps associated with the VRDBs and ARBs, the City
receives a floating rate based on either the SIFMA Index or one-month LIBOR. For the SIFMA based swaps, the City is
exposed to basis risk should the spread between the SIFMA and the VRDBs or ARBs rate change. If a change occurs
that results in the spread widening, the expected cost savings may not be realized. As of June 30, 2010, the SIFMA rate
for the prior 52-week period ranged from 0.15% to 0.43%, whereas the City tax-exempt market ranged from 0.07% to
0.75%. For seven of the swaps, the City will receive a percent of LIBOR or a percent of LIBOR plus a basis point
spread, each rate was chosen to closely approximate the City’s tax-exempt variable rate bond payments. Because these
swaps are LIBOR-based, there is an additional degree of basis risk.

For four of the swaps, the City receives the one month LIBOR, chosen to approximate the City’s taxable variable rate
bond payments. As of June 30, 2010, LIBOR for the prior 52-weeks ranged from 0.23% to 0.35%, whereas the City’s
taxable market ranged from 0.20% to 1.00%. For those swaps associated with CPI index bonds, there is no basis risk,
because the floating rate on the swaps is identical to the floating rate on the bonds.

Interest rate risk — For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate and receives fixed rate payments, the City is
exposed to interest rate risk. As floating rates increase, the City’s expected savings could decrease. The City would,
however, benefit from offsetting increases in its earnings on short-term investments, whose return would be expected to
go up in a higher interest rate environment.

Termination risk — The City or the counterparty may terminate a swap if the other party fails to perform under the
terms of the contract. If at the time of termination the swap contract has a negative fair value, the City would be liable to
the counterparty for that payment.

Investment derivative instruments

The fair value balance and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding at June 30, 2010, classified by type
and the changes in fair value of such derivative instruments for the year ended June 30, 2010 are as follows:

Changes in Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2010
Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional

Business-type activities
Water Utility Fund
Fixed to FIOAtING . . ...\ttt e e e Investment Revenue $ 99,620  Debt $  (223,125) $ (13,220,453)
Floating to FIOating . .. ... ... ...ttt e Investment Revenue 54,188  Debt (11,249,188) (71,455,000)

Total Water Utility Fund ....... ... .. ... .. i 153,808 (11,472,313) (84,675,453)
Waste Water Utility Fund
Fixed to Floating . ........ ... Investment Revenue _ $ 56,198  Debt $  (144,852) $ (7,469,047)
Industrial Development Authority
Fixed to FIOAting . .. ...ttt et e Investment Revenue  $(1,531,537) Debt $ (1,531,537) $ (13,900,000)

Total business-type aCtivities . . . . ... .vvut et $(1,321,531) $(13,148,702)  $(106,044,500)




CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

Credit Risk: At June 30, 2010, the government is not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate swaps, because they are in
a negative fair value or liability position. However, if interest rates change and the fair values become positive, the City
would have exposure to credit risk. The counterparty’s credit rating at June 30, 2010, was AA/Aa2 for derivative
instruments held by the Water and Waste Water Utility Funds and a/A2 for derivative instruments held by the Industrial
Development Authority. The change in the fair value of investment swaps in the amount of a loss of $1,322,000 is netted
and reported within the investment revenue classification.

Interest rate risk: For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate and receives fixed rate payments, the City is
exposed to interest rate risk. As floating rates increase, the City’s expected savings could decrease. The City would,
however, benefit from offsetting increases in its earnings on short-term investments, whose return would be expected to
go up in a higher interest rate environment.

Fiduciary Fund Types
Forward Currency Contracts

The City’s Retirement Systems entered into forward currency contracts to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates on portfolio holdings. They also entered into forward exchange contracts to settle future
obligations. A forward exchange contract is a commitment to purchase (payable) or sell (receivable) a foreign currency at
a future date at a negotiated forward rate. Risk associated with such contracts includes movement in the value of a foreign
currency relative to the U.S. dollar. Unrealized gains or losses on forward currency contracts are the difference between
the contract and the closing market value of such contract and is included in the statement of changes in plan net assets as
net appreciation/depreciation in the fair value of investments. The table below summarizes the market value of foreign
currency contracts as of June 30, 2010:

Forward Foreign ~ Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Forward Foreign ~ Unrealized Net
Contracts Cost Contracts Cost Contracts Fair Contracts Fair Gain/(Loss)

Currency Receivable (a) Payable (b) Value Receivable (¢)  Value Payable (d) (c-a) + (b-d)
Australian Dollar . ... ...t $ 303,844 $ 289,899 $ 303,717 $ 285276 $ 4,496
BrazilReal ...... ... . ... 242,888 235,772 241,318 235,772 (1,570)
British Pound Sterling .............. .. ... .. ... ... 2,234,503 4,711,744 2,234,207 4,819,439 (107,991)
Canadian Dollar .......... .. .. .. .. i .. 402,227 402,227 396,798 402,227 (5,429)
Chinese Yaun Renminbi .. ........... ... ... .. ... ... ..., 6,734,971 3,060,234 6,607,853 3,037,024 (103,908)
DanishKrone ............. ... i 67,150 67,150 67,150 67,285 (135)
Euro Currency Unit ....... ...t 7,498,123 12,536,235 7,479,743 11,887,948 629,907
Hong Kong Dollar . ........ ... ... ... .. 1,664,829 1,664,829 1,664,739 1,664,775 (36)
Israel Shekel .. ... ... . 26,806 26,806 26,806 26,902 (96)
Japanese Yen .......... .. 4,255,280 4,044,037 4,257,135 4,049,459 (3,567)
Malaysian Ringgit .. ........ .. . i 124,000 120,623 124,025 124,025 (3,377)
Mexican New Paso . ..........o it 367,994 1,719,933 369,925 1,732,747 (10,883)
New Taiwan Dollar ......... ... ... .. ... ... viuion... 140,133 136,880 136,839 136,839 (3,253)
Norwegian Krone .......... ... ... i 44,308 43,910 44,028 44,329 (699)
Philippines Peso ......... ... ... 356,000 338,976 343,259 343,259 (17,024)
South AfricanRand .............. ... .. ... .. .. ... ... ... 92,125 92,125 91,624 92,152 (528)
Singapore Dollar . ...... ... ... . . 1,492,431 1,492,431 1,490,827 1,492,431 (1,604)
South Korean Won ........ .. .. . i 1,571,981 1,515,231 1,500,295 1,501,559 (58,014)
Swiss Franc . ... ... 14,093 14,093 14,113 14,093 20
US.Dollar . ... 17,212,868 12,347,114 17,212,868 12,347,114
Total ..o $44,846,554 $44,860,249 $44,607,269 $44,304,655 $ 316,309

12. Pension Plans

Plan Descriptions

All City employees, other than the professional employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library and the Baltimore City Public
School System (BCPSS), who are members of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems to which the City and
the BCPSS make no contributions, are covered under one of the following Public Employees Retirement Systems (PERS).
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The City contributes to two single-employer defined benefit pension plans, the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement
System, established July 1, 1962, and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System, established December 5, 1983, and a
cost sharing multiple employer plan, the Employees’ Retirement System, established January 1, 1926. Each plan
provides retirement benefits as well as disability benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. The plans are each
managed by a Board of Trustees in accordance with Article 22 of the Baltimore City Code. Plan benefits provisions may
be amended only by the City Council. Certain provisions related to retirement benefits for the Fire and Police Retirement
System have been amended during fiscal year 2010. Details can be found in the separately issued System’s annual
financial statements. The plans are considered part of the City’s reporting entity and their financial statements are
included in the City’s basic financial statements as pension trust funds. Each plan issues a publicly available financial
report that includes financial statements and the required supplementary information for that plan. Those reports may be
obtained by writing to the Retirement Systems at the following addresses:

For Employees’ Retirement System and Elected Officials’ Retirement System, mail request to:

Baltimore City Retirement Systems
7 East Redwood Street, 12t Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-3470

For Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System, mail request to:

Baltimore City Retirement Systems
7 East Redwood Street, 18t Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-3470

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting. The financial statements for the City’s three Plans are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Employer and member contributions are recognized in the period that the contributions are due. Employer
contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions.
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with terms of the Plan.

Method Used to Value Investments. Plan investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on national and
international exchanges are valued at the last reported sale price at the current exchange rates. Real estate holdings are
valued based on current appraisals.

Funding Policy and Annual Pension Cost

The Baltimore City Code establishes the contribution requirements for plan members and the City for each of the three
plans. The City’s annual pension cost for the current year and related information for each plan is as follows:

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employees’ Employees’ Retirement Elected Officials’ Retirement

Retirement System System System

Contribution ratios as a percentage of covered payroll:

Employer ........ ... .. 34.1% 12.4% 28.2%

Employee . ... ... 6.3% 0.1% 4.9%
Annual PENSION COSE . . .. v vttt ettt et $94,098 $48,748 $340
Contributions made . . .. ... ... $94,098 $48,748 $340
Actuarial costmethod . ..... ... ... . L o Projected Unit Credit Cost Projected Unit Credit Cost Projected Unit Credit Cost
Amortization method . ....... ... .. Level Dollar Open Level Dollar Open Level Dollar Open
Remaining amortization period ................. ... ... ... ... 20 years 20 years 10 years

Assets valuationmethod . ....... .. ... ... L il 5 year smoothed market 5 year smoothed market 5 year smoothed market

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return:

Pre-retirement .. ...... ... . 8.0% 8.0% 7.5%
Post-retirement . ............. .t 8.0% 6.8% 6.0%
Projected salary increases .............. ... ... . .ol 4.0%-8.0% 4.25%-6.95% 6.0%
Includes inflationrate at ............. ... ... ... ... 3.0% 3.0% 6.0%
Cost-of-living adjustment .. .......... .. ... ... .. 1%-2% 1.5% 6.0%
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The information presented in the following schedules for the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System, the

Employees’ Retirement System, and the Elected Officials” Retirement System is from the financial report dated June 30,
2010 and the actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2010.

Three-Year Trend Information
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Annual Percentage of
Pension APC Net Pension
Cost (APC)  Contributed Obligation

Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System:

June 30, 2010 . ... $94,098 100% $0

June 30, 2000 . .. 69,513 100 0

June 30, 2008 . ... 72,688 100 0
Employees’ Retirement System:

June 30, 2010 . ... e $48,748 100% $0

June 30, 2000 . ... 43,673 100 0

June 30, 2008 . ... 43,918 100 0
Elected Officials’ Retirement System:

June 30, 2010 . ... $ 340 100% $0

June 30, 2009 . ... 0 N/A 0

June 30, 2008 . ... 144 100 0

Schedule of Funding Progress for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2010

Pension Trust Funds
(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

UAAL (Excess of)
as a Percentage
Actual Valuation Actuarial Value of Actuarial Accrued Unfunded (Excess of) Covered of Covered Payroll
Date Plan Assets (a) Liability (AAL) (b) AAL (UAAL) (b-a) Funded Ratio (a/b)  Payroll (c) ((b-a)/c)
Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System:
June 30,2010 ... $2,524,754 $3,033,724 $508,970 83.2% $276,577 184.0%
June 30,2009 ... 2,587,235 3,050,887 463,652 84.8 281,424 164.8
Employees’ Retirement System:
June 30,2010 ... ... $1,390,055 $1,819,340 $429,285 76.4% $393,178 109.2%
June 30,2009 ... 1,424,203 1,724,931 300,728 82.6 398,009 75.6
Elected Officials’ Retirement System:
June 30,2010 ... ... $15,616 $18,636 $3,020 83.8% $1,206 250.4%
June 30,2009 ... 14,161 16,957 2,796 83.5 1,182 236.5

The Unfunded Fire and Police Pension Plan

Additionally, the City’s Fire and Police Departments are the administrators of the City’s unfunded single-employer
defined benefit local retirement plan. The plan is managed by the City’s Fire and Police Departments under the Code of
Local Laws of Baltimore. All employees eligible for this plan were hired prior to January 1, 1947. All members of this
plan are currently retired and the City plans to pay benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis until all obligations have been
fulfilled. The unfunded accrued liability represents the actuarial present value of future benefits based on assumed annual
salary increases of 3.0%. There is no covered payroll for the plan. The City’s annual contributions equal the employee
benefits paid under the terms of the plan. The City’s employer contributions for the last three years are as follows:

Three -Year Trend Information

(Expressed in Thousands)

Employer Contribution ~ Unfunded Accrued Liability

June 30, 2010 ... $1,250 $5,182
June 30, 2000 ... 1,521 6,529
June 30,2008 ... 1,902 7,920
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The Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems

Under Maryland law, the Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is not required to make any contributions to the
State Systems. The covered employees are required by State statute to contribute to the State Systems. The contribution
from employees is 5% for participants in the State Systems retirements plans (with a 5% limit on the annual living
allowance and 7% for those who elect a limit on the cost of living allowance commensurate with the Consumer Price
Index) and 5% for participants in the State System’s pension plans to the extent their regular earnings exceed the Social
Security wage base. Contributions are deducted from participant’s salary and wage payments and are remitted to the
State on a regular, periodic basis.

The State of Maryland pays, on behalf of the BCPSS, the employer’s share of retirement and pension costs to the State
Systems for teachers and related positions. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the State paid $73,800,000 in
such costs. This amount has been recorded by the BCPSS as both a revenue and an expenditure in the General Fund in
the accompanying Statement of Activities.

The State also makes contributions on behalf of the Enoch Pratt Free Library employees. The State’s contributions for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 was $1,734,000. This amount has also been recognized as both a revenue and an
expenditure in the accompanying Statement of Activities.

Deferred Compensation

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section
457. The plan, available to all employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The deferred
compensation is not available to employees or other beneficiaries until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable
emergency.

The City has no administrative involvement and does not perform the investing function. The City has no fiduciary
accountability for the plan and, accordingly, the plan assets and related liabilities to plan participants are not included in
the basic financial statements.

13. Other Postemployment Benefits

Plan Description

The City of Baltimore provides other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. All
costs of the Plan for employees of the BCPSS are the responsibility of the City and reflected as such in this Note and the
City’s financial statements. The Plan is a contributory, single employer defined benefit plan. The benefit and
contribution provisions of the Plan are established and may be amended by the City. The Plan provides postemployment
healthcare and prescription drug benefits to retirees and their beneficiaries. Retirees may choose from five health plan
options and four levels of coverage.

The following schedule outlines the eligibility requirements to participants in the Plan by employee group:

Post Retirement Medical Benefit Eligibility Requirement*

Employee Group Requirement
Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems ...................... If hired before January 1, 1980: Age 60 or 30 years of service
If hired on or after January 1, 1980: Based on age at retirement and years of service
Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System . ...................... If hired before July 1, 2003: Age 50 or 20 years of service
If hired on or after July 1, 2003: Age 50 and 10 years of service or 20 years of service
Employees’ Retirement System & Elected Officials’ Retirement System ...  If hired after July 1, 1979, age 55 with at least 5 years of service or any age with 30 years of service

*All employees are eligible for disability benefits depending on years of service and reasons for disability.

In order to effectively manage the Plan, the City established an OPEB Trust Fund. All retiree and City contributions are
deposited into the Trust Fund and all retiree related health and life insurance benefits are paid from the Trust Fund. The
City also contracted with the Board of Trustees of the Employees’ Retirement System to act as investment manager for
the Trust Fund. BNY Mellon Bank Asset Saving is the Trust Fund’s asset custodian. The Plan does not issue stand alone
financial statements; however, the OPEB Trust Fund is included in the City’s financial statements as an other
postemployment benefits trust fund.
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The number of participants in the Plan as of July 1, 2010 is as follows:

Number of Participants
City School  Total
ACHIVE L e 15,147 9,194 24,341
RetiTed . .o 14,332 7,302 21,634
TOAL .« .o e 29,479 16,496 45,975

Significant Accounting Policies of the OPEB Trust Fund:

Basis of Accounting. The financial statements for the OPEB Trust Fund are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer
contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions.
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

Method Used to Value Investments. Plan investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on national and
international exchanges are valued at the last reported sale price at the current exchange rates.

Funding Policy:

The City’s policy is to fund benefits on a pay-as—you-go basis plus make additional contributions comprising the federal
retiree drug subsidy payments and an additional annual appropriation. Retirees are required to contribute at various rates
ranging from approximately $166 to $2,933 on a monthly basis, depending on the health plan and level of coverage
elected and whether Medicare supplemental coverage is present. Administrative costs of the Plan are covered by
the City.

For fiscal year 2010, City contributions to the Plan were $142.2 million which was less than the annual OPEB cost of
$203.7 million resulting in a net increase to the OPEB liability of $61.5 million for the current year. Interest on the
OPEB liability amounted to $1.6 million in fiscal year 2010. The OPEB liability at June 30, 2010 was $86.7 million. An
additional adjustment in the amount of ($1.3) million was made to the annual required contribution (ARC) based on
claims’ experience.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Assets (Obligations):

The City’s annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the ARC, an amount actuarially determined in accordance
with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis,
is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 30
years. The City’s annual OPEB cost (expense) for fiscal 2010 was $203.7 million. The following table shows the
components of the City’s annual OPEB cost for the years ended June 30, 2010, June 30, 2009 and June 30, 2008,
respectively, and the amount actually contributed to the plan (dollars expressed in millions):

Fiscal Year Ended
June 30,2008 June 30,2009  June 30, 2010

NOFIAL COSE - v vttt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 592 $ 732 $ 815
Amortization of Unfunded Actuarial Liability . ........... .. o 105.4 106.3 121.9
Annual Required Contribution (ARC) . ... ...t 164.6 179.5 203.4
Interest on Unfunded ARC . ... ... e 0.7) 1.6
Adjustment of ARC . ... o 0.5 (1.3)
ANnUal OPEB COSt . ..ottt ittt ettt 164.6 179.3 203.7
Actual CONLIIDULIONS . . . . .\t 176.5 142.2 142.2
Increase/(Decrease) in OPEB Obligation .. ... ... ... .......ueuueee i (11.9) 37.1 61.5
Net OPEB (Asset) LIability . . ... ...ttt (11.9) 252 86.7
Percentage Contributed .. ... ... ... 107.2% 79.3% 69.8%
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Funded Status and Funding Progress:

(Dollars Expressed in Millions)

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded UAAL as a
Value of Accrued Actuarial Accrued Covered Percentage of
Plan Assets  Liability (AAL)  Liability (UAAL)  Funded Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll
Fiscal Year Ended (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)
June 30,2010 . ..o oot $149.1 $2,564.3 $2,415.2 5.8% $1,337.8 180.5%
June 30,2009 ..o 110.5 2,497.6 2,387.1 4.4 1,346.4 177.3
June 30,2008 . ..o 76.0 2,149.8 2,073.8 35 1,307.6 158.6

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment,
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the Plan and the annual
required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required
supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information about
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities
for benefits.

Actuarial Method and Assumptions:

Data in the above tables were obtained from an actuarial valuation prepared by an independent actuary made as of
June 30, 2010, using census data as of that date and health care claims costs for the year ended June 30, 2010.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial
methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in
actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the
calculations.

The City has selected the Projected Unit Credit Cost (PUCC) method. Under the projected unit credit cost method, the
actuary develops the discounted present value of all future benefit payments. For a retiree, this amount is the actuarial
accrued liability. For an employee that has not retired, the actuarial accrued liability is determined as the ratio of the
employee’s service as of the valuation date to the expected service at retirement. As the valuation uses rates of
retirement, the PUCC method determines the Actuarial Accrued Liability as the weighted sum of the pro-rata
calculations for expected retirement at each expected retirement age. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being
amortized over 30 years on a level dollar basis.

In performing their valuation, the actuary used a discount rate of 6.25%, which is a blended rate of the expected long-term
investment returns on plan assets and on the employer’s own investments calculated based on the funded level of the Plan
at valuation date. Assets are valued at fair value. Past service costs are calculated using the level dollar method with a
closed amortization period of 30 years. The valuation also assumes an 8.0% healthcare trend for fiscal year 2010, reduced
by decrements to a rate of 5.0% in 2016 and continuing through fiscal year 2017. Pharmacy benefits are assumed to
decrease to 7.0% in 2010, reduced by decrements to a rate of 5.0% by fiscal year 2014 and continuing through fiscal year
2017. Salary increases were not considered as OPEB benefits and OPEB benefits are not based on pay.

There were no significant changes in the number of participants and types of coverage since the date of the actuarial
valuation.
Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During fiscal year 1987, the City established the Risk
Management Fund (an internal service fund) to account for and finance its uninsured risks. The City’s risk financing
techniques include a combination of risk retention through self-insurance and risk transfer through the purchase of
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commercial insurance. The Risk Management Fund services all claims for risk of loss, including general liability,
property and casualty, workers’ compensation, unemployment compensation, automobile physical damage and bodily
injury, and sundry other risks. Commercial insurance coverage is provided for each property damage claim in excess of
$500,000 with a cap of $500,000,000. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past
three years. The City also provides medical insurance coverage for all employees and retirees. Employees are required to
pay a percentage of the annual cost of the medical plans and the remaining costs are paid by the internal service fund.

All funds of the City and the Baltimore City Public School System participate and make payments to the Risk
Management Fund based on actuarial estimates and historical cost information of the amounts needed to pay prior and
current year claims. As of June 30, 2010, the City has determined that the range of potential claims liability for the fund
to be between $167,329,000 and $246,249,000. The claims liability of $183,769,000 reported in the fund is based on the
requirement that a liability for claims be reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates
that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of loss can be
reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported (IBNRs). This
liability, which has been discounted at 4.5% at June 30, 2010, does not include the effects of inflation, incremental or
other allocated or unallocated claim adjustment expenses, salvage, or subrogation, as such factors are not considered
material. Any claims in excess of $183,769,000 will be charged to expense in the periods in which they are made.

Changes in the Risk Management Fund’s claims liability in fiscal years 2009 and 2010 were (amounts expressed in

thousands):

2010 2009
Unpaid claims, DEGINNING . ... ...t $ 160,148 $ 165,699
Claims INCUITEA . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 166,015 130,230
Claims paid . ... oo (142,394)  (135,781)
Unpaid claims, €NdiNG . . . . ...ttt e e e e e e $ 183,769  $ 160,148

The City estimates that $56,053,000 of the estimated claims liability is due within one year.

15. Operating Leases

The City has entered into a number of operating leases for rental of office facilities and equipment, some of which
provide for increased rentals based upon increases in real estate taxes and common area maintenance fees. As of June
30, 2010, future minimum lease payments are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

7 $ 6,986
20 5,525
2003 4,969
2004 3,976
200 S 2,265
2000-2020 . . 3,201
202020 786
2026-2030 . . 489

Total ..o $28,197

All leases contain cancellation provisions and are subject to annual appropriations by the City Council. During fiscal
year 2010, rent expenditures approximated $31,296,000 for all types of leases. These expenditures were made primarily
from the General Fund.

The BCPSS has entered into several leases for rental of office equipment. During the year ended June 30, 2010, rent and
lease expenditures approximated $2,200,000. These expenditures were made primarily from the General Fund. As of
June 30, 2010, future minimum lease payments approximate $1,600,000, which relates to July 1, 2010 through
March 31, 2011 when the leases expire.
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Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

State and Federal laws and regulations require that the City place a final cover on its landfill site and perform certain
maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site for a minimum of thirty years after closure. In addition to
operating expenses related to current activities of the landfill site, an expense provision and related liability are being
recognized based on the future closure and postclosure care costs that will be incurred near or after the date the landfill
no longer accepts waste. The recognition of these landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based on the amount of
the landfill used during the year. The estimated liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costs is $18,226,000 as
of June 30, 2010, which is based on 64.94% usage (filled) of the landfill. This is an increase in the liability of $654,000
since June 30, 2009. This increase is primarily caused by an increase in the estimated usage (filled) of the landfill of
63.23% for the fiscal year 2009 to 64.94% in fiscal year 2010. It is estimated that an additional $9,840,000 will be
recognized as closure and postclosure care expenses between the date of the balance sheet and the date the landfill is
expected to be filled to capacity (the year 2028). The estimated total current cost of the landfill closure and postclosure
care, $28,066,000, is based on the amount that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close,
monitor, and maintain the landfill was acquired as of June 30, 2010. However, the actual cost of closure and postclosure
care may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in the landfill laws and regulations. The City does
not expect to pay any closure and postclosure care costs during fiscal year 2011.

In addition, the City is required by State and Federal laws and regulations to make annual contributions to finance
closure and postclosure care. The City is in compliance with these requirements, and at June 30, 2010, investments of
$17,356,000 were held in the City’s General Fund. In addition, the General Fund’s fund balance was appropriately
reserved. It is anticipated that future inflation costs will be financed in part from earnings on investments held by the
City. The remaining portion of anticipated future inflation costs (including inadequate earnings on investments, if any)
and additional costs that might arise from changes in closure and postclosure requirements (due to changes in technology
or more rigorous environmental regulations, for example) may need to be covered by charges to future landfill users,
taxpayers, or both.

Notes and Mortgages Receivable
Notes and mortgages receivable as of June 30, 2010, consist of the following:

A. The General Fund has notes receivable of $6,070,000, net of a $1,000,000 allowance for losses. These notes bear
interest rates ranging from 1.0% to 12.0% and mature over 30 years.

B. The Debt Service Fund has mortgages receivable of $1,186,000 collateralized by real property. These mortgages bear
interest at rates ranging from 5.46% to 11.16% and mature over 30 years.

C. The Parking Facilities Fund has mortgages receivable of $48,045,000 collateralized by real property. These notes
bear interest at rates ranging from 6.1% to 6.9% and mature over 30 years.

D. Governmental activities have notes receivable of $309,456,000 due from the Baltimore Hotel Corporation. These
notes bear interest at rates ranging from 3.6% to 5.6% and mature over 30 years.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue in the General Fund is associated with property taxes, mortgages receivable and other miscellaneous
items.

Deferred revenue in the Grants Revenue Fund is associated with grant funds received as of June 30, 2010, for which
related expenditures have not been incurred or the expenditures have been incurred and the reimbursement funding is not
available as of June 30, 2010.

Commitments and Contingencies

The City is party to legal proceedings which normally occur in governmental operations. The City provides for the
estimated losses on certain outstanding claims as discussed in Note 14. The City has determined, in consultation with
outside counsel, that certain claims are in too early of a stage to make a reasonable assessment of the City’s liability. The
City vigorously contests such claims as a matter of policy and will fully assert all available remedies, including the
$200,000 ceiling per individual claim. It is the opinion of City management, in consultation with outside legal counsel, that
any additional liability for remaining litigation will not be material to the City’s financial position or results of operations.
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As of June 30, 2010, the City is contingently liable for loans guaranteed by the Loan and Guarantee Program in an
aggregate amount of approximately $1,500,000.

The City receives significant financial assistance from the U.S. Government and the State of Maryland in the form of
grants. Entitlement to grant resources is generally conditioned upon compliance with terms and conditions of the grant
agreements and applicable Federal and State regulations, including the expenditure of the resources for eligible purposes.
Substantially all grants are subject to financial and compliance audits in accordance with grantors’ requirements. Any
disallowances as a result of these audits become a liability of the City. As of June 30, 2010, the City estimates that no
material liabilities will result from such audits.

Under the terms of a Waste Disposal Agreement, the City has committed to deliver 900 tons of solid waste per day to the
Northeast Maryland Waste Disposal Authority. The City’s current tipping fee expense for delivering the solid waste is
$37.00 per ton. Such tipping fee is subject to adjustment for inflation and certain other factors as provided for in the
Waste Disposal Agreement.

The City has entered into a 20-year Sewerage Sludge Disposal Agreement with the Northeast Maryland Waste Disposal
Authority in connection with the financing of a sludge composting facility in Baltimore City. The agreement obligates
the City to deliver approximately 55,000 tons of sewerage sludge per year and to pay a tipping fee comparable to
alternative methods currently being used by the City. The debt service on variable rate bonds is a component of the
tipping fee. These fees are recorded in the Waste Water Utility Enterprise Fund. The City’s current tipping fee expense
for delivering sewerage sludge is $119.98 per wet ton.

The City has also entered into 20-year Service Agreements with Wheelabrator Water Technologies Baltimore L.L.C. in
connection with the financing of heat drying facilities for processing biosolids at the City’s Back River and Patapsco
Waste Water Treatment Plants. The agreements obligate the City to deliver approximately 20,000 dry tons of biosolids
per year at each facility and to pay a tipping fee. The debt service on the bonds is a component of the tipping fee. These
fees are recorded in the Waste Water Utility Enterprise Fund. The City’s current tipping fee expense for delivering
biosolids is $573.55 per dry ton.

The City has voluntarily entered into a Consent Decree to rehabilitate its aging sewer infrastructure and correct historical
overflow mechanisms. The Consent Decree is one of many the U.S. Department of Justice is and has currently
negotiated with major east coast cities with aged sewer and storm water infrastructures. The City is proactively
negotiating to ramp up its remedial efforts to address discharge and overflow concerns of the State and Federal
regulatory agencies. These efforts are ambitious and the cost of the construction and maintenance are estimated to be
greater than $1 billion dollars over the next decade and beyond. The City has committed to financing these remedial
efforts through a combination of water and waste water revenue bonds in conjunction with all available State and Federal
assistance.

In March of 2003, the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
(DHHS) issued an audit alleging that school systems in Maryland had over-billed Medicaid more than $23,000,000
based on the OIG’s interpretation of payment procedures for school-based health services. Approximately $13,000,000
of that figure is attributable to billings from the BCPSS. DHHS accepted the OIG’s findings and the State filed an appeal
to the Departmental Appeal Board in Washington, D.C. Briefs were filed by related parties and the DHHS Departmental
Appeal Board issued its ruling on June 11, 2007, in which the Board reduced the amount due from the State by
approximately $4.3 million, most of which related to claims submitted by City Schools. Based upon this decision by
DHHS, the State Superintendent of Schools and the Secretary of State Department of Health and Mental Hygiene
(DHMH) notified the Chief Executive Officer of City Schools of its intent to recoup approximately $8.1 million from
City Schools as its alleged share of the funds disallowed by DHHS (the “recoupment decision”). Starting on July 1,
2008, DHMH began to recoup $2.7 million. As of June 30, 2009, BCPSS has $5,385,000 due to DHMH that is reported
as an accounts payable. The State’s recoupment decision has been appealed to the Office of Administrative Hearings of
the State. On September 3, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued her Proposed Decision, agreeing with the City
Schools and ruling that the State acted “in an arbitrary and capricious manner” when it apportioned the recoupment
among the local school boards. The decision is subject to revision and approval by the agency. No final amount has been
determined and much of the recoupment has already been made.
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An audit performed by the Maryland State Department of Education (MSDE), dated July 9, 2004, covering fiscal years
2001-2004, resulted in MSDE requesting repayment of Title I and IDEA funds totaling $18.0 million. The BCPSS filed
a timely appeal. However, rather than proceeding with the appeal, the BCPSS and MSDE agreed to take part in the
federally created Cooperative Audit Resolution and Oversight Initiative (CAROI) process. Teams from MSDE and the
BCPSS have been meeting since November 1, 2004, in an attempt to resolve the audit findings and to determine the
underlying causes for the findings. An agreement was reached, which requires the BCPSS to use state and local funds
for specific purposes over 4 school years (beginning with 2005-2006 school year) in lieu of repayment. The unspent,
unencumbered balance of the settlement amount at June 30, 2010 was $1.3 million.

The City and the Board of Trustees of the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System has been sued in a class action
suit brought by the members of the Fire and Police Retirement System (System) alleging that the City has underfunded
the System and impaired the contracts embodied by the retirement plan. If the plaintiffs prevail, the City could be
compelled to contribute over $100 million additional to the Retirement System per year. The District court has ruled in
favor of the Plaintiffs. The matter is considered for appeal by the City.

20. Beginning Balance Restatement
Primary Government

During fiscal year 2010, the City implemented the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 51
“Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets”. Under the provisions of this statement, the City had previously
capitalized costs related to implementation of a new accounting and payroll system that should not have been capitalized.
Accordingly, the City decreased both capital assets and net assets in the Governmental Activities Entity-wide Statement of Net
Assets as of July 1, 2009, which amounted to $3,562,800,000 and $2,654,584,000, respectively, in the amount of $10,151,000.

Additionally, during fiscal year 2010, the City implemented the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 53 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments”. As of June 30, 2010, the City determined
that certain interest rate swaps of the proprietary funds did not meet the criteria for hedging effectiveness. Accordingly, the fair
value of the swaps as of June 30, 2009, which were previously not recorded, were recorded as decreases to beginning net
assets in both the Entity-wide Business-type Activities Statement of Net Assets and the Major Proprietary Funds’ Statement of
Fund Net Assets for the Water Utility Fund and Waste Water Utility Fund in the amounts of $11,627,000 and $201,000,
respectively. During fiscal year 2010, the fair values of these derivatives, which were recorded as investment income,
increased by $154,000 and $56,000, for the Water Utility Fund and Waste Water Utility Fund, respectively.

21. Prior Period Adjustments

Subsequent to the issuance of its June 30, 2010 financial statements, the City discovered a number of errors which
impacted previously issued financial statements. These errors principally related to the following:

* Misclassification of completed capital assets as construction in-progress, with a corresponding understatement of
depreciation expense and other adjustments related to capital assets;

* Overstated refund accruals as reported in the accounts payable and accrued expenses line item in the Statement of Net
Assets;

¢ Error in the unearned (deferred) revenue of the Grant Fund;

 Error in reporting amounts netted against revenue bonds payable of the IDA Fund;

* Error in the derivatives accounting of the Parking Fund;

* Billing errors in the Water Utility Fund and Waste Water Utility Funds; and

e Various other errors impacting journal entries posted during the financial statement close process.

The accompanying 2010 financial statements have been restated to correct the errors above. The balance of unrestricted

net assets at June 30, 2009 has been restated to give effect to the cumulative effects of these errors of $240,929,000 at
June 30, 2009.
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Below is a summary of the impact of these errors on affected captions in the 2010 financial statements.

Governmental Activities (Expressed in Thousands)

As Previously  Restatement

Reported Adjustments ~ As Restated
Cash and cash equivalents .. ... ... ... .. i $ 275,722 $ (3,621) $ 272,101
INVESUMENLS . . oottt e 119,701 3,621 123,322
Property taxes receivable . .. ... ..ot 30,459 30,459
Other reCeivables . . ... ..o e e 33,181 7,347 40,528
Due from other gOVEINMENLtS . . ... ... ... e 272,899 (71,719) 201,180
Internal BalancCes . ... .. ... .. e 1,315 1,315
INVENLOTIES . . o oottt e e e e e e e e e 6,315 6,315
Notes, MOortgages reCeivable . ... ... ...ttt e e 310,974 (1,518) 309,456
OtNET ASSELS . . ot ettt et ettt e e e e e 24,406 3,339 27,745
Capital Assets, net of depreciation . ... ...« .t e 1,875,221 714,335 2,589,556
Capital Assets, DOt depreciated ... ... ... .ottt 1,765,884 (919,049) 846,835
Deferred outflow . ... ... e 21,396 21,396
TOtal ASSELS . . . ..ottt e 4,737,473 (267,265) 4,470,208
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Including retainages payable) .......... ... ... ... ... ..... 193,716 3,150 196,866
Accrued interest payable . .. .. ... 14,624 14,624
Estimated claims in progress — CUITENT . . ... ...ttt ettt e e 56,053 56,053
Estimated claims in progress — Long Term .. ... ... . 127,716 127,716
Unamortized premium on bonds ... ... ... . 13,894 13,894
Matured bonds payable . . ... ... 2 2
Unearned (Deferred) reVENUE . . . . .. oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e 129,537 (58,642) 70,895
Deposits subject to refund . . ... ... 14,900 1,383 16,283
Revenue Bonds Payable — CUITENE . . . ... .ottt e e e e e e e e e 9,145 9,145
Revenue Bonds Payable — Long Term . . ... ..ottt et e e e 422,011 422,011
Long term debt — CUITEN . . ... ..ottt e e e e e e e 61,537 61,537
Long term Debt — Long Term net of unamortized loss on early extinguishment .......... ... ... ..... 724,597 724,597
Derivative Instrument Liability .. ... ... ... 21,396 21,396
Current Portion Capital Leases . . . ... ...ttt ettt e e e e e e 19,177 19,177
Capital leases payable ... ... ... e 149,923 149,923
Compensated absences — CUITENL . ... ...ttt ittt ettt e e et e e e e e e e 43,901 43,901
Compensated absences — Long Term . . ... ... . 76,897 76,897
Landfill closure Hability . . .. .. ..ottt e e e e 18,226 18,226
OPEB Liability . . . ..ot 86,700 86,700
Other Habilities . . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e 4,090 4,090
Total Liabilities . ... ... ... ... 2,188,042 (54,109) 2,133,933
Invested in capital assets net of debt ... ... ... . 2,886,381 (204,713) 2,681,668
Restricted — Perpetual Care Expendable ... ... ... .. . 8,211 8,211
Restricted — Perpetual Care Non-Expendable ... ... ... ... .. i 6,576 6,576

Unrestricted (Net Assets) Net Deficits . . ...t e e et e et et (351,737) (8,443) (360,180)
Total Net ASSetS . . ...ttt e 2,549,431 (213,156) 2,336,275
Total Liabilities + Net ASSetS . . . . ... ...ttt et 4,737,473 (267,265) 4,470,208

Net Assets Beginning . ... ... ... 2,644,433 (155,078) 2,489,355

Change in Net ASSets . . ... ...t e (95,003) (58,077) (153,080)

Net Assets ENd . ... ... 2,549,430 (213,156) 2,336,275
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Business-Type Activities (Expressed in Thousands)
As Previously  Restatement
Reported Adjustments ~ As Restated

Cash and cash eqUIvalents . .. ... ... ... 185,745 (7,566) 178,179
Other reCeIVADIES . . . .. oottt e e e e 67,812 460 68,272
Due from other GOVEIMMENES . . .. ...ttt ettt et et e e e e e e 34,318 362 34,680
Internal BalancCes .. ... ... ... (1,315) (1,315)
INVENLOTIES . .\ oottt e e e 4,714 4,714
Restricted Cash ... ... . e 192,976 7,567 200,543
Restricted Accounts Receivable . . ... ... 13,525 (660) 12,865
Notes, mortgages receivable . ... ... ... 48,045 48,045
O RET ASSEES .« . ottt ettt e e 32 62,586 62,618
ISSUANCE COSS . . vttt ettt e e e 5,233 5,233
Capital Assets, net of depreciation ... ........ ...t 1,185,688 349,221 1,534,909
Capital Assets, not depreciated .. ... ... ..ot 1,434,747 (443,992) 990,755
Deferred outflow . .. ... e 91,879 (22,244) 69,635

TOtal ASSELS . . . ..ottt 3,263,399 (54,266) 3,209,133
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Including retainages payable) .............................. 14,384 5,314 19,698
Accrued interest payable . .. .. ... 20,619 20,619
Unamortized premium on bonds ... ... ... 4,263 4,263
Due to other GOVEIMMENTS . ... ... ...ttt et e e e e e e e e 3,124 2,279 5,403
Deposits subject to refund . . . ... ... 15 15
Restricted accounts payable . . ... ... 14,250 14,250
Revenue Bonds Payable — Current, net of deferred loss on bond refunding and unamortized charges ...... 35,391 (1,232) 34,159
Revenue Bonds Payable — Long Term, net of deferred loss on bond refunding and unamortized charges ... 1,258,192 43,491 1,301,683
Long term debt — CUITENL . . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e 658 658
Long term Debt — Long Term, . ... ...t e e e 63 63
Derivative Instrument Liability . ... ... ... . 105,027 549 105,576
Compensated absences — CUITENL . ... ..ottt ittt ettt e e e et e e e e e e 5,024 5,024
Compensated absences — Long Term ... ... ... e 7,832 7,832
Other Habilities . . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e 1,428 3,410 4,838

Total Liabilities . ... ... ... .. .. .. 1,470,270 53,811 1,524,081
Invested in capital assets net of debt .. ... ... ... 1,398,453 (20,812) 1,377,641
Restricted — CONSIIUCHION . . . . . oottt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 73,958 (73,958)
Restricted — Debt SEIVICE . . . . oot v i e 124,756 124,756
Unrestricted (Net Assets) Net DefiCits . . ... ..ottt e e et 195,962 (13,307) 182,655

Total Net ASSetS . . ...ttt ettt e e e e e e 1,793,129 (108,077) 1,685,052

Total Liabilities + Net ASSetS . . . . ... ... ittt et e 3,263,399 (54,266) 3,209,133

Net Assets Beginning . . ........ ... 1,700,977 (85,851) 1,615,126

Change in Net ASSetS . . ... ...t et e 92,152 (22,226) 69,926

Net Assets End . ... ... 1,793,129 (108,077) 1,685,052
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As Previously  Total Restatement Total
Reported Adjustments As Restated
Cash and cash equivalents . . ... ... ... 461,467 (11,187) 450,280
INVESIMENLS . . . ..ottt e e e 119,701 3,621 123,322
Property taxes receivable .. ... ... ... 30,459 30,459
Other reCeIVADIES . . . . .ot e e 100,993 7,087 108,800
Due from other GOVEINMENtS . . ... ...ttt et e e e e e 307,217 (71,357) 235,860
TIVENTOTIES . . o ottt e ettt e e e e e e e e e 11,029 11,029
Restricted Cash ... ..o 192,976 7,567 200,543
Restricted Accounts Receivable . . ... ... ... e 13,525 (660) 12,865
Notes, mortgages reCeivable . .. ... ... o 359,019 (1,518) 357,501
OtNET ASSEES . o ittt ettt e e e 24,438 65,925 90,363
ISSUANCE COSES . . .\ttt et e e 5,233 5,233
Capital Assets, net of depreciation .. ... ..... ... ...ttt 3,060,909 1,063,556 4,124,465
Capital Assets, not depreciated . ... .. .. ...t 3,200,631 (1,363,041) 1,837,590
Deferred outflow . . . ... o 113,275 (22,244) 91,031
Total ASSELS . . ..o\ttt 8,000,872 (321,531) 7,679,341
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Including retainages payable) .. .................. 208,100 8,464 216,564
Accrued interest payable . . ... ... 35,243 35,243
Estimated claims in progress — CUITENt .. ... ...ttt ittt ettt 56,053 56,053
Estimated claims in progress — Long Term ... ... . 127,716 127,716
Unamortized premium on bonds . . ... ... 18,157 18,157
Matured bonds payable . . .. ... ... 2 2
Unearned (Deferred) reVENUE . . ... ...ttt e e e e e ettt 129,537 (58,642) 70,895
Due to other SOVEIMMENLS . . .. ...ttt ettt et e e e e e et e 3,124 2,279 5,403
Deposits subject to refund . . .. ... .. 14,915 1,383 16,298
Restricted accounts payable . ... ... ... .. 14,250 14,250
Revenue Bonds Payable — Current, net of deferred loss on bond refunding and unamortized
RIS o o o 44,536 (1,232) 43,304
Revenue Bonds Payable — Long Term, net of deferred loss on bond refunding and unamortized
CRaT S o .ttt 1,680,203 43,491 1,723,694
Long term debt — CUITENt . ... ... .. e e e 62,195 62,195
Long term Debt — Long Term . ... .. ... 724,660 724,660
Derivative Instrument Liability . ... .. ... 126,423 549 126,972
Current Portion Capital Leases . . .. ...ttt ettt e e e e e e 19,177 19,177
Capital leases payable . ... ... ... 149,923 149,923
Compensated absences — CUITENE . ... ..ottt ettt e e e e et e e e e 48,925 48,925
Compensated absences — Long Term .. ... 84,729 84,729
Landfill closure lability . .. ... ... ... o e 18,226 18,226
OPEB Liability ... ... 86,700 86,700
Other Habilities . .. ..ottt e e e e e e 5,518 3,410 8,928
Total Liabilities . ... ....... ... .. 3,658,312 (298) 3,658,014
Invested in capital assets net of debt . . ... ... .. 4,284,834 (225,525) 4,059,309
Restricted — CONSIUCHION . . .. ..ottt et e e e e e e e e 73,958 (73,958)
Restricted — Debt SEIVICE . . .. ..ottt 124,756 124,756
Restricted — Perpetual Care Expendable . ....... ... . . . 8,211 8,211
Restricted — Perpetual Care Non-Expendable . .. ... . ... .. i 6,576 6,576
Unrestricted (Net Assets) Net DefiCits ... .. ..ot et (155,775) (21,750) (177,525)
Total Net ASSetS . . . ..ottt et et et e 4,342,560 (321,233) 4,021,327
Total Liabilities + Net ASSets ... .. ... ... e 8,000,872 (321,531) 7,679,341
Net Assets Beginning . . . .. ... ... 4,345,410 (240,929) 4,104,481
Change in Net ASSetS . . .. ...ttt e e e (2,851) (80,303) (83,154)
Net Assets ENd . .. ... ... 4,342,559 (321,233) 4,021,327

22. Subsequent Events

On November 30, 2010, the City issued the Baltimore City Parking System Facilities Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series
2010, in the amount of $29,505,000 to be used to finance the construction and acquisition of two parking garages. The
interest rate on these bonds range from 1.988% to 7.000% with a term of 25 years.

In the fall of 2010, BCPSS plans to issue up to $60,800,000 in revenue bonds that were authorized by the American

Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009.
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On August 31, 2011, the City entered into two Waste Water loan agreements with the Maryland Water Quality
Financing Administration Water Quality Revolving Loan Fund for amounts of $3,706,500 and $1,235,500. The rate of
interest on the first loan is set at 1% per annum while the second loan shall be forgiven and is not expected to be repaid.

Several members of the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System (System) as well as the City’s fire and police
unions have brought suit against the City and the System’s Board of Trustees. The suit alleges, among other things, that
the City violated various provisions of state and federal law in enacting and implementing comprehensive statutory
changes to the System in 2010. The United States Court for the District of Maryland has certified a class of retired and
retirement-eligible members and has found that one of the statutory changes violated the federal Constitution. The City
intends to appeal that ruling when it becomes final, which has not yet occurred. The City’s counsel believe there are
substantial grounds supporting its appeal.

Based on the actuarial estimates that the City has received to date, it believes that, with curative legislation to address
the court’s ruling, the retroactive impact will be in the vicinity of $10-$15 million even if the ruling is upheld on appeal.
Should the City’s appeal be unsuccessful, without curative legislation the City’s contributions to the pension fund are
estimated to increase by approximately $80 million for FY2012 and more in future years. The Administration plans to
introduce and press for any necessary and appropriate curative bill to eliminate or greatly moderate this potential cost
increase.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances,

and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and Actual — Budgetary Basis(1), (2)

General Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes — 10Cal . . ..ot $1,121,039  $1,121,039  $1,137,523 $ 16,484
Licenses and PErmits . . ... ...ttt ettt e e e 29,949 29,949 34,438 4,489
Fines and forfeitures . ...... ... o o 6,896 6,896 7,116 220
Interest, rentals, and other InVeStMENt INCOME . . . ... .ottt ettt e ettt e 22,268 22,268 24,148 1,880
Federal grants ........ ... ... . 179 179 213 34
SEALE GIANLS . . ..t 98,707 98,707 95,588 (3,119)
Other Grants . . ... ...t e 126 126 46 (80)
Charges fOr CUITENE SEIVICES . . ..t vttt ettt ettt e e et e e et e e e e e e e e 42,247 42,247 29,251 (12,996)
MISCEIIANEOUS . . ..ottt 1,883 1,883 4,528 2,645
TOtAl TEVEIUES . . . o o\ ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,323,294 1,323,294 1,332,851 9,557
Expenditures and encumbrances:
Civil Service COMMUSSION . . . ..ottt ettt et e e e e e e e e e 4,403 4,403 4,403
Community Relations CommissSion . ........ ... .. i 921 921 894 27
COomPLIOLIET . . o oottt 4,602 4,602 3,735 867
City Council .. ..ot 4,957 4,957 4,696 261
Office of Financial ReVIEW . . ... ... o i 516 516 515 1
COUITS ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 9,013 9,013 8,415 598
Supervisors of EIECHONS . . . ...ttt e 4219 4219 1,652 2,567
Department of FINANCe .. ... ... oo i 14,071 14,071 11,583 2,488
Department of Fire ... ..o o 139,158 139,158 137,572 1,586
Department of Health . ... ... 25,335 25,335 24,605 730
Department of Housing and Community Development . ............... ... ... ... 36,110 36,110 29,448 6,662
Department of Law . ... ... 3,785 3,785 3,728 57
Department of Legislative Reference .. ........ .. ... i 788 788 813 (25)
Enoch Pratt Library . . ... ..o o 23,901 23,901 22,160 1,741
Board of Liquor License COMMISSIONETS . . . ..o vttt ettt ettt et et e e e 2,305 2,305 2,009 296
Mayoralty . ... 327,252 387,252 347,837 39,415
Department of Planning .. ... o 1,749 1,749 1,472 277
Department of POLICE .. ... o i 312,619 312,619 303,826 8,793
Department of Public WOTKS .. ... .. 86,788 86,788 76,482 10,306
Department of Recreation and Parks . ... ... .. 25,868 25,868 23,825 2,043
Office of Sheriff . ... o 16,558 16,558 13,564 2,994
Office of State’s AtOIMNEY . . . . oottt ettt e ettt e e e e e et e e e e 26,859 26,859 26,160 699
Wage COMMISSION . ..ottt ettt et e e 428 428 292 136
Department of Municipal and Zoning Appeals . ......... ... i 444 444 287 157
Baltimore City Public SChool System . ... ... ... o e 206,364 206,364 206,364
Total expenditures and encUMDbIANCES . .. ... ..ottt 1,279,013 1,339,013 1,256,337 82,676
Excess of revenues over expenditures and encumbrances . .................iiiii. 44,281 (15,719) 76,514 (92,233)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers iN ... ..o 40,513 40,513 37,312 (3,201)
TranSers OUL . . ..o oottt ettt ettt et et e et et e e e (145,653) (145,653) (144,135) 1,518
Total other financing SOUICES (USES) . . ... oo vttt ittt ettt ettt (105,140) (105,140) (106,823) (1,683)
Net change in fund balances . ... ........ ... (60,859) (120,859) (30,309) (90,550)
Fund balances — beginning . ....... ... i 166,463 166,463 166,463
Fund balances — ending . . . .. ...ttt e s $ 105,604 $ 45,604 $ 136,154 $(90,550)

Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP basis:

Addition of encumbrances outstanding . ....... ... 54,255
Less: accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes . ............ ...t (12,837)
Fund balance — June 30, 2010 (GAAP DaSIS) . . ..ottt e e e $ 177,572

1)

)

Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community Development Block Grant Funds and the
Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and

encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs,
projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2) the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated
charges to appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City Charter prohibits expending funds

for which there is no legal appropriation.

This schedule does not include a non-budgetary revenue and expense item in the amount of $1,734,000 which was paid by the Maryland State Retirement System on behalf of

the City of Baltimore for certain employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances,

and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and Actual — Budgetary Basis(1)

Motor Vehicle Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance with

Final Budget
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
State shared TEVENUE . ... ..ottt $165,381  $165,381  $134,756 $(30,625)
Licenses and PErmIits . ... ... ...ttt ettt et e e e 737 737 630 (107)
Fines and forfeitures . ... ... ... 15,435 15,435 12,203 (3,232)
Interest, rentals, and other INVEStMENt INCOME . . . . . ..o\ttt ettt e e e e e 975 975 156 (819)
Charges fOr CUITENE SEIVICES . . . .. v v vttt ettt ettt ettt 8,336 8,336 8,845 509
TOal TEVEIUES . . .\ vttt et et et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 190,864 190,864 156,590 (34,274)
Expenditures and encumbrances:
Department of Recreation and Parks . ... ... ... ... .. 4,104 4,104 3,040 1,064
Department of TranSportation . ... ... .. ...ttt 100,784 124,984 124,105 879
Department of Planning . ........... ... . . . 794 794 586 208
Department of POLice . ... ... . 12,882 12,882 12,795 87
Department of Public WOTKS . . . ... o 35,133 35,133 31,893 3,240
MAYOTAILY . .o oot 19,344 19,344 19,253 91
Baltimore City Public School System . ... ... ... 3,654 3,654 3,654
Total expenditures and enCUMDIANCES . .. ... ...ttt e 176,695 200,895 195,326 5,569
Excess of revenues over expenditures and encumbrances . ............. .. i 14,169 (10,031) (38,736) (28,705)
Other financing sources (uses):
TranS ers AN . .o 55,267 55,267
Transfers OUL . .. ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e (14,169) (14,169) (14,169)
Total other financing SOUTCES (USES) . . . . ... u vttt e (14,169) (14,169) 41,098 55,267
Net change in fund balances ... ... ... .. ... o it (24,200) 2,362 26,562
Fund balances — DeGINMING . . . ... ..ottt 6,859 6,859 6,859
Fund balances — ending ... ... ...ttt $ 6,859 $(17,341) 9,221 $ 26,562
Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP Basis:
Addition of encumbrances outstanding . ... ... .. ... 11,649
Less: accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes ................ ... .. .. o i (4,168)
Fund balance — June 30, 2010 (GAAP DaSIS) . ..o\ttt e e e e et $ 16,702

(¢))

Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community Development Block Grant Funds and the
Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and

encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs,
projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2) the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated
charges to appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City Charter prohibits expending funds

for which there is no legal appropriation.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Funding Progress(1)
Pension Trust Funds

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Actuarial Unfunded UAAL (Excess
Actuarial Accrued (Excess of) Funded of) as a Percentage

Actuarial Valuation Value of Liability AAL (UAAL) Ratio Covered of Covered
Dates Plan Assets (a) (AAL) (b) (b-a) (a/b) Payroll (c) Payroll ((b-a)/c)
Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System

June 30,2010 ... $2,524,754 $3,033,724 $508,970 83.2% $276,577 184.0%

June 30,2009 ... 2,587,235 3,050,887 463,652 84.8 281,424 164.8

June 30,2008 .. ... 2,676,355 2,994,394 318,039 89.4 269,690 117.9
Employees’ Retirement System

June 30,2010 ... $1,390,055 $1,819,340 $429,285 76.4% $393,178 109.2%

June 30,2009 ... 1,424,203 1,724,931 300,728 82.6 398,009 75.6

June 30,2008 ... 1,475,533 1,664,078 188,545 88.7 367,517 51.3
Elected Officials’ Retirement System

June 30,2010 ... $ 15,616 $ 18,636 $ 3,020 83.7% $ 1,206 250.4%

June 30,2009 ... 14,161 16,957 2,796 83.5 1,182 236.6

June 30,2008 .. ... 18,273 16,953 (1,320) 107.8 1,142 (115.6)

1)

Analysis of dollar amounts of actuarial value of assets, actuarial accrued liability, and unfunded actuarial accrued liability in isolation can be misleading. Expressing the
actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the actuarial accrued liability provides one indication of funding status on a going concern basis. Analysis of the plans over time
indicates whether the plans are becoming financially stronger or weaker. Generally, the greater this percentage, the stronger the plan. Trends in unfunded actuarial accrued
liability and annual covered payroll are both affected by inflation. Expressing the unfunded actuarial accrued liability as a percentage of annual covered payroll approximately
adjusts for the effects of inflation and aids analysis of the plans’ progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. Generally, the smaller the
percentage, the stronger the plan.

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Funding Progress(1)
OPEB Trust Fund

(Dollars Expressed in Millions)

Unfunded
Actuarial
Actuarial Accrued
Actuarial Accrued Liability Funded UAAL as a
Value of Liability (UAAL) Ratio Covered Percentage of Covered
Fiscal Year Ended Plan Assets (a) (AAL) (b) (b-a) (a/b) Payroll (c) Payroll ((b-a)/c)
June 30,2010 ....... ... $149.1 $2,564.3 $2,415.2 5.8% $1,337.8 180.5%
June 30,2009 .. ... 110.5 2,497.6 2,387.1 4.4 1,346.4 177.3
June 30,2008 ... ... 76.0 2,149.8 2,073.8 35 1,307.6 158.6

(1) Analysis of dollar amounts of actuarial value of assets, actuarial accrued liability, and unfunded actuarial accrued liability in isolation can be misleading. Expressing the

actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the actuarial accrued liability provides one indication of funding status on a going concern basis. Analysis of the plans over time
indicates whether the plans are becoming financially stronger or weaker. Generally, the greater this percentage, the stronger the plan. Trends in unfunded actuarial accrued
liability and annual covered payroll are both affected by inflation. Expressing the unfunded actuarial accrued liability as a percentage of annual covered payroll approximately
adjusts for the effects of inflation and aids analysis of the plans’ progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. Generally, the smaller the
percentage, the stronger the plan.

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Employer Contributions
OPEB Trust Fund

(Dollars Expressed in Millions)

Employer
Annual OPEB Cost Contributions Percentage Contributed
Fiscal Year Ended (@) (b) (© = (b)(a)
June 30, 2010 . ..ot $203.7 $142.2 69.8%
June 30,2009 . ... 179.3 142.2 79.3
June 30, 2008 .. ... 164.6 176.5 107.2
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information

1. Budgetary Data

Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community
Development Block Grant Funds and the Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and encumbrances which are
recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated
revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2)
the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated charges to
appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled.
The City Charter prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.

The following procedures establish the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

Original Budget
(1) City agencies submit their anticipated annual budget needs to the Department of Finance during December.

(2) From December through March, the Mayor and the Department of Finance analyze, review, and refine the budget
submittals.

(3) In April, the Director of Finance sends its recommended budget plan to the Board of Estimates. The Board then holds
hearings and the recommended budget is amended as necessary. Citizens have the opportunity to offer input before
the Board votes on the budget.

(4) In May, a majority vote of the Board of Estimates approves the total budget and sends it to the City Council. The
Board of Estimates must submit the proposed budget for the next fiscal year to the City Council at least 45 days
before the beginning of said fiscal year. The Board of Estimates prepares a proposed Ordinance of Estimates to be
submitted to the City Council. The Ordinance of Estimates is the legal authority for the enactment of the budget.

(5) The City Council then holds hearings on the proposed Ordinance of Estimates, with additional citizen input before it
votes in June. The City Council shall adopt the budget at least five days before the beginning of the fiscal year. The
City Council then sends the approved Ordinance of Estimates to the Mayor.

(6) The Mayor then either approves the total Ordinance of Estimates, or disapproves some items and approves the rest of
the Ordinance of Estimates.

Final Budget
The final budgetary data presented in the basic financial statements reflects the following changes to the original budget:

(1) Appropriations for a particular program, purpose, activity, or project may, upon the recommendation of the head of
the municipal agency concerned and the Director of Finance, and with the approval of the Board of Estimates, be
carried over to the subsequent fiscal year to carry out the initial appropriation objectives. All appropriations not
carried over lapse at the end of the fiscal year in which they were made. In addition, funds encumbered for contracts,
purchase orders, approved requisitions or other actual commitments, as well as funds dedicated to grant programs and
capital improvements are carried out over the ensuing fiscal year until utilized or cancelled.

(2) The adopted budget is prepared and appropriated on an agency, program, activity, and object of expenditure basis by
fund. Purchase orders which result in an operating or capital overrun are not released until additional appropriations
are made available. Expenditures for each adopted operating budget may not legally exceed appropriations at the
agency level. Administratively, the Department of Finance has the authority to move appropriations between activities
of the same program within the same agency. The Board of Estimates has the authority to transfer appropriations
between programs within the same agency. Only the City Council can transfer appropriations between agencies.

(3) The City Charter permits further appropriations for programs included in the original Ordinance of Estimates made
necessary by material changes in circumstances and additional appropriations for new programs or grant awards
which could not reasonably be anticipated when formulating the original Ordinance of Estimates. These changes
require supplemental appropriation ordinances. During fiscal year 2010, supplemental appropriation ordinances were
required for the General Fund in the amount of $60,000,000. During fiscal year 2010, supplemental appropriation
ordinances were required for the Motor Vehicle Fund in the amount of $24,200,000.

Budgetary data, as revised, is presented as required supplementary information for the General Fund and the Motor

Vehicle Fund.

79



Combining and
Individual Fund
Statements and

Schedules



(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)



Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted to expenditures for particular
purposes.

Community Development Block Grant and Special Racetrack Funds — These funds account for revenues derived from
certain State shared taxes, governmental grants and other revenue sources that are restricted by law or administrative
action to expenditures for specific purposes.

Scholarship Fund — This fund accounts for the contributions received and related interest income. The fund can be
used to provide scholarships to City residents.
Permanent Funds

Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, not principal,
may be used for the purposes that fund and support the reporting government’s programs.

Enoch Pratt Free Library Fund — This fund accounts for principal trust amounts received and the related interest
income. The interest portion of the trust can be used for the operations of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.

Memorial Fund — This fund accounts for the principal trust amounts received and the related interest income. The
interest portion of the trust can be used by the City for memorials.

Debt Service Fund

Debt Service Fund — This fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment of interest and
principal on the general long-term debt of the City, other than debt service payments made by the Enterprise Funds.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances

and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and Actual — Budgetary Basis(1)

Special Racetrack Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance with

Final Budget
Original Final Positive
Budget  Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
State Shared TEVEMUES . . ... ..ottt ettt ettt e ettt e e e e e e $ 275 $ 275 $ 470 $195
Expenditures and encumbrances:
Department of POIICE . ... ... oo 15 15 15
Department of TranSportation . ... ... ... ...ttt ettt e et e 27 27 27
Department of Recreation and Parks . .......... . 21 21 21
Department of Housing and Community Development . .. ... ... . i 55 55 61 (6)
Total expenditures and eNCUMDIANCES . . ... ...ttt ettt e e e e 118 118 88 30
Excess of revenues over expenditures and encumbrances .. ...ttt 157 157 382 225
Other financing (uses):
Transfers OUL . . . . ..ot e e e e e e e (444) (444) (444)
Total other fiNanCINg (USES) . . .. ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e (444) (444) (444)
Net change in fund balances . . . ... ... i e (287) (287) (62) 225
Fund balances — DeGINNING . . ... ...ttt 734 734 734
Fund balances — June 30, 2010 (GAAP DASIS) . . . o oottt e et et e e e e e e e e e e $ 447 $ 447 $ 672 $225

(1) Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community Development Block Grant Funds and the
Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and

encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs,
projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2) the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated
charges to appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City Charter prohibits expending funds

for which there is no legal appropriation.
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Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
Enterprise Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for the operating of various City activities that are provided to the public on a cost
reimbursement basis.

Loan and Guarantee Program — This fund accounts for the City’s economic development financial activities.

Industrial Development Authority — This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s Industrial Development
Authority.

Conduit Fund — This fund accounts for the rental and maintenance of the City’s Conduits.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fund Net Assets
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Loan and Industrial
Guarantee  Development  Conduit
Program Authority Fund Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash eqUivalents . .......... .. . $3,702 $ 39,705 $ 2725 $ 46,132
Accounts receivable, net:
Service DIIIINGS. .. ... 2,146 2,146
OURET .« . .t 1 35 36
TOtal CUITENE ASSELS . . .« o ottt e e e et e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e 3,703 39,740 4,871 48,314
Noncurrent assets:
RESIIICIEA ASSELS: .« v v it ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS .. ... .. o 3,803 3,803
Capital @SSELS, ML . . . . oottt ettt e et e e e e e e e e 45,480 45,480
ISSUANCE COSLS . . o oottt e e 207 207
OFRET ASSELS . . oottt et e e e e e 32 62,586 62,618
Deferred outflow SW A PS ... o 9,487 9,487
TOtal NONCUITENE ASSELS .« « .« v v ettt e e ettt e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 32 72,280 49,283 121,595
TOAL ASSELS .+« o v et ettt ettt ettt e e e e 3,735 112,020 54,154 169,909
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ............ . . 19 160 179
Accrued interest PAYabIe. . .. ... ...t 29 29
Due to other fUnds . ... ... e 1,519 1,519
Other Habilities . . . .. oo 151 151
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable from restricted @SSELS . .. ... ... ...t 246 246
Total current liabilities ... ... 19 1,548 557 2,124
Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable, Net . .. ... ... 86,100 86,100
Other HabilIties . . . . oo oot e e 1,528 397 1,925
Derivative instrument liability ... ... ... . 11,018 11,018
Total noncurrent Habilities . ... ... ... o 1,528 97,118 397 99,043
Total liabilities . ... ... .o 1,547 98,666 954 101,167
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt . . ... ... ... 45,480 45,480
UNEESIIACIEA . . . vttt ettt e e 2,188 13,354 7,720 23,262
TOtAl NEL ASSELS . . . vt ettt et et e e e e e e $2,188 $ 13,354 $53,200 $ 68,742
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Fund Net Assets
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Loan and Industrial
Guarantee  Development ~ Conduit
Program Authority Fund Total
Operating revenues:
Rents, fees, and Other INCOME . . . . . ...\ v e $ 479 $ 376 $ 9,044 $ 9,899
Interest iNCOME ON TOANS . . .. ...ttt e 76 14 90
Total OPErating FEVENMUES . . .. ..ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 555 390 9,044 9,989
Operating expenses:
Salaries and Wages . ... ...t 125 2,347 2,472
Other Personnel COSES . . . . oottt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 44 1,006 1,050
CONLACTUAL SEIVICES . . . .\ttt ettt ettt et e e 1,691 1,691
Program @XPENSES . . . ... vttt ettt e e e e e e 3,089 398 3,487
Materials and SUPPIIES . ... ... u ittt 157 157
MINOT EQUIPIMIENT . . ¢ o\ttt et et e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e 25 25
DEPIECIALION . . .\ ettt e e e e 744 744
S ] Y 1,934 1,934
Total OPErating EXPENSES . . . ... vttt ettt e e et e e e e e e e e 3,258 2,332 5,970 11,560
Operating inCOme (I0SS) . .. . oottt e e (2,703) (1,942) 3,074 (1,571)
Capital CONLIDULIONS . . ...ttt e 145 751 896
TranS erS I0 . . L 1,365 1,365
Changes N NEL ASSELS . . . .ottt it ettt ettt e et e e et e e e e (1,193) (1,942) 3,825 690
Total net assets — beINNING . ... ... 3,381 15,296 49,375 68,052
Total net aSSets — eNAING . . . . oo oottt ettt e et e $ 2,188 $13,354 $53,200  $68,742
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Loan and Industrial
Guarantee  Development ~ Conduit
Program Authority Fund Total
Cash flows from operating activities:
RECEIPLS fTOM CUSTOMIETS -« .+ o v e ettt et e et e et et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 554 $ 389 $ 8,715 $ 9,658
Payments 0 @MPIOYEES . .. ..ttt ettt e e e (169) (3,353) (3,522)
Payments to SUPPLIETS . . . . oottt e e e (3,076) (2,387) (1,916) (7,379)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities . ... ....... ... iiuuiiii e (2,691) (1,998) 3,446 (1,243)
Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Translers In . . ..o 1,365 1,365
Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities ............ ... ... i 1,365 1,365
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital @SSetS . ... . ... ...t (3,659) (3,659)
Capital contribUtionS . . .. ... 145 751 896
Principal paid on revenue bonds . . . . ... .o (4,825) (4,825)
INtErest INCOME . . .. ..ot ettt e e e e e e e e e 1,565 1,565
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities ............ ... ... .. .. ... . .. 145 (3,260) (2,908) (6,023)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . ............ .. . i (1,181) (5,258) 538 (5,901)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . ... ... ... ... 4,883 44,963 5,990 55,836
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ... ... ... ... ... $ 3,702 $39,705 $6,528  $49,935
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Operating iNCOME (I0SS) . . . . .t ettt e ettt ettt et et e e e e e $(2,703) $(1,942) $3,074  $(1,571)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation EXPEINSE . . ...ttt ettt et e e e e e e e 744 744
Accounts TeCeiVable . .. ... . [€)] (1) (329) (331)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .. ........ ... ... (15) (458) (473)
Accrued interest payable . ... ... 5) (@)
Accounts payable from restricted assets . ... ... ... (133) (133)
Other Habilities . . . ..o oo e e e e e e e 28 548 576
Due to other fUNAS . .. ..ot e e e s (50) (50)
Total adjUSEMENLS . . .. oottt ettt et et e e e e e e e e e 12 (56) 372 328
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities . . ... ... ...ttt ittt $(2,691) $(1,998) $ 3,446  $(1,243)
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Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency
to other departments or agencies of the government, and to other governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis.

Municipal Communication Fund — This fund accounts for the repair and maintenance of the City’s radios.

Mobile Equipment Fund — This fund accounts for the service, repair, operation, and replacement of the City’s
equipment fleet.

Reproduction and Printing Fund — This fund accounts for the operation of the City’s printing shop.
Municipal Post Office Fund — This fund accounts for the operations of the City’s internal post office facility.

Municipal Telephone Exchange Fund — This fund accounts for the administration and operations of the City’s
telephone exchange.

Risk Management Fund — This fund accounts for the administration and payment of claims resulting from the City’s
self-insurance programs, including the Baltimore City Public School System, for general claims, workers’ compensation
claims, real property liability, motor vehicle liability, fleet driver liability and property damage claims, as well as
medical and unemployment insurance for City employees.

Energy Conservation Fund — This fund accounts for the operation of the City’s energy conservation office.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fund Net Assets
Internal Service Funds

June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal
Energy Municipal Mobile Reproduction ~ Municipal ~ Telephone Risk
Conservation ~ Communication  Equipment  and Printing  Post Office ~ Exchange = Management Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ............ $932 $ 48,560 $1,271 $ 42,432 $93,195
Investments ........................ 4,994 4,994
Accounts receivable, net:
Other ......oovviiiiiiininnn.. 197 $ 888 12 9,462 10,559
Inventories ........................ 3,541 731 $ 23 4,295
Total current assets .............. 932 52,298 1,619 23 1,283 56,888 113,043
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets,net ................... 62,429 2 62,431
Otherassets ............ccovviunann. 2,489 2,489
Total noncurrent assets ........... 62,429 2,491 64,920
Total assets ................ 932 114,727 1,619 23 1,283 59,379 177,963
Liabilities:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued

liabilities ........................ $ 56 47 4,350 190 24 618 5,251 10,536
Due to other funds 101 300 6,638 578 7,617
Estimated liability for claims in
PrOGIESS . oo ovveeee e e 56,053 56,053
Other liabilities ..................... 108 3,111 124 56 166 524 4,089
Total current liabilities ........... 265 47 7,761 6,952 658 784 61,828 78,295
Noncurrent liabilities:
Estimated liability for claims in
PrOZIesSs ..o vv v 102,225 102,225
Total liabilities ................. 265 47 7,761 6,952 658 784 164,053 180,520
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets ............. 62,429 2 62,431
Unrestricted (deficit) ................ (265) 885 44,537 (5,333) (635) 499 (104,676) (64,988)
Total net assets (deficits) .. ... $(265) $885 $106,966 $(5,333) $(635) $ 499 $(104,674)  $(2,557)
CITY OF BALTIMORE

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Fund Net Assets
Internal Service Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal
Energy Municipal Mobile Reproduction Municipal ~ Telephone Risk
Conservation ~ Communication — Equipment and Printing Post Office ~ Exchange = Management Total
Operating revenues:
Charges for services ................. $ 657 $3,102 $ 47,383 $ 3,215 $1,862 $ 9,718 $ 150,964 $216,901
Operating expenses:
Salaries and wages .. ................. 641 13,008 1,082 351 838 2,615 18,535
Other personnel costs ................ 128 4,761 561 110 380 934 6,874
Contractual services . ................. 106 2,867 9,140 1,322 50 8,892 9,300 31,677
Materials and supplies ................ 47 14,438 1,049 18 3 20 15,575
Minor equipment .................... 23 1 2 6 32
Claims paid and incurred .. ............ 142,394 142,394
Postage and delivery service ........... 1,632 1,632
Depreciation ....................... 8.250 5 8,255
Total operating expenses ... ..... 922 2,867 49,597 4,037 2,162 10,115 155,274 224,974
Operating income (loss) ........ (265) 235 (2,214) (822) (300) (397) (4,310) (8,073)
Nonoperating revenues:
Investmentincome . .................. 136 136
Total nonoperating revenues . .. . 136 136
Income (loss) before contributions
and transfers . . .............. (265) 235 (2,214) (822) (300) (397) (4,174) (7,937)
Capital contributions ................... 13,593 13,593
Total net assets — beginning . ........... 650 95,587 (4,511 (335) 896 (100,500) (8,213)
Total net assets —ending ............... $(265) $ 885 $106,966 $(5,333) $ (635) $ 499 $(104,674) $ (2,557)
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Service Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal ~ Municipal

Energy Municipal Mobile Reproduction Post Telephone Risk
Conservation ~ Communication ~ Equipment  and Printing Office Exchange =~ Management Total
Cash flow from operating activities:
Receipts from customers .................. $ 758 $ 3,102 $ 37,358 $ 4,108 $ 2,148 $ 9,708 $ 167,323 $224,505
Payments to employees ................... (621) (17,408) (1,634) (450) (1,205) (3,714) (25,032)
Payments to suppliers .................... a37) (2,861) (23,810) (2,474) (1,698) (9,053) (162,806)  (202,839)
Net cash provided (used) by operating
ACHVILeS . ... v 241 (3,860) (550) 803 (3,366)
Cash flows from capital and related financing
activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital
ASSELS Lt (6,770) (6,770)
Capital contributions ..................... 13,593 13,593
Net cash provided by capital and related
financing activities ................... 6,823 6,823

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from the sale and maturities of
INVEStMENts .. ........ueeiiinae.. 21 21
Interest on investments

................... 136 136
Net cash provided by investing activities . .. 157 157

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents ............. ... 241 2,963 (550) 960 3,614
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . . .. 691 45,597 1,821 41,472 89,581
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ......... $ 932 $ 48,560 $ 1,271 $ 42,432 $ 93,195

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Operating income (10ss) . ................ $(265) $ 235 $ (2,214) $ (822) $ (300) $ (397) $ (43100 $ (8.073)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided (used) by operating

activities:

Depreciation . ... 8,250 5 8,255

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable .......... ... ... L o1 (632) (10) 16,599 15,866

Inventories .................... ... (3,028) (180) 3) (3,211)

Otherassets .............cveiiiirnennn... (240) (240)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . 56 6 (149) (77) 6 (156) (9,173) (9,487)

Other liabilities ......................... 108 278 6 8 13 (208) 205

Due toother funds ....................... 101 (6,906) 1,705 289 (4,811)

Estimated liability for claims in progress ... .. (1,870) (1,870)

Total adjustments . ....................... 265 6 (1,646) 822 300 (153) 5,113 4,707
Net cash provided (used) by operating

activities .. ......... .o o oo $ 241 $ (3.860) $ (550) $ 803 $ (3,366)
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Fiduciary Funds
Fiduciary funds include the following funds, which account for assets held by the City as a trustee or as an agent for
individuals.

Pension Trust Funds - These funds account for the receipt, investment, and distribution of retirement contributions made for
the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials, and other City employees.

OPEB Trust Fund - This fund accounts for the receipt, investment and distribution of retiree health and life insurance
benefits.

Agency Funds - These funds account for assets held by the City as a custodian.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Fire and
Elected Police

OPEB Employees’ Officials’ Employees’

Trust Retirement ~ Retirement ~ Retirement

Fund System System System Total

Assets:

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS . ... ...ttt ettt $ 28,063 $§ 78,697 $ 13 $ 43,383 $ 150,156
Investments:

SHOCKS v et ettt e 54,205 704,516 7,997 981,452 1,748,170

Bonds .. 30,441 255,409 6,186 703,501 995,537

ReAl €STALE . . o oo oottt et et 34,074 79,244 143,367 256,685
Securities lending collateral . . ... ...... ... . it 122,199 244,970 367,169
Accounts receivable, net:

OtReT .ot 6,408 6,408
Forward foreign CONtracts .. ... ... .. ...ttt e 29,330 15,277 44,607
ONET @SSELS . . . e e e e e e e e e e e 193 32,869 2 13,149 46,213

TOtAl ASSELS .+« o v v ettt e et et e e e 153,384 1,302,264 14,198 2,145,099 3,614,945

Liabilities:

Obligations under securities lending program . ................. ..ottt 122,199 244,970 367,169
Forward foreign CONtracts ... ... ... .......uunnn et 28,968 15,337 44,305
Accounts Payable . . ... 4,307 65,906 3 17,294 87,510
Pension benefits payable . ......... ... 8,757 8,757

Total Habilities . ... ... ..ot 4,307 217,073 3 286,358 507,741
Net assets held in trust for pension and OPEB benefits ............. ... ... ... . ... ... $149,077  $1,085,191 $14,195 $1,858,741 $3,107,204
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets

Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Fire and
Elected Police
OPEB Employees’ Officials’  Employees’
Trust Retirement ~ Retirement  Retirement
Fund System System System Total
Additions:
Contributions:
EMPIOYET . .. $142,275  $ 48,748 $ 340 $ 94,098 $ 285461
EMPIOYEE . . . e e e e e 40,098 216 59 17,254 57,627
Total CONIIDULIONS . . . o oo e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 182,373 48,964 399 111,352 343,088
Investment income (loss):
Net appreciation in fair value of investments . ............ ... i, 5,685 91,458 1,691 220,166 319,000
Securities lending income . ......... . 203 500 703
Interest and dividend InCOME . . . ... ... .t it 2,456 26,028 1 37,967 66,452
Total iINVeStMENt iNCOME .+ . ..ottt ettt e et ettt e e e e e e e e 8,141 117,689 1,692 258,633 386,155
Less: iNVEStMENt EXPEIISE . . ..o et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 83 5,641 5 5,987 11,716
Net investment iNCOME ... .. ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 8,058 112,048 1,687 252,646 374,439
Total additionS . . . ..o oot 190,431 161,012 2,086 363,998 717,527
Deductions:
Retirement allOoWanCes . . ... ...ttt 108,226 736 194,739 303,701
Health Benefits . . ... ... e e e e e e e e e e 151,863 151,863
Death Denefits ... ... ... 791 155 946
AdmINISrative EXPEINSES . .« v v v vttt ettt e e e e 3,062 28 3,312 6,402
OBNET . . 156 1,372 1,528
Total dedUCtiONS . . ..ottt et e e e 151,863 112,235 764 199,578 464,440
Changes N NEL ASSELS . . . o vttt ettt e ettt e e et e e e e 38,568 48,777 1,322 164,420 253,087
Net assets — beginning of the year ... ... ... .. 110,509 1,036,414 12,873 1,694,321 2,854,117
Net assets — end Of the Year . ... ...t 149,077  $1,085,191 $14,195 $1,858,741  $3,107,204
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds

June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Unpresented  Property Bid
Stock and Sold for  Deposit ~ Waterloo Recreation
Coupon Bonds Taxes Refunds  Summit  Accessory  Total
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ............ ... . it $55 $86 $79 $1,187 $1,407
TNVESTMENLS .« . .ot ettt ettt e et e e e e e e $51 51
TOtAl @SSELS .« v v v ettt e e e e e e 55 86 79 51 1,187 1,458

Liabilities:
Other . o e 55 86 79 51 1,187 1,458
Total Habilities ... ...ttt $55 $86 $79 $51 $1,187 $1,458
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Balance Balance
June 30,2009  Additions  Deductions  June 30, 2010

Unpresented Stock and Coupon Bonds

Assets:
[ P $ 55 $ 55
TOLAl @SSELS . .« ¢ttt et et e e e e e e e e e e e e 55 55
Liabilities:
OheT . oot 55 55
Total liabilities . ... ... .o o 55 55
Property Sold for Taxes
Assets:
Cash oo 86 86
TOtal @SSELS . . o oo oot ettt ettt 86 86
Liabilities:
ONT . ettt 86 86
Total Habilities . ... ... 86 86
Bid Deposit Refunds
Assets:
Cash oo 88 $ 9 79
TOtAl @SSELS . .« o v ettt ettt ettt e e 88 9 79
Liabilities:
DT . ottt 88 9 79
Total Habilities . . . ... oo ot 88 9 79
Waterloo Summit
Assets:
INVESEMENLS . . oottt et e e e e e 51 51
TOtAl ASSELS . . . o o ettt e e e 51 51
Liabilities:
DT . ettt 51 51
Total Habilities . . . .. oottt 51 51
Recreation Accessory
Assets:
Cash o 1,871 $3,553 4,237 1,187
TOAL @SSELS . .« « o v e et ettt ettt ettt e e e e e 1,871 3,553 4,237 1,187
Liabilities:
ORI . ottt 1,871 3,553 4,237 1,187
Total Habilities . . . . ..ottt 1,871 3,553 4,237 1,187
Insurance Deposits
Assets:
Cash o 5,369 5,369
INVESEMENLS . . oottt et e e e
TOtAl @SSELS .« « o v ettt ettt ettt 5,369 5,369
Liabilities:
DT et 5,369 5,369
Total Habilities . . .. ..o ot 5,369 5,369
Total All Agency Funds
Assets:
Cash oo 7,469 3,553 9,615 1,407
INVESIMENLS . ..o 51 51
TOtAl @SSEES . . o v et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e s 7,520 3,553 9,615 1,458
Liabilities:
OhT . oot 7,520 3,553 9,615 1,458
Total lHabilities ... ... $7,520 $3,553 $9,615 $1,458
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statistical Section

(Unaudited)

Table of Contents

Financial Trends
These schedules contain information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial performance and
well-being have changed over time. ... ... .. ..
Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most significant local revenue
SOUICE, the PrOPErtY tAX. . . ...ttt et et e e e e e e e e e
Debt Capacity
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the City’s financial activities take place. ............. .. ..
Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the City’s financial activities take place. ............. ... ...
Operating Information

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in
the City’s financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs. .........
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Source: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these tables is derived from the annual financial reports for the relevant
year. The City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 in fiscal year 2002;

therefore, tables presenting government-wide information include only eight years.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Net Assets by Component

Last Nine Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Governmental activities
Invested in capital assets, net of related
debt ... $2,643,306  $2,812,963  $2,810,155  $2,898,611  $2,684,600 $2,622,303  $3,138,558  $2,121,998  $2,681,668
Restricted ... ... 15,650 15,444 15,084 13,774 13,773 26,516 13,250 13,191 14,787
Unrestricted .............covuii.. (178,915) (369,729) (439,890) (428,921) (367,551) 112,270 (395,378) (475,903) (360,180)
Total governmental activities net assets . .. .. $2,480,041  $2,458,678  $2,385,349  $2,483,464  $2,330,822  $2,761,089  $2,756,430  $1,659,286  $2,336,275
Business-type activities
Invested in capital assets, net of related
debt ... $ 953,214 $ 840,900 $ 854,007 $1,001,112  $1,127,216  $1,088,511  $1,196,193  $1,371,993  $1,377,641
Restricted .. ... 215,671 224,150 256,964 252,812 282,924 369,069 231,382 260,575 124,756
Unrestricted . ..., 59,185 182,449 207,744 125,132 60,639 138,070 245,818 (27,495) 182,655
Total Business-type activities ............. $1,228,070  $1,247,499  $1,318,715  $1,379,056  $1,470,779  $1,595,650  $1,673,393  $1,605,073  $1,685,052
Primary government
Invested in capital assets, net of related
debt ... $3,596,520  $3,653,863  $3,664,162  $3,899,723  $3,811,816  $3,710,814  $4,334,751  $3,493,991  $4,059,309
Restricted .. ... 231,321 239,594 272,048 266,586 296,697 395,585 244,632 273,766 139,543
Unrestricted ...........coouiiia.. (119,730) (187,280) (232,146) (303,789) (306,912) 250,340 (149,560) (503,398) (177,525)
Total primary government net assets . . . . .. .. $3,708,111  $3,706,177  $3,704,064  $3,862,520  $3,801,601  $4,356,739  $4,429,823  $3,264,359  $4,021,327
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Assets

Last Nine Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Expenses
Governmental activities:
General government . ............ $ 280,380 $ 311,906 $ 406,520 $ 406,849 $ 339,059  $452,353 $468,113 $521,242 $545,037
Public safety and regulation ....... 434,567 459,806 462,910 476,157 514,299 536,508 575,859 541,778 504,730
Conservation of health ........... 176,159 189,881 195,024 142,219 162,319 104,879 157,549 147,054 164,751
Social services .................. 26,966 31,382 36,822 29,451 30,584 2,252 36,202 6,096 435
Education ..................... 224,218 219,904 219,932 226,913 225,890 227,377 224,830 221,829 228,788
Public library ................... 27,159 26,877 27,251 23,303 30,400 24,006 31,736 33,728 33915
Recreation and culture . . .......... 53,199 35,119 36,326 36,304 33,060 42,420 44,295 42,565 39,205
Highways and streets . ............ 159,481 195,148 186,393 132,909 123,930 122,212 143,340 135,992 191,536
Sanitation and waste removal . ..... 36,569 38,882 34,151 36,836 40,155 44,169 45,366 51,167 52,905
Public service .................. 12,646 14,945 15,150 15,695 15,218 15,141 16,769 24,637 24,316
Economic development . .......... 134,031 100,343 96,964 80,045 449,746 145,160 184,286 204,557 182,816
Interest . ... 46,037 41,271 43,588 40,944 50,070 58,327 63,070 37,885 50,105
Total governmental activities
EXPENSES ..t 1,611,412 1,665,464 1,761,031 1,647,625 2,014,730 1,774,804 1,991,415 1,968,530 2,018,539
Business-type activities:
Water .. ... 84,454 97,883 95,745 96,893 95,010 95,576 105,882 116,407 107,982
Waste Water ... ................. 125,859 132,785 127,009 133,463 134,290 131,610 145,611 152,595 157,605
Parking ............ ... ... 13,733 13,060 15,272 17,478 19,441 16,520 20,317 23,422 24,832
Conduits .. .... 2,754 3,075 3,481 3917 8,065 5,937 11,207 7,312 5,947
Development loans 3,227 3,202 3,430 3,193 2,999 3,033 4,900 3,212 3,258
Industrial development . .......... 2,241 1,660 1,444 2,173 3,226 3,687 3,339 1,829 2,333
Total business-type activities
CXPENSES .« e vttt 232,268 251,665 246,381 257,117 263,031 256,363 291,256 304,777 301,957
Total primary government
EXPENSES ..t 1,843,680 1,917,129 2,007,412 1,904,742 2,277,761 2,031,167 2,282,671 2,273,307 2,320,496
Program revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for services (a) . .......... 66,089 73,636 88,587 83,950 90,545 93,046 99,185 94,297 85,683
Operating grants and
contributions ................. 429,036 472,628 477,870 401,958 393,328 382,316 386,972 402,343 359,769
Capital grants and contributions . . .. 41,863 35,873 51,910 49,013 57,313 48,085 51,559 23,181 63,437
Total governmental activities
TEVENUE ..t 536,988 582,137 618,367 534,921 541,186 523,447 537,716 519,821 508,889
Business-type activities:
Charges for services:
Water ... 84,083 92,214 104,436 99,282 109,471 111,052 131,233 118,753 130,512
Waste water . ............... 128,681 121,131 126,869 134,805 136,405 151,462 157,974 156,079 166,016
Parking ................... 46,043 49,883 54,196 56,613 61,896 62,706 69,868 64,380 67,760
Conduits . ................. 4,858 4,137 3,783 5,890 7,387 7,247 7,603 10,511 9,044
Development loans . ......... 1,092 3,219 359 49 109 860 363 299 555
Industrial development . ...... 2,179 1,500 1,190 1,524 2,475 4,491 3,711 1,630 390
Capital grants and
contributions ............. 37,840 30,580 55,165 51,057 69,370 78,032 40,928 22,818 38,313
Total business-type activities
TEVENUES . . v 304,776 302,664 345,998 349,220 387,113 415,850 411,680 374,470 412,590
Total primary government
TEVENUES . . . 841,764 884,801 964,365 884,141 928,299 939,297 949,396 877,604 921,479
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental activities .......... (1,074,424) (1,083,327) (1,142,664) (1,112,704) (1,473,544) (1,251,357) (1,453,699) (1,448,909) (1,509,650)
Business-type activities ........... ,508 50,999 99,617 92,103 124,082 159,487 120,424 69,6
Total primary government net
EXPENSES .. vvt (1,001,916) (1,032,328) (1,043,047) (1,020,601) (1,349,462) (1,091,870) (1,333,275) (1,379,016) (1,399,017)
General Revenues and Other Changes
in Net Assets
Governmental activities:
Property Taxes ................. 487,776 517,452 527,215 539,195 558,089 592,065 626,420 693,767 770,320
Income Taxes .................. 181,574 173,466 182,506 199,635 225,517 243,611 267,625 262,901 251,731
Other local taxes ................ 97,239 102,899 111,980 171,871 208,858 204,685 180,189 148,369 115,472
State shared revenues ............ 173,604 173,412 169,703 200,199 222911 226,692 213,899 187,986 135,226
Franchisefees .................. 3,956
Unrestrictive investment income . . . . 40,290 31,841 25,032 30,170 41,776 47,560 53,503 35,756 27,308
Miscellaneous . ................. 22,621 31,324 24,498 36,884 29,727 41,557 34,398 14,568 15,806
Transfers .............oooeuuunn. 27,661 31,570 28,401 32,865 34,024 33,870 42,681 34,339 40,707
Total governmental activities .......... 1,034,721 1,061,964 1,069,335 1,210,819 1,320,902 1,390,040 1,418,715 1,377,686 1,356,570
Business-type activities:
Unrestrictive investment income . . . . 2,416 1,103 1,665 747
Transfers .............c.oooeuunn. (27,661) (31,570) (28,401) (32,865) (34,024)  (33,870) (42,681) (34,339) (40,707)
Total business-type activities .......... (25,245) (31,570) (28,401) (31,762) (32,359) (33,870) (42,681) (33,592) (40,707)
Total primary government ............ 1,009,476 1,030,394 1,040,934 1,179,057 1,288,543 1,356,170 1,376,034 1,344,094 1,315,863
Change in Net Assets
Governmental activities .............. (39,703) (21,363) (73,329) 98,115 (152,642) 138,683 (34,984) (71,023) (153,080)
Business-type activities . .............. 47,263 19,429 71,216 60,341 91,723 125,617 ,
Total primary government . ........... $ 7560 $  (1,934) $  (2,113) $ 158456 $ (60,919) $264,300 $ 42,759 $(34,922) $(83,154)

(a) Charges for services include charges for various City services such as rental of recreational facilities, solid waste disposal fees, port and stadium security services, impound lot
fees and library video rental.

105



CITY OF BALTIMORE

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
General Fund
Reserved ........ ..., $ 76,741 $ 89,278  $ 88,422 $101,777 $119,793  $146,107 $168,912  $180,794  $181,585 $157,131
Unreserved ................ ... .. 30,437 33,459 40,902 37,878 72,762 65,417 56,043 33,629 35,344 20,441
Total General Fund ....................... $107,178  $122,737  $129,324  $139,655 $192,555  $211,524  $224,955 $214,423  $216,929 $177,572
All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved .............. ... ... .. ..., $ 42,481 $ 91,079 $134313  $123,991  $121,639  $138,734  $149,684 $166,551  $119,928  $151,855
Unreserved reported in:
Special revenue funds ............. (25,805) (48,831) (64,148) (88,188)  (108,326) (99,577)  (100,707)  (140,026) (43,679) (43,687)
Capital projects fund .............. 77,743 37,025 (87,579) (44,106) (83,622) 28,370 56,661 30,251 48,128 (43,974)
Debt service fund ................ 20,647 22,990 17,715 18,099 27,503 26,082 30,296 82,579 41,240 41,319
Permanent funds ................. 16,264 6,659 6,602 6,237 13,774
Total all other governmental funds . .......... $131,330  $108,922 $ 6,903 $ 16,033 $(29,032) $ 93,609 $135934 $139,355 $165,617 $105,513
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Revenues:
General fund:
Taxes — Local ........... $ 758351 $ 767,384 $ 793817 §$ 821,701 $ 910,701 $ 992,464 $1,040,361 $1,074,234  $1,105,037  $1,137,523
Licenses and permits ... ... 21,347 22,051 21,429 26,805 28,570 31,143 32,784 34,717 29,390 34,438
Fines and forfeitures ...... 1,298 2,162 2,401 4,408 3,575 3,372 2,900 7,321 6,896 7,116
Interest, rentals, and other
investment income . .. ... 36,637 27,468 24,968 20,729 25,364 31,206 34,047 38,602 23,616 24,148
Federal grants . ........... 68 45 77 111 150 90 93 99 224 213
State grants . ............. 79,985 87,580 98,778 96,412 92,240 91,331 98,120 101,235 99,423 97,320
Other grants ............. 159 4,139 6,112 6,064 4,174 75 173 153 154 46
Charges for services . ...... 34,581 35,718 36,315 39,692 39,770 42,243 43,697 42,646 41,560 29,251
Miscellaneous ........... 3,233 8,945 6,694 9,889 2,643 8,817 6,420 12,429 234 4,528
Total revenues — general
fund ........ .. ... 935,659 955,492 990,591 1,025,811 1,107,187 1,200,741 1,258,595 1,311,436 1,306,534 1,334,583
Other governmental funds:
Motor vehicle fund . . ...... 188,115 185,538 187,891 187,119 212,477 238,002 244,316 232,716 206,015 156,590
Grants revenue fund . ... ... 334,831 287,578 340,989 324,317 263,542 280,232 258,288 231,047 338,749 270,692
Capital projects fund ...... 21,640 40,913 60,345 68,647 64,031 84,247 66,341 65,129 46,028 75,296
Other funds . ............. 12,773 48,986 25,555 29,820 37,334 32,251 55,941 36,696 33,030 28,641
Total revenues — other
governmental funds . .. 557,359 563,015 614,780 609,903 577,384 634,732 624,886 565,588 623,822 531,219
Total revenues all
governmental funds ... 1,493,018 1,518,507 1,605,371 1,635,714 1,684,571 1,835,473 1,883,481 1,877,024 1,930,356 1,865,802
Expenditures:
General fund:
General government . . . . . .. 204,564 214,288 253,812 267,527 273,606 290,727 337,700 368,022 368,279 410,746
Public safety and
regulation ............. 332,315 350,941 377,494 376,052 383,318 416,781 446,072 475,629 474,031 437,031
Conservation of health . . . .. 24,355 24,102 24,760 23,528 24,442 30,507 28,948 29,371 33,066 44,950
Social services ........... 754 1,743 1,952 2,032 2,146 2,138 3,007 4,498 6,057 396
Education ............... 1,308 202,117 202,046 202,192 205,067 205,552 206,016 205,858 205,909 207,657
Public library ............ 19,521 19,680 19,493 20,124 18,093 20,853 23,135 24,253 25,720 24,246
Recreation and culture . . ... 24,685 26,255 25,998 27,143 26,464 29,151 34,568 37,707 35,163 30,212
Highways and streets ... ... 3,348 175 153 244 407 312 484 720 244 16,376
Sanitation and waste
removal .............. 33,751 29,435 30,617 29,209 28,109 37,474 39,754 40,032 40,593 37,862
Public service ............ 12,039 12,170 11,889 12,234 12,715 12,448 12,210 13,259 17,510 21,455
Economic development . ... 23,672 14,631 19,077 19,262 18,854 21,420 30,440 39,616 36,573 36,186
Total expenditures —
general fund ......... 680,312 895,537 967,291 979,547 993,221 1,067,363 1,162,334 1,238,965 1,243,145 1,267,117
Other governmental funds:
Motor vehicle fund . . ...... 125,781 132,117 144,495 148,268 148,974 157,248 164,419 175,354 173,570 191,558
Grants revenue fund . ... ... 298,551 316,563 344,830 342,586 282,388 272,814 257,756 259,387 238,399 280,603
Capital projects fund ...... 125,214 171,910 206,246 217,621 208,219 568,951 246,775 317,031 267,641 275,701
Debt service fund:
Principal .............. 39,121 34,080 36,065 36,209 42,048 48,073 53,351 56,694 52,651 60,054
Interest ............... 32,528 34,900 31,760 29,674 30,197 30,555 47,302 51,198 26,144 39,014
Other bond costs ....... 462 1,357 1,861 6,829 13,945 9,847
Other funds .. ............ 241 23,180 21,524 22,752 25,052 22,038 17,015 14,161 18,052 11,863
Total expenditures
other governmental
funds............. 621,898 712,750 784,920 797,110 738,735 1,101,540 793,447 873,825 790,402 868,640
Total expenditures all
governmental
funds ............. 1,302,210 1,608,287 1,752,211 1,776,657 1,731,956 2,168,903 1,955,781 2,112,790 2,033,547 2,135,757
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures ......... 190,808 (89,780) (146,840)  (140,943) (47,385)  (333,430) (72,300) (235,766) (103,191) (269,955)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers, net ............ (174,133) 27,661 31,570 28,401 33,873 16,568 20,694 36,044 27,839 40,707
Capital leases ............ 21,082 12,400 433 25,136 10,189 10,265 25,447 7,372 3,956 75,099
Face value of bonds and
loans ................. 34,454 42,869 201,399 65,996 49,689 379,676 81,915 154914 100,164 54,688
Premium (discount) on sale
ofbonds .............. (2,064) 731
Payments to escrow
agents ................ (128,030) (11,760)
Demand obligation
transferred from fund
liability ............... (51,900) 51,900 (38,531) 38,531
Total other financing
sources (uses) ...... (118,597) 82,930 51,408 160,404 55,220 445,040 128,056 198,330 131,959 170,494
Net changes in fund
balances .......... $ 72211 $ (6850) $ (95432) $ 19461 $ 7835 $ 111,610 $ 55756 $ (37436) $ 28,768 $ (99.461)
Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures . . . . 6.77% 4.54% 4.25% 3.83% 4.58% 3.84% 5.48% 5.41% 3.50% 5.26%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Total Percent of
Fiscal Tax Collected within the Percent Delinquent Total Total Tax Collections
Year Levy Fiscal Year of the Levy of Levy Collected Tax Collections Tax Collections to Tax Levy
2001 $505,064 $486,170 96.3% $17,167 $503,337 99.7%
2002 515,463 494,379 95.9 8,613 502,992 97.6
2003 517,977 500,522 96.6 12,836 513,358 99.1
2004 523,226 510,710 97.6 14,235 524,945 100.3
2005 548,552 529,074 96.4 6,144 535,218 97.6
2006 565,648 544,463 96.3 8,161 552,624 97.7
2007 599,534 577,759 96.4 6,776 584,535 97.5
2008 655,080 605,961 92.5 10,601 616,562 94.1
2009 728,359 671,869 922 16,238 688,107 94.5
2010 751,510 723,533 96.3 60,319 766,628 102.0

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Assessed and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Real Property Personal Property Total Ratio of Total
- - - Assessed Value

Estimated Estimated Estimated to Total Total
Fiscal Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Estimated Direct
Year Value Value Value Value Value Value Actual Value Tax Rate(2)
2001 $ 6,828,402 $16,963,236 $1,893,784 $1,893,784 $ 8,722,186 $18,857,020 46.3% 6.030
2002 16,893,662(1) 17,257,859 1,955,068 1,955,068 18,848,730(1) 19,212,927 98.1(1) 2.412
2003 17,316,114(1) 17,846,735 1,820,389 1,820,389 19,136,503(1) 19,667,124 97.3(1) 2.412
2004 17,844,363(1) 18,594,723 1,764,282 1,764,282 19,608,645(1) 20,359,005 96.3(1) 2.460
2005 18,781,171(1) 19,783,195 1,847,190 1,847,190 20,628,361(1) 21,630,385 95.4(1) 2.460
2006 19,918,443(1) 21,334,553 1,783,249 1,783,249 21,701,692(1) 23,117,802 93.9(1) 2.440
2007 21,254,392(1) 23,236,872 1,893,973 1,893,973 23,148,365(1) 25,130,845 92.1(1) 2.400
2008 23,943,402(1) 27,398,671 1,965,726 1,965,726 25,909,128(1) 29,364,397 88.2(1) 2.380
2009 26,601,299(1) 32,038,540 2,145,251 2,145,251 28,746,550(1) 34,183,791 84.1(1) 2.380
2010 28,511,521(1) 35,600,999 1,805,889 1,805,889 30,317,410(1) 37,406,888 81.0(1) 2.380

Note: Assessed values are established by the Maryland State Department of Assessments on July 1 of each year. Each real property’s assessment is
reevaluated every three years.

(1) The Maryland General Assembly passed legislation at the 2000 session to change the system of real property assessment from 40% to 100%
of market value. This change was implemented on July 1, 2001. Accordingly, the ratio of total assessed value to total estimated actual value
reflects this change.

2) Tax rates are for each $100 of assessed valuation.

Source:  Baltimore City Department of Finance
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Fiscal Years(1)

Fiscal City Tax State Tax

Year Rate Rate (2) Total (3)
2001 5.820 210 6.030
2002(4) 2.328 .084 2.412
2003(4) 2.328 .084 2.412
2004(4) 2.328 132 2.460
2005(4) 2.328 132 2.460
2006(4) 2.308 132 2.440
2007(4) 2.288 112 2.400
2008(4) 2.268 112 2.380
2009(4) 2.268 112 2.380
2010(4) 2.268 112 2.380

Notes:
(1) Tax rates are for each $100 of assessed valuation.
(2) The State tax rate is shown for informational purposes only, since the City acts in the role of collector and does not report this portion of the property
tax as revenue.
(3) The City has no special assessments.
(4) As of fiscal year 2002, real property taxes are assessed at the property’s full estimated actual value; previously, real property taxes were assessed at
40% of the property’s estimated actual value. Accordingly, the tax rates were adjusted to maintain the same effective tax rate.

Source:  Baltimore City Department of Finance

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Principal Property Taxpayers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

2010 2001
Percentage Percentage
Taxable of Total City Taxable of Total City
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed
Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

BGE (Baltimore Gas & Electric Company) ...................... $ 603,525 1 2.0% $ 577,947 1 6.6%
Verizon-Maryland . . ......... ... 247,975 2 0.8 344,854 2 4.0
100 East Pratt Street Business ................ ... ... .. ... ..., 185,399 3 0.6
Baltimore Center ASSOCiate . ..............c.iiiiiinenenanannnn 185,311 4 0.6 51,961 4 0.6
Baltimore Hotel Corporation .................ccoviiiiiienn.. 162,321 5 0.5
Harbor East Limited . ......... ... .. ... ... .. .. .. 140,066 6 0.5
CSX Corporation . ...........ouuuiiiiiniiiiiiinnn, 132,401 7 0.4
ABB South Street Associates, LLC ............................ 81,400 8 0.3
Canton Crossing Tower, LLC ... ... i 77,073 9 0.3
Harbor East Limited - Parcel B ............................... 70,796 10 0.2
AT & T Communications of Maryland ......................... 82,531 3 0.9
Boston Properties, Inc. . ....... ... 49,319 5 0.6
MCIWorldcom ... ..ot 38,345 6 0.4
Baltimore Refuse Energy System Corp. (BRESCO) ............... 34,264 7 0.4
United Cable Television of Baltimore, LTD ..................... 25,241 8 0.3
Pratt Street Hotel . ....... ... ... ... .. . . . . . 24,400 9 0.3
Xerox COrporation . ...........oeuuuiiinuneieineeeneenennnn. 24,001 10 0.3
TOtal ..o $1,886,267 6.2% $1,252,863 14.4%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Funds Net Percentage of
General Bond Available in General Actual Taxable
Fiscal Obligation Anticipation Debt Service Bonded Value Per
Year Bonds Notes Total Funds(b) Debt of Property Capita(a)
2001 $483,300 $7,295 $490,595 $20,647 $469,948 2.49% $734.98
2002 506,079 3,180 509,259 22,990 486,269 2.53 765.54
2003 564,380 564,380 17,715 546,665 2.78 856.04
2004 579,382 579,382 18,099 561,283 2.76 873.32
2005 579,960 579,960 27,503 552,457 2.55 868.23
2006 588,604 588,604 26,082 562,522 2.43 884.73
2007 609,950 609,950 30,296 579,654 2.31 909.33
2008 646,533 646,533 82,579 563,954 1.92 885.44
2009 629,018 629,018 41,240 587,778 1.72 922.12
2010 631,993 631,993 41,319 590,674 1.58 951.23

(a) Per capita calculations utilize calendar year figures provided by U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau in thousands.

(b) Externally restricted for repayment of principal on debt.

N/A Information not available.
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Fiscal Year

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Fiscal Year

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

June 30, 2010

The City of Baltimore has no Overlapping Debt.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Legal Debt Margin Information
June 30, 2010

The City has no Legal Debt Margin.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Pledged Revenue Coverage
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Dollars Expressed in Thousands)

Water Revenue Bonds Waste Water Revenue Bonds
I\z;‘ltlel:; Opl;ifsi:i‘ng Avlz:{i:ble M Wdlsltfil},t\;dter O];?';ii.ng Avlgf;ble Debt Service
Revenues  Expenses  Revenue  Principal Interest Coverage Revenues Expenses  Revenue  Principal  Interest — Coverage
$ 83961  $ 64,353 $19,608 $3,190 $ 9,936 1.49 $114,945 $ 99,112 $15,833 $ 3,877 $ 7,201 1.43
84,083 65,938 18,145 3,860 10,737 1.24 128,681 104,324 24,357 4,789 7,834 1.93
92,214 74,974 17,240 2,185 6,972 1.88 121,131 105,974 15,157 2,234 8,344 1.43
102,612 76,616 25,996 2,295 10,529 2.03 125,942 104,859 21,083 4,660 9,595 1.48
99,282 76,772 22,510 2,655 16,091 1.20 134,805 105,030 29,775 4,794 12,559 1.72
109,471 71,776 31,695 2,779 17,137 1.59 136,405 113,542 22,863 7,658 12,630 1.13
111,052 81,722 29,330 2,920 15,818 1.57 151,462 110,877 40,585 9,405 16,631 1.56
131,233 95,909 35,324 3,574 16,279 1.78 157,974 143,856 14,118 13,027 13,517 .53
120,292 106,435 13,857 3,273 20,692 .58 161,061 146,268 14,793 13,480 22,133 42
129,579 102,962 26,617 6,264 20,202 1.01 166,072 147,202 18,870 16,822 25,627 44
Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds Convention Center Revenue Bonds
Fpa‘::rlll(lltrllegs O[)lé?zbii{ng Avgle;ble M COS;’;CI?;II_OH Avlgf;ble Debt Service
Revenues  Expenses Revenue  Principal  Interest — Coverage Revenues Revenue  Principal  Interest Coverage

$46,176 $ 4,963 $41,213 $3,360 $ 6,977 3.99 $4,631 $4,631 $1,780 $2,832 1.00
46,043 5,790 40,253 3,515 6,813 3.90 4,636 4,636 1,850 2,578 1.05
49,883 6,845 43,038 3,690 7,803 3.74 4,637 4,637 1,930 2,679 1.01
53,539 7,447 46,092 4,355 11,999 2.82 4,579 4,579 2,010 2,596 99
56,613 6,986 49,627 4,680 11,812 3.01 4,566 4,566 2,095 2,508 .99
61,896 9,697 52,199 4,900 9,828 3.54 3,904 3,904 2,185 2,415 .85
62,706 8,509 54,197 5,080 6,967 4.50 4,523 4,523 2,280 2,310 99
69,868 11,692 58,176 5,815 8,956 3.94 4,516 4,516 2,193 2,395 98
64,380 13,240 51,140 6,060 14,224 2.52 4,463 4,463 2,515 2,070 97
67,760 13,821 53,939 6,915 9,352 3.32 4,344 4,344 2,645 1,794 98

Note: Details regarding the City’s outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements. Operating expenses do not include interest, depreciation or amortization

expenses.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years

Personal
Income(b) Per Capita
Calendar (thousands Personal Total Unemployment
Year Population(a) of dollars) Income(c) Employment(d) Rate(d)
2001 645,253 $16,852,237 26,117 261,808 6.1%
2002 642,246 17,395,319 27,085 254,330 7.1
2003 642,324 17,941,556 27,932 255,083 7.4
2004 641,004 19,027,949 29,685 253,695 7.3
2005 640,064 20,061,001 31,342 255,081 6.9
2006 640,961 20,925,150 32,647 257,382 6.2
2007 640,150 21,978,718 34,334 261,355 5.6
2008 638,091 23,188,241 36,340 259,710 6.7
2009 637,418 N/A N/A 247,600 10.4
2010 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Source:

(a) Maryland State Department of Planning

(b) U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis

(c) Per capita personal income is calculated based on the personal income divided by the estimated population

(d) Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation

N/A Information not available
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2010 2001
Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City
Employer Employees  Rank  Employment  Employees  Rank  Employment
Government[1]
SHAE . .ot 41,093 1 12.58% 38,347 1 10.07%
Other Government authority (City, Schools, etc) .......... ... 28,579 2 8.75 31,808 2 8.35
Federal ... ... ... .. 8,204 3 2.51 10,648 3 2.80
Subtotal GOVErNMEenNt ... ...ttt 77,876 23.84 80,803 21.22
Ten Largest Private Sector Employers[2]
Johns Hopkins University . ........ ...ttt 22,700 1 6.95 23,374 1 6.14
Johns Hopkins Hospital and Health System . ......... ... . ... . . ... . oo, 15,753 2 4.82 14,120 2 3.71
University System of Maryland . ............ . . . 9.790 3 2.72 8,871 4 2.33
University of Maryland Medical System . .......... ... ..., 8,900 4 3.00
MedStar Health . ..... ... ... . ... . 6,202 5 1.90 9,000 3 2.36
LifeBridge Health .......... . ... .. . . 4,940 6 1.51 5,281 6 1.39
Constellation Energy / BGE ... .. ... 3,150 7 0.96 7,500 5 1.97
St. Agnes HealthCare . . . ... .. 2,730 8 0.84 3,000 8 0.79
ADACUS . ... 2,482 9 0.76
Mercy Health Services . . ... ..o 2,305 10 0.71 2,800 9 0.73
M&T Bank ... ... 3,051 7 0.80
Bank of America COrporation .. ... ...........uouuunin et 2,604 10 0.68
Subtotal Ten Largest Private Sector Employers ............................... 78,952 24.17 79,601 20.90
Total Government and Ten Largest Private Sector Employers ......................... ... 156,828 48.01% 160,404 42.12%
Source:

[11 For the government sector: Maryland Dept of Labor Licensing and Regulations, Employment data files for the period ending 12/31/2009.
[2] For the private sector: For 2010, Baltimore Development Corporation; For 2001, Baltimore Business Journal, Book of Lists 2003.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Full Time Equivalent Employees By Function

Last Ten Years

Full-time equivalent Employees at June 30

Function/program 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
General GOVEINMENt . . ... ..ottt 1,816 1,766 1,725 1,695 1,722 1,710 1,690 1,720 1,733 1,725
Public safety
POLICe . ... 3,961 4,131 4,102 4,030 3,983 3,935 3,937 3,930 3,909 3,897
FIre © oot 1,754 1,750 1,748 1,737 1,741 1,743 1,743 1,796 1,800 1,795
Other . ... 692 714 738 725 727 735 752 766 793 795
Conservationofhealth ........... ... ... ... ... .. ... L 760 773 770 742 719 680 671 761 883 878
Public library ......... ... . 402 411 416 432 421 417 418 437 430 432
Recreation and parks ............ .. ... i 326 433 372 368 362 364 364 369 404 400
Highways and streets ............ ... ..ot .. 1,636 1,511 1,511 1,511 1,515 1,510 1,518 1,523 1,514 1,499
Public Works
WaLET ..o 957 942 952 957 936 926 900 901 893 878
Waste Water . ... ...oett i 1,103 1,093 1,088 1,091 1,086 1,069 1,059 1,031 1,014 1,011
Solid Waste . .......oouuii 972 974 954 891 872 868 863 899 876 875
Other . ... 856 826 626 609 570 598 606 607 627 621
Public service .. ....... ... 58 55 63 64 64 64 68 68 68 68
Economic development ................... i 578 522 528 533 528 518 541 518 598 564

15,871 15901 15,593 15,385 15,246 15,137 15,130 15,326 15,542 15,438

Source: Baltimore City Bureau of Budget and Management Research
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Operating Indicators By Function/Program

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

Function/Program 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Police

ATTeStS™ ... 93,780 102,397 110,167 100,388 99,981 92,904 76,587 86,027 81,895 82,369
Fire

Fire Suppression Units Dispatched ................... N/A N/A N/A 106,822 120,906 126,942 132,560 137,272 136,003 135,421

Structural Fires .. .......... i i 2,384 2,758 2,223 2,132 2,370 2,372 2,275 2,177 2,100 2,154

EMS Transports . ........oouuiiiiiinnnnnnnennnaa.. 81,029 83,026 82,453 83,348 83,828 86,881 89,331 88,831 86,128 86,985

INSPECHIONS . . oo vttt ettt 24,795 21,805 12,560 14,707 20,250 20,543 23,630 26,594 25,654 24,156
Solid Waste

Refuse Collected (tons) . ............ooviiiiiaaa .. 206,851 208,970 212,711 218,324 220,063 218,194 206,333 195,601 180,693 178,121

Recyclables Collected (tons) ........................ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 166,656 167,236 217,026 229,654 256,422
Water/Wastewater

Number of Accounts .............................. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 409,208 439,327 439,676 440,215 441,209

Average Daily Water Production (MGD) .............. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 251 251 226 226 226

Average Daily Sewage Treatment (MGD) ............. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 210 210 192 192 192
Transportation

Miles Streets Resurfaced/Reconstructed . .............. 73.7 103.2 144.1 38.7 113.5 13.5 94.8 69.5 75.5 82.3

Potholes Repaired .............. ... ... ... ... .. ... N/A N/A 7,769 11,592 19,000 16,054 15,345 15,478 14,879 15,121

Traffic Citations Issued ........... ... ... ... ... ..., N/A 2,660 3,233 9,760 12,422 7,744 4,488 4,909 5,009 6,231

Parking Citations Issued ........................... N/A 328,038 331,422 340,448 340,444 364,041 400,263 368,099 389,642 379,633

Traffic Signals Repaired ........................... N/A N/A N/A 8,274 10,973 11,482 9,737 5,513 5,124 6,901

Street Lights Repaired ............................. N/A N/A 12,248 13,345 12,982 21,527 27,459 24,847 22,008 25,415
Housing

Number of inspections (housing and code enforcement) . .. N/A N/A N/A 179,385 199,830 169,727 180,073 175,922 172,555 169,987

Number of permits issued .......................... 20,133 20,803 23,138 26,692 32,780 38,787 38,455 34,565 33,068 36,630

Property Management Service Requests Completed** . . .. N/A N/A N/A 13,109 15,635 30,537 24,951 26,630 22,964 21,421
Recreation and Parks

Enrollment at Recreation Centers .................... N/A N/A 170,440 152,660 155,193 138,583 141,232 142,009 139,632 135,547

Permits Issued for Park Facilities .................... N/A N/A 526 572 808 661 723 698 789 653
Library

Volumes in Circulation (millions) .................... 3.1 3.1 32 2.7 2.2 2.3 2.6 2.5 2.5 2.6

Volumes Borrowed (millions) . ...................... 1.4 1.2 1.4 1.4 14 1.4 14 1.3 1.5 1.5

N/A Data not available.

* Yearly arrests are based on calendar year data, not fiscal year. The 2010 numbers are through 10/31/2010.

** Property Management represents primarily cleaning and boarding of vacant properties.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

Function/Program 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Police/Sheriff

Buildings . ... N/A N/A N/A N/A 10 10 10 10 10 10

Marked Patrol Units ........................ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 525 466 473 471 487

Other vehicles .. ..., N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 616 654 639 645 633
Fire Stations

Buildings . ... N/A N/A N/A N/A 39 39 39 39 39 39

Fire/EMS Apparatus (Tankers/Ladders/Medics)

(Fleet) .. ovvvviii i N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 160 160 160 160 160

Other vehicles ... ..........uuiinnnnn.. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 152 168 164 164 164
Recreation and Parks

Buildings ... N/A N/A N/A N/A 147 148 148 148 148 148

ACICAZE . . v v 6,500 6,500 5,827 5,827 5,827 5,827 5,827 5,827 5,827 5,827

Vehicles .. ..vuue N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 127 129 125 119 123

Equipment . ..............iiiii N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 304 309 295 286 296
Public Works (Transportation, Solid Waste, and

General Services)

Buildings ... N/A N/A N/A N/A 30 30 30 30 30 30

Vehicles . ...t N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 990 971 980 968 952

Equipment ........... ... i N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 496 509 515 503 515

Streets (miles) . ... o i il N/A N/A N/A N/A 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Water/Wastewater

Treatment plants ........................... N/A N/A N/A N/A 4 4 4 4 4 4

Other Buildings ........................... N/A N/A N/A N/A 31 31 31 31 31 31

Vehicles ... N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 611 625 615 608 599

Equipment . ..............iiiiii N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 411 412 420 418 429

Water Mains (Miles) ...............ccounn. N/A 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400

Water Treatment capacity (MGD) ............. 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360

Sanitary sewers (miles) ........... ... ... ... N/A 1,340 1,340 1,340 1,340 1,340 1,340 1,335 1,335 1,335

Storm sewers (miles) ....................... N/A 1,080 1,080 1,080 1,080 1,080 1,080 1,100 1,100 1,100

Wastewater Treatment capacity (MGD) ........ 250 250 250 250 250 253 253 253 253 253
Libraries

Buildings . ... N/A N/A N/A N/A 32 32 33 34 34 34

Vehicles .. .vvune N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 17 17 17 16 16
Other-General Government

Buildings .. ... N/A N/A N/A N/A 1,353%* 1,353%* 1,353%* 1,353%* 1,353%* 1,353*

Vehicles . ...t N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 197 211 201 197 201

Equipment ............ ..o N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 59 62 66 64 61

*  The total number of buildings for this category, in addition to those used for General Government purposes, includes residential properties under the ownership of the Mayor

and City Council.
N/A Data not available

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance
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Baltimore, Maryland 21202 Fax: +1410 783 3832
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Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
And on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With
Government Auditing Standards

The Mayor, City Council,
Comptroller and Board of Estimates
Of the City of Baltimore, Maryland:

We have jointly audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Baltimore, Maryland (the "City"), as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2010, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements, and
have issued our report thereon dated December 5, 2012. Our report was modified to include a
reference to other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. We
did not jointly audit the financial statements of the Pension Trust Funds. We also did not audit
the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation which comprise
the City's discretely presented component units. The financial statements of the Pension Trust
Funds were audited by the City Auditor acting separately, and the Baltimore City Public School
System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation were audited by other auditors as described in our
report on the City of Baltimore, Maryland's financial statements. This report does not include the
results of the other auditors' testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and
other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City's internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose
of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial
reporting.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose
described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control over financial reporting that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and
therefore, there can be no assurance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material
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weaknesses have been identified. However, as described below, we identified certain deficiencies
in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies described below in
Findings 2010-1 through 2010-6 to be material weaknesses.

Finding 2010-1: Capital Assets

Capital assets are accounted for as construction-work-in-process until such time as they are
completed and ready to be placed in operation. Once that determination is made, the related costs
are transferred to the appropriate category (buildings, equipment, etc.) and depreciated.

During the course of our audit, we identified various accounts for which management could not
provide an adequate analysis or listing of items that were included or should have been included
in capital assets. Various audit differences were noted as a result in construction-work-in-
progress. Based on audit procedures performed and inquiry of client personnel, it was
determined that communications and follow up between the Bureau of Accounting and Payroll
Services and various City agencies was not occurring on regular intervals. This resulted in the
accounting of the construction-work-in-progress projects not being either recorded timely or
recorded at all as depreciable capital assets.

Management followed-up on this issue and detected material errors in the financial statements
resulting from the misclassification of capital assets. Material adjustments were necessary to
reclassify amounts recorded as construction-work-in-progress to other capital asset accounts. In
addition, material adjustments were necessary to expense items improperly recorded as
construction-work-in-progress.

We recommend that a more effective process and associated internal controls for analyzing the
construction-work-in-progress accounts be developed and implemented. This process should
delineate the roles and responsibilities of City staff in analyzing these accounts and identify the
internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that material errors will be prevented
or detected. This process should also include an evaluation of human resource needs the Bureau
of Accounting and Payroll Services and various City agencies to ensure that all related policies,
procedures and internal controls can be effectively implemented. This process should include,
but not be limited to, the following: (1) the development and maintenance of a detail of capital
assets by asset classification; (2) a system that will automatically calculate the depreciation to be
recorded; (3) internal controls that require the reconciliation of capital asset detail, including
construction-work-in-progress, to the general ledger and the amounts reported in the financial
statements; and, (4) internal controls that require the routine review and assessment of projects
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classified as construction-work-in-progress to determine if such classification remains
appropriate. The City should consider the need to centralize this process. Given the significance
of capital asset activity across virtually all City agencies and the pervasive nature of the identified
control deficiencies, the development of the appropriate processes and related internal controls
will require a significant effort and require the oversight of senior financial management to
ensure the timely remediation of the control deficiencies.

Management Response:

The Department of Finance agrees with the need for more control over the City of Baltimore’s
capital assets and the accounting for such assets. To that end the Department, through its Bureau
of Accounting and Payroll Services (BAPS), is meeting with each agency quarterly to discuss the
status of their capital assets and the timing and strategy for completion of capital projects. These
meetings will allow the Department to assess when the assets should be moved from Work in
Process to in service and as a result start the depreciation process. Annually, agency heads will be
responsible for certifying the status of each capital project. Initial agency meetings were held in
September 2012.

The Department of Finance has also contracted with McGladrey, an international accounting and
consulting firm and the implementer of the City’s Citydynamics financial system, to evaluate
current capitalization policies and procedures and to recommend best practices GAAP compliant
capital asset accounting policies for the City of Baltimore. In addition, they have been contracted
to implement the Fixed Asset module of the Citydynamics system once the proper methodology
for inventorying and valuing capital assets has been developed. The City already owns the
licenses for the software supporting Citydynamics. This project was started in August 2012 and
is expected to be completed during calendar year 2013.

BAPS is supportive of centralizing City accounting and will pursue the feasibility of this strategy
during calendar year 2013. BAPS plans to provide additional agency oversight of accounting
operations in each City agency to ensure consistency in implementing and complying with City
policies, procedures and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). BAPS has
requested funding for additional senior level accounting analysts in its FY 2014-2015 budget
requests.

Finding 2010-2: Accruals

Internal controls should be designed and implemented to ensure each accrual is properly
calculated and analyzed, has appropriate supporting detail and is reviewed by the appropriate
personnel at year-end as part of the financial statement close process.

During the course of our audit, we identified various accounts for which management could not
provide an adequate analysis or listing of items that were included or should have been included
as accruals. Various audit differences were noted as a result in workers’ compensation claims
accounts caused by inadequate staffing to fully execute year-end financial statement close
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process responsibilities. Management followed-up on this issue and detected material errors in
the financial statements resulting from errors in various accruals. Material adjustments were
necessary to properly state accrual accounts, mainly the refund accruals, worker compensation
and grant advances.

We recommend that a more effective process and related internal controls should be designed
and implemented to ensure each accrual is properly calculated and analyzed, has appropriate
supporting detail and is reviewed by the appropriate personnel at year-end. This process and
related internal controls should delineate the roles and responsibilities of City staff in the
preparation of the accruals and include effective review controls that would provide reasonable
assurance that material financial statement errors will be detected on a timely basis.

Management Response:

The Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services believes that the implementation of quarterly
financial reporting, additional oversight of agency accounting, and planned routine account
analysis and reconciliations by senior level accounting analysts will provide additional oversight
and control over the accrual process and thus provide more reliable and accurate financial
information. Funding for additional accounting analysts has been requested in the Bureau’s FY
2014-2015 budget request.

Finding 2010-3: Financial Statement Close Process

Internal controls over the financial statement close process should be designed and implemented
to ensure each adjustment the Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services is properly calculated
and analyzed, has appropriate supporting detail, is reviewed by the appropriate personnel and
streamlined to require as little manual supporting calculations as possible.

We noted that preparation of a complete set of financial statements is developed from a variety of
sources and while prepared at some level on a regular basis, the process is more manual and time
consuming than necessary. Further, numerous top side adjustments are made to generate
financial statements. The manual process of preparing the financial statements, lack of detailed
reconciliations to the general ledger and a lack of well defined review controls results in a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. Material adjustments were necessary to
properly state accrual accounts which required large adjustments at year end. Delays in issuance
were realized as well because of labor intensive efforts to perform manual account
reconciliations.

We support management’s efforts to further automate the financial statement close process.
Management should prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP on no less than
a quarterly basis, as this will facilitate a more routine process at year-end closing. This will also
help to identify material adjustments that should be recorded at year-end.
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We recommend that management develop and document a more effective process for the
financial statement close. This process should delineate the roles and responsibilities of City
staff in the preparation of the financial statements and include internal controls designed and
implemented to timely detect material errors. This process should also include an evaluation of
human resource needs in each of the City’s accounting offices to ensure that all related policies
and procedures can be effectively implemented. This process is complex and will require a
significant effort to establish a plan that will allow the City to prepare accurate financial
information. A financial statement close process checklist should be developed based on the
final designed and implemented process. This checklist will facilitate identifying all critical
items that need to be completed, including closing entries and the review of critical general
ledger accounts.

Management Response:

The Department of Finance agrees with the recommendation for additional control,
documentation, and oversight of the financial close process. Prior to the implementation of
Citydynamics in March 2009 the City did not have an effective mechanism to perform
reconciliations, analyses, and interim financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP). The City now has these tools and the Bureau of Accounting and
Payroll Services (BAPS) has developed a process to prepare and analyze GAAP financial
statements on a quarterly basis. The implementation of this process was delayed until the
restatement of FY 2010 financials was completed in order to have accurate beginning balances to
start the quarterly financial statement process. It is expected that quarterly financial statements
will be prepared starting with the second quarter of FY 2013. While systems can be configured
to prepare financial statements and basic analytical reports it must be emphasized that qualified
senior level accounting resources must interpret and analyze the results of any financial statement
or report. In addition, given the complexity of the other disclosures such as Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and footnotes, there will always be the need to perform certain functions
outside of the actual financial system. The Department believes that quarterly financial statement
preparation will allow for greater control over the annual CAFR process and allow for a more
timely and accurate financial reporting process. It should also be noted that the Citydynamics
system provided BAPS a mechanism to identify and quantify many of the issues presented to
KPMG and E&Y that ultimately resulted in the restatement of the FY 2010 CAFR.

BAPS does maintain a detailed checklist of activities required to develop and complete the
CAFR. The Bureau believes that this checklist can be improved and should include some
additional documented discussion of the steps needed to prepare and analyze the CAFR. BAPS
plans to enhance this checklist and CAFR documentation following the completion of the FY
2012 CAFR.

BAPS has included a request for funding for additional senior level accounting analysts in its FY
2014-2015 budget request.
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Finding 2010-4: Grant Funds Accounting

In connection with GASB Statement No. 33 and the matching principle, receivable and deferrals
related to monies received or deferred should be done by matching the expenditure with the
related receipt by individual grants.

During our audit, we noted material errors related to the accounting for grants. The City
manually determines the related grant receivable or grant advance (unearned revenue) in
reporting the grants in the government-wide statements by downloading all grant accounts in City
Dynamics to an Excel file (Grant Schedule) during the financial statement close process. The
analysis performed by the City was on an account by account basis and the analysis did not
consider whether there were multiple accounts related to the same grant. Since there were
instances where the revenues and expenditures related to a grant were recorded in different
general ledger accounts, the analysis prepared by the City did not result in the proper accounts
receivable and deferred income balances. Thus, the errors are primarily related to input errors in
the spreadsheet to calculate amounts receivable or advances from grantors and the grouping of
the appropriate general ledger accounts which comprise the receivables or advances from
grantors. Material adjustments were necessary to properly state accrual accounts which required
large adjustments at year end.

We recommend that a more effective process and associated internal controls for analyzing the
grant accounts be developed and implemented. This process should delineate the roles and
responsibilities of City staff, including staff at the various agencies that receive grants, in
analyzing these accounts and identify the internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material errors will be prevented or detected. This process should also include an
evaluation of human resource needs at both the City and its various agencies to ensure that all
related policies, procedures and internal controls can be effectively implemented. This process
should include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) reconciling grant accounts from the
subsidiary ledgers to the general ledger on a monthly basis; (2) review of the monthly
reconciliations to ensure they are properly prepared and that any necessary adjustments are
recorded timely; and, (3) internal controls that require the reconciliation of the grants detail to the
general ledger and the amounts reported in the financial statements. The City should consider
the need to centralize this process. Given the significance of grant activity across virtually all
City agencies and the pervasive nature of the identified control deficiencies, the development of
the appropriate processes and related internal controls will require a significant effort and require
the oversight of senior financial management to ensure the timely remediation of the control
deficiencies.

Management Response:

The Finance Department recognizes that there are problems with the decentralized nature of
grants management. The department is currently evaluating how grants are managed and expect
to make enhancements to its grants oversight responsibilities during calendar year 2013. BAPS
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will be taking a more active oversight of agency accounting including, accounting for grants to
ensure that grants are effectively controlled.

Finding 2010-5: Water and Wastewater Billing

Water and Wastewater utility bills should be provided to City clients on a timely basis and as
accurately as possible. Discrepancies should be reviewed by Department of Public Works (DPW)
billing specialists and any adjustments to customers’ accounts should be made accordingly.
Amounts billed to City customers should not be heavily reliant on an estimated read process and
actual readings should be conducted at practical intervals.

Based on a review of allegations regarding Water and Wastewater billing procedures performed
by the Department of Audits, material errors were detected related to Water and Wastewater
billings due to information system deficiencies. We believe that the cause of this material
weakness was inadequate staffing resources to fully execute the meter reading process in a
diligent manner and a myriad of system deficiencies. Material adjustments were necessary to
properly state accrual accounts which required large adjustments at year end. Delays in issuance
were realized as well because of labor intensive efforts to perform manual account
reconciliations.

We recommend that the information system deficiencies be remediated as soon as possible. Until
such time, interim processes should be designed and implemented to mitigate billing errors.
Further, given the increased risk that errors will not be prevented, additional review procedures
should be designed and implemented to timely detect any inadvertent errors. This evaluation
should also include an evaluation of human resource needs at the Bureau of Accounting and
Payroll Services and the Water and Wastewater agencies to ensure that all related policies,
procedures and internal controls can be effectively implemented.

Management Response:

The Bureau of Water and Wastewater acknowledges limitations of the legacy system which
provides billing controls across the Utility’s retail customer base. The deficiencies in the system
hold no correlation to impacts of accuracy; however withhold necessary detail to provide an
adequate audit trail of the manual calculation steps prior to system entry. Following a
recommendation received from the Department of Audits in November of 2011, the Bureau
revised internal procedures and archival methods of capturing historical billing records.
Concurrently, leadership within the Bureau conducted an analysis identifying resource
sufficiency to meet the Audit recommendations as well as existing business requirements.
Conclusion of this analysis resulted in additional review of all operating procedures across the
Customer Care Division, additional training of billing personnel, and long term strategic planning
to design and procure a replacement for the legacy billing system.
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Finding 2010-6: Compensated Work

The internal control processes of an entity should be designed to reconcile subsidiary control
ledgers to the general ledger on a periodic basis. Monitoring processes should be in place to
ensure that individuals who are responsible for performing these reconciliations are performing
them on a timely basis.

During our audit, we detected significant errors related to the compensated work accounts,
primarily billing across agencies for compensation and benefits, in the general ledger. These
errors were caused by poorly designed internal controls and the fact that amounts are not
accumulated and billed on a timely basis. In addition, the controls are not properly designed to
ensure the amounts billed are monitored and collected on a timely basis. As such, the City is
unable to properly and timely pursue collection efforts related to all amounts related to
compensated work with the responsible agency or third party.

A process and related internal controls should be created to ensure that all compensated work
accounts are monitored and analyzed at year-end. This process should delineate the roles and
responsibilities of City staff in the monitoring of all compensated work accounts in the general
ledger along with a review process that would detect any adjustments necessary to properly
reflect the net realizable value of these accounts in the financial statements. This process should
also ensure that collection efforts occur timely and that appropriate follow-up occurs on
delinquent accounts.

Management Response:

The Department of Finance will evaluate the current process for compensated work and develop
the appropriate mechanisms to accumulate, account for, bill, monitor and collect the costs
associated with such work. This evaluation will be completed during calendar year 2013.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free
of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly,
we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

The City of Baltimore's responses to the findings identified in our audit are described above. We
did not audit the City of Baltimore's response and accordingly, we express no opinion on it.
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of management of the City of
Baltimore, Maryland, Board of Estimates, others within the entity, Federal and State awarding
agencies, and pass-through entities, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

g o

Robert L. McCarty, Jr., CPA Ernst & Young LLP
City Auditor Independent Auditors
Department of Audits

December 5, 2012
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Auditor’s Report on Supplementary Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards

December 5, 2012

Honorable Joan M. Pratt, Comptroller
And Other Members of the
Board of Estimates

City of Baltimore

We have jointly audited with Ernst & Young LLP, the basic financial statements of the City of
Baltimore, Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, and have issued our report
thereon dated December 5, 2012. These basic financial statements are the responsibility of the
City of Baltimore, Maryland’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
basic financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the basic financial
statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
City of Baltimore, Maryland’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the basic financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We did not perform tests of compliance with requirements of federal financial assistance
programs received by the Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) and the Enoch Pratt
Free Library (EPFL). Consequently, although these entities’ financial statements are included in
the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, these entities have not been included in this
report. Both the BCPSS and the EPFL are subject to separate audits in accordance with Federal
and State requirements. Federal financial assistance program expenditures covered in these
separate reports totaled $212,196,651 for the BCPSS and $32,795 for the EPFL.



The previously issued June 30, 2010 auditor’s report on supplementary schedule of expenditures
of federal awards submitted March 31, 2011, is replaced by this report due to the restatement of
the June 30, 2010 financial statements as discussed in the independent auditors’ report in Part |
of this Single Audit report.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s basic financial statements. The
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional
analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States,
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Respectfully submitted,

M 2 7

Robert L. McCarty, Jr., CPA
City Auditor
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PART IV

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE
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Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Requirements
That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect
On Each Major Program and on Internal Control
Over Compliance in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133

March 28, 2013

Honorable Joan M. Pratt, Comptroller
And Other Members of the
Board of Estimates of the

City of Baltimore

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of the City of Baltimore, Maryland, with the types of
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to each of its major federal programs
for the year ended June 30, 2010. The City of Baltimore, Maryland’s major federal programs are
identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grants applicable to each of its major federal programs is the responsibility of the City of
Baltimore, Maryland’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the City of
Baltimore, Maryland’s compliance based on our audit.

The City of Baltimore, Maryland’s basic financial statements include the operations of the
Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) and the Enoch Pratt Free Library (EPFL), which
incurred a total of $212,196,651 and $32,795, respectively, in federal expenditures during the
year ended June 30, 2010. Our audit, described below, did not include the operations of the
BCPSS and the EPFL because they are subject to separate audits in accordance with Federal and
State requirements.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular
A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards
and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s



compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s
compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the City of Baltimore, Maryland complied, in all material respects, with the
requirements referred to above that are applicable to each of its major federal programs for the
year ended June 30, 2010. However, the results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of
noncompliance with those requirements, which are required to be reported in accordance with
OMB Circular A-133 and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as items 10-1 through 10-10.

Internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the City of Baltimore, Maryland is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal programs. In planning and performing our
audit, we considered the City of Baltimore, Maryland’s internal control over compliance with the
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of
Baltimore, Maryland’s internal control over compliance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the preceding paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in the entity’s
internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses as defined below.
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

A control deficiency in an entity’s internal control over compliance exists when the design or
operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity’s
ability to administer a federal program such that there is more than a remote likelihood that
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is more than
inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control. We consider
the deficiencies in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs as items 10-11 through 10-12 to be significant deficiencies.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that
results in more than a remote likelihood that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal
control. We did not consider any of the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs to be a material weakness.



The previously issued June 30, 2010 auditor’s report on compliance with requirements that could
have a direct and material effect on each major program and on internal control over compliance
in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 submitted March 31, 2011, is replaced by this report
due to the restatement of the June 30, 2010 financial statements as discussed in the independent
auditors’ report in Part | of this Single Audit report.

The City of Baltimore, Maryland’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit the City of
Baltimore, Maryland’s response and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management of the City of
Baltimore, Maryland, Federal and State awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Respectfully submitted,

e

Robert L. McCarty, Jr., CPA
City Auditor
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CITY OF BALTIMORE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION | - SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS

SECTION Il - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

SECTION Il - FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Compliance With Requirements That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each

Major Program

10-1

10-2

10-3

10-4

10-5
10-6

10-7
10-8

10-9
10-10

Documentation of Participant Eligibility Was Not on File and Database
of Program Recipients Was Not Maintained

City Agencies Were Not Adhering to Federal Requirements Regarding
Internal Monitoring of Subrecipients

Documentation Was Not Provided to Support Earmarking, Program
Income, and Internal Monitoring

Financial Reports Were Not Supported by the Underlying Accounting
Records

Financial Reports Were Not Submitted in a Timely Manner
Obligations Incurred Were Not Liquidated Within 90 Days of the End
of the Funding Period

Drawdowns of Funds Exceeded Program Expenditures
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CITY OF BALTIMORE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Section | - Summary of Auditors' Results

Part I — Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
Type of auditors’ report issued: Unqualified opinion

Part Il —Auditors’ Report on Compliance and Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weaknesses identified? X Yes No
Significant deficiencies identified that are not

considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X None reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No

Part 111 - Supplementary Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
Awards
Type of auditor’s report issued: Unqualified opinion

Part IV — Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Requirements
That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect On Each
Major Program and on Internal Control over Compliance
in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133

Internal control over major programs:

Material weaknesses identified? Yes X No
Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses? X Yes None reported
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major Unqualified opinion
programs?

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with Section 510(a) of Circular A-133? X Yes No




CITY OF BALTIMORE, MARYLAND

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
(Continued)

Part IV — Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Requirements

That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect On Each

Major Program and on Internal Control over Compliance

in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133 (continued)

Identification of major programs:

CFDA
Number

10.558

10.559
14.218/253
14.235

14.238

14.239

14.241
17.258/259/260

20.205
93.044/045/053

93.569/710
93.600/708
93.778
93.914
93.917

Title

Child and Adult Care Food Program

Summer Food Service Program for Children

Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants

Supportive Housing Program

Shelter Plus Care

HOME Investment Partnerships Program

Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS

Workforce Investment Act Adult Programs, Youth Activities, and Dislocated
Workers

Highway Planning and Construction

Special Programs for the Aging -Title Ill, Parts B & C, and Nutrition Services
Incentive Program (NSIP)

Community Services Block Grant

Head Start

Medical Assistance Program

HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants

HIV Care Formula Grants

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $3,000,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes X No



CITY OF BALTIMORE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Section Il — Financial Statement Findings

The Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters, included in Part Il of this Single Audit, identifies six material weaknesses
and no instances of noncompliance related to the financial statements that are required to
be reported in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. The six material
weaknesses are described below.

Finding 2010-1: Capital Assets

Capital assets are accounted for as construction-work-in-process until such time as they
are completed and ready to be placed in operation. Once that determination is made, the
related costs are transferred to the appropriate category (buildings, equipment, etc.) and
depreciated.

During the course of our audit, we identified various accounts for which management
could not provide an adequate analysis or listing of items that were included or should
have been included in capital assets. Various audit differences were noted as a result in
construction-work-in-progress. Based on audit procedures performed and inquiry of
client personnel, it was determined that communications and follow up between the
Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services and various City agencies was not occurring
on regular intervals. This resulted in the accounting of the construction-work-in-progress
projects not being either recorded timely or recorded at all as depreciable capital assets.

Management followed-up on this issue and detected material errors in the financial
statements resulting from the misclassification of capital assets. Material adjustments
were necessary to reclassify amounts recorded as construction-work-in-progress to other
capital asset accounts. In addition, material adjustments were necessary to expense items
improperly recorded as construction-work-in-progress.

We recommend that a more effective process and associated internal controls for
analyzing the construction-work-in-progress accounts be developed and implemented.
This process should delineate the roles and responsibilities of City staff in analyzing
these accounts and identify the internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
that material errors will be prevented or detected. This process should also include an
evaluation of human resource needs the Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services and
various City agencies to ensure that all related policies, procedures and internal controls
can be effectively implemented. This process should include, but not be limited to, the
following: (1) the development and maintenance of a detail of capital assets by asset
classification; (2) a system that will automatically calculate the depreciation to be
recorded; (3) internal controls that require the reconciliation of capital asset detail,
including construction-work-in-progress, to the general ledger and the amounts reported
in the financial statements; and, (4) internal controls that require the routine review and
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

assessment of projects classified as construction-work-in-progress to determine if such
classification remains appropriate. The City should consider the need to centralize this
process. Given the significance of capital asset activity across virtually all City agencies
and the pervasive nature of the identified control deficiencies, the development of the
appropriate processes and related internal controls will require a significant effort and
require the oversight of senior financial management to ensure the timely remediation of
the control deficiencies.

Management Response:

The Department of Finance agrees with the need for more control over the City of
Baltimore’s capital assets and the accounting for such assets. To that end the
Department, through its Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services (BAPS), is meeting
with each agency quarterly to discuss the status of their capital assets and the timing and
strategy for completion of capital projects. These meetings will allow the Department to
assess when the assets should be moved from Work in Process to in service and as a
result start the depreciation process. Annually, agency heads will be responsible for
certifying the status of each capital project. Initial agency meetings were held in
September 2012.

The Department of Finance has also contracted with McGladrey, an international
accounting and consulting firm and the implementer of the City’s Citydynamics financial
system, to evaluate current capitalization policies and procedures and to recommend best
practices GAAP compliant capital asset accounting policies for the City of Baltimore. In
addition, they have been contracted to implement the Fixed Asset module of the
Citydynamics system once the proper methodology for inventorying and valuing capital
assets has been developed. The City already owns the licenses for the software supporting
Citydynamics. This project was started in August 2012 and is expected to be completed
during calendar year 2013.

BAPS is supportive of centralizing City accounting and will pursue the feasibility of this
strategy during calendar year 2013. BAPS plans to provide additional agency oversight of
accounting operations in each City agency to ensure consistency in implementing and
complying with City policies, procedures and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP). BAPS has requested funding for additional senior level accounting analysts in
its FY 2014-2015 budget requests.

Finding 2010-2: Accruals

Internal controls should be designed and implemented to ensure each accrual is properly
calculated and analyzed, has appropriate supporting detail and is reviewed by the
appropriate personnel at year-end as part of the financial statement close process.
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During the course of our audit, we identified various accounts for which management
could not provide an adequate analysis or listing of items that were included or should
have been included as accruals. Various audit differences were noted as a result in
workers’ compensation claims accounts caused by inadequate staffing to fully execute
year-end financial statement close process responsibilities. Management followed-up on
this issue and detected material errors in the financial statements resulting from errors in
various accruals. Material adjustments were necessary to properly state accrual accounts,
mainly the refund accruals, worker compensation and grant advances.

We recommend that a more effective process and related internal controls should be
designed and implemented to ensure each accrual is properly calculated and analyzed,
has appropriate supporting detail and is reviewed by the appropriate personnel at year-
end. This process and related internal controls should delineate the roles and
responsibilities of City staff in the preparation of the accruals and include effective
review controls that would provide reasonable assurance that material financial statement
errors will be detected on a timely basis.

Management Response:

The Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services believes that the implementation of
quarterly financial reporting, additional oversight of agency accounting, and planned
routine account analysis and reconciliations by senior level accounting analysts will
provide additional oversight and control over the accrual process and thus provide more
reliable and accurate financial information. Funding for additional accounting analysts
has been requested in the Bureau’s FY 2014-2015 budget request.

Finding 2010-3: Financial Statement Close Process

Internal controls over the financial statement close process should be designed and
implemented to ensure each adjustment the Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services is
properly calculated and analyzed, has appropriate supporting detail, is reviewed by the
appropriate personnel and streamlined to require as little manual supporting calculations
as possible.

We noted that preparation of a complete set of financial statements is developed from a
variety of sources and while prepared at some level on a regular basis, the process is
more manual and time consuming than necessary. Further, numerous top side
adjustments are made to generate financial statements. The manual process of preparing
the financial statements, lack of detailed reconciliations to the general ledger and a lack
of well defined review controls results in a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. Material adjustments were necessary to properly state
accrual accounts which required large adjustments at year end. Delays in issuance were
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realized as well because of labor intensive efforts to perform manual account
reconciliations.

We support management’s efforts to further automate the financial statement close
process. Management should prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S.
GAAP on no less than a quarterly basis, as this will facilitate a more routine process at
year-end closing. This will also help to identify material adjustments that should be
recorded at year-end.

We recommend that management develop and document a more effective process for the
financial statement close. This process should delineate the roles and responsibilities of
City staff in the preparation of the financial statements and include internal controls
designed and implemented to timely detect material errors. This process should also
include an evaluation of human resource needs in each of the City’s accounting offices to
ensure that all related policies and procedures can be effectively implemented. This
process is complex and will require a significant effort to establish a plan that will allow
the City to prepare accurate financial information. A financial statement close process
checklist should be developed based on the final designed and implemented process.
This checklist will facilitate identifying all critical items that need to be completed,
including closing entries and the review of critical general ledger accounts.

Management Response:

The Department of Finance agrees with the recommendation for additional control,
documentation, and oversight of the financial close process. Prior to the implementation
of Citydynamics in March 2009 the City did not have an effective mechanism to perform
reconciliations, analyses, and interim financial reports in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The City now has these tools and the Bureau
of Accounting and Payroll Services (BAPS) has developed a process to prepare and
analyze GAAP financial statements on a quarterly basis. The implementation of this
process was delayed until the restatement of FY 2010 financials was completed in order
to have accurate beginning balances to start the quarterly financial statement process. It
is expected that quarterly financial statements will be prepared starting with the second
quarter of FY 2013. While systems can be configured to prepare financial statements and
basic analytical reports it must be emphasized that qualified senior level accounting
resources must interpret and analyze the results of any financial statement or report. In
addition, given the complexity of the other disclosures such as Management’s Discussion
and Analysis and footnotes, there will always be the need to perform certain functions
outside of the actual financial system. The Department believes that quarterly financial
statement preparation will allow for greater control over the annual CAFR process and
allow for a more timely and accurate financial reporting process. It should also be noted
that the Citydynamics system provided BAPS a mechanism to identify and quantify many
of the issues presented to KPMG and E&Y that ultimately resulted in the restatement of
the FY 2010 CAFR.
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BAPS does maintain a detailed checklist of activities required to develop and complete
the CAFR. The Bureau believes that this checklist can be improved and should include
some additional documented discussion of the steps needed to prepare and analyze the
CAFR. BAPS plans to enhance this checklist and CAFR documentation following the
completion of the FY 2012 CAFR.

BAPS has included a request for funding for additional senior level accounting analysts
in its FY 2014-2015 budget request.

Finding 2010-4: Grant Funds Accounting

In connection with GASB Statement No. 33 and the matching principle, receivable and
deferrals related to monies received or deferred should be done by matching the
expenditure with the related receipt by individual grants.

During our audit, we noted material errors related to the accounting for grants. The City
manually determines the related grant receivable or grant advance (unearned revenue) in
reporting the grants in the government-wide statements by downloading all grant
accounts in City Dynamics to an Excel file (Grant Schedule) during the financial
statement close process. The analysis performed by the City was on an account by
account basis and the analysis did not consider whether there were multiple accounts
related to the same grant. Since there were instances where the revenues and
expenditures related to a grant were recorded in different general ledger accounts, the
analysis prepared by the City did not result in the proper accounts receivable and deferred
income balances. Thus, the errors are primarily related to input errors in the spreadsheet
to calculate amounts receivable or advances from grantors and the grouping of the
appropriate general ledger accounts which comprise the receivables or advances from
grantors. Material adjustments were necessary to properly state accrual accounts which
required large adjustments at year end.

We recommend that a more effective process and associated internal controls for
analyzing the grant accounts be developed and implemented. This process should
delineate the roles and responsibilities of City staff, including staff at the various agencies
that receive grants, in analyzing these accounts and identify the internal controls designed
to provide reasonable assurance that material errors will be prevented or detected. This
process should also include an evaluation of human resource needs at both the City and
its various agencies to ensure that all related policies, procedures and internal controls
can be effectively implemented. This process should include, but not be limited to, the
following: (1) reconciling grant accounts from the subsidiary ledgers to the general ledger
on a monthly basis; (2) review of the monthly reconciliations to ensure they are properly
prepared and that any necessary adjustments are recorded timely; and, (3) internal
controls that require the reconciliation of the grants detail to the general ledger and the
amounts reported in the financial statements. The City should consider the need to
centralize this process. Given the significance of grant activity across virtually all City
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agencies and the pervasive nature of the identified control deficiencies, the development
of the appropriate processes and related internal controls will require a significant effort
and require the oversight of senior financial management to ensure the timely
remediation of the control deficiencies.

Management Response:

The Finance Department recognizes that there are problems with the decentralized nature
of grants management. The department is currently evaluating how grants are managed
and expect to make enhancements to its grants oversight responsibilities during calendar
year 2013. BAPS will be taking a more active oversight of agency accounting including,
accounting for grants to ensure that grants are effectively controlled.

Finding 2010-5: Water and Wastewater Billing

Water and Wastewater utility bills should be provided to City clients on a timely basis
and as accurately as possible. Discrepancies should be reviewed by Department of Public
Works (DPW) billing specialists and any adjustments to customers’ accounts should be
made accordingly. Amounts billed to City customers should not be heavily reliant on an
estimated read process and actual readings should be conducted at practical intervals.

Based on a review of allegations regarding Water and Wastewater billing procedures
performed by the Department of Audits, material errors were detected related to Water
and Wastewater billings due to information system deficiencies. We believe that the
cause of this material weakness was inadequate staffing resources to fully execute the
meter reading process in a diligent manner and a myriad of system deficiencies. Material
adjustments were necessary to properly state accrual accounts which required large
adjustments at year end. Delays in issuance were realized as well because of labor
intensive efforts to perform manual account reconciliations.

We recommend that the information system deficiencies be remediated as soon as
possible. Until such time, interim processes should be designed and implemented to
mitigate billing errors. Further, given the increased risk that errors will not be prevented,
additional review procedures should be designed and implemented to timely detect any
inadvertent errors. This evaluation should also include an evaluation of human resource
needs at the Bureau of Accounting and Payroll Services and the Water and Wastewater
agencies to ensure that all related policies, procedures and internal controls can be
effectively implemented.

Management Response:

The Bureau of Water and Wastewater acknowledges limitations of the legacy system
which provides billing controls across the Utility’s retail customer base. The deficiencies
in the system hold no correlation to impacts of accuracy; however withhold necessary
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detail to provide an adequate audit trail of the manual calculation steps prior to system
entry. Following a recommendation received from the Department of Audits in
November of 2011, the Bureau revised internal procedures and archival methods of
capturing historical billing records. Concurrently, leadership within the Bureau conducted
an analysis identifying resource sufficiency to meet the Audit recommendations as well
as existing business requirements. Conclusion of this analysis resulted in additional
review of all operating procedures across the Customer Care Division, additional training
of billing personnel, and long term strategic planning to design and procure a replacement
for the legacy billing system.

Finding 2010-6: Compensated Work

The internal control processes of an entity should be designed to reconcile subsidiary
control ledgers to the general ledger on a periodic basis. Monitoring processes should be
in place to ensure that individuals who are responsible for performing these
reconciliations are performing them on a timely basis.

During our audit, we detected significant errors related to the compensated work
accounts, primarily billing across agencies for compensation and benefits, in the general
ledger. These errors were caused by poorly designed internal controls and the fact that
amounts are not accumulated and billed on a timely basis. In addition, the controls are
not properly designed to ensure the amounts billed are monitored and collected on a
timely basis. As such, the City is unable to properly and timely pursue collection efforts
related to all amounts related to compensated work with the responsible agency or third

party.

A process and related internal controls should be created to ensure that all compensated
work accounts are monitored and analyzed at year-end. This process should delineate the
roles and responsibilities of City staff in the monitoring of all compensated work
accounts in the general ledger along with a review process that would detect any
adjustments necessary to properly reflect the net realizable value of these accounts in the
financial statements. This process should also ensure that collection efforts occur timely
and that appropriate follow-up occurs on delinquent accounts.

Management Response:

The Department of Finance will evaluate the current process for compensated work and
develop the appropriate mechanisms to accumulate, account for, bill, monitor and collect
the costs associated with such work. This evaluation will be completed during calendar
year 2013.
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Section 1l — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

Compliance With Requirements That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each
Major Program

Finding #: 10-1

CFDA #: 10.558, 93.569

Program Titles: Child and Adult Care Food Program
Community Services Block Grant

Federal Agency: Various
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: None

Documentation of Participant Eligibility Was Not on File and a Database of Program
Participants Was Not Maintained

The Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 requires the auditor to determine
whether program participants are eligible for program services by examining applicable
documentation and verifying such eligibility.

The Baltimore City Health Department administered federal program number 10.558 —
Child and Adult Care Food Program. We selected 26 participants for testing of certain
eligibility requirements. Of the 26 participants selected, four enrollment applications
were missing.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services administers federal program number 93.569 —
Community Services Block Grant. Although we tested 25 participants for certain
eligibility requirements without exception, we could not verify the accuracy of the
participant population, as the database of eligible clients had not been properly
maintained.

We recommend that the City ensure that each participant’s eligibility is properly
documented and maintained on site.

Responses:
The Baltimore City Health Department and the Mayor’s Office of Human Services’

responses and corrective action plans are included in Part VII — Auditee’s Corrective
Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-2
CFDA #: 14.235, 14.238, 14.241, 17.258/259/260, 93.600
Program Titles: Supportive Housing Program

Shelter Plus Care

Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS

Workforce Investment Act Adult Program, Youth Activities,
And Dislocated Workers

Head Start
Federal Agency: Various
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: None

City Agencies Were Not Adhering to Federal Requirements Regarding Internal
Monitoring of Subrecipients

The Federal Common Rule, Subpart C, Section .40, and OMB Circular A-133 require the
grantee to monitor its subrecipients and evaluate program performance. The City has the
responsibility to monitor its subrecipients, and to evaluate the impact of subrecipient
activities on the City’s ability to comply with Federal regulations.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administered federal program number
14.235 — Supportive Housing Program, 14.238 — Shelter Plus Care, and 14.241 — Housing
Opportunities for Persons with AIDS. During fiscal year 2010, MOHS did not have a
plan to monitor its subrecipients in accordance with federal regulations.

The Mayor’s Office of Employment Development (MOED) administers federal program
cluster 17.258/259/260 — Workforce Investment Act Adult Program, Youth Activities,
and Dislocated Workers. During fiscal year 2010, for 1 of 2 subrecipients selected,
MOED was unable to provide documentation that internal monitoring was performed.

The Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD) administered federal
program number 93.600 — Head Start. We selected four subrecipients for testing of
internal monitoring documentation. For all four subrecipients selected, the
documentation of the internal monitoring was incomplete. While it appears subrecipient
monitoring was performed, adequate reporting of the results of that monitoring was not
provided to the subrecipients’ and the City’s management.

We recommend that the MOHS, MOED and DCHD strictly adhere to federal guidelines
regarding monitoring of subrecipients as required by the Federal Common Rule, Subpart
C, Section .40, and OMB Circular A-133.

Responses:
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The Mayor’s Office of Human Services, the Mayor’s Office of Employment
Development, and the Department of Housing and Community Development’s responses
and corrective action plans are included in Part VII — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan
on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-3
CFDA #: 14.235, 14.238, 93.044/045/053, 93.914
Program Title: Supportive Housing Program

Shelter Plus Care

Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and
Nutrition Services Incentive Program

HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants

Federal Agency: Various
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: Various

Documentation Was Not Provided to Support Earmarking, Program Income, and Internal
Monitoring

Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 requires that adequate
documentation be maintained to support earmarking, program income, and internal
monitoring.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administered federal program number
14.235 — Supportive Housing Program. For fiscal year 2010, MOHS was unable to
provide three of five Annual Progress Reports selected to test for compliance with the
earmarking requirement of administrative costs.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services administered federal program number 14.238 —
Shelter Plus Care. For fiscal year 2010, MOHS was unable to provide the four Annual
Progress Reports selected to test for compliance with the earmarking requirement
administering housing assistance.

The Baltimore City Health Department (BCHD) administered federal program cluster
93.044/045/053 — Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and Nutrition
Services Incentive Program. For fiscal year 2010, BCHD was unable to provide
documentation to support legal services, in-home services, and access services
earmarking requirements; subrecipient and contractual program income requirements;
and internal monitoring requirements.

The Baltimore City Health Department administered federal program number 93.914 -
HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants. For fiscal year 2010, BCHD was unable
to provide documentation to support administrative costs, clinical quality management
program costs, and funds for core medical services earmarking requirements.

We recommend that the City implement procedures to ensure that such documentation is
provided in the future.
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Responses:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services and the Baltimore City Health Department’s

responses and corrective action plans are included in Part VII — Auditee’s Corrective
Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #:
CFDA #:

Program Titles:

Federal Agency:
Federal Award #:

Pass-Through:

CITY OF BALTIMORE, MARYLAND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

10-4

14.235, 93.044/045/053, 93.778, 93.914
Supportive Housing Program
Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and

Nutrition Services Incentive Program
Medical Assistance Program

HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants

Various
Various
Various

Financial Reports Were Not Supported by the Underlying Accounting Records

Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 requires the auditor to determine
whether financial reports, submitted to account for federal financial assistance, contain
information that is supported by the accounting records from which the basic financial
statements have been prepared.

As part of our fiscal year 2010 audit, we selected 33 final financial reports for active
awards within all major federal programs, and reviewed and compared these to the City’s
underlying accounting records.
reports could not be reconciled to the City’s accounting records:

PROGRAMTITLE

CFDA #93.044/045/053
Special Programs for the
Aging — Title 111, Parts
B & C and NSIP

CFDA #93.778
Maryland Children’s
Health Program

Administrative Care
Coordination

General Transportation

Services

CEDA #93.914
HIV Emergency Relief
Project/Formula Grants

Minority Aids Initiative

FEDERAL/
STATE ID
NUMBER

AAA-3-24-003

MA 365 GTS

MA 005 EPS

MA 365 GTS

5H89 HAQ00017-16

REPORT
PERIOD

(REV) / EXP
REFLECTED

ON
REPORT

10/1/07-9/30/08

7/1/08-6/30/09

7/1/08-6/30/09

7/1/08-6/30/09

3/1/09-2/28/10

8/1/08-7/31/09

15

$5,192,896

(4,442,185)

1,544,842

4,099,654

8,145,767

(6,265,037)

19,636,857

2,149,202

Of those reviewed, the following six final financial

(REV) / EXP
PERCITY’S (OVER)/
ACCOUNTING UNDER
RECORDS REPORTED
$5,943,852 $750,956
(4,569,154) 126,969
550,530 (994,312)
4,173,728 74,074
9,305,127 1,159,360
(8,968,830) 2,703,793
20,377,185 740,328
2,006,436 (142,766)
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Additionally, the Mayor’s Office of Human Resources (MOHS) administered federal
program number 14.235 - Supportive Housing Program. Out of five Annual Progress
Reports selected for review, MOHS was unable to provide us with three of them. A
determination whether these reports were supported by the accounting records could
therefore not be ascertained.

We recommend that future federal financial reports be prepared directly from the City’s
accounting records. We also recommend that program income, if applicable, be shown in
the financial reports. Detailed reconciliations should be prepared for each submitted
report showing how the reported amounts are supported by the City’s accounting records.

Responses:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services and the Baltimore City Health Department’s

responses and corrective action plans are included in Part VII — Auditee’s Corrective
Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-5
CFDA #: 14.235, 14.238, 14.241, 93.044/045/053, 93.778, 93.917
Program Titles: Supportive Housing Program

Shelter Plus Care

Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS

Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and
Nutrition Services Incentive Program (NSIP)

Medical Assistance Program

HIV Care Formula Grants

Federal Agency: Various
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: Various

Financial Reports Were Not Submitted in a Timely Manner

The Federal Common Rule, Subpart C, Section .41, sets forth uniform reporting
requirements including the timing, frequency and format of financial reports prepared and
submitted by grant recipients. Of the 33 final financial reports selected for review, we
found that five of these reports had significant deviations with regard to the timing
requirement as follows:

DATE
STATE DATE OF REQUIRED REPORT
FEDERAL GRANT GRANT REPORT WAS
PROGRAMTITLE NUMBER NUMBER SUBMISSION SUBMITTED
CFDA #14.241
Housing Opportunities for
Persons with AIDS MD-H05-0028 5/31/09 9/18/09
CFDA #93.044/045/053
Special Programs for the
Aging — Title 111, Parts
B & C and NSIP AAA-3-24-003 1/31/09 8/28/09
AAA-3-24-003 1/31/10 12/15/10
CFDA #93.778
Admin. Care Coordination MA 005 EPS 8/31/09 11/9/09
General Transportation
Services MA 005 EPS 8/31/09 11/2/09
CFDA #93.917
HIV Care Formula Grants AD 419 RWS 10/31/09 12/28/09

Additionally, The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administered federal
program number 14.235 — Supportive Housing Program. MOHS provided the auditors
with a schedule of 50 Annual Progress Reports due to the U.S. Department of Housing
and Urban Development during fiscal year 2010. According to our review of MOHS’
schedule, 14 of the 50 reports had significant deviations with regard to the timing
requirement.

17



CITY OF BALTIMORE, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

MOHS also administered federal program number 14.238 — Shelter Plus Care. MOHS
provided the auditors with a schedule of 10 Annual Progress Reports due to the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development during fiscal year 2010. According to
our review of MOHS’ schedule, four of the 10 reports had significant deviations with
regard to the timing requirement.

We recommend that the City make every effort to meet future timing deadlines through
appropriate staffing and workload scheduling, and by establishing and enforcing strict
timing requirements.

Responses:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services and the Baltimore City Health Department’s

responses and corrective action plans are included in Part VII — Auditee’s Corrective
Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-6
CFDA #: 93.044/045/053, 93.914, 93.917
Program Titles: Special Programs for the Aging — Title 11, Parts B & C, and
Nutrition Services Incentive Program (NSIP)
HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants
HIV Care Formula Grants

Federal Agency: Various
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: Various

Obligations Incurred Were Not Liquidated Within 90 Days of the End of the Funding
Period

The Federal Common Rule, Subpart C, Section .23, requires that when a funding period
is specified, a grantee must liquidate all obligations incurred under the award not later
than 90 days after the end of the funding period.

During the fiscal year 2010 audit, we determined that three major federal programs did
not meet the 90-day liquidation requirement; however, the amounts identified for these
programs after the liquidation period were otherwise allowable costs.

The Baltimore City Health Department administered federal program cluster
93.044/045/053 — Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and Nutrition
Services Incentive Program, federal program number 93.914 — HIV Emergency Relief
Project/Formula Grants, and federal program number 93.917 — HIV Care Formula
Grants. For fiscal year 2010, costs in the amount of $39,655, $1,620,526, and $170,121,
respectively, were not in compliance with the 90-day liquidation requirement.

Response:
The Baltimore City Health Department’s response and corrective action plan are included

in Part VIl — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-7

CFDA #: 14.235

Program Titles: Supportive Housing Program

Federal Agency: Department of Housing and Urban Development
Federal Award #:  Various

Pass-Through: None

Drawdowns of Funds Exceeded Program Expenditures

The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-102 Common Rule Section
.37(a)(4) requires that subrecipients minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of
Federal funds to the subrecipient for reimbursement of program costs, and the
subrecipient’s expenditure of those program costs.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administered federal program number
14.235 — Supportive Housing Program. For three of four months tested, the cumulative
amount of revenues at month’s end exceeded the cumulative amount of expenditures,
thus demonstrating that revenues are being drawn down prior to the expenditure of
equivalent amounts.

We recommend that the MOHS establish procedures to review drawdown requests to
ensure future compliance with this requirement.

Response:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services’ response and corrective action plan are included

in Part VIl — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-8
CFDA #: 14.235, 14.241
Program Titles: Supportive Housing Program
Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS
Federal Agency: Various
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: None

MOHS Was Not Adhering to Federal Requirements Regarding External Monitoring of
Subrecipients

The Federal Common Rule, Subpart C, Section .26, requires grant recipients to: (i)
determine whether their subrecipients that expend $500,000 or more in federal awards
have been audited in accordance with the Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Circular A-133; (ii) issue timely management decisions on audit findings; (iii) ensure that
appropriate corrective action is taken by the subrecipient within six months after receipt
of an audit report; and (iv) consider whether the subrecipient audits necessitate
adjustment of the City’s records.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administers federal program number
14.235 — Supportive Housing Program. During fiscal year 2010, MOHS did not provide
us with the population of required subrecipient financial and compliance audits.
Therefore we were unable to test for compliance with this requirement for this program.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services administers federal program number 14.241 —
Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS. During fiscal year 2010, MOHS did not
obtain the required financial and compliance audits for the two subrecipients selected for
testing.

We recommend that MOHS obtain audit reports from their subrecipients that are required
to have an audit in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, issue timely management
decisions on audit findings, and require subrecipients to take timely corrective action on
deficiencies identified in audits. We also recommend that the effects of subrecipient
noncompliance be properly reflected in the City’s records, if appropriate.

Response:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services’ response and corrective action plan are included

in Part VIl — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-9
CFDA #: 14.238, 14.241
Program Title: Shelter Plus Care

Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS
Federal Agency: Department of Housing and Urban Development
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: None

Housing Quality Inspections Were Not Performed

The Code of Federal Regulations, Title 24, Sections 574.310(b)(1)-(2) require that all
housing that involves acquisition, rehabilitation, conversion, lease, repair of facilities,
new construction, project- or tenant-based rental assistance (including assistance for
shared housing arrangements), and operating costs, must meet various housing quality
standards.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administered federal program number
14.238 — Shelter Plus Care. For three of the 22 housing units selected for testing,
documentation for an inspection for compliance with various housing quality standards
was requested and not provided by MOHS.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services administered federal program number 14.241 —
Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS. For three of the 15 housing units selected
for testing, documentation for an inspection for compliance with various housing quality
standards was requested and not provided by MOHS.

We recommend that MOHS ensure that mandated housing inspections are performed as
required by the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Response:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services’ response and corrective action plan is included

in Part VIl — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-10

CFDA #: 93.600

Program Titles: Head Start

Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Services
Federal Award #:  Various

Pass-Through: None

DHCD Was Not Adhering to Federal Regquirements Regarding the Procurement of
Monitoring of Subrecipients

The Office of Management and Budget’s Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement, Part
3-1, states that federal grant recipients shall use the same procurement procedures that are
used for non-federal procurements.

The Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD) administered federal
program number 93.600 — Head Start. During fiscal year 2010, DHCD obtained
contractual services for monitoring subrecipients of its Head Start program without
following the City’s procurement procedures. The contractual agreement was not
submitted to the City’s Board of Estimates for approval. The City’s Board of Estimates
is responsible for approving all City contracts and procurements.

We recommend that all contracts for federal expenditures follow the City’s procurement
process, including the approval by the City’s Board of Estimates.

Response:
The Department of Housing and Community Development’s response and corrective

action plan is included in Part VII — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit
Findings.
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Internal Control Over Compliance

Finding #: 10-11
CFDA #: 14.235, 14.238, 93.044/045/053, 93.914
Program Title: Supportive Housing Program

Shelter Plus Care

Special Programs for the Aging — Title 11, Parts B & C, and
Nutrition Services Incentive Program

HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants

Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Services
Federal Award #:  Various
Pass-Through: Maryland Department of Aging

Documentation Was Not Provided to Support Earmarking, Program Income, and Internal
Monitoring

Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 requires that adequate
documentation be maintained to support earmarking, program income, and internal
monitoring.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services (MOHS) administered federal program number
14.235 — Supportive Housing Program. For fiscal year 2010, MOHS was unable to
provide three of five Annual Progress Reports selected to test for compliance with the
earmarking requirement of administrative costs.

The Mayor’s Office of Human Services administered federal program number 14.238 —
Shelter Plus Care. For fiscal year 2010, MOHS was unable to provide the four Annual
Progress Reports selected to test for compliance with the earmarking requirement
administering housing assistance.

The Baltimore City Health Department (BCHD) administered federal program cluster
93.044/045/053 — Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and Nutrition
Services Incentive Program. For fiscal year 2010, BCHD was unable to provide
documentation to support legal services, in-home services, and access services
earmarking requirements; subrecipient and contractual program income requirements;
and internal monitoring requirements.

The Baltimore City Health Department administered federal program number 93.914 -
HIV Emergency Relief Project/Formula Grants. For fiscal year 2010, BCHD was unable
to provide documentation to support grantee administrative costs, sub-grantee
administrative costs, and funds for the quality management program earmarking
requirements.

We recommend that the City implement procedures to ensure that such documentation is
provided in the future.
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Responses:
The Mayor’s Office of Human Services and the Baltimore City Health Department’s

responses and corrective action plans for this finding is included in Part VIl — Auditee’s
Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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Finding #: 10-12

CFDA #: 93.044/045/053

Program Title: Special Programs for the Aging — Title 11, Parts B & C, and
Nutrition Services Incentive Program

Federal Agency: Department of Health and Human Services

Federal Award #:  None

Pass-Through: Maryland Department of Aging

Procedures Were Not Adequate to Ensure Compliance with Financial Reporting and
Grant Accounting Requirements

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services — Uniform Administrative
Requirements for Grants, 45 CFR 92.41, requires financial reports to be timely submitted,
be prepared from the grantee’s accounting records, and that transactions be properly
documented and supported.

The Baltimore City Health Department (BCHD) administered federal program cluster
93.044/045/053 — Special Programs for the Aging — Title 111, Parts B & C, and Nutrition
Services Incentive Program. For fiscal year 2010, BCHD did not have adequate
procedures in place to ensure compliance with federal financial reporting standards.
BCHD did not submit its final report to the Maryland Department of Aging for fiscal year
2009 that was due by January 31, 2010, and has been unable to resolve financial
reporting findings included in prior Single Audit reports.

We recommend that BCHD implement procedures to ensure that financial reports are
timely submitted and supported by the City’s accounting records, and that steps be taken
to resolve the prior years’ audit findings in conjunction with the Maryland Department of
Aging.

Response:
The Baltimore City Health Department’s response and corrective action plan is included

in Part VIl — Auditee’s Corrective Action Plan on Current Audit Findings.
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(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)



*31IS UO pauleiulew pue pajuswnoop Apadoud

90 Uo11ed1111439 suedioned yoes eyl papusLILIOdal SIolpne

ayl ‘palos|es swuedionued Gz Jo 9 4o Aupiqibia AplIsA jou

PINod (SHOI Aq paJsisiulwpe mou) QOHQA JueI9 30|

P8128.10D $30IAJIBS AlUNWIWO) - 69G°E6 Jaquinu welboud [elapay 104

AHOg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD aWoua(

"M3IA3J 10} 3|qe|IeAe

apew pue ‘paurejurew ‘pajuswnaop Apadoad ag Anjigibie

s,uedioied yoes 1ey) papusLLIWIodal siolipne ay "sispiaoud

GT JO T Joj pue spuedionied g€ Jo ¢ Joj suonesijdde

‘uonoe JuawWijoJua 818]dwod apino.d 10u pIp AHDYG ‘weiboid pood

9A11931109 pauue|d oy T-0T Bulpuly polsad UBLIND 89S Pa1dallo) 10N a1eD NPV pue pIyD - 8G5°0T Jaquinu weiboid [esapay 1o

T0-60 # buipui4

weabouad Joley yoe3 o1 ajgednjddy sjuswiadinbay yuaa soueljdwo)
S150D pauonsand) pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa - |11 UONISS

150D pauonsand pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|NPayds

upny |6uls 600z Je3A [edsid

‘(SHOW) S821A18S UBWINH JO 82110 SJ0ARIA pue (Sdv'g) Sa21AI8S [|0JARd pue Bununoddy Jo nealng {(Qdg) awiiedaq adljod Au)

alownpeg :(34vD) uoneonp3 juswainay pue Bulby uo uoissiwwo) {(g4o9) wawuedaq a4 A1) atownjeg {(CDOW) 821sne [eulwl) Jo
20140 SJohel\ ((@DHA) wawdojaasg Alunwwo) pue BuisnoH Jo uswiedsqg {(QHOQ) wswuedsq YiesH A1l alownjeg :saiouabe A1) Joy
pasn uaag aAeY SuolleIAaIqae Buimol|oy syl “1aquinu Buipuly sy s198]48.1 ysep ayp 4o 1ybi 8yl 01 Jaquuinu ayl -1odas Jipne 000z 40 T00Z ‘7002
‘G002 ‘9002 ‘2002 ‘800Z ‘6002 Jea A [23sl 8y} sereulisap Yyaiym ‘ysep ay Jo 43| 8yi 01 00 40 TO ‘%0 ‘G0 ‘90 ‘20 ‘80 ‘60 JaguInu B surejuod Jaguinu
Buipuly yoeg ‘uoday upny 91buIS 600Z Je3A [BISI4 8yl ul paseadde Aay) ydoIym ul Jopio awres ay) ul pajuasaid ale ajnpayas siyl ul sbuipui

U0V aA0a1100) pauue|d sne1s Buipuig/1equinyN bulpuig

0T0Z '0€ INNC AIANT YVIA IHL HO4
SONIANIE 1L1dNV d01dd 40 TNAIHOS AAVININNS S.331L1dNV
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



AHOg ‘199110 [e1dueUIS Jo1YD “I81SayD W0l

"uonoe
9A11981109 pauueld Joy £-0T Bulpuly poriad Juslind 983

AHDg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD aWoua(

‘uonoe
911921102 pauue|d 10} £-0T Bulpul) potiad 1us1Ind 935

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

P9193.410D

81031100 10N

[P9199.10D 10N

snye1s

(panunuoo)

'spJ02aJ Bununodoe

s,A11D ayy woly Apoauip patedald aq suodal jeloueuly
[eJapaj aininy Jey) papuaWILIOdal siolpne ayl 006'82$

Aq pareisiapun aiam sainyipuadxs paniodal ‘weiboid pood
aIed NPV pue pJIyd - 855°0T Jaquinu welbolud [esapay 104
¥0-60 # buipuiq

"9ININy Y} Ul papiAoid SI UOITeIUBWNIoP

4ans Jeyl ainsus 01 sainpadold uswajdwi IYVYD

1ey) papuawiwogal siolipne ayl “welboid Juswsbeuew
Ajenb ayy Joj spuny pue ‘s1s09 aAlenSIUILPE 3a1uelh

-gns ‘s1S09 aAlleNsIuIWpPe 98juelb 11oddns 0] uoneuaWNIoP
apinolid 01 8jgeun sem QHOgG ‘SlueiS ejnwio4/19slold

Ja1jey Aouablsw3 AIH - #T16°€6 Jaquinu welboud |elspsy) 104

"9ININJ Y} Ul papIAoid SI UOITLIUBWNIoP

4ons Jeyl ainsus 01 saunpadold uswajdwi 3D

TRyl papuaWLILIOdal SI0MpNe 8yl sjuswalinbal Bulioyiuow
[eulaiul pue ‘suswialinbas awodul weiboid [en1oenuod pue
ua1d19aigns sjuawalinbal Buijrewes SadIAISS $S99J8 pue
‘S9OIAJBS BWOY-UI ‘sad1AIas [efa] 1oddns 01 uoneIuaWNIoP
apinoud o1 sjqeun sem (QHOG Ag paJalsiuiwpe

MoU) 3HVD ‘D %@ g sued ‘|11 931l - Buiby ayy Joy swelboid
[e10ads - £50/S10/770°€6 J81sn|o wielBoad [esspay Jo
€0-60 # buipul4

BUTpUI/15qUNN Buipui

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHog ‘190140 [eIdURUIH JBIYD ‘181SayD awodsr

TTOZ aung :81ep uoneuawsa|dwi
*24MNJ 8yl U1 suiodas pue spodal syl 8[1auodal [IM dHO9g

SHOIN ‘1019311 ‘SIalH euISewoy |

TTOC sung

:a1ep uonrluawsadw] ‘wajgoad Bulindal e aq [[IM SIY)
‘preanuoy) Bulob ey aredionue jou op am pue Juswipedap
aoueUly S,HOg Jepun Jabuoj ou s SHY "SpJodal
Bununoade s, 11D ay) Jad JUNoWe preme ay) pareIsiapun
quswedaq yiresH A1 alownjeg ay) ‘awn ay)

1e (SHOW Aq paJaisiulipe mou) SHG 10§ Juabe [easly ay L

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

‘spi0dal [elouRUIY BY) Ul UMOUS aq ‘ajgealjdde

J1 ‘awooul weiboud yey) papuswiLIodal osfe siolpne

3yl spJ4o2al Bununodae s,A10 ayl woiy Apoalip pasedaid

aq su0dal [eIoueULY [RIBP3) 81NINY JRY] PApPUAILLIOIBI SI0JIpNe
3yl ‘welboid AIH 8yl 40} 1odai ayp uo awosul weiboud

Aue 1odai Jou pip osfe AHOF "9€5°258$ Ad palelsiapun
aJaM sainjipuadxa payuodal ‘syuels) ejnwio419slold

13119y Aouabisw3 AIH - ¥T6°S6 Jaquinu weaboud [eiapay
104 "¥ST'¥T18% AQ pareIsIano atam sainipuadxa payodal

031931100 10N ‘WelBo.d 9oue)SISSY [eIPaIA - 8/6°S6 Welboud [eispay 1o

'SpJ0234 Bununodoe s,A1D

ay1 wouy Apoaaip pasedaud aqg suiodaa [e1ouURULY [RISPA) B4NINY
TRyl papuswILLIOdal SI0NpNe 8yl "€GT‘ZST TS AQ paleIsiano
aJam sainipuadxs pauodal ‘SAIV YA SU0sIad 10}

21991100 10N saniunuoddo BuisnoH - Tz #T Jequinu weiboud [etspa) 1o

"SpJ02ai Bununoade s,A10 syl woiy Apoaip pasedaid

8 suodalJ [e1oueULY [eJ8P3) 24NINY JRY) PAPUBLLLLODAI
slolipne 8yl "92€‘T95$ Aq 1oday souewiopad
99]ueIS 3y} Ul suolreBjqo parepinbijun €101 pajeIsiapun
ADHQ ‘Siuels) uswajInu/s1uelo) %0019 uawdojanag

3198.110D Auunwwo) - 8TZ T Jaquinu wesBoid [esspay 104

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



‘uonajdwos laye

sIeak 831y} 15ea] 1e 10} 3]q1SSa29k Ulewal SI1aplo aseyaind

ey} papusLLILIOdaI SI0MPNE 8y 'Sainpadoid juswainooid

s,A11D ay1 yum aoueljdwods Bunsal 10} pajdajes siaplo

aseyaund GT Jo 1o T apinoid 01 sjgeun sem qHOg ‘weiboud

p8128.10D 9OUBISISSY |BOIPAIA - 87/ €6 Jaquinu wieiboud [elapay 104

‘uons|dwod Jaye Sieak aaiy) 1Ses| e 10} 3](1SSadJe

ulewal spJodal 19eJ1U09 Jey) PapUBLLLLNIaI SI0JIpNe Ay L

'saInpadoid swainaoid s,A10 ayn yum asueljdwod Bunsal

10} Pa199]8s S19JIU0I GT JO 1IN0 T apinoid 0] ajgeun sem

(SHOW Aq paJaisiutipe mou) SHE ‘SAIV YU Suoslad 10}

pa1292410D saniunuoddo BuisnoH - Ty #T Jequinu weiboud [eispa) 1o
80-60 # buipul4

"M3IA3I JIpne Joj paulelal

aJe saj1) 198lo.d 1041 pUR ‘pawIoLIad a1e SMBIASY [euld Teyl

usWNI0p 0] Sainpado.d Juswsjdwi 1 O 1ey) papuswiLIodal

sioupne ayl ‘600 JeaA Jeasi) Bunnp pasojd s1oaloid

ZT 10} Sainpadoid Malnay [euld JO UOIRIUSWINIOP apIAc.d

21931100 01 9]qeun sem | 0d ‘50z°0¢ Jeqwinu welboid jesapa) 104

£0-60 # buipui

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d sne1s BuipuIg/18quinN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



SHOIN ‘1019811 ‘SJalH BuUISeWOY |

"SAI0UBIDIJOP PAILIIUBPI UO UsXe] 8q UK 9A11994100 Ajpwin

Teyl pue ‘Ajawin paurelqo ag suodal Jipne Jey) papuswiwodal

sloyipne ayl ‘Bunsay 1oy parasjas syualdioaigns

3AlJ a1 Jo Aue JoJ suiodal soueljdwod pue Jeloueul)

palinbal ayy urelgo 10u pip (SHOW Ag paJaisiuiwpe

MOU) SHE ‘SAIV YUA Suosiad 1oy saniunuoddo

‘uonoe BuIsnoH - T¥Z T pue ‘ase) snid 491Jays - 82 T ‘weiboid

911221102 pauueld 10} 8-0T Bulpuly poliad JUaIIND 885 Pa12a1I0)) 10N BuisnoH aanioddns - gez T slequinu weiboud [esapa) 104
0T-60 # buipuly

"uoneusWwNop Buoddns 03 8]19U028J PaLIIR]I S[eaL Tey)

PaPUBLLILLIOIAI SI0)IPNE BUL "PasINquUIal S[ealu JO Jaquinu ay)

UM 3168 10U pIp Sswirejo [esw siapinoid aaly ‘weibold poo

31031100 a1eD NPV pue pJIyD - §55°0T Jaquinu wieBoid [esapay 104
60-60 # buipuid

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d sne1s BuipuIg/18quinN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



AHOg ‘199110 [e1dueUIS Jo1YD “I81SayD W0l

"uonoe
9A11921109 pauueld Joy TT-0T Bulpuly pouiad JuaLINd 89S

AHDg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD aWoua(

‘uonoe
aA1231102 pauueld 10) TT-0T Bulpuly poriad uaind 39S

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

81031100 10N

[P9199.110D 10N

snye1s

(panunuoo)

"9ININy Y} Ul papiAoid SI UOITeIUBWNIoP

4ons 1ey) a4nsua 0] sainpadoud juswsajdwi aHO9

1ey) papuawiwogal siolipne ayl “welboid Juswsbeuew
Ajenb ayy Joj spuny pue ‘s1s09 aAlenSIUILPE 3a1uelh

-gns ‘s1S09 aAlleNsIuIWpPe 98juelb 11oddns 0] uoneuaWNIoP
apinolid 01 8jgeun sem QHOgG ‘SlueiS ejnwio4/19slold

Ja1jey Aouablsw3 AIH - #T16°€6 Jaquinu welboud |elspsy) 104

"9ININJ Y} Ul papIAoid SI UOITLIUBWNIoP

4ons Jeyl ainsus 01 saunpadold uswajdwi 3D

TRyl papuaWLILIOdal SI0MpNe 8yl sjuswalinbal Bulioyiuow
[eulaiul pue ‘suswialinbas awodul weiboid [en1oenuod pue
ua1d19aigns sjuawalinbal Buijrewes SadIAISS $S99J8 pue
‘S9OIAJBS BWOY-UI ‘sad1AIas [efa] 1oddns 01 uoneIuaWNIoP
apinoud o1 sjqeun sem (QHOG Ag paJalsiuiwpe

MoU) 3HVD ‘D %@ g sued ‘|11 931l - Buiby ayy Joy swelboid
[e10ads - £50/S10/770°€6 J81sn|o wielBoad [esspay Jo

BUTpUI/15qUNN Buipui

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID

TT-60 # buipui



AHDg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SaYD aWoua(

"SPJ023l

Bununoaae s,A110 ay1 Aq pauioddns are spodal [eroueuly eyl

ainsua 01 sainpadoid Juswsjdwi IO 1Byl PapusWILLIOIa)

slonpne ayl "sjuswalinbal Bununodoe Juelh pue spaepuels

Buniodai e1oueuLy [ISP3) YU 33ueljdwod ainsua 0] aoe|d

uI saunpadoJd a1enbape aaey 1ou pip (QHDG Aq paJaisiulwpe

‘uornoe MoU) 3HVD ‘D %@ g sued ‘|11 931l - Buiby ayy Joy swelboid

9A11231102 pauued Jo) ZT-0T Bulpuly polsad UBLIND 39S Pa12all0) 10N [e123ds - £60/S0/y70°€6 Siequinu weaboad [eiapay 104
ZT-60 # buipuly

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d sne1s BuipuIg/18quinN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHog ‘19010 [eIdURUIH JBIYD ‘J81SayD awoJsr

"uonoe
9A11031102 pauueld Jo) T-0T Buipuly poriad Juslind 89S

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

‘paulelulew pue payuswnaop Apadoad agq Aujigibie

s,Juedioned yoea eyl papusLILIOda) SIOUPNE 8yl "PaldsIas

siuedionued 8T JO g Joj uoleluswnaop Aj1qibije apiaoud

10U pIp (SHOW Ag paJalsiuiupe mou) dJHQA ‘1ueis) ¥o0|g

pa192410D $32IAJ9S AllUNWIWO) - 9G°€6 Jaquinu weboud [esapa) 104

‘paulejulew pue pajuswnaop Ajiadold ag

Angibia s, juedionied yoes 1ey) papusLUWLIodal siolpne ay |

‘abe s,juedioied ayy ureluod jou pip uonedljdde Juawjjoius

3uo pue ‘pardg|as syuedioiied €€ Jo 1 1oy suoljedljdde

JusWj04ud apinoid Jou piIp AHOg ‘weiboid pooH

91931100 10N aIed NPV pue pJIyd - 855°0T Jaquinu welbolud [esopay 104
T0-80 # buipuiq

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 9|6uls 800z Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



SHOIN ‘1019311 ‘SJalH BUISEWOY |

TTOZ aunr :a1ep uoneluswsjdw| A3us apIsINo

Aue 01 uonnquisip o1 Jord ‘yers uoisiAIg suonelsdQ
[easi4 Aq Aoeinade 10} pamainal aq 0] ‘Juswuedsq

Ay UIYIIM SUOISIAIQ Jay1o 8y Aq paJedald ‘suiodal
[e1oueuly [e Buliinbal ainpadoud ay) 82404ulsl 0} 18P0 Ul
JJe1s JueAd|al |8 AJ1I0U ||IM UOISIAIQ SsuonesadQ [edasiq ayL

AHDg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD aWoua(

‘uonoe
911921102 pauue|d 10} £-0T Bulpul) potiad 1us1Ind 935

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

Pa]03110D) 10N

[P9199.10D 10N

snye1s

(panunuoo)

"M3IA3J 10} paurejulew

9 suodal [erourULy [eJapay |e 4O Sa1dod eyl papuswW0al
0s|e slojipne 8y "spJodal Bununoade s,A11D sy

w4y Apoasip patedaid aqg suodas Je1ourULy [eISPa) 84NNY 1Yl
papuswiwodal siolpne ayl (SHOIN Aq palaisiulupe mou
aJe sweiboid asayl) '8T8'EGS$ 4O |101 B AQ PaIeISIBAO BIaM
salnpuadxa pauiodal ‘QueI9) X0|g S3IAISS AllUNWWOD

- 695°€6 Jaquinu weiBod [esapay 104 "980'70L'C$ 4O [€I0) B
Aq pajelsiapun alam sainypuadxa pauodal ‘(WMdOH) SAlV

YUAA Suoslad Joj seniunuoddo BuisnoH

- TyZ'¥T 1squunu

weaboud [elapay 104 '989'8Z$ JO €101 B AQ PaleISIan0
aJaM S110daJ Pa12a]as aAl) 10) Saanipuadxe panodal ‘weiboid
BuisnoH aAnloddns - Gez'#T Jaquinu weiboud [espa) 104

¥0-80 # buipul4

"9ININJ Y} Ul papIAoid SI UOITLIUBWNIoP

4ons Jeyl ainsus 01 saunpadold uswajdwi 3D

TRyl papuaWLILIOdal SI0MpNe 8yl sjuswalinbal Bulioyiuow
[eulaiul pue ‘suswialinbas awodul weiboid [en1oenuod pue
ua1d19aigns sjuawalinbal Buijrewes SadIAISS $S99J8 pue
‘S9OIAJBS BWOY-UI ‘sad1AIas [efa] 1oddns 01 uoneIuaWNIoP
apinoud o1 sjqeun sem (QHOG Ag paJalsiuiwpe

MoU) 3HVD ‘D %@ g sued ‘|11 931l - Buiby ayy Joy swelboid
[e123ds - £60/S0/y70°€6 Siequinu weaboad [eiapay 104

BUTpUI/15qUNN Buipui

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID

€0-80 # buipui



AHDE ‘1391140 [e12UBUIS JA1YD 'I9ISYD BWOIAL

TTOZ aun( :a1ep uonejuswsa|duy
“uodal [e1ouBULy pue spJodaJ Bununosoe sl
9[19u0234 01 syuawisnlpe pus Jeak s pa1a)dwod sey AHO9g

AHOg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD awoua(

TTOZ aung

:ayep uoneuswiajdw] "sp102al Bununoade A1) BulAjispun
Ay} uo paseq suodal aininy atedaid |jImM @HDG "SPJ023I
Bununodoe sAND syl pue spodas paRiwgns ayl Usamiaq
sa1ouedalasip syl 1snlpe 01 11oday 1N03s0|D L00Z Jesh
[e2s1y au asiAal ||Im (QHOG Ag passisiulupe mou) VD

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

(0]

"M8IA3J 10} paulelurew aq suodal [eloueuly

[eJapay |[e 40 $a1d0J 1ey) papuawiWodal OS[e Siolpne

3yl 'sp402al Bununoade s,A11D syl woldy Appoalip patedsid
8 suodal [e1ouBULY [RIBP3) 84NINY JRY) PaPUBLLLLIODD)
slojipne ayl "£9/‘vTG$ Aq pareisiapun atam sainjipuadxa
paliodal ‘siuels) ejnwio4n9slo.d Jaijay Aousbiawg

AlH - ¥16°€6 Jaquinu welboid [esapa) 104 9€8'00€$

AQ pae1siano alam saimipuadxa paniodal ‘weibold

81921100 10N 90UBISISSY [RIP3IN - 8//°€6 Jaquinu weiBoid [eiapay 104

"MaIASJ 10J pauleiulew aq suodal [eloueuly

[eJapay |[e JO $a1d02 Jey) papuaWILLIOdal OS[e Siolpne

3yl "sp402al Bununodde s,A11D syl wolty Apoalip patedsid
a( suodal [erourULy [RIBP3) 84NINJ 1BY] PAPUSULLODDI
slolpne ayl ‘T09'€E9$ AQ PaleISIBN0 919M SaNUBAS
pauodal pue ‘268'8G/$ AQ paleisiapun a1am sainipuadxe
panodal ‘D % g sued ‘[11 911l - Buiby ay) Joy sweiboid

31981100 10N [e199ds - £50/S70/7770°S6 Siaquinu wesBoid [esspay 104

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

17

'$1509 9]q1b13 JO JUBWSSINAIAJ 10 su0dal

[eroueul) ApJarenb Ajpwin wigns adg eyl papuswiLIodal

slo}pne 8yl -Juswasinquilal o) pauodal Jou aiam Jeyl

spJ402aJ Bununode s,A11D ay) ul papiodal S1S0d Ul 8Z°000°'G$

pasinaui s1aafoid juelh anly ‘weiboid wels A11iNJas

21231100 pueBWOoH - /90/700°26/.00°9T Siaquinu welboid [etopa) 104
60-80 # buipul4

'SpJ09al Bununoade BuiAspun sy 01 sawoaul weiboud

paniodal a[19u02al Ajjenuue gOHQ eyl pPapuswIWodal

sioupne ayl "spJodal Bununoade s,A11D ayl 01 pajIouodal

3 10U PIN0J G8G‘G$ pue ‘spaodal Bununodde s, 11D

AU} u1 Ajswiny paj1ouodal Jou sem £08'99$ YdIym JO ‘awodul

wesboud ul 8T0'668$ pariodal QOHQA ‘welboud sdiysisuned

pa12a110D 1USWISAAU] JINOH - 6EZ T weaboud [elapay 104

80-80 # buipui

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



[4)

@HOE 1891340 [e19UBUIH JA1YD ‘I9ISAYD BWOIAL

"SpJ0Jal
Bununoaae s,LQ110 ay1 Aq paruioddns ae suodal [eloueuly yeyl

aInsua 0] sainpado.d Juswajdwi YD Teyl papusLLILIOIdI

slojipne ay sjuswalinbai Buunodge juelh pue sprepuels

Bunuodal e1ourULy [RI8PA) YU 92ueljdwod ainsua 0] aoe|d

uI sainpadold arenbape aney 1ou pip (QHDG Ag paJaisiulwpe

‘uonoe MoU) 3HVD ‘D %® g sued ‘I11 9311 - Buiby ayy Joy swrelboid

9A11984109 pauue|d 1oy ZT-0T Bulpuly pouad JuslNd 83S  PaldaLI0D 10N [e19ads - £60/SY0/70°€6 S1aquinu welboud [elapay 104
TT-80 # buipuid

AHDg 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD aWoua(

"9ININJ Y} Ul papIAoid SI UOITLIUBWNIoP

4ons Jeyl ainsus 01 saunpadold uswajdwi 3D

ey} papusWILIodal Sioupne ayl “Suswalinbal Bulioyiuow

[eulaiul pue ‘suswialinbas awodul weiboid [en1oenuod pue

ua1d19aigns sjuawalinbal Buijrewes SadIAISS $S99J8 pue

‘S9OIAJBS BWOY-UI ‘sad1AIas [efa] 1oddns 01 uoneIuaWNIoP

apinoud o1 sjqeun sem (QHOG Ag paJalsiuiwpe

‘uornoe MoU) 3HVD ‘D %@ g sued ‘|11 931l - Buiby ayy Joy swelboid

9A11231102 pauued Jo) TT-0T Bulpuly polsad UBLIND 39S Pa12allo) 10N [e123ds - £60/S0/y70°€6 Siequinu weaboad [eiapay 104
0T-80 # buipuld

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d sne1s BuipuIg/18quinN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



€T

*ou| ‘Buisty sJowinjeg ‘1012aliq 8AlNIEXT ‘siAeq
811107 ‘901140 SJ0ARI\ ‘1eIS JO J81yD ‘steusabeq aiydos

‘leadde Japun si 1sanbal eyl ‘000‘006$
a1 JO JuaWasINquIIal 1o} A11D a8yl payse Ssey SadIAIeS

uewNH pue yijesH Jo uswieds 'S "N 8yL ‘sJowiljeg Jo 81231100
A1D 8yl yum pajerjiye Jabuoj ou si -ouj ‘Buisiy alownpeg Ajlenied
UOoI9Y 9ANJ3110) pauue|d snye1s

(panunuoo)

"pauIelqo aq spJeme juelb sy

10 [enoudde 1ey) pue ‘panocidull aq sainpadoid Juswabeurw
ysea 1ey1 ‘spaodai Bununoaae s, A0 ayr Ag psuoddns

a( SjUNOWR UOINQLIIU0D PuI-ul pue ainjipuadxa pauodal
ey} papuaWwiWwodal pue ‘000‘006$ 4O UNOWE paeme aI1us ayl
pauonsanb sioyipne sy "paurelqo 1ou sem poliad 19sfoid ayr
10 sJeaA plIyl pue puodss ayl Joj serewnsy Jo pieog s, A0
ay1 Ag [enoudde juelb pue ‘parioddns 10u a19m SUONNQLIIUOI
puIy-ul palinbai ‘ualoiyap alem sainpadold juswabeuew
ysed ‘spiodas Bununoage s, A11D ayr Aq panioddns jou

9JaM Sjunowe paliodal Teyl paulwialep Npne INO 2002 ‘TE
Jaquisda@ ybnoiyl 00z ‘0 AIne woJy parep pouiad 10afoid
8y} 10J paw.oyiad sem Jipne aleledas e ‘sjualed pajelsdsedu]
10 ualppiyd Buliolusy - 919°€6 Jaquunu weaboud [elapsy 104

€7-80 # buipui

BUTpUI/15qUNN Buipui

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHoOg ‘192140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awolsr

"uonoe
9A11931102 pauue|d 4oy £-0T Buipuly poriad JuaLINd 993

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

14

'SpJ02ai Bununoade s,A1D

a1 woiy Apoaaip pasedaad aqg suiodai [e1ouRULY [RISPS) 24NINY

Tey] papuaWwIWLI0al SI0pNe 8yl "0S6‘TOT$ Aq parelsiapun

aJaMm sainlipuadxa paniodal ‘Juels) 3o0g uswdojanag

81284100 Alunwwo) - 8Tz T Jaquinu weiboud [elapay 104

¥0-L0 # buipui4

"JaW aJe syuawalinbai Buirew.ea

uole.ASIuIWpPe pue adurIsISSe [eba) aininy eyl ainsua

01 padojanap aq sainpadoid Bunodal pue sj0U0D TeY)

papuaWILIODal sio)pne 8yl '88Z'92y$ Ad Mwi| ajqemole

ay1 Buipaaoxa ‘s1s02 aAleNSIUIWPe Ul 925'ZT/$ uads osfe

VD 'S0E'Z$ 10 [esuoys Bunjrewles ue Bunuasaidal ‘s)s0d

S80IAJBS [eb3] Ul §G9'8/$ papuadxs (QHDg Ag palaisiulwpe

MoU) 3HVD ‘D %® 9 SHed ‘111 831 - Bulby ayy Joj swiesBboid

21931400 10N [e19ads - £50/S0/770°€6 Slaquinu weiboud [elapay 104
€0-L0 # buipuiq

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 9|6uls 200z Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHoOg ‘190140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awodsr

TT0C

aung :alep uoneuswaldw] *sp1odal Bununoaoe BulAjspun
a1 uo paseq suodal ainny atedaid |IM QHDG "SpJodal
Bununosae s,A11D ay) pue suI0dal paRIWIgNS ay) Usamlaq
salouedauasip ayi 1snlpe 01 110day 1N03s0|D 9007 Jeak
[eas1y ay3 asinal [1Im (QHOG Ag palsisiulwipe mou) IHVD

SHOI ‘10103410 ‘SI3IH BuISeWwoy L

TTOZ dunr :a1ep uonejuswsajdu|

"M8IA3J 10} paulejurew aJse syodal [elourULy [elapay Jo
$31d02 Jey) pue spiodal Bununodde s,A11D ayi woiy Ajpoalip
paJedaid aue suodal yeyl ainsus [jIm A1D syl '8002

‘T AInf uo AOHA 01 AHOF woJy pauonisuel) (SHOW
AqQ paJsisiulwpe mou) GEZ'¥T pue Ty T welboid eseps4

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

qT

"MBIA3J 10} paulelurew aq suodal [eloueuly

[eJapay |[e 40 $a1d09 1ey) papuawWodal OS[e Siolpne

3yl 'sp402al Bununoade s,A11D syl woldy Appoalip patedaid
9 suodal [e1ouBULY [RIBP3) 84NINY JRY] PaPUBLLLLODD)
slolipne 8yl G0/'€9€$ AQ paleIsiapun a1am SaNUBASI
pauodal pue ‘€68'0/2$ Aq paleisiapun aiam sainlipuadxe
pauodal ‘D 79 g sued ‘111 9L - bulby ay1 1o} sweiboid

31031100 10N [e10ads - £50/S¥0/770°€6 Siaquinu weiboud [eispay 1o

"MBIN3I

10J paurelurew aq syuodal feroueul) jeiapay e Jo saidod

TRyl papusWILLO0dal OS|e SI0Mpne 8yl SpJodal Buniunodoe
s,A11D ay1 wol) Appgadip patedaid aq suodal [eioueul) [eiapal
2JNINJ 1Y) PAPUSILIOIAI SI0NPN. BYL "MBIIASJ J0J PalIa|as
suoday $$9160.1d [enuuy 8aaul JJe yim sn apiaoid 01 ajqeun
sem HOg ‘weibold BuisnoH aanioddns - GeZ T Jaquinu
weab0ud Jesapay 1oy ‘Ajjeuonippy vTi'6v$ AQ pereisiono
a1am sanipuadxa pauodal ‘SAIV YIM suoslad 1oy

pa198110D 10N saniunuoddo BuisnoH - Tz #T Jequinu weiboud [eispa) 1o

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHoOg ‘190140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awoJsr

"uonoe
9A11034109 pauueld o) 2T-0T Bulpuly poriad Juslind 89S

AHOg ‘190110 [e1dueUlS Jo1YD “I81SayD WoIaL

TTOZ aunr :a1ep uonejusws|dw] -uodal [eroueul)
pue spl0dal Buunoade syl 3]19u09al 01 Syuawisnipe pus
Jeak sl pals|dwod sey AHO9 ‘8. €6 weiboud jeiapa) 104

SHOI ‘10103110 ‘SI3IH euIsewoy |

TTOZ dung :ayep uonejuswa|dw] “JJels uoIsIAIg suonesado
[easi4 Ag Aoeindde 10j pamalnal 8 0] ‘quswiredsq syl
UIYIM SUOISIAIQ Jay10 ay1 Aq pasedaid ‘spuiodal feroueuly |je
Buniinbai ainpadso.d syl 9210JulIal 01 JBPIO Ul RIS JURAS|3I
ITe Ay1iou [[Im (SHOIA Ag palalsiulupe mou) uoIsiAIg
suonesadQ [easi4 ayl ‘695°£6 Jaquunu weaboid eispay 104

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

97

031931100 10N

Pa]03110D) 10N

031931100 10N

snye1s

(panunuoo)

"SPJ023l
Bununoaae s,A11D ay1 Aq parioddns aJe suodal [eioueuly yeyl
aInsua 03 Sainpadoid Juswa]dwi JHD 1.yl PapusLLILIdal
slolpne ayl ‘siuswsalinbais Bununodge Jueib pue spiepuels
AunJodal Je1oueul) [elapa) Yim adueljdwod ainsus 01 ade|d

ul sainpaso.d ayrenbape aAey 1ou pip (QHOG Aq palaisiulwpe

MoU) FHVD ‘D 7@ g SuUed ‘111 9Ji1L - Bulby ay) o) swreiboud
[e1ads - £60/Sv0/v70°S6 Slequinu weabold [eiapay 404
80-/0 # buipuiy

'spJodal Bununoae

s,A11D ay1 woly Appoadip patedaid aq suodad [eloueuly
[eJapa) 84NNy Jey) papuswiwodal siolpne ayl  "Zev'/e$
AQ paelsano alam saimipuadxa paniodal ‘weibold
90UBISISSY |RIIPAIN - 8//°€6 Jaquinu welboud Jesapay 104

'Sp109al Bununoade

s,A1D ay1 wou) Appdadip patedaid aq suiodai [eroueul)
[eJapa) 21NNy Jey] PapuBILLIOda SIolIpNe Yyl "/EV'112$
AQ pae1siano alem sainipuadxe papodal ‘Juels) 3oo|g
$92IAJI9S AllUNWWO) - 695°E6 Jaquunu wrelboid [esapay 1o

BUTpUI/15qUNN Buipui

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



AHO4g 19910 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SayD awoua(

TTOZ aung :a1ep uoneluawajdw “Ajbuipiodde

sp402aJ Bununode s,A110 ayp Bunsnlpe Jo ssaooud ayy ul

sI pue Bulby Jo juswiedaq puejAiel ay1 01 110dal pasinal
e paniwqns sey (QHOG Aqg palaisiuiwpe mou) 34V

aHoOg ‘192140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awolsr

"uonoe
9A11031102 pauueld 1o} g-0T Bulpuly poriad Juslind 89S

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

LT

'SpJ02al Bununoaae s, 11D ayr woiy Aposiip

paJedaid aq suiodal [eIouRULL 31NINJ TRY) PAPUSLUILLIOIS]

slojpne syl "9zT'v0T$ 4O Junowe ay} ul SpIodal Buijunodde

S,AQ11D U1 JO SS99Xd UI 819M 110daJ SIY) 10} SONUBASI

pauoday ‘TH0'068$ AQ paleisiapun alam sainjpuadxa

panodal ‘D % g sued ‘[11 911l - Buiby ay) Joy sweiboud

81931100 10N [e198ds - £50/S10/7170°€6 Slaquinu weiboud elspay 1o
¥0-90 # buipuiq

"]aW aJe syuawalinbai Burew.es uoneasiuiwpe

pue aduelsisse [eba] aininy 1eyy ainsua 01 padojanap

aq sainpadoid Buniodal pue Sj0JU02 1yl PapuUBILIONIaI

sioupne 8yl "9ZT'9T9$ Ag Mwi| ajqemojfe ayy Buipssoxa

'$1500 dAIRAISIUILIP. Ul 952°600'T$ JUads os|e VD

"TOZ'ST$ 4O |[esioys Bupjtewses ue Bunuasaidal ‘S1S00

S80IAJBS [ebd] Ul 009‘2/.$ papuadxs (QHDG AQ paJalsiulwpe

MoU) 3HVD ‘D %® 9 SHed ‘111 831 - Bulby ayy Joj swiesBboid

21931100 10N [e19ads - £50/S0/770°€6 Slaquinu weiboud [elapay 104
€0-90 # buipuiq

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 9|6uIS 900z Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



@HO9g 189110 [e1dURUIS JBIYD “181SaYD SWoaL

"uonoe
aA11921109 pauueld Joy ZT-0T Bulpuly poliad JuaLINd 89S

AHDg 192140 [e1dUBUIS JaIYD “121SaYD aWoua(

TTOZ dunc :arep uonejuawsa|dw|
" 110dal [eroueul) pue spJodal Bununodoe s
3]19u033J 01 syuswisnlpe pua Jeak su ssagoud |IIM AHO9

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

8T

Pa]03110D 10N

31931100 10N

snye1s

(panunuoo)

"Hodai G002

S11 Ul awo9ul weibouad 1odal 10u pIp YWD ‘Ajjeuonippy
'SpJo2al Bununoaae s,A10 ayl Ag parioddns aJe suodal
[e1ouBULS TRyl 8Insud 01 Sainpadosd Juswajdwi JYVD 1eys
papuUBWIWOdal SI0)pne 8yl "spJodal Bununoade s,A110 ayl Aq
palioddns pue ajgeljal alem Liodal [eloueUl) GOOZ JeaA [easly
S11 Ul PapNnjoul SJUNOWE Jey] 81eJ1SuowWwap 0} UoIFeuaWwnIop
apinoud o1 sjgeun sem (QHOG AQq paJalsiulwpe

Mou) 3HVD ‘D %® g sued ‘I11 9311 - Buiby sy} Joy swrelboid
[e19adS - £60/SY0/70°€6 S1aquinu welboud [elapay 104
ZT-90 # buipul

"SpJ09ai Bununoade s,A1D syl woiy Apoaiip pasedaid

a8 syodal [erouRULY 31NINJ JRY1 PAPUSWILLIOIBI SI0lIpNe

3Ul ‘09‘90T$ JO UNOWe 8y Ul sainyipuadxa pajodal

U1 JO SS39Xd UI 8J3M SPJ03al Bununodde s, 11D syl ‘welbo.id
90URISISSY [RIIPSIA - 8// €6 Jaquunu weiboid Jeispay 104

BUTpUI/15qUNN Buipui

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



67

'sBuipuid 3pny

10lid J0 3|npayas Arewiwins s,8a11pny ay1 uo Jeadde Jsbuoj
Ou [|IM Bulpuly SIY} ‘81084841 "Panssl 10U SeM UOISIoap
1uswabeuew e pue Buipuly 1IpNe 3y} U0 d33IPNE Byl YIIM

dn pamoj|oj 10u Ssey Jojuelb ay esnoybulies]d 1pny *abed ainjeubis ajou
81buIS [eJapa- 8y} 01 PaRILIgNS SeM Palinddo eyl Buipuly Aiossiwoud s, JaAngawoy ay1 aAey 10U pIp Palds|as ajl4 auo
aY3 yd1ym ui 1odas 11pne sy aguls passed aney sieak pue ‘syiun Buisnoy palsisse |AV XIS Jo 1noy 1oy Aupiqibije
OM] "UOII9® J3yLINy JueLIRM JOU Saop Bulpuly Jipne siyL awooul Jo uoneuawnaop Buioddns apiaoad jou piIp AOHA
€ # buipulq

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

dn-moj|04 1PNV 9002 1B3A [edsi

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d sne1s BuipuIg/18quinN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHoOg ‘192140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awodsr

TT0OZ aunr :a1ep uoneiuawsa|dwy “Ajbuipiodge

spJodaJ bununoade s,A10 ayr bunsnlpe Jo ssasoud ay ul

sI pue Buiby Jo Juswiedaq puejliepy ayr 01 110dal pasinsl
e papwigns sey (AHOG Ag passisiulipe mou) JHVD

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

0¢

'spJ02aJ Bununodoe
s,A11D ayy woly Apoalip patedald aq suodal jeloueuly
ainjny eyl papuawiWLodal siolpne ayl ‘605'G6.$ Aq

Pa1BISIAN0 91aM 110dalJ SIY) 10} SanuaAal pauoday '1/0'62T$

JO JUNOWEe 3y} Ul SpJ0dal Bununoade s,A11D 8yl JO SS8IXa

ul alam sainipuadxes payodal (QHOG AQ paJalsiullupe mou)

pa108.110D 3YWD ‘D pue g sued ‘|11 9L - Buiby ay) 1oy sweibold
Ajlenued [e19ads - £60/Sv0/v70°S6 Slequinu weabold [eiapay 404
€0-G0 # buipui

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 9|6ulS G00z Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



AHOg '189140 [e19UBUIL JAIYD ‘J8ISaYD awolar

TTOZ aung :a1ep uoneiuawa|dw *AjBulpiodoe

spJ09al Bununoaae s,A10 ayl Bunsnlpe Jo ssasouad ayp ul

SI pue BulBy Jo juswiedaq puejAlel ay1 01 10dal pasinal
© papiwgns sey (@HOG Aq palaisiuiwpe mou) J¥VO

SHOI ‘1019811 ‘SI8IH euISeWoy |

TTOZ aunr :a1ep uolyejuawsajdwi

'spJodal Bununodoe s,A11D ay1 wody Apoalip paledaid
aJe spodal [elourULy 31NINY JBY] 8INSUd 0] Sainpado.d
Bunuswsidwi st (SHOIN Ag palaisiulupe mou) aHO4d

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

T¢

'SpJ02al Bununoade s, 1D

ay1 wouy Apoauip pasedald aq suodad feroueul) aining eyl
PapUBWILIOIAI SI0NPNe 8yl /G8'02S$ AQ parelsiapun aiam
suodas asay) 10y sanuanal pauoday '9/G'0z2/$ 40 Junowe
3yl ul spJo2al Bununodoe s,A11D a8yl JO SS8IXa Ul a1am suodal
0M] 10} Sainmipuadxe pauodas (QHDG Aqg paJalsiuiwipe Mou)

81081100 YV ‘D pue g sued ‘|11 8L - Buiby sy Joy sweibold
Ajjenued [e12ads - £60/S0/vv0°S6 Slequinu weaboad [eiapay 104
"SpJ02al

Bununoaae s,A11D ay1 wouy Apdalip patedaid aq suodai

[e1oURULY B1NINJ 1RY] PapUBWILLIODaI S10)IpNe 8yl "Z9T'0€$

JO JUNOWEe 3y} Ul SpJ0dal Bununoade s,A1D 8yl JO SS8IXa

ul alam syiodal Jnoj 1o} sainipuadxe payiodal ‘weiboid

31231100 10N BuisnoH aAloddns - gez'#T Jaquinu welboud [espay 104

€0-70 # buipul4

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 3|6uIS 00z Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHoOg ‘192140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awodsr

TT0OZ aunr :a1ep uoneiuawsa|dwy “Ajbuipiodge

spJodaJ bununoade s,A10 ayr bunsnlpe Jo ssasoud ay ul

sI pue Buiby Jo Juswiedaq puejliepy ayr 01 110dal pasinsl
e papwigns sey (AHOG Ag passisiulipe mou) JHVD

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

[44

'SpJ02al Bununoae s,A110 ayr wouy Aposaip

paJtedaid aq suodal [e1oueULY [RIBPSS B1NINY 1BY) PUEB PAJNP3I

8 sainyipuadxs pue SenusAal pPaleIsIano palodal ayl

eyl papusLILLI0dal SIoUPNe 8yl ‘¥E0'ST6 TS AQ paleIsiano

OS|e 81aM $anuaAal pauoday “/Tz'2/8'T$ 4O Junowe ay}

u1 SpJ02aJ Bununodde s,A11D 8y JO SS8IX8 Ul 8Jem D pue g

31031100 sHed ‘[11 311L ‘Buiby ayy Joj sweibold [e193dS - G0/v70°E6
Allenued Jaquinu weubolud Jeiapay 10} sainyipuadxa panioday
€0-T0 # buipuiq

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 9|6ulS TOOZ Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



aHoOg ‘192140 [eIdURUIA JBIYD ‘J81SayD awodsr

TT0OZ aunr :a1ep uoneiuawsa|dwy “Ajbuipiodge

spJodaJ bununoade s,A10 ayr bunsnlpe Jo ssasoud ay ul

sI pue Buiby Jo Juswiedaq puejliepy ayr 01 110dal pasinsl
e papwigns sey (AHOG Ag passisiulipe mou) JHVD

U0V aA0a110)) pauue|d

€¢

'SpJ02al Bununoae s,A110 ayr wouy Aposaip

paJtedaid aq suodal [e1oueULY [RIBPSS B1NINY 1BY) PUEB PAJNP3I

8 sainyipuadxs pue SenusAal pPaleIsIano palodal ayl

Teyl papuswwodal sioupne syl "TT0'T.9‘T$ AQ paleIsiano

0S|e 8J3M SanuaAal palioday 9%9'GO8'T$ 4O JUNOWe 8y} ul

spJ02al Bununoade s,A11D 8yl JO SSBIX8 Ul 81aM D pue g Sued

81981100 ‘11 91 L ‘Bulby ayy Joy swielboid [e199ds - G¥0'€6/770°€6
Allenued Jaquinu weubolud Jeiapay 10} sainyipuadxa panioday
20-00 # buipuiq

weabouad Joleln yoe3 03 sjgedljddy syjuswadinbay yupa ssueljdwo)d
$150D pauonsand pue sbuipuiq piemy [edspa- - |]] UOIIBS

150D pauonsan® pue sbuipui4 Jo 8|Npayds

upny 8|6ulS 000z Je3A [edsid

snyeis BulpuIg/1equINN buipuig

(panunuoo)

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV J01dd 40 T1NA3HIS AYVINIANS S.3311dNY
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)



PART VII

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN ON CURRENT
AUDIT FINDINGS



(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)



PaAJas S1uaI|d JO aseqelep
e Ulelurew pue sawodno uo uodai 01 Aljige s,Aouabe ayp
anosdwi osje 1M wasAs erep ay L ssaiboud jusijo pue Alaaljep

921AIS IR} 0] WIISAS eIep mau e Bunuaws|dwi Jo ssaa04d SHOW ‘482140

TTOZ aung ay1 u1r Ajpuaina si diysiaulied uonoy Alunwiwo) alownjeq ayl [e1oURUIS Jo1YD ‘SaARID) MIeN

paureluIelA 10N SeM
syuedionued weibold Jo aseqereq

@HOg ‘18010 B pue )i U0 10N Sep Anjiqibii3

1T0Z aunp "uoNEIUBWINO0P BUISSIW aU) LIIM s3I U 8191dwod [IM dHDg  [eloueUIS Ja1yD ‘181sayD awolsp uedidnUed JO UOIEIUBWNI0Q

"(SdVg) $991AI3S ||0JARd pue BunUNO2JY JO Neaing pue {(SHY) S32IAISS SS3|aWOoH
ajowneg {(34wvD) uoneanp3 uawainay pue Buiby uo uoissiwwo) (1 0q) uoneuodsuel] Jo uswuredaq ((@OHQA) wswdojaasg Allunwiwo) pue BuisnoH Jo
juswredaq {(@HOQ) uswredad yieaH A1) alownjeg :salouabe A11D o) pasn usag aney suolieIAaIqge Buimoljo) ayl "S1S0D pauonsang pue sbuipuld piemy
[eJapa- ‘1] UONILS - S1S0D pauonsand pue sbuipuiH Jo 8|NPayds s Joipny ays ul Jeadde Aay) yarym ul Japlo awes sy} ul pajussald ase ajnpayas siyl ut sbuipui4

ared Uondy oAI1d8110) pauue|d U0SI3d 1981U0D Buipui4/1squinN Buipuiq
uonsjdwo)
paledionuy

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE L1dNV LNIFHHND NO NV1d NOI LDV AAILDTHHOD S.331L1dNV
JHONILTVE 40 ALID



"'€ET-V 1e[ndiid gINO

Aq paJinbau se Bulioniuow [eusaul pue sjuswalinbal welboud
|en1oenu0d pue 1waldIdal-gns (SaIAISS $$82J8 pUR SBdIAISS aWoy
-Ul ‘sadIAles [eba] 1oddns 01 uoieluawindop apincid Ajsrenbape

TTOZ aung 0] 24MNJ ay] ul sainpad0id Juswajdwi 0] spuaiul aHOd
"SjueIb

aIeDd snjd Jaays pue weibold BuisnoH aAnioddng [fe 10} sajl)

TT0Z aung uoday ssaibold [enuuy ureiutew pue arepdn |[IM SHOIN 3yl
‘suonouny

welboud pue Jeasiy ayl Buipnjour ‘welboud 1els peaH adnus

a1 $38S.19A0 132110 Bunelado Ja1yD 1eIS peaH ayl ‘| 99IAISS

[easi4 O Ja1yD LelS peaH ay1 Ag pasiaiadns mou si uonouny

1pne Jeualul 8yl ‘aseyd puodas ayl wioylad 01 s|gejrene

10U SeM Jolipne [eulaiul Ajuo ayl ‘aberioys JJels e 01 anp

1nq ‘siolipne Jeuaiul UelS pesH ayi Aq pawoylad aqg 01 Sem g

aseyd ‘pa1ajdwiod sem ssad04d aseyd z ayi Jo | aseyd AlUO "0TOZ

A4 Buninp welboud ue1s peaH ayl 10} uonauny Buriojiuow

TTOZ aung ay1 apinoid 0] J010BJIUOD B JO S3IIAISS 8Yl paulelqo aOHA

"eeT-V JeInaJ1D gINO 01 a1aype pue siapiaoadgns

TI0Z sung |1e Jonuow 01 uejd fenuue ue ajeiodiooul [[IM SHOIN 3yl
areq U0NOY oA09110)) pauue[d
uonsjdwo)
paredionuy

(panunuoo)

adog 401PO0
[e1ouRUIH JOIYD ‘191SBYD SW0UaL

adog 401PO0
[e19URUIH JOIYD ‘SOARID MIRIN

QOHQ 'sevInIBS
e9s14 4O JAIYD ‘1aq|0D) Wel]|I

SHOW ‘1331140
[e19URUIH JOIYD ‘SOARID MIRN

uos.ad 19eluod

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE LIdNV LNFHHND NO NV1d NOI LDV AAILDTHHOD S.331L1dNV
JHONWILTVE 40 ALID

BulIolIUOIA [eUJBIU| pUE ‘BWIOJU|
weibold ‘Bunjrewses 1oddng o)
PapIA0Id 10N SeAA UOIRIUSWINI0Q

swuaidioalgns

Jo Bunioliuo|A Jeussiu| Buipiebay
sluswalinbay [eJapa 01
Buliaypy 10N a1opn sa1ouaby A11D

BUIpUI/15qUNN BUipUi




TT0¢ aung

TT0¢C aunt

TTOZ aung

TT0C sunf

TT0¢ aunt

TTOC sunf

areq
uonsjdwo)
paredionuy

"SpJ02al Je1oueuly S,A1D
3y} Uo papJodal sainjipuadxa [enide uo paseq JuawasInquial
1sanbai pue g0T-V JeIndiID gNO Yum Ajdwood [jim SHOW 8y L

"24nINy 8y ul Ajawin saoueIqUINOUL 8y} arepinbi| 1M dHD4G

"21niny sy ul Ajawin suodal sy 1WgNs 01 JoABspud ||IM dHDYT

"sajep uolssiwgns ,suoday ssalboid
[enuuy aJed snid J31jays pue weiboid BuisnoH aaiioddng
|1e 1o} syuswialinbal Buuodas syl yum Ajdwod Jjim SHOIN ay.L

*aimny ay1 ul spiodas pue spaodal a8yl 8[19uodal ||IM dHOg

'SpJoJal
Bununodae s,A11D 8yl woly elep [eioueuly uodn paseq sa|iy
uoday ssalbold [enuuy ureiutew pue axepdn |[IM SHOIN 3yl

U090V aAII0a1100) pauue|d

(panunuoo)

SHOW ‘1831340
[e19URUIH JOIYD ‘SBARID MIBN

aHog 48210

[e1oueUIS JBIYD ‘181S8yD awolap

aHog ‘182130
[e1oueUIS J81YD ‘181S8yD awolsp

SHOW ‘1821140
[e1ouRUIS JBIYD ‘SBARID) IR

adog 41yo
[e1ouBUIS JBIYD ‘481SayD aWoIar

SHOW ‘1331140
[e19URUIH JOIYD ‘SOARID MIRIN

uos.ad 19eluod

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE LIdNV LNFHHND NO NV1d NOI LDV AAILDTHHOD S.331L1dNV
JHONWILTVE 40 ALID

sainypuadx3 welbold
PapP8adX3 spun4 JO UMOpPMeI]
/0-0T # buipui4

pouad Buipund ays yo pu3

aus Jo sAe@ 06 UIYNAA parepInbi
JON 3J9AA\ paLinau| suonebijgo
90-0T # buipuiq

Jauuey Ajswil e ul paniwgns
10N I3\ suoday [e1oueul
G0-0T # buipui4

SpJ02ay Bununoloy
BuiA1epun ayr Aq pauioddng
10N 3J3/\\ Suoday JeloueulH

BUIpUI/15qUNN BUipUi




TT0¢ aung

TT0¢Z aung

TTOC sunf

areq
uonsjdwo)
paredionuy

"sasn ainny Joj adoas ayy BulAjLre|d pue uswaalby
a1 Buipuawre Buipsehal suoepUSLWILLIOIAL xeLl 01 pue BaJe Syl
Ul JUSUI S)I BUIWIB1ap 0] JUBWaaIByY G86T ay1 malnal Ajybnotoy

01 Jusweda@g meT s,A11D ayl paisanbal mou sey AOHA

‘suonelado Aep-01-Aep s1ay1 Burtwiopad ul DgwvH pue

anHa Aq yuey poob ul 1o paried usaq sey Juswaalby G86T
3yl ‘suonaunj palejas pue sweiboid Buisnoy ay1 Jo S11jauaq ayl
10} Jay10 yaea 0] $a2IAI8S aplAoid ||IM DgGWH pue dOHA Yyioq
UoIym Japun siseq peolq sapinoid Juswaaiby syl SenIAnoe
JUBWaIno04d Yyons |e ul sauljapInb [elapay 101is SMOJ|0) D9V H
‘lenoisdde ;sarewns3 Jo peog s,A110 ayr Buriinbas Inoym
“©SIBA 3IIA 10 ‘swelboid gOHQ J0} S1UBYNSU0I/SI010RIIU0D
OGWVH 40 3sn ays mojfe o} [1ouno) AuD pue

1oRe|\ ayy pue (OGVH) AnD alownyeg o Alloyiny BuisnoH
a1 Usam1aq SadIAIas 10 JuaWaaIby G86T ayl palaidiaiul

QOHQ 'sedInIBS

aney sal1ouabe A11D JaL10 pue dOHQ ‘seprIsp OM] JBA0 104 [edsIH JO J3IYD ‘118q|oD Wel|[IAn

‘suun Buisnoy ,.SAIV YIM suoslad Joj saniunyoddo BuisnoH
pue aJed sn|d Ja1ays 40} uoireIuswWNIop uondadsul urejurew

SHOW ‘1321140

pue syuawalinbal anH ayl yum Ajdwod Jjim SHOIN 8yL [e10UBUIH JBIYD ‘SAARID) IR

"S)Ipne aouel|dwod pue [eroueuly apiaoid o) sjuaidioalgns |fe

SHOW “1321140

a1inbal pue £T- 1e[naaid gINO YNM A|dwod 1M SHOW SUL  [eloueUlS JaIyD ‘SIARID el

U090V aAII0a1100) pauue|d U0SJad 10e1u0)

(panunuoo)
0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC A3ANT dVIA IHL H0O-d

swuaidioaigns

Jo BuLIolUOA JO JusWaINd0Id
3y Buip.uebay siuswalinbay
01 8J3ypV 10N P! AOHA
0T-0T # buipuid

pawJo)iad 10N
alop suondadsul Aipend) BuisnoH
60-0T # buipui

swuaidioalgns

Jo Bunioliuo [eulsix3
Buiprebay siuswalinbay [eiapad
03} Buiaypy 10N sep SHOW
80-0T # buipui4

BUIpUI/15qUNN BUipUi

SONIANIE LIdNV LNFHHND NO NV1d NOI LDV AAILDTHHOD S.331L1dNV

JHONWILTVE 40 ALID



'SJUNoJJe
3y} 8]19u09a4 0} pauinbai satua Jeulnol Aue Aq pauioddns

pue spJodaJ Bununoade s,A11D ayr wouy paredasd aqg [jIm

suodal InQ "Buiby Jo Juswedaq puejArey sy 01 Buniodal

TT0Z aung [e1oueuly Ajpwin apiaoad 01 sainpadosd Bunuswsjdwi st SHOW

'$1S00 aAlRAsIuIWpe BulpieBal
TTO0Z aung uoljew.Ioful pajsanbal sy} PAIHWANS ) Jey) surelurew aHOg

'sjuelb ale) snid Jayays pue weiboid
BuisnoH aanuoddns e J0J sa1) 10oday ssaiboid [enuuy
TTOZ dUN(  urejurew pue geT-V JeIndID gINO UM Ajdwiod |j1m SHOW ayL

areq U0NOY oA09110)) pauue[d
uonsjdwo)
paredionuy

(panunuoo)

SHOW ‘183140
[e19URUI JOIYD ‘SaARID MJB|N

adog 41yo
[e1ouBUIS JBIYD ‘481SayD aWoIar

SHOW ‘1331140
[e19URUIH JOIYD ‘SOARID MIRIN

uos.ad 19eluod

0T0Z ‘0€ ANNC AIANT dVIA IHL HOS
SONIANIE LIdNV LNFHHND NO NV1d NOI LDV AAILDTHHOD S.331L1dNV
JHONWILTVE 40 ALID

Sjuswalinbay

Bununosdy 1uels pue Buniodey
[e1ouRUI4 YlM doueljdwo) alnsug
0} a1enbapy/ JON 8J8\ S8INPad0Id
¢T-0T # burpuid

BullolUOA JeuJBIU] pUE ‘BLWIODU|
weibold ‘Bunjrewses 1oddng o)
PapIA0Id 10N SeAA UORIUSWNI0Q

BUIpUI/15qUNN BUipUi



(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)





